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JUDICIAL DISTRICTS AND DISTRICT JUDGES

First District
Counties in District: Clay, Fillmore, Gage, Jefferson, Johnson, Nemaha,
Nuckolls, Pawnee, Richardson, Saline, and Thayer

Judges in District City
Paul W. Korslund ....................... Beatrice
Daniel E. Bryan, Jr. ..................... Auburn
Vicky L. Johnson ....................... Wilber

Second District
Counties in District: Cass, Otoe, and Sarpy

Judges in District City
William B. Zastera . ..................... Papillion
David K. Arterburn . .......... ... .. .. ... Papillion
Max Kelch ... ... ... .. ... ... ... ..., Papillion
Jeffrey J. Funke ........ ... .. ... .. .. ... Plattsmouth

Third District
Counties in District: Lancaster

Judges in District City

Steven D. Burns . ....................... Lincoln
John A. Colborn . ....................... Lincoln
JodiNelson ............................ Lincoln
Robert R.Otte ......................... Lincoln
Andrew R. Jacobsen ..................... Lincoln
Lori A.Maret ........... ..., Lincoln
Susan I. Strong . .......... ... .. Lincoln
DarlaS.Ideus .......................... Lincoln

Fourth District
Counties in District: Douglas

Judges in District City

Gary B. Randall ..................... ... Omaha
J. Michael Coffey ....................... Omaha
W. Mark Ashford .................... ... Omaha
Peter C. Bataillon ....................... Omaha
Gregory M. Schatz ................... ... Omaha
JRussell Derr ........... ... ... Omaha
James T. Gleason ....................... Omaha
Thomas A. Otepka . ..................... Omaha
Marlon A. Polk ....... ... ... ... ... ... Omaha
W. Russell Bowie Il .................... Omaha
Leigh Ann Retelsdorf ................. ... Omaha
Timothy P. Burns ....................... Omaha
Duane C. Dougherty ..................... Omaha
Kimberly Miller Pankonin ................ Omaha
Shelly R. Stratman . ..................... Omaha
Horacio J. Wheelock ..................... Omaha

Fifth District
Counties in District: Boone, Butler, Colfax, Hamilton, Merrick, Nance, Platte,
Polk, Saunders, Seward, and York

Judges in District City
Robert R. Steinke ....................... Columbus
Mary C. Gilbride ....................... Wahoo
James C. Stecker . ....................... Seward
Rachel A. Daugherty .................... Aurora



JUDICIAL DISTRICTS AND DISTRICT JUDGES

Sixth District
Counties in District: Burt, Cedar, Dakota, Dixon, Dodge, Thurston, and
Washington

Judges in District City

John E. Samson ............ ... .. ... .... Blair
Geoffrey C. Hall ............. ... ... ... Fremont
Paul J. Vaughan ...... ... ... ... .. .. ... Dakota City

Seventh District
Counties in District: Antelope, Cuming, Knox, Madison, Pierce, Stanton, and
Wayne

Judges in District City
James G. Kube ......................... Madison
Mark A. Johnson .. ...................... Madison

Eighth District
Counties in District: Blaine, Boyd, Brown, Cherry, Custer, Garfield, Greeley,
Holt, Howard, Keya Paha, Loup, Rock, Sherman, Valley, and Wheeler

Judges in District City
Mark D. Kozisek . ...................... Ainsworth
Karin L. Noakes ........................ St. Paul

Ninth District
Counties in District: Buffalo and Hall

Judges in District City

John P. Icenogle ..................... ... Kearney
Teresa K. Luther ........................ Grand Island
William T. Wright .................... ... Kearney
Mark J. Young . .......... .. ... ... ... Grand Island

Tenth District
Counties in District: Adams, Franklin, Harlan, Kearney, Phelps, and Webster

Judges in District City
Stephen R. Illingworth .. ................. Hastings
Terri S. Harder ......................... Minden

Eleventh District
Counties in District: Arthur, Chase, Dawson, Dundy, Frontier, Furnas, Gosper,
Hayes, Hitchcock, Hooker, Keith, Lincoln, Logan, McPherson, Perkins,
Red Willow, and Thomas

Judges in District City
Donald E. Rowlands ..................... North Platte
James E. Doyle IV ................... ... Lexington
David Urtbom .......................... McCook
Richard A. Birch . ....................... North Platte

Twelfth District
Counties in District: Banner, Box Butte, Cheyenne, Dawes, Deuel, Garden,
Grant, Kimball, Morrill, Scotts Bluff, Sheridan, and Sioux

Judges in District City
Randall L. Lippstreu .. ................... Gering
Leo Dobrovolny ........................ Gering
Derek C. Weimer ....................... Sidney
Travis P. O’Gorman . .................... Alliance
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JUDICIAL DISTRICTS AND COUNTY JUDGES

First District
Counties in District: Gage, Jefferson, Johnson, Nemaha, Pawnee, Richardson,
Saline, and Thayer

Judges in District City
Curtis L. Maschman .................. ... Falls City
Steven B. Timm ........................ Beatrice
Linda A. Bauer ......................... Fairbury

Second District
Counties in District: Cass, Otoe, and Sarpy

Judges in District City

Robert C. Wester ....................... Papillion
John F. Steinheider ...................... Nebraska City
Todd J. Hutton ......................... Papillion
Stefanie A. Martinez . .................... Papillion

Third District
Counties in District: Lancaster

Judges in District City

James L. Foster ......................... Lincoln
Laurie Yardley ............... ... ... .... Lincoln
Timothy C. Phillips .......... ... ... ... Lincoln
Thomas W. Fox ......................... Lincoln
Matthew L. Acton . ...................... Lincoln
Holly J. Parsley .......... ... ... ...... Lincoln
Thomas E. Zimmerman .................. Lincoln

Fourth District
Counties in District: Douglas

Judges in District City

Lawrence E. Barrett ..................... Omaha
Marcena M. Hendrix .................... Omaha
Darryl R.Lowe .. ... ... ... ... Omaha
John E.Huber .......................... Omaha
Jeffrey Marcuzzo ....................... Omaha
Craig Q. McDermott . .................... Omaha
Susan Bazis . ........... ... . Omaha
Marcela A. Keim ....................... Omaha
Sheryl L. Lohaus ....................... Omaha
Thomas K. Harmon . .................... Omaha
Derek R. Vaughn .................... ... Omaha
Stephanie R. Hansen . .................... Omaha

Fifth District
Counties in District: Boone, Butler, Colfax, Hamilton, Merrick, Nance, Platte,
Polk, Saunders, Seward, and York

Judges in District City

Frank J. Skorupa . ............ ... .. .. ... Columbus
Patrick R. McDermott ................... David City
Linda S. Caster Senff .................... Aurora
C.JoPetersen .......... ... ... Seward
Stephen R.W. Twiss ..................... Central City
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JUDICIAL DISTRICTS AND COUNTY JUDGES

Sixth District
Counties in District: Burt, Cedar, Dakota, Dixon, Dodge, Thurston, and
Washington

Judges in District City

C. Matthew Samuelson ................... Blair

Kurt Rager ........ ... ... .. ... .. .. ... Dakota City
Douglas L. Luebe ....................... Hartington
Kenneth Vampola .................... ... Fremont

Seventh District
Counties in District: Antelope, Cuming, Knox, Madison, Pierce, Stanton, and
Wayne

Judges in District City
Donna F. Taylor ........................ Madison
Ross A. Stoffer ......................... Pierce
Michael L. Long . ....................... Madison

Eighth District
Counties in District: Blaine, Boyd, Brown, Cherry, Custer, Garfield, Greeley,
Holt, Howard, Keya Paha, Loup, Rock, Sherman, Valley, and Wheeler

Judges in District City

Alan L. Brodbeck ....................... O’Neill
James J. Orr ......... .. ... .. Valentine
Tami K. Schendt . ....................... Broken Bow

Ninth District
Counties in District: Buffalo and Hall

Judges in District City

Philip M. Martin, Jr. ......... ... .. ... .... Grand Island
Gerald R. Jorgensen, Jr. .................. Kearney
Arthur S. Wetzel ........................ Grand Island
John P. Rademacher ..................... Kearney

Tenth District
Counties in District: Adams, Clay, Fillmore, Franklin, Harlan, Kearney,
Nuckolls, Phelps, and Webster

Judges in District City

Michael P. Burns . ....................... Hastings
Timothy E. Hoeft ......... ... ... ... ... Holdrege
Michael O. Mead ....................... Hastings

Eleventh District
Counties in District: Arthur, Chase, Dawson, Dundy, Frontier, Furnas, Gosper,
Hayes, Hitchcock, Hooker, Keith, Lincoln, Logan, McPherson, Perkins,
Red Willow, and Thomas

Judges in District City

Kent D. Turnbull . ............. ... ... .... North Platte
Edward D. Steenburg . ................... Ogallala
Anne Paine ............. ... .. ... ...... McCook
Michael E. Piccolo ...................... North Platte
Jeffrey M. Wightman .................... Lexington

Twelfth District
Counties in District: Banner, Box Butte, Cheyenne, Dawes, Deuel, Garden,
Grant, Kimball, Morrill, Scotts Bluff, Sheridan, and Sioux

Judges in District City
James M. Worden .. ..................... Gering
Randin Roland ................ ... .. ... Sidney
Russell W. Harford ...................... Chadron
Kristen D. Mickey ............. ... .. ... Gering
Paul G. Wess . ... Alliance



SEPARATE JUVENILE COURTS
AND JUVENILE COURT JUDGES

Douglas County

Judges City

Douglas F. Johnson . ....................... Omaha
Elizabeth Crnkovich .................... ... Omaha
Wadie Thomas ........................... Omaha
Christopher Kelly ......... ... .. ... ... ... Omaha
Vernon Daniels ........................... Omaha

Judges City
Toni G. Thorson . ........... ... .. ......... Lincoln
Linda S. Porter ........... .. ... .. ... ...... Lincoln
Roger J. Heideman ........................ Lincoln
Reggie L. Ryder ........ ... .. ... ......... Lincoln
Sarpy County

Judges City
Lawrence D. Gendler ...................... Papillion
Robert B. O’Neal ......................... Papillion

WORKERS” COMPENSATION
COURT AND JUDGES

Judges City

James R. Coe ........... ... ... ... ... ... Omaha
Laureen K. Van Norman . ................... Lincoln
J. Michael Fitzgerald ...................... Lincoln
John R. Hoffert ........................... Lincoln
Thomas E. Stine .......................... Omaha
Daniel R. Fridrich . ........................ Omaha
Julie A. Martin ............. ... ... ........ Lincoln



ATTORNEYS
Admitted Since the Publication of Volume 291

HOKEN JAMES ALDRICH
JASON DREw BAHNSEN
DEVENEI DEBEAU BOETTCHER
Cobpy ELYSE BROOKHOUSER
STEVEN WILLIAM BROWN
ROBIN KAYLENE CARLSON
KYLE PATRICK CHENOWETH
GRETCHEN ANNE COOPER
MAKENNA J. DOPHEIDE
NicHOLAS PAUL EDWARDS
KyLE BRUCE EVENS
ADAM Ross FEENEY
WESLEY TORIN FEIL
IRINA VALENTINOVNA FOx
AMY EL1ZABETH GARREANS
ROSANGELA GODINEZ
Eric JAMES HAMILTON
SARAH MARIE HART
Tep DAvID HARTMAN
EL1ZABETH ANN HOFFMAN
JosepH EDWARD HUIGENS
JASON LEE JACKSON
JosepH W. JETER
KiMBERLY BRENDA JETER
ADAM PAUL JOHNSON
KiIrBY ALLEN KLAPPENBACK
MARKICA MiIK1 KOLOBARA
JESSE JAMES EDWARD
LINEBAUGH
CoLLIN BoyD LiSTON
MEGAN ELIZABETH
LUTZ-PRIEFERT

ZACHARY WILLIAM
LUTZ-PRIEFERT
HELEN MARIE MACMURRAY
SusaN A. MAHEU
Lucia MARQUEZ
NICHOLAS SCOTT MATNEY
JEFFREY JAMES MCGUIRE
KELLY JO MCPHERRON
ABIGAIL TERESE MOHS
ASHLEY ARLENE MOORE
DAvID ALTON MORRIS
ALEXIS SEROOR MULLANEY
ASTRID GABRIELA MUNN
JOoSEPH DEITRICH NEUHAUS
Eric NEWHOUSE
ScoTT JENNINGS PACKER
ERIK STEPHEN PETERSEN
STEVEN ROBERT POSTOLKA
MicHAEL G. ROWBERRY
MIiICHAEL DAVID SANDS
BETSY SUZANNE
SEEBA-WALTERS
CHRISTOPHER ALLEN STAFFORD
AMANDA JILL STIGGE
MICHAEL JONATHAN STUMP
JORDAN MICHAEL TALSMA
JESsicA ANN UHLENKAMP
TERRY LYNN VANEATON
JENNIFER KAE WALKER
LisL ELIZABETH ZAMORA
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TABLE OF CASES REPORTED

Anne B.; Bryan M. V. L 725
Bain; State v. . ... 398
Braesch; State v. ... .. 930
Brozek v. Brozek ... ... ... .. 681
Bryan M. v. Anne B. ... 725
Carman; State V. ...t 207
Carter; State V. ... 16
Carter; State V. ... 481
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LIST OF CASES DISPOSED OF
BY FILED MEMORANDUM OPINION

No. S-14-592: Stamm v. Fisher. Petition for further review dis-
missed as having been improvidently granted. Per Curiam.

No. S-14-994: Smith v. Smith. Affirmed. Heavican, C.J.

No. S-14-1095: Brandl v. City of Madison. Affirmed. Connolly,
J. Miller-Lerman, J., not participating.

No. S-15-240: State v. Smith. Affirmed. Stacy, J.

No. S-15-420: Martinez v. Excel Corp. Affirmed. Connolly,
J. Heavican, C.J., and Miller-Lerman, J., participating on briefs.
McCormack and Cassel, JJ., not participating.
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LIST OF CASES DISPOSED OF
WITHOUT OPINION

No. S-14-578: State ex rel. Counsel for Dis. v. Boyum. Probation
plan approved, and application for reinstatement granted.

No. S-14-685: State ex rel. Counsel for Dis. v. Tighe. Respondent
suspended until further order of the court.

No. S-14-743: Aureus Radiology v. Poast. Stipulation allowed;
appeal dismissed.

No. S-14-765: State ex rel. Counsel for Dis. v. Steier. Probation
agreement approved, and application for reinstatement granted.

No. S-14-872: Reimnitz v. Reimnitz. Affirmed. See § 2-107(A)(1).

No. S-15-419: In re Trust of Brennemann. Affirmed. See
§ 2-107(A)(1).

No. S-15-476: State of Florida v. Countrywide Truck Ins.
Agency. Appeal dismissed for failure to file briefs.

No. S-15-497: County of Lancaster v. H&S Partnership. Joint
motion of appellee H&S Partnership and appellant to dismiss appeal
sustained; appeal dismissed.

No. S-15-717: State v. Golka. Stipulation allowed; appeal
dismissed.

No. S-15-723: State v. Jonmes. Stipulation allowed; appeal
dismissed.

No. S-15-797: State v. Cook. Motion of appellee for summary
affirmance sustained; judgment affirmed. See § 2-107(B)(2).

No. S-15-878: State v. Myers. Appeal dismissed, and cause
remanded with instructions.

No. S-15-1020: State ex rel. Anderson v. Johnson. Petition for
writ of mandamus denied.

No. S-15-1111: Richardson v. State. Application for modification
of sentence denied.
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LIST OF CASES ON PETITION
FOR FURTHER REVIEW

No. A-14-500: DeLaet v. Blue Creek Irr. Dist., 23 Neb. App. 106
(2015). Petition of appellant for further review denied on November
12, 2015.

No. S-14-573: State v. Woldt, 23 Neb. App. 42 (2015). Petition of
appellee for further review sustained on December 9, 2015.

No. A-14-723: State v. Alhakemi. Petition of appellant for further
review denied on November 12, 2015.

No. A-14-741: Catlett v. Catlett, 23 Neb. App. 136 (2015).
Petition of appellant for further review denied on November 12,
2015.

No. A-14-760: Shemek v. Brown. Petition of appellant for further
review denied on November 12, 2015.

No. S-14-790: Hopkins v. Hopkins, 23 Neb. App. 174 (2015).
Petition of appellant for further review sustained on November 25,
2015.

No. A-14-814: Furstenfeld v. Pepin, 23 Neb. App. 155 (2015).
Petition of appellant for further review denied on November 25,
2015.

No. A-14-821: Village of Union v. Bescheinen. Petition of appel-
lant for further review denied on November 25, 2015.

No. A-14-825: State v. Galindo. Petition of appellant for further
review denied on February 4, 2016.

No. A-14-877: Morehead v. Morehead. Petition of appellant for
further review denied on November 18, 2015.

No. A-14-916: Intervision Sys. Techs. v. InterCall, 23 Neb.
App. 360 (2015). Petition of appellee for further review denied on
February 4, 2016.

No. A-14-929: Welton v. Welton. Petition of appellant for further
review denied on December 9, 2015.

No. A-14-949: McBurnett v. Nebraskaland Tire. Petition of
appellant for further review denied on November 25, 2015.

No. A-14-954: State v. Jackson. Petition and amended petition of
appellant for further review denied on October 28, 2015.

No. A-14-1081: State v. Bates. Petition of appellant for further
review denied on January 13, 2016.
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PETITIONS FOR FURTHER REVIEW

No. A-14-1121: State v. Valverde. Petition of appellant for fur-
ther review denied on February 12, 2016, for failure to comply with
§ 2-102(F)(1).

No. A-14-1124: In re Interest of Gavin S. & Jordan S., 23 Neb.
App. 401 (2015). Petition of appellant for further review denied on
February 4, 2016.

No. A-14-1124: In re Interest of Gavin S. & Jordan S., 23 Neb.
App. 401 (2015). Petition of appellee Daniel S. for further review
denied on February 4, 2016.

No. A-14-1131: State v. Stuart. Petition of appellant for further
review denied on November 18, 2015.

No. A-14-1138: City of Lincoln v. Dial Realty Development.
Petition of appellant for further review denied on January 5, 2016.

No. S-14-1160: State v. Rothenberger. Petition of appellant for
further review sustained on February 18, 2016.

No. A-14-1161: Koch v. City of Sargent. Petition of appellant for
further review denied on January 21, 2016.

No. A-15-005: State v. Summage. Petition of appellant for further
review denied on January 13, 2016.

No. S-15-032: In re Adoption of Madysen S. et al., 23 Neb.
App. 351 (2015). Petition of appellees for further review sustained
on February 4, 2016.

No. A-15-043: Geiger v. Besmer. Petition of appellant for further
review denied on December 23, 2015, as premature.

No. A-15-044: State v. Aguilar. Petition of appellant for further
review denied on January 13, 2016.

No. A-15-089: State v. Jensen. Petition of appellant for further
review denied on January 21, 2016.

No. A-15-094: State v. Shelby. Petition of appellant for further
review denied on November 18, 2015.

No. A-15-095: State v. Ruegge. Petition of appellant for further
review denied on February 4, 2016.

No. A-15-108: State v. Wells. Petition of appellant for further
review denied on February 18, 2016.

No. A-15-111: State v. Hill. Petition of appellant for further
review denied on November 12, 2015.

No. A-15-115: State v. Mumin. Petition of appellant for further
review denied on February 18, 2016.

No. A-15-141: Mott v. Tractor Supply Co. Petition of appellant
for further review denied on January 5, 2016.

No. S-15-142: State v. Nguyen. Petition of appellant for further
review sustained on February 4, 2016.
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PETITIONS FOR FURTHER REVIEW

No. A-15-148: State v. Baker. Petition of appellant for further
review denied on November 25, 2015.

Nos. A-15-150, A-15-152: Sarah K. v. Jonathan K., 23 Neb.
App. 471 (2015). Petitions of appellant for further review denied on
January 29, 2016, as untimely. See § 2-102(F)(1).

No. A-15-156: In re Interest of James S. et al. Petition of appel-
lant for further review denied on December 9, 2015.

No. A-15-162: State v. Gonzales. Petition of appellant for further
review denied on November 12, 2015.

No. A-15-165: State v. Swanson. Petition of appellant for further
review denied on December 9, 2015.

No. A-15-176: In re Interest of Angeleah M. & Ava M., 23 Neb.
App. 324 (2015). Petition of appellant for further review denied on
December 23, 2015.

No. A-15-182: State v. Herman. Petition of appellant for further
review denied on November 18, 2015.

No. A-15-220: Jason K. v. Michaela K. Petition of appellant for
further review denied on February 10, 2016.

No. A-15-245: In re Interest of Branden S. Petition of appellant
for further review denied on February 12, 2016, as untimely. See
§ 2-102(F)(1).

No. A-15-246: In re Interest of Dana H. Petition of appellant for
further review denied on January 21, 2016.

No. A-15-248: Mumin v. Flowers. Petition of appellant for further
review denied on February 12, 2016, as untimely. See § 2-102(F)(1).

No. A-15-259: State v. Contreras. Petition of appellant for further
review denied on February 4, 2016.

No. A-15-284: In re Interest of Demarcus O. Petition of appellee
Cody O. for further review denied on December 16, 2015.

No. A-15-288: In re Interest of Destiny H. et al. Petition of
appellant for further review denied on February 18, 2016.

No. A-15-288: In re Interest of Destiny H. et al. Petition of
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McCORMACK, J.
NATURE OF CASE

We granted further review of the Nebraska Court of Appeals’
opinion that affirmed the conviction of appellant, Gregory M.
Mucia, of possession of child pornography.! The issue raised
in the State’s petition concerns the meaning of the phrase
“knowingly possess” as used in Neb. Rev. Stat. § 28-813.01
(Cum. Supp. 2014), which makes it illegal to “knowingly pos-
sess any visual depiction” of child pornography.

BACKGROUND

Though the relevant facts are summarized below, greater
detail may be found in the Court of Appeals’ opinion.?

In 2011, Mucia was 23 years old and living with his
younger brother in an apartment in Lincoln, Nebraska. On
October 24, a search warrant for that apartment was issued
after law enforcement software had detected 10 files sus-
pected to be child pornography ‘“available for sharing” from
an Internet protocol address linked to the apartment. The next
day, Corey Weinmaster, a Lincoln Police Department investi-
gator, executed the warrant and lawfully seized Mucia’s two
laptop computers.

A forensic search of the computers produced evidence of
child pornography. Most notably, four videos of child por-
nography were located in a folder created by a file-sharing
program; that folder had been placed within a “Music” folder.
In addition to the four videos in that folder, Weinmaster
found 14 files in the recycle bin on Mucia’s computer, which
Weinmaster later testified were still accessible and able to be
restored. Weinmaster also recovered a number of incomplete
files, files recovered from the browser cache, and link files,
which Weinmaster testified were related to child pornography.

At his 2-day bench trial, Mucia admitted to using file-
sharing programs to download multiple pornographic images

U State v. Mucia, 22 Neb. App. 821, 862 N.W.2d 89 (2015).
2 Id,
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and videos at once, i.e., “‘batch downloading’” pornography.
Mucia testified that he intended to obtain adult pornography
and that he never intentionally searched for or intentionally
obtained child pornography.

Mucia admitted there were times he suspected some of the
files he downloaded contained child pornography. But Mucia
testified that when he saw or suspected that an image or video
depicted a child in a sexually explicit manner, he would delete
the file because he “didn’t want anything to do with child por-
nography” and “wasn’t interest[ed] in it at all.” Mucia testified
he was unaware that the four videos found by Weinmaster were
on his computer.

The trial court found Mucia guilty of possession of child
pornography, age 19 and over, which is a Class IIA felony,
and sentenced him to 3 years’ probation. Mucia’s conviction
also caused him to be subject to the Nebraska Sex Offender
Registration Act.

Mucia appealed his conviction to the Court of Appeals. Of
relevance to this review, Mucia assigned that the trial court
erred in finding that the State adduced sufficient evidence to
demonstrate Mucia “knowingly” possessed child pornography.
Mucia argued that the evidence showed he did not know-
ingly save illegal files, but “unintentionally received illegal
files and subsequently deleted them whenever he discovered
their presence.” He asserted that the “few undeleted files that
remained were not knowingly possessed,” and the State did
not present evidence to overcome that defense.

In the Court of Appeals’ opinion, it determined that
“§ 28-813.01 requires sufficient proof that [Mucia] had the
specific intent to possess child pornography, and not merely
a general intent to download files that, unbeknownst to him,
turned out to be child pornography.” After finding such proof

3 Brief for appellant at 17.
4 Id.
5 State v. Mucia, supra note 1, 22 Neb. App. at 830, 862 N.W.2d at 96.
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and resolving all other issues, the Court of Appeals affirmed
Mucia’s conviction.

In response to the Court of Appeals’ interpretation of
§ 28-813.01, the State timely filed a petition for further review,
which was granted.

ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR
In its petition for further review, the State assigns that “[t]he
Court of Appeals erred in finding that knowing possession of
child pornography in violation of Neb. Rev. Stat. § 28-813.01
(Cum. Supp. 2010) is a specific intent crime that requires the
State to prove the defendant intentionally sought out files
depicting child pornography.” (Emphasis in original.)

STANDARD OF REVIEW
[1] The meaning of a statute is a question of law, on
which an appellate court has an obligation to reach an inde-
pendent conclusion irrespective of the decision made by the
court below.®

ANALYSIS
Both in the State’s brief and at oral argument, the State
places great emphasis on the classification of the violation of
§ 28-813.01 as a “general intent” or “specific intent” crime.
The State argues that violation of § 28-813.01 is a “general
intent” crime and that the Court of Appeals inaccurately
classified it as a “specific intent” crime.” The State is con-
cerned that the Court of Appeals’ interpretation of § 28-813.01
requires the State to prove, in a child pornography case, that
the defendant intentionally “sought out” child pornography
and “exclude[s] from the statute’s reach any person who
comes into possession of child pornography unintentionally

but nevertheless decides to keep it.”®

¢ State v. Lasu, 278 Neb. 180, 768 N.W.2d 447 (2009).

7 Memorandum brief for appellee in support of petition for further review
at 6-9.

8 Id. at 9.
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We do not believe the classification of the violation of
§ 28-813.01 as a “general intent” or “specific intent” crime is
helpful in determining what the statute requires. These terms
have been the source of considerable confusion, perhaps
because of the inconsistent definitions given to these terms
over time.’ Indeed, the Court of Appeals and the State appear
to define these terms differently. The Court of Appeals used
the terms “specific intent” and “general intent” to distinguish
between an intent to possess child pornography and an “intent
to possess files that, unbeknownst to the defendant, turn out
to be child pornography.”!® The State, on the other hand,
appears to use the term “general intent” the way the Court
of Appeals used “specific intent,” and uses “specific intent”
to mean that a defendant must have intentionally sought out
files depicting child pornography in order to have violated
§ 28-813.01.

We return to the language of § 28-813.01(1), which pro-
vides: “It shall be unlawful for a person to knowingly possess
any visual depiction of sexually explicit conduct . . . which has
a child . . . as one of its participants or portrayed observers.”
The issue faced by the Court of Appeals, and the issue we
face today, is the meaning of the phrase “knowingly possess.”

[2] In reading a statute, a court must determine and give
effect to the purpose and intent of the Legislature as ascer-
tained from the entire language of the statute considered in its
plain, ordinary, and popular sense."

Section 28-813.01 makes no reference to the intentional
seeking of child pornography, and the State mischaracterizes
the Court of Appeals’ opinion as “interpreting § 28-813.01 to
require proof that the defendant intentionally sought out files

® See 1 Wayne R. LaFave, Substantive Criminal Law § 5.2(e) (2d ed.
2003) (citing courts’ various definitions of “general intent” and “specific
intent”).

10" State v. Mucia, supra note 1, 22 Neb. App. at 830, 862 N.W.2d at 96.

' State v. Huff, 282 Neb. 78, 802 N.W.2d 77 (2011); State v. Lasu, supra
note 6.
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depicting child pornography.”'?> Although the Court of Appeals
did note that “the State was unable to adduce direct evi-
dence that Mucia intentionally sought out child pornography
files,” the Court of Appeals never indicated such evidence was
required.’ Instead, the Court of Appeals held that “§ 28-813.01
requires sufficient proof that [Mucia] had the specific intent to
possess child pornography.”'* The Court of Appeals stated
that despite the lack of direct evidence that Mucia intention-
ally sought out child pornography, “the evidence [actually
adduced] circumstantially supports a conclusion that Mucia
knowingly possessed child pornography.”!?

In reaching the conclusion that a conviction under
§ 28-813.01 requires proof of the “specific intention to possess
child pornography,” the Court of Appeals stated it was unable
to locate any Nebraska cases on the question but found State
v. Schuller'® instructive.

In Schuller, this court found that the evidence was suffi-
cient to support a finding that the defendant had knowingly
possessed child pornography. The defendant admitted to pur-
posefully searching the Internet for child pornography, down-
loading child pornography, and watching child pornography
before deleting it. Despite the defendant’s efforts to delete the
files, remnants of the files remained on his hard drive at the
time it was confiscated.

We applied the common-law principle of constructive pos-
session, which “may be proved by mere ownership, domin-
ion, or control over contraband itself, coupled with the intent
to exercise control over the same,”'” and explained that the

12 Memorandum brief for appellee in support of petition for further review at
9 (emphasis omitted) (emphasis supplied).

13 State v. Mucia, supra note 1, 22 Neb. App. at 832, 862 N.W.2d at 98.
4 Id. at 830, 862 N.W.2d at 96 (emphasis supplied).

5 Id. at 832, 862 N.W.2d at 98 (emphasis supplied).

16 State v. Schuller, 287 Neb. 500, 843 N.W.2d 626 (2014).

7 Id. at 511, 843 N.W.2d at 635.
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remnants of the files on the defendant’s hard drive, coupled
with the fact that he “repeatedly searched for, downloaded,
viewed, and deleted child pornography,”'® constituted knowing
possession, not merely viewing.

We acknowledged there was “no question that [the defend-
ant] knowingly possessed those files,”! because his confession
confirmed he acted knowingly. But we emphasized that the
defendant “did not simply click on an innocuous banner adver-
tisement and end up at a child pornography Web site”?’; he
knowingly downloaded them.

In response to the defendant’s argument in Schuller, that
downloading alone could not be sufficient evidence of posses-
sion, we said:

[W]e agree that just because child pornography was
downloaded onto a computer does not necessarily mean
that there was knowing possession. Take, for example,
a person who was legally browsing adult pornography
online but mistakenly clicked on a link leading him to
a child pornography Web site, which he immediately
closed. The record shows that, in such a situation, child
pornography would be downloaded to the computer’s
“cache” folder as temporary Internet files, through no
further action by the user. In such a case, the person
would not be guilty of knowingly possessing child por-
nography—he neither downloaded the files knowingly
nor constructively possessed them, because there was no
intent to control them.?'
We then explained that such was not the case in Schuller.

We have previously said that the meaning of “knowingly”

in a criminal statute commonly imports a perception of facts

8 Id. at 509, 843 N.W.2d at 633.
' Id. at 512, 843 N.W.2d at 635 (emphasis in original).
20 Id. at 511, 843 N.W.2d at 635.
2L Id. at 514, 843 N.W.2d at 636.
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required to make up the crime.”? That evidentiary standard
has been routinely used in cases where a defendant has been
charged with possessing contraband other than child pornog-
raphy. For example, we have said that a person knowingly
possesses a controlled substance when he or she knows of the
nature or character of the substance and of its presence and has
dominion or control over it.”> We see no reason for a different
standard when the contraband is child pornography.

[3] Accordingly, we hold that a person knowingly possesses
child pornography in violation of § 28-813.01 when he or she
knows of the nature or character of the material and of its
presence and has dominion or control over it. The means or
methods of exercising dominion or control over an electronic
image may well differ from those typically applicable to physi-
cal contraband. But we need not address such questions in the
case before us.

We note that Mucia does not challenge the Court of
Appeals’ conclusion that there was sufficient circumstantial
evidence to support a finding that Mucia knowingly pos-
sessed child pornography. We therefore do not question that
finding.

CONCLUSION
Our holding is consistent with the Court of Appeals’ opin-
ion, and we therefore affirm.
AFFIRMED.
StAcy, J., not participating.

22 See, State v. Mills, 199 Neb. 295, 258 N.W.2d 628 (1977); R. D. Lowrance,
Inc. v. Peterson, 185 Neb. 679, 178 N.W.2d 277 (1970).

2 See, State v. Howard, 282 Neb. 352, 803 N.W.2d 450 (2011); State v.
Neujahr, 248 Neb. 965, 540 N.W.2d 566 (1995); State v. DeGroat, 244
Neb. 764, 508 N.W.2d 861 (1993).

ConNOLLY, J., concurring.
I agree with the majority’s implicit conclusion that under
Neb. Rev. Stat. § 28-813.01 (Cum. Supp. 2014), a person
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knowingly possesses child pornography on a computer when
the person exercises dominion or control over the computer or
any external component containing the images; knows that the
images are stored on the computer or external component; and
knows that they depict sexually explicit conduct involving a
child.! I write separately because I believe the Nebraska Court
of Appeals incorrectly characterized the statute as a specific
intent crime. Additionally, I part company with the majority’s
suggestion that the concepts of general and specific intent are
too ill defined to be helpful in determining the proof require-
ments of criminal offenses.

It is true that the distinction between general and specific
intent is sometimes confusing. And the answer is not always
obvious. But the distinction was clearly relevant in the Court of
Appeals’ decision: “§ 28-813.01 requires sufficient proof that
[a defendant] had the specific intent to possess child pornog-
raphy, and not merely a general intent to download files that,
unbeknownst to him, turned out to be child pornography.”
This is the holding that the State has petitioned this court to
further review.

I acknowledge that this is a difficult issue, primarily because
of a paucity of published opinions deciding this issue.* But
there are well-reasoned unpublished decisions holding that
the possession of child pornography is a general intent crime.*
And the Court of Appeals’ conclusion that § 28-813.01 sets
forth a specific intent crime is against the weight of the

! See U.S. v. Wright, 625 F.3d 583 (9th Cir. 2010).
2 State v. Mucia, 22 Neb. App. 821, 830, 862 N.W.2d 89, 96 (2015).
3 See, e.g., State v. Cooley, 165 So. 3d 1237 (La. App. 2015).

4 See, United States v. Ballieu, 480 Fed. Appx. 494 (10th Cir. 2012); United
States v. Larson, 346 Fed. Appx. 166 (9th Cir. 2009); U.S. v. Benz, No.
4:13CR3121, 2015 WL 575094 (D. Neb. Feb. 11, 2015) (unpublished
memorandum and order); People v. Artieres, No. A123661, 2011 WL
901985 (Cal. App. Mar. 16, 2011) (unpublished opinion). See, also, U.S. v.
Dyer, 589 F.3d 520 (1st Cir. 2009).
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authority, even if much of it is unpublished. Besides, the
Court of Appeals’ holding is contrary to our holding and state-
ments in State v. Thurman.

In Thurman, we rejected the defendant’s argument that
because his convictions for first degree sexual assault and false
imprisonment were general intent crimes, they could not be the
predicate offense underlying his conviction for use of a weapon
to commit a felony. We acknowledged that we have held an
unintentional crime cannot be the predicate offense.® But we
rejected the argument that first degree sexual assault, which
contains no mens rea component,” could not be a predicate
offense. We reasoned that it does not lack an intent compo-
nent. Citing State v. Koperski,® we stated that for general intent
crimes, the defendant’s intent is inferred from his commission
of the acts constituting the elements of the crime.

Perhaps we could have been more explicit. But we implicitly
meant that for general intent crimes, the State is only required
to prove that a defendant intended to commit the acts pro-
scribed by statute and that this intent is shown by proving that
the defendant did commit those acts.

In support of our conclusion that false imprisonment—
which has a “knowledge” mens rea component’—is also a
general intent crime, we quoted the U.S. Supreme Court’s
decision in United States v. Bailey':

The U.S. Supreme Court has held that “‘the limited
distinction between knowledge and purpose has not
been considered important since “there is good reason
for imposing liability whether the defendant desired or

3 State v. Thurman, 273 Neb. 518, 730 N.W.2d 805 (2007).

¢ See id., citing State v. Ring, 233 Neb. 720, 447 N.W.2d 908 (1989).
7 See Neb. Rev. Stat. § 28-319(1) (Reissue 2008).

§ State v. Koperski, 254 Neb. 624, 578 N.W.2d 837 (1998).

 Neb. Rev. Stat. § 28-314(1) (Reissue 2008).

19 United States v. Bailey, 444 U.S. 394, 100 S. Ct. 624, 62 L. Ed. 2d 575
(1980).
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merely knew of the practical certainty of the results.
The Court also noted that “‘purpose’ corresponds loosely
with the common-law concept of specific intent, while
‘knowledge’ corresponds loosely with the concept of gen-
eral intent.”

Given this “limited distinction,” it is clear that since
the State must show [the defendant] acted knowingly in
order to show he falsely imprisoned [the victim), such a
requirement is an indication that first degree false impris-
onment as charged in this case is a general intent crime.
As noted above, with a general intent crime, a showing of
intent by the State is required, but may be inferred from
the commission of the acts constituting the elements of
the crime."

In sum, in Thurman, we rejected the defendant’s argument
that false imprisonment could not be the predicate offense for
use of a weapon to commit a felony because the “knowingly”
component of § 28-314 showed it was a general intent crime;
as such, the defendant must have intended to commit the acts
that the statute proscribed. That conclusion is consistent with
other cases in which we have discussed the distinction between
general and specific intent crimes.

For example, in State v. Tucker,'”” we discussed the general/
specific intent distinction because it was relevant to reject-
ing the defendant’s argument that his convictions were
inconsistent:

We find no inherent inconsistency between the trial
court’s rejection of the murder charges and its conclusion
that [the defendant] had committed intentional assault
or intentional terroristic threats. . . . While it may at
first appear the judge concluded the same act was both
intentional and unintentional, a closer examination of the

" Thurman, supra note 5, 273 Neb. at 525, 730 N.W.2d at 812 (emphasis
supplied), quoting Bailey, supra note 10.

12 State v. Tucker, 278 Neb. 935, 774 N.W.2d 753 (2009).
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object of the mens rea for the different offenses reveals
that the crimes do not involve the same act and that the
judge’s findings were reconcilable.

Both first and second degree murder are specific intent
crimes. Thus, by acquitting [the defendant] of first and
second degree murder, the trial court made the implicit
finding that [the defendant] lacked the specific intent to
kill and that he also lacked the specific intent to commit
any of the listed felonies for felony murder. . . .

The crime of terroristic threats requires the specific
intent to terrorize, not an intent to kill, and it is not one of
the felonies listed for felony murder. Assault is a general
intent crime that requires only the intent to commit the
assault, and not the specific injury that results. Assault
also is not a listed predicate felony for felony murder. It
was consistent for the court to conclude that [the defend-
ant] intended to commit assault but did not intend for
[the victim] to die as a result of the assault. It was like-
wise legally consistent for the court to conclude that [the
defendant] intended to terrorize [the victim], but did not
intend to kill him."

Thurman and Tucker illustrate that the distinction between
general and specific intent crimes is frequently a relevant con-
sideration. And our case law seems to be generally consistent
with the explanation in Tucker of these terms.'* In short, for
specific intent crimes, a defendant must have intended to cause
a specific result by his conduct.”” For example, in State v.
Ramsay,'® we held that

3 Id. at 942-43, 774 N.W.2d at 759-60.

4 See, e.g., Thurman, supra note 5; State v. Robbins, 253 Neb. 146, 570
N.W.2d 185 (1997); State v. Williams, 243 Neb. 959, 503 N.W.2d 561
(1993). See, also, 25 Am. Jur. 2d Drugs and Controlled Substances § 156
(2014).

15 See, Black’s Law Dictionary 931 (10th ed. 2014); 21 Am. Jur. 2d Criminal
Law § 119 (2008 & Cum. Supp. 2015).

16 State v. Ramsay, 257 Neb. 430, 436, 598 N.W.2d 51, 56 (1999).
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because the offense of unlawful discharge of a firearm
requires a specific intent, in order to convict [the defend-
ant] as an aider and abettor, the State was required to
prove either that he intended to discharge a firearm into
the residence or that he knew that [the principal] pos-
sessed such an intent prior to committing the act.

In contrast, when a statute simply proscribes specified con-
duct, the statute sets forth a general intent crime and the State
only needs to show that the defendant knew what he was
doing—i.e., understood the nature of his acts—and intended
to commit the acts that constitute the crime. The State does
not have to prove that the defendant intended to cause a pro-
scribed result or to violate a specific statute.'” And in Thurman,
we applied the same principles to an offense with a mens rea
requirement of knowledge.

It is true that in Bailey, the U.S. Supreme Court stated that
the distinction between general and specific intent crimes has
been a source of confusion because, historically, courts have
not consistently used the terms to mean the same thing.'® For
that reason, the Court stated that the Model Penal Code substi-
tutes a hierarchy of culpable mental states—acting with pur-
pose, knowledge, recklessness, or negligence."

But the Court acknowledged that even under the Model
Penal Code’s hierarchy, the distinction between the mental
states of knowledge and purpose remains the most significant
and esoteric; it pointed out that for some crimes, that distinc-
tion remains important.?’ That is, punishment for some crimes
hinges on a mental state that shows a heightened culpability.?!
Similarly, legal commentators have pointed out that although

17 See, Black’s Law Dictionary, supra note 15; 21 Am. Jur. 2d, supra note
15, § 118.

See Bailey, supra note 10.

19 See, id.; Model Penal Code § 2.02, 10A U.L.A. 92 (2001).
See Bailey, supra note 10.

2l See id.

18
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the Model Penal Code has abandoned the distinction between
general intent and specific intent, the distinction “is not with-
out importance in the criminal law.”?? Our case law is con-
sistent with that statement.

In particular, the distinction between general and specific
intent is important when a defendant claims that his or her
diminished capacity should be a defense to a crime, because
that defense is irrelevant to general intent crimes.?* Additionally,
when a statute fails to specify a mental state, many courts have
held that the statute sets out a general intent crime.”* We have
followed this reasoning.?

So, I do not think we should imply that the general/specific
intent dichotomy is archaic or irrelevant. Instead, we should
focus on the more important issue that the U.S. Supreme Court
discussed in Bailey: whether a required mental state applies to
every element of the crime.?® And this analysis will sometimes
require courts to ask what kind of culpability is needed for
each material element to establish the offense.

As stated, the Court of Appeals concluded that under
§ 28-813.01, a defendant must have a specific intent to pos-
sess child pornography, and not merely a general intent to
download files that, unbeknownst to him, turned out to be
child pornography. I agree that the statute does not criminal-
ize the downloading of electronic files with child pornography
unless the evidence establishes that the defendant knew the
files contained child pornography. A person cannot know-
ingly possess contraband unless he or she knows the nature of
the material.

22 See 1 Wayne R. LaFave, Substantive Criminal Law § 5.2(e) at 355 (2d ed.
2003).

3 See, e.g., U.S. v. Jackson, 248 F.3d 1028 (10th Cir. 2001). Compare State
v. Dubray, 289 Neb. 208, 854 N.W.2d 584 (2014).

24 See 21 Am. Jur. 2d, supra note 15, § 118.
2 See Koperski, supra note 8.
26 See Bailey, supra note 10.
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Contrary to the State’s argument, this conclusion does not
require the State to prove that a defendant intentionally sought
out files depicting child pornography. The Legislature did not
proscribe knowingly receiving child pornography; it proscribed
knowingly possessing it.*’ Yet, the Court of Appeals incorrectly
held that the statute requires proof that a defendant had the
specific intent to possess child pornography.

Because this is a general intent statute, the State is only
required to show that Mucia knowingly possessed child por-
nography, not that he purposefully possessed it. And I do
not think this is a case in which the distinction between pur-
poseful and knowing possession is irrelevant. For example,
if a fact finder determines that a defendant had dominion or
control over a computer and knew that child pornography
was stored on it, the defendant would be guilty of knowingly
possessing child pornography even if the defendant allowed
access to another person who had downloaded the materials to
the computer.?®

The Legislature’s intent in prohibiting the possession of
child pornography is clearly to stop activities that perpetuate
the sexual exploitation of children.”” Possessing child por-
nography is an activity that perpetuates this societal scourge
regardless of whether a person only knowingly possesses it or
purposefully possesses it. Accordingly, I would overrule the
Court of Appeals’ holding that § 28-813.01 requires the State
to prove that a defendant had the specific intent to possess
child pornography. The statute requires the State to prove a
defendant knowingly did so.

In sum, contrary to the tenor of the majority opinion, I
believe that the distinction between general and specific intent
continues to have relevance in criminal law and that it has rel-
evance under § 28-813.01.

2 Compare 18 U.S.C. § 2252A(a)(2) and (a)(5)(B) (2012).
38 See Wright, supra note 1.
2 Compare Annot., 2 A.L.R. Fed. 2d 533, § 2 (2005).
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CASSEL, .
INTRODUCTION

Two appeals arose from Victor L. Carter’s fifth postconvic-
tion proceeding and have been consolidated on appeal. After
the district court summarily overruled Carter’s postconviction
motion, he filed the first appeal. And after the district court
denied Carter’s application to proceed in forma pauperis (IFP)
on appeal, on the basis that the underlying motion was frivo-
lous, he filed another appeal to challenge that denial. The sec-
ond appeal lacks merit, and we affirm the order denying leave
to proceed IFP. But because the statute! nevertheless permits
Carter, upon payment of the statutory docket fee within 30
days, to proceed with the first appeal, we hold it under sub-
mission for that purpose.

BACKGROUND

Carter was convicted of first degree murder and use of a
firearm in the commission of a felony in 1986. He was sen-
tenced to life in prison for the murder and 10 years’ impris-
onment for the firearm conviction. The circumstances that
led to Carter’s convictions and sentences may be found in
State v. Carter.> We affirmed his convictions on direct appeal
in 19872

Carter has made numerous unsuccessful attempts to col-
laterally attack his convictions. Before the motion which is
the subject of our first appeal, Carter filed four other motions
for postconviction relief—in 1989, 2002, 2008, and 2012. The
Douglas County District Court denied relief in each case, and

! Neb. Rev. Stat. § 25-2301.02(1) (Reissue 2008).
2 State v. Carter, 226 Neb. 636, 413 N.W.2d 901 (1987).
3 d.
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in each case, we affirmed the district court’s order on appeal.

He has also attempted to collaterally attack his convictions by

means of a motion for new trial and a petition for writ of error

coram nobis.
We summarize the timeline of the most recent proceedings
as follows:

e May 28, 2014: Carter files a “Motion for Successive
Postconviction Relief.”

e November 18, 2014: The district court overrules the motion
without an evidentiary hearing.

* December 4, 2014: Carter files a notice of appeal from the
November 18 order. The appeal is docketed in this court
as case No. S-14-1089 (first appeal). In lieu of the statu-
tory docket fee, Carter files an application to proceed IFP
on appeal.

e December 23, 2014: On its own motion, the district court

denies Carter’s application to proceed IFP on appeal, after

concluding that Carter’s underlying postconviction motion
is frivolous.

January 8, 2015: Carter files a notice of appeal from the

December 23, 2014, order. The appeal is docketed in this

court as case No. S-15-024 (second appeal). This notice

of appeal was also accompanied by an application to pro-
ceed IFP.

ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

In the first appeal, Carter assigns, restated, that the district
court erred in denying (1) his motion for postconviction relief
without an evidentiary hearing and (2) his motion requesting
appointment of counsel and application for IFP status.

In the second appeal, Carter assigns, restated, that the dis-
trict court erred in denying his application to proceed IFP
on appeal.

STANDARD OF REVIEW
[1] A jurisdictional question which does not involve a fac-
tual dispute is determined by an appellate court as a matter of
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law, which requires the appellate court to reach a conclusion
independent from the lower court’s decision.*

[2] A district court’s denial of in forma pauperis sta-
tus under § 25-2301.02 is reviewed de novo on the record
based on the transcript of the hearing or written statement of
the court.’

ANALYSIS

JURISDICTION OF SECOND APPEAL

[3] Before reaching the legal issues presented for review, it
is the duty of an appellate court to determine whether it has
jurisdiction over the matter before it.° The State claims that we
do not have jurisdiction over this appeal because Carter has not
paid the statutory docket fee. We disagree.

We decided in Glass v. Kenney’ that we can acquire juris-
diction, without payment of the docket fee, over an appeal
from an order denying IFP status on appeal. Greg A. Glass
filed a petition for a writ of habeas corpus and an applica-
tion to proceed IFP. Without ruling on the habeas petition, the
district court denied Glass’ application to proceed IFP because
it concluded that his allegations in the habeas petition were
“frivolous.”® Glass appealed, filing an application to proceed
with the appeal IFP, which the district court denied. Glass
separately appealed from this second denial, filing a proper
application to proceed IFP and a poverty affidavit with his
notice of appeal. The State argued that we did not have juris-
diction to hear Glass’ second appeal because Glass had not
paid any filing fees.

The interaction of several statutes led us to conclude that we
had jurisdiction. We first observed that under the controlling

4 State v. Crawford, 291 Neb. 362, 865 N.W.2d 360 (2015).
5 State v. Sims, 291 Neb. 475, 865 N.W.2d 800 (2015).

¢ State v. Banks, 289 Neb. 600, 856 N.W.2d 305 (2014).

7 Glass v. Kenney, 268 Neb. 704, 687 N.W.2d 907 (2004).
8 Id. at 706, 687 N.W.2d at 909.
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statute,’ following a denial of an application to proceed IFP,
a party may either proceed with the action or appeal the rul-
ing denying IFP status.!” For completeness, we note that this
statute underwent minor revisions after Glass that have no
bearing on this analysis. Second, we recognized that under
this statute, there is a statutory right of interlocutory appel-
late review of a decision denying IFP eligibility.!" Third, we
observed that although another statute'’ generally governing
appeals and a specific fee statute'® require payment of a docket
fee, “‘[a] poverty affidavit serves as a substitute for the docket
fee otherwise required upon appeal . . . .””"* Finally, we noted
that “‘[t]his court obtain[s] jurisdiction over the appeal upon
the timely filing of a notice of appeal and a proper in forma
pauperis application and affidavit.””'> We acquired jurisdic-
tion over Glass’ second appeal because Glass filed a timely
notice of appeal from the order denying leave to appeal IFP,
accompanied by a proper application to proceed IFP and a
poverty affidavit.

The procedural posture of the instant appeal is slightly
different than that in Glass; however, the same principles
apply. As in Glass, the district court denied Carter’s motion
to proceed IFP on appeal. Like Glass, Carter appealed from
the district court’s denial to this court. And as in Glass, we
obtained jurisdiction over the second appeal because Carter
filed a proper application to proceed IFP and a poverty affi-
davit with his timely notice of appeal. (We note that the State

9§ 25-2301.02(1).

10 See Glass v. Kenney, supra note 7.

" See id.

12 Neb. Rev. Stat. § 25-1912 (Reissue 2008).
13 Neb. Rev. Stat. § 33-103 (Reissue 2008).

" Glass v. Kenney, supra note 7, 268 Neb. at 709, 687 N.W.2d at 911
(quoting In re Interest of Noelle F. & Sarah F., 249 Neb. 628, 544 N.W.2d
509 (1996)).

IS d. (quoting State v. Jones, 264 Neb. 671, 650 N.W.2d 798 (2002)).
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may have overlooked the IFP application and poverty affida-
vit, as they were transmitted with the docketing documents'¢
and did not appear in the transcript of filings.)

MERITS OF IFP APPLICATION

We now turn to the merits of Carter’s application to proceed
IFP on appeal. The district court, on its own motion, denied
Carter’s application because it concluded that his underlying
motion for postconviction relief was frivolous.

The statute authorized the district court to deny leave if it
determined that Carter’s motion for postconviction relief was
frivolous. Except in those cases where the denial of IFP sta-
tus “would deny a defendant his or her constitutional right to
appeal in a felony case,” § 25-2301.02 allows the court “on
its own motion” to deny IFP status on the basis that the legal
positions asserted by the applicant are frivolous or malicious,
provided that the court issues “a written statement of its rea-
sons, findings, and conclusions for denial.”'” A frivolous legal
position is one wholly without merit, that is, without rational
argument based on the law or on the evidence.'® The district
court’s order set forth the required finding.

To review the district court’s finding, we must consider
Carter’s underlying motion for postconviction relief. In that
motion, Carter argues that his jury should have received a
voluntary manslaughter instruction pursuant to State v. Smith."
However, he admits that he also relied upon Smith in his
2012 motion. He also claims that Smith and the U.S. Supreme
Court’s 2013 decision in Alleyne v. United States,® taken

16 See Neb. Ct. R. App. P. § 2-101(B)(4) (rev. 2010).

17§ 25-2301.02(1). See Cole v. Blum, 262 Neb. 1058, 637 N.W.2d 606
(2002).

18 Castonguay v. Retelsdorf, 291 Neb. 220, 865 N.W.2d 91 (2015).
19 State v. Smith, 282 Neb. 720, 806 N.W.2d 383 (2011).

20 Alleyne v. United States, 570 U.S. 99, 133 S. Ct. 2151, 186 L. Ed. 2d 314
(2013).
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together, render the “absence . . . of [a] sudden quarrel” an
element of first degree murder. He argues that Alleyne requires
this conclusion because “the absence or presence of sudden
quarrel, raises the sentencing floor from 20 years to life.”
(Emphasis in original.)

Carter’s arguments regarding Alleyne are frivolous. Alleyne
is the most recent decision in a line of cases where the U.S.
Supreme Court has wrestled with the distinction between the
elements of a crime and “‘sentencing factors,”” which are
“facts that are not found by a jury but that can still increase
the defendant’s punishment.”?' In Alleyne, the Court held that
facts that increase the mandatory minimum sentence must be
submitted to the jury, rather than be decided by the judge as
sentencing factors. Alleyne is an extension or application of
Apprendi v. New Jersey,”> where the Court held that facts that
increase the prescribed statutory maximum sentence must be
submitted to the jury, rather than submitted to the judge as
sentencing factors. Carter’s reliance on Alleyne is misplaced;
the absence or presence of a sudden quarrel is not a sen-
tencing factor under Nebraska law. Alleyne simply does not
apply here.

[4-6] More important, Carter’s previous attempt to invoke
Smith renders his current argument frivolous. Carter’s claim
that Smith entitles him to relief is wholly without merit
because he relied upon Smith in his 2012 motion for post-
conviction relief. An appellate court will not entertain a suc-
cessive motion for postconviction relief unless the motion
affirmatively shows on its face that the basis relied upon for
relief was not available at the time the movant filed the prior
motion.” Postconviction proceedings are not a tool whereby a

2 Id., 570 U.S. at 105.

22 Apprendi v. New Jersey, 530 U.S. 466, 120 S. Ct. 2348, 147 L. Ed. 2d 435
(2000).

2 State v. Phelps, 286 Neb. 89, 834 N.W.2d 786 (2013).
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defendant can continue to bring successive motions for relief.?*
The need for finality in the criminal process requires that a
defendant bring all claims for relief at the first opportunity.?
Carter cannot rely upon Smith again. And without it, his argu-
ment is frivolous.

CONCLUSION
Because we conclude that Carter asserted only frivolous

legal positions in his motion for postconviction relief, we
resolve the second appeal by affirming the district court’s
order. Thus, pursuant to § 25-2301.02(1), we will not have
jurisdiction of the first appeal unless Carter pays the statutory
docket fee within 30 days of the date of release of this opin-
ion. We therefore hold the first appeal under submission for
payment of the statutory docket fee. If Carter fails to timely
pay the statutory docket fee, his first appeal will be dismissed
for lack of jurisdiction. We direct that upon payment of the
fee or upon expiration of the 30-day period without payment,
whichever occurs first, the clerk of the district court for
Douglas County shall file a supplemental certificate in case
No. S-14-1089 accordingly.

APPEALINNO. S-14-1089 HELD UNDER SUBMISSION.

JUDGMENT IN No. S-15-024 AFFIRMED.

.
B d.
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HEeavican, C.J.
INTRODUCTION
David E. Ware’s motion for postconviction relief was denied
without an evidentiary hearing. Ware appeals and argues he was
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entitled to an evidentiary hearing on his claims that his sen-
tence violated the Eighth Amendment to the U.S. Constitution
and that his trial counsel was ineffective. We affirm.

BACKGROUND

On April 13, 1984, Ware was convicted of first degree
murder following a bench trial. Ware was subsequently sen-
tenced to life imprisonment. This court affirmed his conviction
and sentence.'

On August 16, 2012, Ware filed a motion for postconvic-
tion relief. In that motion, Ware alleged that (1) his mandatory
life sentence was unconstitutional under Miller v. Alabama®
because the sentencing court did not have the opportunity to
consider any mitigating circumstances; (2) his trial counsel was
ineffective (a) for failing to advise him of his right to testify
in his own behalf and (b) for failing to adequately inform him
of his right to a jury trial; and (3) he did not knowingly, intel-
ligently, and voluntarily waive his right to have a presentence
investigation conducted.

Originally, Ware’s motion was stayed pending this court’s
decision in State v. Mantich.> But after this court issued its
opinions in Mantich and State v. Castaneda,* Ware’s motion
proceeded and a hearing on the State’s second motion to deny
an evidentiary hearing was held. At this hearing, Ware sought
to introduce into evidence the deposition of an adolescent neu-
ropsychologist. That request was denied at the hearing, and
Ware’s motion seeking postconviction relief was denied on
January 22, 2015.

In its order, the district court noted that Ware had no Miller
claim, because he was 18 years of age at the time of the

! State v. Ware, 219 Neb. 594, 365 N.W.2d 418 (1985).

2 Miller v. Alabama, 567 U.S. 460, 132 S. Ct. 2455, 183 L. Ed. 2d 407
(2012).

3 State v. Mantich, 287 Neb. 320, 842 N.W.2d 716 (2014).
4 State v. Castaneda, 287 Neb. 289, 842 N.W.2d 740 (2014).
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commission of the crime for which he was convicted. The
court further addressed the claim that his counsel was inef-
fective for not informing him of his right to testify in his own
behalf, and concluded that this allegation was not supported
by the record. Finally, the district court found that Ware’s
claims regarding his presentence investigation were procedur-
ally barred.

ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR
Ware assigns that the district court erred in not granting
him an evidentiary hearing, because (1) his life sentence was
unconstitutional and (2) his trial counsel was ineffective for
failing to inform him of the consequences of his waiver of a
jury trial.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

[1,2] A defendant requesting postconviction relief must
establish the basis for such relief, and the findings of the
district court will not be disturbed unless they are clearly
erroneous.’ An evidentiary hearing on a motion for postconvic-
tion relief must be granted when the motion contains factual
allegations which, if proved, constitute an infringement of the
movant’s rights under the Nebraska or federal Constitution.®
However, if the motion alleges only conclusions of fact or
law, or the records and files in the case affirmatively show
that the movant is entitled to no relief, no evidentiary hearing
is required.’

ANALYSIS
Constitutionality of Life Sentence.
In his first assignment of error, Ware argues that his life
sentence is unconstitutional. Ware’s argument is based upon

5 State v. Hessler, 288 Neb. 670, 850 N.W.2d 777 (2014).
6 1d.
7.
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the U.S. Supreme Court’s decision in Miller.® In that deci-
sion, the Court concluded that a mandatory life-without-parole
sentence for “those under the age of 18 at the time of their
crimes violates the Eighth Amendment’s prohibition on ‘cruel
and unusual punishments.””” Subsequent to Miller, this court
observed that life imprisonment sentences imposed upon juve-
niles in Nebraska for first degree murder prior to Miller were
effectively sentences of life imprisonment without parole.'” We
further held, in accordance with Miller, that those defendants
were entitled to resentencing."

In Ware’s case, the district court found, and the record
shows, that Ware was 18 years of age at the time he commit-
ted the murder for which he was sentenced to life imprison-
ment. Ware does not contest that fact, but argues that because
the age of majority in Nebraska is 19 under the juvenile code,
this court should conclude that Miller applies to protect those
minors under the age of 19. Ware acknowledges that we
rejected this same argument in State v. Wetherell,'"> but asks us
to reconsider that conclusion.

In connection with Ware’s contention that he should be
resentenced under Miller, Ware relies on the deposition of a
neuropsychologist who testified that the brains of young adults
do not stop growing until age 19 or 20 and are not fixed until
age 25 or 26. Ware offered this deposition as an exhibit at the
hearing on the State’s motion to dismiss; the district court did
not admit it, and Ware does not assign this as error. But Ware
nevertheless urges us to consider this deposition.

In State v. Glover,”* we opined on the appropriateness of
a district court allowing the introduction of evidence at a

8 Miller v. Alabama, supra note 2.

% Id., 567 U.S. at 465.

10 State v. Castaneda, supra note 4.

' State v. Mantich, supra note 3.

12 State v. Wetherell, 289 Neb. 312, 855 N.W.2d 359 (2014).
13 State v. Glover, 276 Neb. 622, 756 N.W.2d 157 (2008).
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hearing on a motion for an evidentiary hearing (as opposed to

an evidentiary hearing). We noted that
receiving new evidence at a records hearing would
create chaos. Either the State or the prisoner could be
unprepared to respond to new evidence. That unpre-
paredness could result in unnecessary due process
challenges from prisoners. And appellate courts would
constantly have to backtrack and consider whether an
evidentiary hearing was warranted based solely on the
allegations and the information contained in the case
records and files—a question that the district court
should initially address.'*

This deposition was inadmissible, and we decline to con-

sider it.

We also decline Ware’s invitation to reconsider Wetherell.
By its very language, Miller applies to those individuals who
were under the age of 18 at the time a crime punishable by a
life sentence without the possibility of parole was committed.
We further note that Neb. Rev. Stat. § 28-105.02(1) (Cum.
Supp. 2014) codifies Miller for “any person convicted of a
Class 1A felony for an offense committed when such person
was under the age of eighteen years.” (Emphasis supplied.)
The district court did not err in not granting a new sentenc-
ing hearing under Miller. Ware’s first assignment of error is
without merit.

Waiver of Jury Trial.

In his second assignment of error, Ware argues that the dis-
trict court erred in not considering his claim that his counsel
was ineffective for failing to properly advise him of the con-
sequences of waiving his right to a jury trial. Ware is correct
that the district court did not address this allegation.

But we conclude that Ware is not entitled to postconviction
relief. If the records and files in the case affirmatively show

4 Jd. at 629, 756 N.W.2d at 163.
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that the movant is entitled to no relief, no evidentiary hear-
ing is required."”” And in this case, the record shows that Ware
was informed and questioned in some detail about the conse-
quences of waiving his right to a jury trial.

The bill of exceptions shows an extensive discussion
between Ware and the district court on this issue. The right to
a jury trial was explained to Ware. Ware was asked whether
he wanted to waive that right, and the consequences of that
decision were discussed. Ware was asked to explain why he
wanted to waive his right to a jury trial. During this discussion,
the court explicitly noted that it wanted Ware “to understand
that this Court is certainly very willing to afford you a jury
trial, and it’s set for jury trial starting Monday morning, if
you want.”

Moreover, Ware’s counsel explained to the court that “prob-
ably on at least four occasions at some length [he and Ware]
have talked about the possibility of waiving a jury trial.” This
colloquy occurred days in advance of trial, which was origi-
nally scheduled to be a jury trial. On the day of trial, Ware was
again asked whether he still wished to waive his right to a jury
trial; he indicated that he did.

The record shows that Ware was aware of his right to a
jury trial and was aware of the consequences of waiving that
right. As such, the record affirmatively shows that Ware is not
entitled to postconviction relief on this issue. There is no merit
to Ware’s second assignment of error.

CONCLUSION
The decision of the district court is affirmed.
AFFIRMED.

15 See State v. Hessler:, supra note 5.
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Motions for Mistrial: Appeal and Error. Whether to grant a motion
for mistrial is within the trial court’s discretion, and an appellate court
will not disturb its ruling unless the trial court abused its discretion.
Rules of Evidence: Other Acts: Appeal and Error. It is within the
discretion of the trial court to determine relevancy and admissibility of
evidence of other wrongs or acts under Neb. Evid. R. 404(2), Neb. Rev.
Stat. § 27-404(2) (Cum. Supp. 2014), and the trial court’s decision will
not be reversed absent an abuse of discretion.

Sentences: Appeal and Error. An appellate court will not disturb a sen-
tence imposed within the statutory limits absent an abuse of discretion
by the trial court.

Judgments: Words and Phrases. An abuse of discretion occurs when a
trial court’s decision is based upon reasons that are untenable or unrea-
sonable or if its action is clearly against justice or conscience, reason,
and evidence.

Effectiveness of Counsel: Appeal and Error. Whether a claim of inef-
fective assistance of trial counsel may be determined on direct appeal
is a question of law. In reviewing claims of ineffective assistance of
counsel on direct appeal, an appellate court decides only questions of
law: Are the undisputed facts contained within the record sufficient to
conclusively determine whether counsel did or did not provide effec-
tive assistance and whether the defendant was or was not prejudiced by
counsel’s alleged deficient performance?

Rules of Evidence: Other Acts. Under Neb. Evid. R. 404(2), Neb. Rev.
Stat. § 27-404(2) (Cum. Supp. 2014), evidence of other crimes, wrongs,
or acts is not admissible to prove the character of a person in order to
show that he or she acted in conformity therewith. It may, however, be
admissible for other purposes, such as proof of motive, opportunity,
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intent, preparation, plan, knowledge, identity, or absence of mistake
or accident.
. Neb. Evid. R. 404(2), Neb. Rev. Stat. § 27-404(2) (Cum.

Supp 2014) does not apply to evidence of a defendant’s other
crimes or bad acts if the evidence is inextricably intertwined with the
charged crime.
: . Inextricably intertwined evidence includes evidence that
forms part of the factual setting of the crime, or evidence that is so
blended or connected to the charged crime that proof of the charged
crime will necessarily require proof of the other crimes or bad acts, or if
the other crimes or bad acts are necessary for the prosecution to present
a coherent picture of the charged crime.
Criminal Law: Trial: Evidence: Appeal and Error. An error in admit-
ting or excluding evidence in a criminal trial, whether of constitutional
magnitude or otherwise, is prejudicial unless the error was harmless
beyond a reasonable doubt.
Verdicts: Juries: Appeal and Error. Harmless error review looks to
the basis on which the jury actually rested its verdict; the inquiry is
not whether in a trial that occurred without the error, a guilty verdict
would surely have been rendered, but whether the actual guilty verdict
rendered was surely unattributable to the error.
Trial: Appeal and Error. In order to preserve, as a ground of appeal,
an opponent’s misconduct during closing argument, the aggrieved party
must have objected to improper remarks no later than at the conclusion
of the argument.
Trial: Evidence: Appeal and Error. An objection, based on a specific
ground and properly overruled, does not preserve a question for appel-
late review on any other ground.
Appeal and Error. Plain error may be found on appeal when an error,
unasserted or uncomplained of at trial, but plainly evident from the
record, prejudicially affects a litigant’s substantial right and, if uncor-
rected, would result in damage to the integrity, reputation, and fairness
of the judicial process.
Trial: Prosecuting Attorneys: Juries. Prosecutors are charged with the
duty to conduct criminal trials in such a manner that the accused may
have a fair and impartial trial, and prosecutors are not to inflame the
prejudlces or excite the passions of the jury against the accused.

: . A prosecutor’s conduct that does not mislead and
unduly 1nﬂuence the jury does not constitute misconduct.
Sentences. When imposing a sentence, a sentencing judge should con-
sider the defendant’s (1) age, (2) mentality, (3) education and experi-
ence, (4) social and cultural background, (5) past criminal record or
record of law-abiding conduct, and (6) motivation for the offense, as
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well as (7) the nature of the offense, and (8) the amount of violence
involved in the commission of the crime.

__ . The appropriateness of a sentence is necessarily a subjective judg-
ment and includes the sentencing judge’s observation of the defendant’s
demeanor and attitude and all the facts and circumstances surrounding
the defendant’s life.

Postconviction: Effectiveness of Counsel: Proof: Appeal and Error.
In order to show ineffective assistance of counsel under Strickland v.
Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 104 S. Ct. 2052, 80 L. Ed. 2d 674 (1984),
a defendant must show, first, that counsel was deficient and, second,
that the deficient performance actually caused prejudice to the defend-
ant’s case.

Effectiveness of Counsel: Proof: Presumptions: Appeal and Error.
The two prongs of the ineffective assistance of counsel test under
Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 104 S. Ct. 2052, 80 L. Ed. 2d
674 (1984), may be addressed in either order, and the entire ineffective-
ness analysis should be viewed with a strong presumption that counsel’s
actions were reasonable.

Effectiveness of Counsel: Proof. Prejudice caused by counsel’s defi-
ciency is shown when there is a reasonable probability that but for
counsel’s deficient performance, the result of the proceeding would have
been different.

Proof: Words and Phrases. A reasonable probability is a probability
sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome.

Effectiveness of Counsel: Records: Appeal and Error. The fact that
an ineffective assistance of counsel claim is raised on direct appeal does
not necessarily mean that it can be resolved. The determining factor is
whether the record is sufficient to adequately review the question.
Trial: Effectiveness of Counsel: Evidence: Appeal and Error. An
ineffective assistance of counsel claim will not be addressed on direct
appeal if it requires an evidentiary hearing.

Motions to Strike: Jury Instructions. When an objection to or motion
to strike improper evidence is sustained and the jury is instructed to
disregard it, such instruction is deemed sufficient to prevent prejudice.

Appeal from the District Court for Douglas County: W.

MARK ASHFORD, Judge. Affirmed.

Barry S. Grossman and Michael J. Fitzpatrick for appellant.

Douglas J. Peterson, Attorney General, and Stacy M. Foust

for appellee.
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HEeavican, C.J., WRIGHT, CONNOLLY, MCCORMACK, MILLER-
LErRMAN, CASSEL, and STACY, JJ.

CASSEL, J.
I. INTRODUCTION

In this direct appeal, Sarah A. Cullen challenges her convic-
tion, pursuant to jury verdict, and her sentence for intentional
child abuse resulting in death." An infant died after being in
Cullen’s care. She primarily argues that evidence of the child’s
prior injuries while in her care should have been excluded
as prior bad acts under rule 404 of the Nebraska Evidence
Rules.? We conclude that the prior injuries were inextricably
intertwined with the fatal ones. We also reject Cullen’s asser-
tions of improper closing argument, prosecutorial misconduct,
excessive sentence, and ineffective assistance of trial counsel.
Accordingly, we affirm.

II. BACKGROUND

1. CASH’S INJURIES AND DEATH

Cash Christopher Bell, born in October 2012, was the son
of Christopher (Chris) Bell and Ashley Bell. Prior to the events
summarized below, Cash had no medical issues.

In January 2013, the Bells hired Cullen to work temporarily
as a nanny for Cash in their home, pending the opening of a
new daycare in June 2013. Cullen’s first day alone with Cash
was on January 7, when Ashley returned to work from mater-
nity leave. Cash was about 3 months old.

On the morning of February 28, 2013, Chris woke up at
approximately 6 a.m. He changed Cash’s diaper, fed him a
bottle, and then brought him downstairs to Ashley. Ashley put
Cash in a bassinet while she finished getting ready for work.
The Bells testified that it was a typical morning. Cash was
active, making eye contact, smiling, cooing, and laughing.

! See Neb. Rev. Stat. § 28-707 (Cum. Supp. 2012).
2 See Neb. Evid. R. 404(2), Neb. Rev. Stat. § 27-404(2) (Cum. Supp. 2014).
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Chris left for work between 6:45 and 7 a.m. Cullen arrived
for work at the Bells’ home at 7:15 a.m. Ashley left for work
around 7:40 a.m.

Shortly after 9:19 a.m., Chris returned home to get his
checkbook. As Chris entered the house, he yelled out to
Cullen that he had forgotten his checkbook. He then heard
Cash breathing. He turned and found Cash lying face down
in the Pack N Play nearby. Chris rolled him over. Cash did
not open his eyes, and he took “a little breath.” Cash’s blanket
was around his face and chest area, and Chris moved it down
to his waist. Chris believed that Cash was sleeping. At about
the same time he heard Cash breathing, Chris heard Cullen in
the nearby bathroom. After he rolled Cash over, Chris grabbed
his checkbook. As he was leaving, he heard Cullen ask him if
he woke Cash up. Chris estimated that he was in the house not
more than a minute. As Chris was getting into his car, Cullen
came to the door with Cash in her arms and asked Chris what
he said when he first walked in the house. Chris could see only
the back of Cash’s head.

At approximately 10:15 a.m., Cullen called her boyfriend,
Andrew Ullsperger, and told him that Cash was not breathing
and that his feet were blue. Ullsperger immediately proceeded
to the Bell residence to take Cash and Cullen to a local hospi-
tal. When Ullsperger arrived at the Bell residence, Cash was
not responsive, but he was breathing. Cullen told Ullsperger
nothing about the events of that morning on the way to the
hospital. When they arrived at the hospital’s emergency room,
Cullen stated that she found Cash “sleeping on his belly and
he doesn’t normally sleep like that.”

Previously, Ashley had requested that Cullen log Cash’s
diaper changes, feedings, naps, and anything else of note, and
the last entry in the log was at 8§ a.m. on February 28, 2013,
when Cullen noted that Cash began to nap. At 10:18 a.m.,
Cullen called Ashley and frantically told her that she was
taking Cash to the hospital because Cash had just woken up
from a 1- to 1”2-hour nap and was not breathing right. Ashley
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and Chris later arrived at the emergency room where they
waited with Cullen and Ullsperger. Ashley testified that she
questioned Cullen during that time about whether anything
had happened that morning after Ashley left, but Cullen main-
tained that Cash woke up from his nap in that condition. A
nurse eventually summoned Ashley and Chris to be with Cash
until “Life Flight” transported him to a pediatric hospital due
to the extent of his injuries.

Deputy Brenda Wheeler and Sgt. John Pankonin of the
Douglas County Sheriff’s Department interviewed Cullen at
the sheriff’s office on February 28 and March 1, 2013.

During her February 28, 2013, interview, Cullen told pri-
marily four different versions of what occurred to Cash that
morning. Initially, she stated that Cash started the day acting
normally, but that when he woke up from his nap, his breath-
ing was not normal. Cullen denied to Wheeler that Cash had
an accident or fell that morning. Wheeler then informed Cullen
that Cash’s skull was fractured and that his head had to have
hit something or something had to have hit his head. Cullen
eventually told Wheeler that when she was walking out of the
back door with Cash, she may have accidentally hit his head
somewhere on the door. When she came back in, Cash was not
“breathing right.”

After consulting Dr. Suzanne Haney, a pediatrician, outside
of Cullen’s presence, Wheeler informed Cullen that Cash’s
injuries could not have been caused by hitting his head on the
door. Cullen continued to deny that anything else happened
that morning, but then she told Wheeler that Cash had fallen
out of his swing at about 8:15 a.m. According to Cullen, Cash
whimpered but then fell asleep at about 8:45 a.m.

While Wheeler was again absent consulting Haney,
Ullsperger and Cullen communicated via text messages.
Ullsperger texted Cullen, “They said [Clash is going to be ok.”
Cullen replied, “I know. But it’s still my fault. I didn’t buckle
him in the swing, he flopped out of it . . . idk.” (“Idk” is a
texting term that means “I don’t know.”) Ullsperger responded,
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“Oh really? What all did they say then?” Cullen wrote, “Idk,
that’s the very only thing that happened out of the ordinary but
he didn’t even really cry so [I] didn[’]t think it did anything!
She’s talking to the doctor now.”

After talking to Haney, Wheeler informed Cullen that
Cash’s injuries could not have been caused by a short fall
from the swing. Wheeler and Pankonin informed Cullen that
Cash’s injuries were consistent with shaking and that he was
set down or thrown down hard. Cullen began to cry and
admitted that she had lied. She stated that Cash had fallen out
of the swing the day before. According to Cullen, at about
8:15 a.m. on February 28, 2013, she had slipped on the stairs
while carrying Cash and he had fallen onto the tile floor
below without hitting any of the steps. Cullen stated that Cash
landed on his back with his hands clenched but did not cry.
She put a bag of frozen vegetables on the back of his neck
and then put him in his Pack 'N Play after he fell asleep on
her chest.

According to Cullen, she called Ullsperger instead of the
911 emergency dispatch service because Cash “wasn’t that bad
right away” and because it was her fault. Cullen denied shak-
ing Cash. She wrote a statement about Cash’s falling down the
stairs and generally maintained this version of events during
the interview with Wheeler on March 1, 2013.

Haney is a child abuse pediatrician who specializes in the
diagnosis and care of suspected abused and neglected children.
She consulted on Cash’s case. When she examined Cash on
February 28, 2013, she noticed that he was “not acting well.”
He was irritable and not focusing his eyes, and he had “an
obnoxious shrill kind of a scream.” At that time, Cash was
breathing on his own. He had injuries that concerned Haney on
a 4-month-old, including a bruise on the left side of his fore-
head, two tiny circular abrasions under his chin, and a bruise
on his tongue. Wheeler confronted Cullen during the March 1
interview about the abrasions under Cash’s chin. Cullen told
Wheeler that she first saw them on Monday, February 25, and
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that Ashley told her the abrasions occurred over the weekend
when Ashley put Cash’s bib on him. The abrasions matched
metal clasps on the inside collar of the “Onesie” that Cash
wore on February 28.

Between March 1 and 5, 2013, Cash’s neurological condition
rapidly deteriorated as evidenced by his lack of responsiveness
and an onset of frequent seizures that could be controlled
only through high doses of medication. Doctors determined
that Cash would not have any significant neurologic recovery.
Ashley testified that Cash’s doctors gave them the long-term
prognosis that Cash would never be able to see, hear, walk, or
be without a feeding tube and a ventilator and that he would
likely never understand his parents. Based on this information,
the Bells decided to take Cash off of life support on March 5,
and that day, he died.

Several medical experts testified about the extent of Cash’s
injuries and their possible causes. That evidence demonstrates
that Cash sustained a large hematoma on the right back of his
head, a smaller bruise on the back of his head, a skull fracture
on the back of his head, a second skull fracture on the right
side of his head that extended to the base of his skull, subdural
and subarachnoid hemorrhages in and around all surfaces of
his brain, actual injury to his brain including torn blood vessels
and long filaments as well as bruising to both sides, and mul-
tiple retinal hemorrhages that extended to the back of his eyes.
Doctors testified that Cash sustained a global or diffuse brain
injury, meaning that it affected his entire brain. Ninety percent
of his brain was permanently damaged and abnormal due to a
lack of oxygen.

The medical experts agreed that Cash’s injuries were
consistent with nonaccidental trauma caused by shaking or
impacts to the head or both. There was testimony comparing
the significant force involved in Cash’s injuries to a one- to
two-story fall, a high-speed motor vehicle accident, and a
television falling on a child’s head and crushing it. There
was testimony that separation between the two skull fractures
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indicated that they were caused by two separate forces. While
none of the experts could pinpoint an exact date and time
of injury, they estimated that Cash’s brain and eye injuries
occurred within 0 to 2 days of February 28, 2013, and that
his skull fractures occurred within 0 to 14 days of that date;
though in light of Cash’s brain injury, it was highly unlikely
that the fractures occurred 14 days before February 28.

Based on the history given by the Bells, Cullen’s statements,
and the medical evidence, two medical experts opined that
Cash’s brain injury occurred sometime after Ashley left for
work on February 28, 2013. They testified that children with
Cash’s type of brain injury are immediately unwell and do
not respond appropriately and that symptoms would manifest
fairly quickly and may be intermittent, but would be notice-
able and cause concern. Several medical experts testified that
Cullen’s versions of events could not have accounted for all of
Cash’s injuries.

2. CHARGE

The State charged Cullen with intentional child abuse occur-
ring on or about January 1 through February 28, 2013, that
resulted in Cash’s death, a Class IB felony in violation of
§ 28-707(1) and (8). The district court conducted a trial, and
we have already summarized part of the evidence relevant to
this appeal. Additional evidence relevant to specific issues on
appeal is summarized below.

3. RuLE 404 EVIDENCE

Prior to trial, the State filed its notice of intent to offer evi-
dence of prior bad acts pursuant to rule 404. A rule 404 hear-
ing was held where the State presented evidence that Cullen
had injured children at two daycares where she had worked
prior to working for the Bells. At this hearing, the State did not
present evidence of prior injuries that Cash suffered while in
Cullen’s care.

The State explained that its approach was intentional. The
prosecutor informed the court that the State did not consider
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evidence of prior injuries that Cash suffered while in Cullen’s
care to be rule 404 evidence. Rather, the State believed this
evidence was inextricably intertwined with the charged offense.
For that reason, the rule 404 hearing was confined to the prior
daycare evidence.

The district court ruled the prior daycare evidence inadmis-
sible. While the court found that the evidence would be proba-
tive regarding absence of mistake, it determined that the risk of
unfair prejudice substantially outweighed its probative value.
It attributed the unfair prejudice to the dissimilarities in the
severity and cause of the injuries between the children at the
daycares and Cash.

4. CASH’S PRIOR INJURIES

During trial, Cullen made an oral motion in limine seeking
to prohibit the State from offering text messages and photo-
graphs of injuries that Cash sustained prior to February 28,
2013. Defense counsel argued that the injuries constituted prior
bad acts evidence and should have been excluded under the
district court’s order on the rule 404 evidence.

The State responded that the text messages showed that
Cullen previously notified Ashley of any accidental injuries
Cash sustained but did not disclose any accident to her on
February 28, 2013. Thus, the State argued, the evidence was
inextricably intertwined with the charged offense, because
Cullen’s inconsistent conduct was highly relevant to whether
the injuries that resulted in Cash’s death were intentional
or accidental.

The district court ruled that the State could not offer evi-
dence of specific injuries to Cash unrelated to his cause of
death, but that it could offer evidence in general about the
arrangement between Ashley and Cullen to communicate about
Cash and any accidents as well as the frequency of those com-
munications. However, the district court further ruled that it
would revisit the issue if Cullen’s statements about the prior
injuries were received into evidence.
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At trial, Ashley testified that she and Cullen communi-
cated with each other by text or telephone call almost every
day while Ashley was at work. Ashley testified that between
January 7 and February 27, 2013, Cash sustained minor inju-
ries. Despite Ashley’s instructions to contact her or Chris
about any accidents, Cullen notified Ashley about only three
of six injuries.

After Cullen’s statements to law enforcement were admit-
ted at trial, the State recalled Ashley to testify about the minor
injuries that Cash sustained while in Cullen’s care. Before
Ashley could testify about the minor injuries, defense counsel
requested to approach the bench where an off-the-record dis-
cussion was held. The district court overruled Cullen’s objec-
tion and allowed her a continuing objection.

Ashley testified that Cash’s first injury while in Cullen’s
care occurred on January 9, 2013. Cullen texted Ashley on
that day that the Bells’ dog, named “Mugsy,” trampled Cash
and her on the floor after a noise outside “freaked Mugsy out.”
When Ashley returned home from work, Cash had a bruise
under his left eye and a scratch on the left side of his neck.
Ashley explained that she and Chris trained Mugsy to respect
Cash’s space and that she never observed Mugsy run over or
trample Cash. Although Ashley had never observed Mugsy
“freak out” over a noise outside, she testified that she believed
Cullen’s explanation.

One week later, on January 16, 2013, Cullen texted Ashley
that Cash had a fever. On January 29, Cullen texted Ashley,
“Oh Ashley I have no idea what just happened but theres [sic]
a big mark under Cash eye :( | went to answer the door and he
started crying!” Ashley testified that according to Cullen, Cash
was on his toy mat on the floor when the doorbell rang, which
caused Mugsy to jump off the couch. Cullen told Ashley that
she did not know what had happened, but that Cash sustained
a bruise and scratch under his left eye. Ashley testified that
she believed it was plausible that Mugsy jumped off the couch
when the doorbell rang.
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Ashley testified that she and Chris were out of town
between February 7 and 11, 2013. Cullen cared for Cash dur-
ing the day, while Ashley’s mother cared for him at night.
When the Bells returned on February 11, Cash had a bump
and a bruise on the right side of his head above his eyebrow.
Ashley did not address the injury with Cullen because she
understood that her mother had. Rose Bergerson, Ashley’s
mother, testified over Cullen’s continuing objection that she
came to the Bells’ home from work on February 7 to find
Cash with the bruise and bump. Defense counsel stated the
grounds for the objection to be relevance and rule 404: “The
same objection that we had to Ashley Bell’s testimony.”
Bergerson testified that when she confronted Cullen about
the injury, Cullen told her that she had Cash on her hip when
she was taking Mugsy outside. According to Cullen, the wind
caught the door and hit Cash in the head. Bergerson docu-
mented Cash’s injury by taking photographs of it with her cell
phone, and those photographs were received into evidence
over Cullen’s objections.

In mid-February 2013, Chris and Ashley observed a broken
blood vessel on the inside of Cash’s eye. Cullen told Ashley
that she had never seen it before. On February 15, Cullen
texted Ashley, “Cash must have scratched himself? We ran and
ate a late lunch, when we got back there was a small mark on
him but it was not there when [I] put him in . . . he wad [sic]
rubbing his eyes awfully hard though . . . have a good week-
end!” Ashley could not recall if Cullen was referring in the text
to a new scratch or the broken blood vessel.

On the evening of Monday, February 25, 2013, Chris and
Ashley noticed that Cash had two round abrasions under his
chin and a bruise on his temple. Ashley confronted Cullen
about the abrasions, and Cullen told her that they did not hap-
pen during her care and that she had not seen them. Ashley
testified that she told Cullen on February 28 that she hoped
she did not cause the abrasions over the weekend with his
wet bib. Ashley testified that she dismissed the idea after she
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said it, because the bib would not have caused the two abra-
sions under Cash’s chin or the bruise on his temple. Therefore,
according to Ashley, Cullen was inaccurate when she told
Wheeler that Ashley admitted causing the two abrasions.

Ashley testified that Cullen never notified her that Cash fell
out of the swing on February 27, 2013, as Cullen had claimed
during her interview with police.

The record contains no motion for mistrial based on the
admission of evidence of Cash’s prior injuries.

5. MOTION FOR MISTRIAL

During Chris’ testimony, Cullen’s counsel objected, based on
hearsay grounds, before Chris could testify about what a nurse
had told him and Ashley. The district court permitted Chris to
continue, because “[i]t may be a diagnostic statement.” Chris
then testified, “[The emergency room nurse] grabbed my wife
Ashley . . . and said, She did this to him, meaning [Cullen].”
After this testimony, Cullen’s counsel immediately said, “Okay,
Judge.” The district court struck the testimony, and counsel
approached the bench for an off-the-record discussion. The
jury was excused briefly, and Cullen’s counsel made a motion
for mistrial. The district court denied the motion. Before pro-
ceeding with the trial, the district court admonished the jury
“totally to disregard that comment entirely.”

The only other reference to a mistrial occurred during a dis-
cussion about striking jurors, but it did not result in a motion.

At the close of the State’s case in chief, Cullen renewed
“[t]wo motions” for mistrial, immediately after which the
district court noted for the record that it had allowed Cullen
ongoing objections during testimony about Cash’s injuries that
occurred prior to February 28, 2013. It then denied Cullen’s
“motions” for mistrial.

6. CLOSING STATEMENTS
During closing statements, the prosecutor argued:
Let’s look at [Cullen’s] demeanor in this trial, because
that’s something you can take into consideration.
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I don’t know about you, ladies and gentlemen, but
I was watching her every minute that I could. I didn’t
see one ounce of emotion out of her, not when we were
looking at photographs of Cash, this baby she claims
to have loved and cared for, not one ounce of emotion.
Not in that interview, not during this trial, not when the
autopsy pictures are being presented, not when we’re
looking at his brain or his subdural brain bleeds. Not
once. Is that reasonable? She’s completely detached.
She’s completely unaffected. No emotion whatsoever.
It’s unbelievable.

Let’s compare that demeanor to Andrew Ullsperger’s
demeanor, because, again, he represents a reasonable
person. Andrew Ullsperger who had had two interactions
with baby Cash before the 28th, very limited contact
with this baby versus Sarah Cullen, who spent from 7:15
to 5:00 in the evening every day with Cash for seven
weeks. Andrew Ullsperger is visibly distraught during
his interviews, Sergeant Pankonin tells you and Andrew
told you himself. I asked him, Why were you so upset?
What was your number one concern? And without hesita-
tion, he said, Cash. Because why wouldn’t it be? He said,
This is a baby we’re talking about. Completely different
physical and emotional response than this woman (point-
ing), the one who was paid and entrusted with the care
of a life.

Cullen’s attorney did not object.
Cullen’s attorney objected only during closing statements
when the prosecutor spoke about the Bells’ loss:

And [Cullen] did it. She did it with her own hands,
nobody else’s. In those moments when this woman was
taking out her rage on a child, a four-month-old helpless
baby in her care, shaking him, slamming him, she broke
his body, she shattered that child’s body, she shattered
that child’s life and she shattered the lives of everybody
who loved Cash Bell.
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You know what? At the close of this we all get to go
home. We get to go home to our kids and our grandkids.
We get to get our children dressed for school and pick out
Halloween costumes when it rolls around and open pres-
ents and celebrate birthdays.
Cullen’s counsel objected stating, “[T]his is improper closing
argument and it’s asking for sympathy and that’s inappropri-
ate.” The district court overruled the objection.

7. CONVICTION AND SENTENCE
The jury convicted Cullen of intentional child abuse result-
ing in death. The district court sentenced Cullen to a term of
imprisonment of 70 years to life.

III. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

Cullen assigns that the district court erred in (1) denying her
motion for mistrial on the basis of allowing admission of prior
bad acts evidence pursuant to rule 404 and overruling Cullen’s
objection to the prosecutor’s closing argument, (2) failing to
sustain Cullen’s objection and to order a mistrial due to pros-
ecutorial misconduct during closing argument, and (3) abus-
ing its discretion by imposing an excessive sentence. Cullen
additionally assigns that she received ineffective assistance
of counsel.

IV. STANDARD OF REVIEW

[1-4] Whether to grant a motion for mistrial is within the
trial court’s discretion, and an appellate court will not disturb
its ruling unless the trial court abused its discretion.® It is
within the discretion of the trial court to determine relevancy
and admissibility of evidence of other wrongs or acts under
rule 404, and the trial court’s decision will not be reversed
absent an abuse of discretion.* We will not disturb a sentence

3 State v. Oliveira-Coutinho, 291 Neb. 294, 865 N.W.2d 740 (2015).
4 State v. Pullens, 281 Neb. 828, 800 N.W.2d 202 (2011).
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imposed within the statutory limits absent an abuse of discre-
tion by the trial court.> An abuse of discretion occurs when a
trial court’s decision is based upon reasons that are untenable
or unreasonable or if its action is clearly against justice or con-
science, reason, and evidence.®

[5] Whether a claim of ineffective assistance of trial coun-
sel may be determined on direct appeal is a question of law.’
In reviewing claims of ineffective assistance of counsel on
direct appeal, an appellate court decides only questions of
law: Are the undisputed facts contained within the record
sufficient to conclusively determine whether counsel did or
did not provide effective assistance and whether the defend-
ant was or was not prejudiced by counsel’s alleged defi-
cient performance?®

V. ANALYSIS

1. EVIDENCE OF CASH’S PRIOR INJURIES

At trial, the State presented evidence of injuries Cash
sustained while in Cullen’s care during the weeks prior to
the fatal injuries he sustained on February 28, 2013. Cullen
assigns that the district court erred in denying her motion for
mistrial in response to this evidence, which was based on the
improper admission of prior bad acts evidence pursuant to
rule 404.

We begin by clarifying the evidence at issue in this assigned
error. First, Cullen argues in her brief that a pretrial order
concerning rule 404 evidence addressed Cullen’s statements
to law enforcement. However, the rule 404 hearing addressed
only Cullen’s abuse of children at prior daycares, not her state-
ments to law enforcement concerning Cash’s prior injuries
while in her care. Although one of Cullen’s pretrial motions

S State v. Ortega, 290 Neb. 172, 859 N.W.2d 305 (2015).

¢ State v. Bauldwin, 283 Neb. 678, 811 N.W.2d 267 (2012).

7 State v. Abdullah, 289 Neb. 123, 853 N.W.2d 858 (2014).

8 State v. Castillo-Zamora, 289 Neb. 382, 855 N.W.2d 14 (2014).
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did address whether her statements to law enforcement were
made freely, voluntarily, and intelligently, no error is assigned
to the court’s ruling determining that the statements were
voluntary. Cullen opposed the admission of her statements to
law enforcement before and during trial, but her opposition
addressed the voluntariness of her statements and not their
admissibility under rule 404. Thus, we will not consider her
statements to law enforcement in analyzing her assignment of
error based on rule 404.°

Second, Cullen claims that she made a motion for mistrial in
response to evidence of Cash’s prior injuries. While a motion
for mistrial may have occurred off the record, the record before
this court does not contain a motion for mistrial premised upon
evidence of Cash’s prior injuries. However, Cullen’s coun-
sel did make a motion in limine to prevent the admission of
the text messages concerning Cash’s prior injuries pursuant
to rule 404, as well as timely and specific continuing objec-
tions during testimony about those injuries. On this basis, we
now evaluate the admissibility of testimony by Ashley and
Bergerson and text messages and photographs pertaining to
Cash’s prior injuries.

Before considering Cullen’s argument about rule 404, we
observe that all of the questioned injuries occurred during the
period of time charged in the information as a single offense.
As we have already stated, the information charged Cullen
with intentional child abuse occurring on or about January
1 through February 28, 2013. Thus, Cullen was clearly on
notice that all of these events were within the scope of the
charged crime.

Cullen argues that the risk of prejudice produced by evidence
of Cash’s prior injuries outweighed the evidence’s probative

° See State v. Newman, 290 Neb. 572, 861 N.W.2d 123 (2015) (objection,
based on specific ground and properly overruled, does not preserve
question for appellate review on any other ground).

10 See State v. Freemont, 284 Neb. 179, 817 N.W.2d 277 (2012).
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value under rule 404. The State counters that because the
evidence of Cash’s prior injuries was intrinsic or inextricably
intertwined with the injuries that resulted in his death, rule 404
did not apply. We agree with the State.

[6] Rule 404 provides, in part:

(2) Evidence of other crimes, wrongs, or acts is not
admissible to prove the character of a person in order to
show that he or she acted in conformity therewith. It may,
however, be admissible for other purposes, such as proof
of motive, opportunity, intent, preparation, plan, knowl-
edge, identity, or absence of mistake or accident.

(3) When such evidence is admissible pursuant to
this section, in criminal cases evidence of other crimes,
wrongs, or acts of the accused may be offered in evidence
by the prosecution if the prosecution proves to the court
by clear and convincing evidence that the accused com-
mitted the crime, wrong, or act. Such proof shall first be
made outside the presence of any jury.

[7,8] Rule 404(2), however, does not apply to evidence
of a defendant’s other crimes or bad acts if the evidence is
inextricably intertwined with the charged crime. Our juris-
prudence initially adopted a broad concept of this class of
evidence.!" Although in other cases we have partially backed
away from the inextricably intertwined exception and instead
applied a broader notion of rule 404, the exception is still
viable.!? Recently, in State v. Ash,"” we articulated our nar-
rowed concept of the exception, stating that inextricably inter-
twined evidence

“includes evidence that forms part of the factual setting
of the crime, or evidence that is so blended or connected
to the charged crime that proof of the charged crime

' See State v. Wisinski, 268 Neb. 778, 688 N.W.2d 586 (2004).

12 See, e.g., State v. Freemont, supra note 10; State v. Ash, 286 Neb. 681, 838
N.W.2d 273 (2013).

13 State v. Ash, supra note 12, 286 Neb. at 694, 838 N.W.2d at 283.
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will necessarily require proof of the other crimes or bad
acts, or if the other crimes or bad acts are necessary
for the prosecution to present a coherent picture of the
charged crime.”
We summarized four types of circumstances under which we
had previously upheld the admission of such intrinsic evidence:
(1) The defendant’s other bad acts showed his pattern
of sexually abusing a child or exposing the child to sex-
ually explicit material; (2) the defendant destroyed evi-
dence of the crime soon afterward; (3) the defendant’s
arrest for a different theft resulted in the discovery of
evidence of the charged theft, and the evidence estab-
lished that the items were stolen; and (4) the defendant
was using a controlled substance at the time that the
crime was committed.'
The first circumstance refers to our holdings in State v. Baker"
and State v. McPherson.'s
In Baker, we held that the inextricably intertwined excep-
tion to rule 402(2) applied where the defendant’s other bad
acts showed his pattern of sexually abusing a child. There, the
State’s evidence included testimony that the defendant threat-
ened the victim with harm if she reported him, the mother’s
testimony that the defendant threatened her and physically
assaulted her if she did not bring the victim to the bedroom
at his direction, and the mother’s testimony that the defendant
became sexually aroused while watching the victim administer
a massage. The defendant claimed this evidence was inadmis-
sible under rule 404(2). On appeal, we considered whether the
evidence was intrinsic to the charged crimes of first degree
sexual assault and third degree sexual assault of a child and
concluded the State was entitled to present this evidence as
part of a coherent factual setting of the crime. We observed

4 Id. at 695, 838 N.W.2d at 283.
15 State v. Baker, 280 Neb. 752, 789 N.W.2d 702 (2010).
16 State v. McPherson, 266 Neb. 734, 668 N.W.2d 504 (2003).
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that the evidence was not offered to prove the defendant’s
propensity or character to act a certain way.

In reaching our conclusion in Baker, we relied on McPherson,
where the defendant was convicted on two counts of child
abuse and two counts of first degree sexual assault on a child.
The victims were his two minor daughters. The girls testified
about sexual activity that occurred in their home. On appeal,
the defendant argued that evidence about sexual devices and
sexually explicit videos in the home was inadmissible under
rule 404(2). We disagreed, concluding that the evidence was
“so closely intertwined with both crimes charged that it cannot
be considered extrinsic.”"”

Similarly, in the recent case of State v. Smith," the defend-
ant was convicted of one count of murder in the first degree,
four counts of assault in the second degree, and five counts
of use of a deadly weapon to commit a felony. On appeal, we
concluded that the trial court did not err in admitting evidence
that the defendant threatened the shooting victims each time
he saw them after they had entered plea agreements with the
federal government. We determined that this evidence was
inextricably intertwined with the shooting and not subject to
rule 404. We likened the scenario to the one in Baker, inter
alia, and reasoned that such evidence was part of the factual
setting of the crimes and was necessary to present a coherent
picture. Further, we explained that the evidence of the prior
encounters did not show propensity for the shootings, but,
rather, established that the defendant had made threats and
acted on them.

Like the disputed evidence in Baker, McPherson, and Smith,
the evidence of Cash’s prior injuries was necessary to estab-
lish the factual setting of the fatal injuries Cullen inflicted
on Cash on February 28, 2013. Furthermore, there was a pat-
tern or history in this case that is similar to the scenarios in

17 Id. at 744, 668 N.W.2d at 513.
18 State v. Smith, 286 Neb. 856, 839 N.W.2d 333 (2013).
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Baker and McPherson. Although the abuse here was physical
rather than sexual, we see no reason not to apply the same
rationale to cases of intentional physical abuse of children
as we have in sexual abuse cases. Evidence of Cash’s prior
injuries presented a picture of Cullen’s relationship with Cash
and his parents on the day of Cash’s fatal injuries and placed
those fatal injuries in the context of an escalating pattern of
abuse, rather than presenting them as wholly isolated incidents
which, considering the severity of Cash’s injuries, would have
told an incomplete story of the crime charged. Further, the evi-
dence of Cash’s prior injuries shed light on whether Cullen’s
actions were intentional or negligent.

We recognize that in State v. Freemont,” we chose not to
allow the intrinsic or inextricably intertwined exception where
the prior bad acts occurred several days to a week before the
charged offense. In that case, the defendant was convicted of
second degree murder, use of a deadly weapon to commit a
felony, and possession of a deadly weapon by a prohibited
person. On appeal, this court held that the State’s evidence that
several days before the murder at issue, the defendant, who
was a felon, had been in the possession of a firearm was inad-
missible under rule 404(2). The majority concluded that the
intrinsic or inextricably intertwined exception to rule 404(2)
did not apply, holding that “[t]he prior misconduct did not
provide any insight into [the defendant’s] reason for allegedly
killing” the victim and “was not part of the same transaction
and occurred several days or a week before” the murder.?® This
court determined that holding otherwise would “open the door
to abuse” of the exception and noted that several federal courts
have limited or rejected the exception.”!

The instant case is distinguishable from Freemont. In
that case, the character of the offense that the State sought

19 State v. Freemont, supra note 10.
20 1d. at 192, 817 N.W.2d at 291.
2l d.
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to put in evidence—possession of a firearm—was entirely
different from the most serious charged offense—murder.
However, in this case, both the evidence that the State sought
to introduce and the crime charged involved the same type of
offense, child abuse, and it involved the same victim, Cash.
As such, as we have already observed, evidence of nonfatal
injuries perpetrated on Cash by Cullen prior to the fatal
injuries he sustained on February 28, 2013, painted a coher-
ent picture of an increasing pattern of abuse and tended to
show that Cullen’s fatal actions were intentional rather than
merely negligent.

Further, the State argues that the instant case is also dis-
tinguishable from two child abuse cases in which we held
that prior injuries, as extrinsic evidence, were subject to rule
404(2). In State v. Kuehn,”> we held that evidence of two prior
incidents in which a 10-month-old child was injured while
in the defendant’s care was properly admitted under rule
404(2) as proof of absence of mistake or accident as to the
charged offense of intentional child abuse. In State v. Chavez,”
we concluded that evidence of remote injuries indicative of
battered child syndrome as seen in a nearly 4-month-old
child’s autopsy was properly admitted under rule 404(2) as
proof of intent or absence of mistake or accident as to the
charged offense of intentional child abuse resulting in death.
We assumed without deciding in Chavez that evidence of a
prior bruise on the child’s forehead while in the defendant’s
care was erroneously admitted under rule 404(2) as proof of
intent or absence of mistake or accident, but concluded that its
admission was harmless.

We agree that the case before us differs from Kuehn and
Chavez. Kuehn was limited to two prior injuries occurring over
a month prior to the charged offense. Chavez addressed remote
injuries unconnected to the defendant and only one injury

22 State v. Kuehn, 273 Neb. 219, 728 N.W.2d 589 (2007).
3 State v. Chavez, 281 Neb. 99, 793 N.W.2d 347 (2011).
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while in the defendant’s care occurring a month before the
charged offense. The case before us, however, presents injuries
occurring almost weekly over approximately 7 weeks while
Cullen cared for Cash. Moreover, they were part of an escalat-
ing pattern of abuse that ended in Cash’s death.

We conclude that Cash’s injuries incurred prior to February
28, 2013, were inextricably intertwined with the charged crime
and that, therefore, rule 404(2) does not apply. The incidents
were not used for impermissible propensity purposes, but,
rather, they formed the factual setting, and they were necessary
to present a coherent picture of the crime. Furthermore, the fre-
quency and the increasing severity of Cash’s injuries tended to
prove that his fatal injuries resulted from Cullen’s intentional
actions, rather than negligence. The district court did not err in
admitting this evidence.

[9,10] Even if the district court had erred in admitting this
evidence of Cash’s prior injuries, the error would have been
harmless. An error in admitting or excluding evidence in a
criminal trial, whether of constitutional magnitude or other-
wise, is prejudicial unless the error was harmless beyond a
reasonable doubt.?® Harmless error review looks to the basis
on which the jury actually rested its verdict; the inquiry is
not whether in a trial that occurred without the error, a guilty
verdict would surely have been rendered, but whether the
actual guilty verdict rendered was surely unattributable to
the error.”

In Cullen’s interviews with police, she admitted that Cash
had previously sustained injuries while in her care. These
injuries, by her own admission, became increasingly seri-
ous. Cullen attempted to attribute them to accidental causes.
But her statements provided powerful evidence that after she
began caring for Cash, a pattern emerged of increasingly seri-
ous injuries. Cullen’s own statements illuminated the pattern.

2 State v. Ballew, 291 Neb. 577, 867 N.W.2d 571 (2015).
B d.
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Testimony by Ashley and Bergerson merely reinforced it.
Thus, a jury’s conclusion that the pattern of increasingly
serious injuries demonstrated intentional actions on Cullen’s
part was surely unattributable to testimony by Ashley and
Bergerson. Therefore, even if admission of that evidence had
been in error, it would have been harmless error.

2. PROSECUTORIAL MISCONDUCT

Cullen asserts that the district court erred in failing to
sustain her counsel’s objection and to order a mistrial due to
prosecutorial misconduct during closing statements. Cullen
argues that the prosecutor’s statements pointing out her lack of
emotion during the trial unduly influenced the jury.

[11,12] Cullen failed to preserve this issue. In order to pre-
serve, as a ground of appeal, an opponent’s misconduct dur-
ing closing argument, the aggrieved party must have objected
to improper remarks no later than at the conclusion of the
argument.?® Cullen’s counsel did not object to the prosecutor’s
statements about her lack of emotion and made no motion
for mistrial during closing arguments. Cullen claims that her
counsel objected “globally” to the prosecutor’s closing state-
ments, by objecting to closing statements about the Bells’
loss.?” However, that objection, stating that the prosecutor’s
remarks were “asking for sympathy,” was specific to com-
ments about the Bells’ loss. An objection, based on a specific
ground and properly overruled, does not preserve a question
for appellate review on any other ground.”® As such, Cullen
did not preserve for appeal issues to which she did not object
at trial.”

26 State v. Watt, 285 Neb. 647, 832 N.W.2d 459 (2013).
27 Brief for appellant at 16.
28 State v. Newman, supra note 9.

2 State v. Hernandez, 242 Neb. 78, 493 N.W.2d 181 (1992) (any objection to
prosecutor’s arguments made after jury has been instructed and has retired
is untimely and will not be reviewed on appeal).
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[13] Because Cullen did not timely object to the com-
ments concerning her lack of emotion, we review this issue
only for plain error. Plain error may be found on appeal when
an error, unasserted or uncomplained of at trial, but plainly
evident from the record, prejudicially affects a litigant’s sub-
stantial right and, if uncorrected, would result in damage to
the integrity, reputation, and fairness of the judicial process.*
But, as we have noted, “‘the plain-error exception to the
contemporaneous-objection rule is to be “used sparingly, solely
in those circumstances in which a miscarriage of justice would
otherwise result.””””!

[14,15] Prosecutors are charged with the duty to conduct
criminal trials in such a manner that the accused may have
a fair and impartial trial, and prosecutors are not to inflame
the prejudices or excite the passions of the jury against the
accused.” A prosecutor’s conduct that does not mislead and
unduly influence the jury does not constitute misconduct.** In
the present case, the prosecutor’s remarks about Cullen’s lack
of emotion could not have misled or unduly influenced the
jurors. They had observed Cullen’s demeanor for themselves.
Thus, there was no misconduct by the prosecutor. Obviously,
if there was no misconduct, there can be no plain error.
Accordingly, this assignment of error is without merit.

3. EXCESSIVE SENTENCE
Cullen argues that her sentence of 70 years’ to life impris-
onment was excessive. The jury convicted Cullen of a
Class IB felony, which carries a sentence of 20 years’ to

30 State v. Alarcon-Chavez, 284 Neb. 322, 821 N.W.2d 359 (2012).
31 Id. at 336, 821 N.W.2d at 369 (quoting United States v. Young, 470 U.S. 1,

105 S. Ct. 1038, 84 L. Ed. 2d 1 (1985)). See, also, State v. Barfield, 272
Neb. 502, 723 N.W.2d 303 (20006), disapproved on other grounds, State v.
McCulloch, 274 Neb. 636, 742 N.W.2d 727 (2007).

32 See State v. Gresham, 276 Neb. 187, 752 N.W.2d 571 (2008).
33 State v. Iromuanya, 282 Neb. 798, 806 N.W.2d 404 (2011).
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life imprisonment. Cullen’s sentence was within the statu-
tory range. Accordingly, we review the sentence for an abuse
of discretion.

[16,17] When imposing a sentence, a sentencing judge
should consider the defendant’s (1) age, (2) mentality, (3)
education and experience, (4) social and cultural background,
(5) past criminal record or record of law-abiding conduct, and
(6) motivation for the offense, as well as (7) the nature of the
offense, and (8) the amount of violence involved in the com-
mission of the crime.** The appropriateness of a sentence is
necessarily a subjective judgment and includes the sentencing
judge’s observation of the defendant’s demeanor and attitude
and all the facts and circumstances surrounding the defend-
ant’s life.*®

Cullen contends that in determining her sentence, the dis-
trict court did not consider her willingness to plead to an
attempt charge. She points out that she is a mother to two
children and that she had pursued a degree in early childhood
development. Cullen asserts that there was no evidence of an
intent to kill Cash. Cullen further argues that the district court
abused its discretion by basing her sentence on the prosecu-
tor’s statements.

Based upon the relevant sentencing factors, we do not find
Cullen’s sentence to be an abuse of discretion. Cullen was 25
years old at the time of the offense. She reported having a
happy childhood and rewarding and satisfying relationships
with her family. Cullen, a mother, had experience and edu-
cation in caring for children and a history of abusing them,
although her relatively minimal criminal history contains no
previous convictions for violent crimes. We have recounted the
details of the current offense and need not repeat them here.
Suffice it to say, the circumstances surrounding Cash’s death
were simply abhorrent, and the evidence demonstrates that

34 See, e.g., State v. Bauldwin, supra note 6.
3 Id.
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Cullen’s treatment of Cash, a helpless infant, was assaultive
and violent. This assignment of error clearly lacks merit.

4. INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL

Cullen argues that her trial counsel was ineffective in these
respects: (1) failing to timely object when Chris testified that
he heard a nurse tell Ashley, “She did this to him”; (2) failing
to timely object to the prosecutor’s statements during closing
arguments that Cullen lacked emotion during the trial; (3) fail-
ing to investigate and call an expert medical witness on behalf
of Cullen; and (4) failing to file a motion for new trial based
on the improper admission of rule 404 evidence and on pros-
ecutorial misconduct.

[18,19] In order to show ineffective assistance of counsel
under Strickland v. Washington,*® a defendant must show, first,
that counsel was deficient and, second, that the deficient per-
formance actually caused prejudice to the defendant’s case.
The two prongs of this test may be addressed in either order,
and the entire ineffectiveness analysis should be viewed with
a strong presumption that counsel’s actions were reasonable.?’

[20-23] Prejudice caused by counsel’s deficiency is shown
when there is a reasonable probability that but for counsel’s
deficient performance, the result of the proceeding would have
been different.”® A reasonable probability is “a probability suf-
ficient to undermine confidence in the outcome.”® This court
follows the approach to the prejudice inquiry outlined by the
U.S. Supreme Court in Strickland:

“In making this determination, a court hearing an
ineffectiveness claim must consider the totality of the

3¢ Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 104 S. Ct. 2052, 80 L. Ed. 2d 674
(1984).

37 See, State v. Soukharith, 260 Neb. 478, 618 N.W.2d 409 (2000); State v.
Buckman, 259 Neb. 924, 613 N.W.2d 463 (2000).

% See State v. Poe, 284 Neb. 750, 822 N.W.2d 831 (2012).
3 Id. at 774, 822 N.W.2d at 849.
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evidence before the judge or jury. Some of the factual
findings will have been unaffected by the errors, and fac-
tual findings that were affected will have been affected
in different ways. Some errors will have had a pervasive
effect on the inferences to be drawn from the evidence,
altering the entire evidentiary picture, and some will
have had an isolated, trivial effect. Moreover, a verdict
or conclusion only weakly supported by the record is
more likely to have been affected by errors than one
with overwhelming record support. Taking the unaffected
findings as a given, and taking due account of the effect
of the errors on the remaining findings, a court making
the prejudice inquiry must ask if the defendant has met
the burden of showing that the decision reached would
reasonably likely have been different absent the errors.”*
The fact that an ineffective assistance of counsel claim is
raised on direct appeal does not necessarily mean that it can
be resolved. The determining factor is whether the record is
sufficient to adequately review the question.*! An ineffective
assistance of counsel claim will not be addressed on direct
appeal if it requires an evidentiary hearing.*

(a) Chris’ Testimony

Cullen argues that her trial counsel failed to timely object
to Chris’ testimony that a nurse implicated Cullen as the per-
petrator of Cash’s injuries and that the testimony affected the
jury’s verdict. We disagree with Cullen’s assertion on appeal
that trial counsel failed to timely object. In the above section
titled “II. BACKGROUND,” under the subheading “5. MOTION
FOR MISTRIAL,” we have described how this event unfolded
at trial.

40 Id. at 774-75, 822 N.W.2d at 849 (quoting Strickland v. Washington, supra
note 36).

41 State v. Newman, supra note 9.
2 1d.
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The record shows that trial counsel’s conduct was not defi-
cient. Not only did he timely make and, in effect, renew a
specific objection, he also timely moved for a mistrial. But
more to the point, he succeeded in having the offending testi-
mony stricken.

[24] Moreover, Cullen suffered no prejudice. Not only did
the court strike the evidence, it admonished the jury “totally
to disregard that comment entirely.” When an objection to or
motion to strike improper evidence is sustained and the jury is
instructed to disregard it, such instruction is deemed sufficient
to prevent prejudice.” Cullen’s argument fails on both prongs
of Strickland.

(b) Motion for New Trial

Cullen asserts that her trial counsel was ineffective in failing
to file a motion for new trial based on the improper admission
of purported rule 404 evidence concerning Cash’s prior inju-
ries. We have already concluded that because the evidence of
Cash’s prior injuries was intrinsic or inextricably intertwined
with the injuries that resulted in his death, rule 404 did not
apply. Further, even if testimony of Cash’s prior injuries had
been admitted in error, such error would have been harmless.
Thus, a motion for new trial based on evidence of Cash’s prior
injuries would have been unsuccessful. It necessarily follows
that trial counsel did not provide ineffective assistance by not
filing a motion that had no merit.

Cullen also contends that her trial counsel was ineffective
in failing to file a motion for new trial based on prosecuto-
rial misconduct during closing statements. We have rejected
Cullen’s claim that the prosecutor committed misconduct in
commenting on Cullen’s lack of emotion during trial. Hence,
we conclude that trial counsel was not deficient in opting not to
file a motion for new trial based on prosecutorial misconduct.
Such a motion would have had no merit.

4 State v. Aguilar, 264 Neb. 899, 652 N.W.2d 894 (2002).
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(c) Closing Statements
Cullen argues that her trial counsel was ineffective for not
making a timely objection to the prosecutor’s reference to
her lack of emotion during trial. We have concluded above
that these remarks did not constitute misconduct; therefore,
Cullen’s trial counsel was not deficient in allowing them with-
out objection.

(d) Expert Medical Witness

Cullen argues that the jury’s decision was affected by her
trial counsel’s failure to investigate and call a medical expert
to testify on her behalf. The State asserts, and Cullen concedes,
that the record is inadequate to address this claim. We agree.
The record contains copious medical evidence, but none of it
suggests that another medical expert would offer an opinion
that would support Cullen’s version of events. Without a more
complete record, we decline to address this issue. We express
no opinion whether Cullen’s assigned error, if set forth as an
allegation in a motion for postconviction relief, would be suf-
ficient to require an evidentiary hearing.

VI. CONCLUSION
We find no merit to Cullen’s assertion that the district court
abused its discretion by imposing an excessive sentence. And
the district court did not err in admitting evidence of Cash’s
prior injuries or overruling Cullen’s objection to the prosecu-
tor’s closing statements. Further, Cullen’s claims of ineffec-
tive assistance of trial counsel either lack merit or cannot be
resolved because the record on direct appeal is insufficient. We

affirm Cullen’s conviction and sentence.

AFFIRMED.
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and Stacy, JJ.

CONNOLLY, J.
SUMMARY

Ryan L. Poe moved for postconviction relief from his con-
victions for first degree murder and use of a deadly weapon to
commit a felony. After the district court overruled the motion,
we remanded the cause for an evidentiary hearing on one of
Poe’s ineffective assistance of counsel claims. Specifically, we
directed the court to decide if Poe’s trial counsel should have
impeached the State’s key witness with a statement the witness
made to Poe’s girlfriend to the effect that Poe was innocent.
On remand, the district court found that Poe’s girlfriend did not
tell his trial counsel about such a statement. The district court
again overruled Poe’s postconviction motion. Poe appeals,
arguing that the court erroneously excluded certain out-of-court
statements on hearsay grounds. We affirm.

BACKGROUND

TRIAL
The State charged Poe with first degree felony murder and
use of a deadly weapon for the killing of Trever Lee. Lee died
during a robbery of his townhouse in 2004.
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One of Lee’s roommates sold marijuana to a friend of Poe’s,
Antwine Harper. Harper was the State’s key witness at Poe’s
trial. The State produced no physical evidence linking Poe to
the crime.

Harper testified that Poe had asked him for permission to
rob Lee’s roommate and that Poe later confessed to the crime
in great detail. Poe’s attorney, Thomas Riley, extensively cross-
examined Harper. Harper admitted that he initially denied
knowing anything about the shooting and identified Poe as
the killer only after the police threatened to arrest him. Harper
acknowledged that he cried after the officers made the threat.
He said that the officers told him that he would not “go to jail
today” if he talked to them about the shooting.

A jury convicted Poe of first degree murder and use of a
deadly weapon to commit a felony. The court sentenced him
to life imprisonment and a consecutive term of 10 to 20 years’
imprisonment for use of a deadly weapon. We affirmed Poe’s
convictions on his direct appeal.'

FIRST POSTCONVICTION

Poe moved for postconviction relief in 2011. He alleged that
the prosecutor had committed misconduct, that exculpatory
evidence came to light after the trial, and that Riley, his trial
counsel, was ineffective. Poe alleged that Harper told Poe’s
girlfriend, Michelle Hayes, that Poe was innocent. Poe faulted
Riley for not impeaching Harper with this statement.

The district court overruled Poe’s postconviction motion
without an evidentiary hearing. Poe appealed. We remanded
the cause with directions to “conduct[] an evidentiary hear-
ing on Poe’s claim of ineffective assistance of trial coun-
sel relating to the allegation that counsel failed to utilize
Harper’s alleged inconsistent statement to Hayes that Poe
was innocent.”

I State v. Poe, 276 Neb. 258, 754 N.W.2d 393 (2008).
2 State v. Poe, 284 Neb. 750, 776-77, 822 N.W.2d 831, 850 (2012).
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SECOND POSTCONVICTION
On remand, Poe offered four exhibits at the evidentiary
hearing: (1) a deposition of Hayes; (2) a deposition of Riley;
(3) an affidavit of his mother, Velma Poe (Velma); and (4) his
own affidavit.
Hayes testified that she was working as a cashier when
Harper walked up to her register a couple of days before
Poe’s trial. Hayes knew Harper because he once dated her
sister. According to Hayes, Harper greeted her and then said,
“‘[D]on’t worry about it, [Poe] is going to get out. I’'m not
going to show up to court. They are making me do something
that’s not true. He didn’t do it. Don’t worry about it, he’s going
to get out.””
Hayes told Poe’s parents about her encounter with Harper,
and Poe’s father suggested that she talk with Riley. She and
Velma met with Riley a day or two before the trial. Hayes said
that she “told [Riley] everything,” but that he did not seem
interested and did not take any notes.
Riley recalled meeting with Hayes, but remembered the sub-
stance of their exchange differently. According to Riley,
the focus of what she was telling me was that [Harper]
had apologized, he felt bad that he was doing what he
was doing, and that he told her he wasn’t coming to
court. I do not recall her saying anything about him say-
ing [Poe] didn’t commit this crime or didn’t shoot him . .
.. [H]er purpose, as I perceived it, was primarily saying,
hey, Harper says he’s not coming to court, what happens
if he doesn’t come to court.

Riley stated several times that he did not remember Hayes tell-

ing him that Harper told her that Poe was innocent.

Riley said that he went through “six boxes of stuff” before
his deposition and “couldn’t find anything.” He talked to
several of the other attorneys who worked on Poe’s case, and
they could not recall such a statement either. Riley said that
he would have asked “follow-ups” if Hayes had told him that
Harper said that Poe was innocent.
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In her affidavit, Velma, Poe’s mother, averred that she and
Hayes met with Riley a couple of days before Poe’s trial. In the
second paragraph, Velma stated:

I heard [Hayes] tell Riley that Harper came through her
checkout line at Wal-Mart. [Hayes] told Riley that Harper
said he was not going to show up for trial. [Hayes] told
Riley that Harper told her the police were trying to make
him lie, and that [Poe] did not commit the crime.

The State objected to the second paragraph of Velma’s
affidavit on hearsay grounds. Poe responded that he was “not
offering it for the truth of the matter asserted by either [Hayes]
or the truth of the matter asserted by . . . Harper.” Instead, he
offered Velma’s affidavit “solely to corroborate deposition tes-
timony from . . . Hayes that she told Riley these things.” The
court sustained the State’s hearsay objection.

After the evidentiary hearing, the court overruled Poe’s
motion for postconviction relief. It emphasized Riley’s testi-
mony that he could not recall Hayes telling him that Harper
told her Poe was innocent or that the police were trying to
make him lie. The court found that “the allegation that Counsel
failed to utilize Harper’s alleged inconsistent statement to
Hayes that Poe was innocent was in fact not an accurate reflec-
tion of any conversation between . . . Hayes and . . . Riley.”

ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR
Poe assigns that the court erred by (1) sustaining the State’s
hearsay objection to the second paragraph of Velma’s affidavit
and (2) determining that he did not receive ineffective assist-
ance of counsel.

STANDARD OF REVIEW
[1,2] In an evidentiary hearing on a motion for postcon-
viction relief, the trial judge, as the trier of fact, resolves
conflicts in the evidence and questions of fact.* An appellate

3 State v. Armstrong, 290 Neb. 991, 863 N.W.2d 449 (2015).
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court upholds the trial court’s findings unless they are clearly
erroneous.* In contrast, an appellate court independently
resolves questions of law.’

[3] Apart from rulings under the residual hearsay excep-
tion, an appellate court reviews for clear error the fac-
tual findings underpinning a trial court’s hearsay ruling and
reviews de novo the court’s ultimate determination to admit
evidence over a hearsay objection or exclude evidence on
hearsay grounds.®

ANALYSIS

HEARSAY

Poe argues that the court erred by excluding the second
paragraph of Velma’s affidavit on hearsay grounds. He con-
tends that he did not offer it for the truth of the matter
asserted. Instead, he states that he offered it to show that
Riley knew Harper had made a statement to the effect that Poe
was innocent.

[4,5] Hearsay is a statement, other than one made by the
declarant while testifying at the trial or hearing, offered to
prove the truth of the matter asserted.” Hearsay is not admis-
sible unless otherwise provided for in the Nebraska Evidence
Rules or elsewhere.®

[6] Of course, an out-of-court statement is not hearsay if
the proponent offers it for a purpose other than proving the
truth of the matter asserted.” For example, a statement is not
hearsay if the proponent offers it to show its impact on the
listener and the listener’s knowledge, belief, response, or state

41d.

S Id.

¢ See Arens v. NEBCO, Inc., 291 Neb. 834, 870 N.W.2d 1 (2015).
7 State v. Hale, 290 Neb. 70, 858 N.W.2d 543 (2015).

8 1d.

® State v. Parker, 276 Neb. 661, 757 N.W.2d 7 (2008).
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of mind after hearing the statement is relevant to an issue in
the case.'

[7,8] But we need not decide if the second paragraph of
Velma’s affidavit is admissible as evidence of Riley’s knowl-
edge, because its exclusion did not prejudice Poe. Error that
does not prejudice the appellant is not a ground for relief on
appeal.'' The exclusion of evidence is ordinarily not prejudi-
cial if the court admits substantially similar evidence without
objection.!> Hayes repeatedly testified that she told Riley that
Harper said that he was lying and that Poe was innocent. Poe
himself stated in his affidavit that he told Riley that he had
“reason to believe . . . Harper had recently admitted lying to
detectives about my involvement.” The second paragraph of
Velma’s affidavit was substantially similar to other evidence
that the court received. Its exclusion therefore did not preju-
dice a substantial right of Poe.

INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL

Poe argues that the court was clearly wrong in finding that
Hayes did not tell Riley about Harper’s inconsistent state-
ment. Poe contends that Riley did not testify “on personal
knowledge.”"® Instead, Riley’s “basis for his conclusion that
Hayes did not tell him is his belief that he would have asked
more follow-up questions,” which Poe believes is “an unten-
able basis for the district court’s finding.”'* Because of its

10 State v. McCave, 282 Neb. 500, 805 N.W.2d 290 (2011). See, State v.
Henderson, 289 Neb. 271, 854 N.W.2d 616 (2014); State v. Reinhart, 283
Neb. 710, 811 N.W.2d 258 (2012); State v. Hansen, 252 Neb. 489, 562
N.W.2d 840 (1997); State v. Bear Runner, 198 Neb. 368, 252 N.W.2d 638
(1977); 2 McCormick on Evidence § 249 (Kenneth S. Broun et al. eds.,
7th ed. 2013).

1 See Huber v. Rohrig, 280 Neb. 868, 791 N.W.2d 590 (2010).

12 Steinhausen v. HomeServices of Neb., 289 Neb. 927, 857 N.W.2d 816
(2015).

13 Brief for appellant at 15.
4 1d.
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mistaken factual finding, Poe argues that the court’s legal con-
clusion was also faulty.

[9] To prevail on a claim of ineffective assistance of coun-
sel under Strickland v. Washington," the defendant must show
that his or her counsel’s performance was deficient and that
this deficient performance actually prejudiced the defendant’s
defense.'® A court may address the two prongs of this test, defi-
cient performance and prejudice, in either order."”

We conclude that the court’s finding that Hayes never told
Riley about Harper’s inconsistent statement is not clearly
wrong. Riley testified that he did not believe Hayes told him
about the statement, because he could not remember Hayes
telling him about the statement. Whether a person can have any
other type of “personal knowledge” of an event that did not
occur is a question for a metaphysician, not a court. Poe argues
that Riley testified in “less specific terms” than Hayes,'® but it
is not our role to reweigh the credibility of witnesses or resolve
conflicts in the evidence."

CONCLUSION

The court’s exclusion of the second paragraph of Velma’s
affidavit did not prejudice Poe and is therefore not a basis
for relief on appeal. The court’s finding that Hayes did not
inform Riley of Harper’s inconsistent statement is not clearly
wrong. So, the court did not err by concluding that Riley did
not perform deficiently by failing to impeach Harper with the
inconsistent statement.

AFFIRMED.
Heavican, C.J., not participating.

15 Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 104 S. Ct. 2052, 80 L. Ed. 2d 674
(1984).

16 State v. Crawford, 291 Neb. 362, 865 N.W.2d 360 (2015).
7 Id.
'8 Brief for appellant at 14.

19 See State v. Armstrong, supra note 3.
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Affidavits: Appeal and Error. A district court’s denial of in forma
pauperis status under Neb. Rev. Stat. § 25-2301.02 (Reissue 2008) is
reviewed de novo on the record based on the transcript of the hearing or
the written statement of the court.

Child Custody: Appeal and Error. Child custody determinations are
matters initially entrusted to the discretion of the trial court, and
although reviewed de novo on the record, the trial court’s determination
will normally be affirmed absent an abuse of discretion.

Affidavits: Fees: Appeal and Error. The filing of a poverty affidavit,
properly confirmed by oath or affirmation, serves as a substitute for the
docket fee for an appeal.

Judgments: Words and Phrases. An abuse of discretion occurs when
a trial court bases its decision upon reasons that are untenable or unrea-
sonable or if its action is clearly against justice or conscience, reason,
and evidence.

. A judicial abuse of discretion requires that the reasons or
mlmgs of the trial court be clearly untenable insofar as they unfairly
deprive a litigant of a substantial right and a just result.

Child Custody: Appeal and Error. In child custody cases, where the
credible evidence is in conflict on a material issue of fact, the appellate
court considers, and may give weight to, the fact that the trial judge
heard and observed the witnesses and accepted one version of the facts
rather than another.

Child Custody: Proof. In a child custody modification case, first,
the party seeking modification must show a material change in cir-
cumstances, occurring after the entry of the previous custody order
and affecting the best interests of the child. Next, the party seeking
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modification must prove that changing the child’s custody is in the
child’s best interests.

8. Modification of Decree: Words and Phrases. A material change in
circumstances means the occurrence of something which, had it been
known at the time of the initial decree, would have persuaded the court
to decree differently.

9. Child Custody: Proof. The party secking modification of child custody
bears the burden of showing as an initial matter that there has been a
change in circumstances.

10. Child Custody: Evidence: Time. In determining whether the custody
of a minor child should be changed, the evidence of the custodial par-
ent’s behavior during the year or so before the hearing on the motion to
modify is of more significance than the behavior prior to that time.

Appeal from the District Court for Sarpy County: Max
KELCH, Judge. Affirmed.

Amy Sherman for appellant.

Paul J. Gardner, John C. Wieland, and Kevin J. McCoy, of
Smith, Gardner, Slusky, Lazer, Pohren & Rogers, L.L.P., for
appellee Tiffany M.

HEeavican, C.J., WRIGHT, CoONNOLLY, MCCORMACK, MILLER-
LERMAN, CASSEL, and STACY, JJ.

MILLER-LERMAN, J.
NATURE OF CASE

Damian C., the appellant, and Tiffany M., the appellee,
have a minor child together, Jakai C. In July 2011, the district
court for Sarpy County filed a “Decree of Paternity, Custody,
and Parenting Time,” which awarded joint legal custody to
the parties, awarded physical custody to Tiffany, and ordered
Damian to pay child support. In 2012, Damian filed a com-
plaint to modify the decree, seeking sole legal and physical
custody and an order that Tiffany pay child support. Tiffany
filed a cross-complaint requesting that Damian’s child sup-
port obligation be increased. After a modification hearing, on
November 8, 2013, the district court filed its order in which it
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denied a change of custody and increased Damian’s child sup-
port obligation. This is the order currently on appeal.

On December 2, 2013, Damian filed his first notice of appeal
seeking review of the merits of the November 8 order, along
with a motion to proceed in forma pauperis on appeal and a
poverty affidavit. On December 12, the district court denied
the motion to proceed in forma pauperis without comment,
but later vacated that ruling. Without holding an evidentiary
hearing, on December 16, the district court filed an amended
order denying Damian’s motion to proceed in forma pauperis
on appeal based on the district court’s determination that
Damian had sufficient funds. On January 13, 2014, Damian
filed a second notice of appeal, posted a bond, and paid the
appellate docket fee. The January 13 filing sought review of
the December 16, 2013, amended order denying him in forma
pauperis status on appeal.

The appeal proceeded to oral argument on November 6,
2014, but there was no bill of exceptions filed for our review
of the in forma pauperis ruling or the merits. On November
12, we entered an order in which we vacated the December 16,
2013, amended order and remanded the in forma pauperis issue
to the district court for an evidentiary hearing on the issue of
Damian’s ability to pay. On November 14, 2014, the district
court filed an order which granted Damian the right to proceed
in forma pauperis on appeal.

The in forma pauperis issue has been resolved, and a record
of the proceedings in the district court have now been prepared
and filed. As explained below, following our de novo review
of the record, we determine that the district court did not abuse
its discretion when it declined to modify custody of Jakai, and
in all respects, we affirm the November 8, 2013, order of the
district court.

STATEMENT OF FACTS
Damian and Tiffany had a child together, Jakai, who was
born in October 2009. Damian and Tiffany were never married.
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On February 17, 2010, the State on behalf of Jakai filed a
“Paternity Complaint” against Damian, seeking the entry of a
judgment of paternity against Damian and the entry of an order
of child support against Damian. The district court entered a
determination of paternity finding Damian to be the biological
father of Jakai and entered a temporary order of child support
against Damian in the amount of $50 per month.

On July 29, 2011, the district court filed its “Decree of
Paternity, Custody, and Parenting Time.” The decree provided
that Tiffany and Damian would have joint legal custody of
Jakai, and Tiffany was awarded physical custody subject to
Damian’s parenting time. The decree also incorporated a previ-
ous order of child support, which set Damian’s child support
obligation in the amount of $121 per month.

On March 21, 2012, Damian filed a complaint to modify the
decree. Damian alleged that there had been a material change
in circumstances since the entry of the decree. Damian stated
that Tiffany had failed to comply with the decree in the fol-
lowing ways: interfering with Damian’s parenting time; failing
to comply with the terms of joint legal custody, specifically
regarding Jakai’s medical treatment, daycare provider, edu-
cation, and religion; and failing to comply with provisions
regarding exchanging the child. Damian requested that he
be granted sole legal and physical custody of Jakai and that
Tiffany be ordered to pay child support. During the approxi-
mately 1% years that Damian’s complaint to modify was pend-
ing, the district court twice found Tiffany guilty of contempt
for failing to provide parenting time as previously ordered by
the Court.

On January 23, 2013, Tiffany filed a cross-complaint seek-
ing to modify the decree. She sought an increase in Damian’s
obligation of child support, alleging that there had been a
substantial and material change in circumstances warranting
a modification of the decree. She also requested that the
decree be modified to change the arrangements for exchang-
ing the child between the parties and to allow the parties to
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communicate telephonically with Jakai during the other party’s
parenting time.

A trial regarding the cross-motions for modification was
held on November 5, 2013. Tiffany, Damian, and Damian’s
mother testified at the trial. Damian offered and the court
received 12 exhibits. Tiffany offered and the court received
five exhibits.

After the trial, on November &8, 2013, the district court
filed an order which did not modify custody but did increase
Damian’s child support obligation. This is the order at issue
in this appeal. In its November 8 order, the court determined
that Damian failed to show a material change in circumstances
which would require a change of custody of Jakai and, in any
event, that the evidence failed to show a change in custody was
in Jakai’s best interests. The court further determined that there
had been a material change in circumstances with respect to
Damian’s finances, and the court increased Damian’s child sup-
port obligation to $407 per month. The court denied all other
requests of the parties.

On December 2, 2013, Damian filed a notice of appeal seek-
ing review of the rulings in the November 8 order. He also
filed a motion to proceed in forma pauperis on appeal and a
poverty affidavit in support of the motion. On December 12,
the district court filed an order in which it simply stated that
Damian’s “Motion to Proceed In Forma Pauperis is denied.”

On December 16, 2013, the district court filed an amended
order, which stated:

On December 12, 2013, this Court entered an Order
without hearing or opinion denying [Damian’s] Motion
to Proceed In Forma Pauperis. However, pursuant to
NEB.REV.STAT. §25-2301.02 [(Reissue 2008)] and Glass
v. Kenney, 268 Neb. 704[, 687 N.W.2d 907] (2004), this
Court failed to hold an evidentiary hearing or provide
written statement of its reasons, findings, and conclu-
sions. Therefore, this Court finds that the Order, dated
December 12, 2013, must be vacated and an Amended
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Order be issued which complies with both the Nebraska
Statute and the case law of our Supreme Court.

In its December 16, 2013, amended order, the court denied
Damian’s December 2 motion to proceed in forma pauperis on
appeal based on its determination that Damian “is not a per-
son who qualifies to proceed In Forma Pauperis.” The court
provided written reasons for its determination that Damian
was not eligible to proceed in forma pauperis, all to the effect
that Damian had sufficient funds. However, according to the
record on appeal, an evidentiary hearing on the matter was
not held.

Neb. Rev. Stat. § 25-2301.02 (Reissue 2008), to which ref-
erence is made in the district court’s order of December 16,
2013, provides:

(1) An application to proceed in forma pauperis shall
be granted unless there is an objection that the party fil-
ing the application (a) has sufficient funds to pay costs,
fees, or security or (b) is asserting legal positions which
are frivolous or malicious. The objection to the applica-
tion shall be made within thirty days after the filing of
the application or at any time if the ground for the objec-
tion is that the initial application was fraudulent. Such
objection may be made by the court on its own motion
or on the motion of any interested person. The motion
objecting to the application shall specifically set forth
the grounds of the objection. An evidentiary hearing
shall be conducted on the objection unless the objection
is by the court on its own motion on the grounds that
the applicant is asserting legal positions which are frivo-
lous or malicious. If no hearing is held, the court shall
provide a written statement of its reasons, findings, and
conclusions for denial of the applicant’s application to
proceed in forma pauperis which shall become a part of
the record of the proceeding. If an objection is sustained,
the party filing the application shall have thirty days after
the ruling or issuance of the statement to proceed with an
action or appeal upon payment of fees, costs, or security
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notwithstanding the subsequent expiration of any statute
of limitations or deadline for appeal. In any event, the
court shall not deny an application on the basis that the
appellant’s legal positions are frivolous or malicious if to
do so would deny a defendant his or her constitutional
right to appeal in a felony case.

(2) In the event that an application to proceed in forma
pauperis is denied and an appeal is taken therefrom, the
aggrieved party may make application for a transcript of
the hearing on in forma pauperis eligibility. Upon such
application, the court shall order the transcript to be pre-
pared and the cost shall be paid by the county in the same
manner as other claims are paid. The appellate court shall
review the decision denying in forma pauperis eligibility
de novo on the record based on the transcript of the hear-
ing or the written statement of the court.

On January 13, 2014, Damian filed a second notice of
appeal seeking review of the December 16, 2013, amended
order which denied his December 2 motion to proceed in
forma pauperis on appeal. With the filing of his second notice
of appeal, Damian paid the docketing fee and bond. Damian’s
appeal of the denial of his application to proceed in forma pau-
peris on appeal was docketed in the existing appeal. We moved
the case to our docket under our statutory authority to regulate
the caseloads of the appellate courts of this state. See Neb.
Rev. Stat. § 24-1106(3) (Reissue 2008).

The appeal was set for oral argument on November 6, 2014,
but there was no bill of exceptions pertaining to either the
in forma pauperis issue or the modification trial to review.
Because the threshold issue in this appeal was Damian’s eligi-
bility to proceed in forma pauperis, we considered this issue,
and on November 12, we entered the following order:

Damian C., appellant, moves this Court for an
order reversing the district court’s amended order filed
December 16, 2013, which denied his motion to proceed
in forma pauperis on appeal based on a finding regard-
ing indigency, but not based on any finding pertaining
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to frivolous grounds. Upon due consideration, the order
of December 16, 2013, is ordered vacated and the in
forma pauperis on appeal [issue] based on indigency is
remanded to the district court for an evidentiary hearing in
accordance with Neb. Rev. Stat. § 25-2301.02(1) (Reissue
2008). The Clerk of the Supreme Court is directed to send
a copy of this minute entry to the Clerk of the District
Court, and the Clerk of the District Court is directed to
certify a supplemental transcript reflecting the district
court’s decision following the evidentiary hearing and, if
denied, the district court reporter is directed to prepare
a bill of exceptions from the hearing at the expense of
the county.

On November 14, 2014, the district court filed an order
which granted Damian the right to proceed in forma pauperis
on appeal. As a result, a bill of exceptions was filed on March
2, 2015.

The testimony from the modification trial held November
5, 2013, was in conflict. The record generally showed that the
parties disputed the propriety of the manner in which the child
was exchanged and whether each party interfered with the par-
enting time of the other. The record further showed that with
respect to living circumstances, Damian lived with his parents
and was employed at a bank, and Tiffany worked as a certified
nursing assistant and was in nursing school but maintained
her own apartment. Damian testified that Tiffany disparages
him on social media. However, both parties were shown to be
able parents.

In an order filed November 8, 2013, the district court denied
a change in custody and increased Damian’s child support obli-
gation. Damian appeals.

ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR
Damian claims, restated, that the district court erred when
it (1) determined that Damian did not establish a material
change in circumstances since the entry of the decree, failed
to modify custody so that Damian had sole legal and physical
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custody, and failed to order Tiffany to pay child support and (2)
increased Damian’s child support obligation. Because Damian
does not argue the second assignment of error in his appellate
brief, we do not analyze it in this appeal. See In re Claims
Against Pierce Elevator, 291 Neb. 798, 868 N.W.2d 781 (2015)
(stating that errors that are assigned but not specifically argued
will not be addressed by appellate court).

STANDARDS OF REVIEW

[1] A district court’s denial of in forma pauperis status under
§ 25-2301.02 is reviewed de novo on the record based on the
transcript of the hearing or the written statement of the court.
§ 25-2301.02(2); State v. Sims, 291 Neb. 475, 865 N.W.2d
800 (2015); Gray v. Kenney, 290 Neb. 888, 863 N.W.2d
127 (2015).

[2] Child custody determinations are matters initially
entrusted to the discretion of the trial court, and although
reviewed de novo on the record, the trial court’s determination
will normally be affirmed absent an abuse of discretion. Schrag
v. Spear, 290 Neb. 98, 858 N.W.2d 865 (2015).

ANALYSIS
In Forma Pauperis Issue.

When this appeal was initially presented to this court, the
threshold issue was whether the district court erred when,
without conducting an evidentiary hearing, it denied Damian’s
motion to proceed in forma pauperis on appeal for the reason
that Damian had sufficient funds. We determined that the dis-
trict court had erred when it did not conduct a hearing before
denying Damian’s motion to proceed in forma pauperis on
appeal on the grounds of his ability to pay. In our November
12, 2014, order, we vacated the district court’s order deny-
ing Damian’s motion and remanded the issue with directions
to the district court to conduct a hearing on Damian’s abil-
ity to pay before ruling on Damian’s motion to proceed in
forma pauperis on appeal. Below, we discuss our reasoning for
this determination.
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[3] Proceedings in forma pauperis are governed by chapter
25, article 23, of the Nebraska Revised Statutes. See Neb.
Rev. Stat. §§ 25-2301 to 25-2310 (Reissue 2008). The term
“in forma pauperis” is defined by statute as “the permission
given by the court for a party to proceed without prepayment
of fees and costs or security.” § 25-2301(2). A party seeking
such permission must file an application including a poverty
“affidavit stating that the affiant is unable to pay the fees and
costs or give security required to proceed with the case, the
nature of the action, defense, or appeal, and the affiant’s belief
that he or she is entitled to redress.” § 25-2301.01. We have
often observed that the filing of a poverty affidavit, properly
confirmed by oath or affirmation, serves as a substitute for
the docket fee for an appeal. In re Interest of Edward B., 285
Neb. 556, 827 N.W.2d 805 (2013). See, also, In re Interest of
Fedalina G., 272 Neb. 314, 721 N.W.2d 638 (2006); Glass v.
Kenney, 268 Neb. 704, 687 N.W.2d 907 (2004).

The centerpiece for our discussion of the in forma pauperis
issue in this case is found in § 25-2301.02, which provides:

(1) An application to proceed in forma pauperis shall
be granted unless there is an objection that the party fil-
ing the application (a) has sufficient funds to pay costs,
fees, or security or (b) is asserting legal positions which
are frivolous or malicious. The objection to the applica-
tion shall be made within thirty days after the filing of
the application or at any time if the ground for the objec-
tion is that the initial application was fraudulent. Such
objection may be made by the court on its own motion
or on the motion of any interested person. The motion
objecting to the application shall specifically set forth the
grounds of the objection. An evidentiary hearing shall be
conducted on the objection unless the objection is by the
court on its own motion on the grounds that the appli-
cant is asserting legal positions which are frivolous or
malicious. If no hearing is held, the court shall provide a
written statement of its reasons, findings, and conclusions
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for denial of the applicant’s application to proceed in
forma pauperis which shall become a part of the record
of the proceeding. If an objection is sustained, the party
filing the application shall have thirty days after the rul-
ing or issuance of the statement to proceed with an action
or appeal upon payment of fees, costs, or security not-
withstanding the subsequent expiration of any statute of
limitations or deadline for appeal. In any event, the court
shall not deny an application on the basis that the appel-
lant’s legal positions are frivolous or malicious if to do so
would deny a defendant his or her constitutional right to
appeal in a felony case.

(2) In the event that an application to proceed in forma
pauperis is denied and an appeal is taken therefrom, the
aggrieved party may make application for a transcript of
the hearing on in forma pauperis eligibility. Upon such
application, the court shall order the transcript to be pre-
pared and the cost shall be paid by the county in the same
manner as other claims are paid. The appellate court shall
review the decision denying in forma pauperis eligibility
de novo on the record based on the transcript of the hear-
ing or the written statement of the court.

Except in certain circumstances, the provisions of
§ 25-2301.02(1) generally direct the trial court to grant an
application to proceed in forma pauperis. The trial court can
deny an application for in forma pauperis status if the party
filing the application “has sufficient funds to pay costs, fees,
or security” or if the party filing the application “is asserting
legal positions which are frivolous or malicious,” except where
such denial “would deny a defendant his or her constitutional
right to appeal in a felony case.” § 25-2301.02(1).

We note that in Flora v. Escudero, 247 Neb. 260, 526
N.W.2d 643 (1995), we determined under a predecessor stat-
ute that a trial court must hold a hearing before denying an
application to proceed in forma pauperis. The requirement
set forth in Flora to the effect that a court provide a hearing
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before denying any application to proceed in forma pauperis
is no longer a correct requirement. In 1999, the statute relied
on in Flora was substantially amended, see § 25-2301 (Supp.
1999), and two statutes were added, see §§ 25-2301.01 and
25-2301.02 (Supp. 1999). Section 25-2301.02 (Reissue 2008),
which is at issue in the present case, has remained largely
unchanged since its addition in 1999.

Leaving aside the circumstance where a defendant has
a constitutional right to appeal in a felony case, under the
plain language of § 25-2301.02, a hearing is required on
an objection to an applicant’s request to proceed in forma
pauperis, except that a hearing is not required on the appli-
cation to proceed in forma pauperis if the denial of the
application is because the court, on its own motion, objects
on the grounds that the position asserted by the applicant is
frivolous or malicious. See Moore v. Nebraska Bd. of Parole,
12 Neb. App. 525, 679 N.W.2d 427 (2004) (recognizing
that § 25-2301.02 superseded requirement set forth in Flora
wherein trial court formerly was required to hold hearing
before denying any application to proceed in forma pauperis).
Specifically, § 25-2301.02(1) states that in the event an objec-
tion is made to the application to proceed in forma pauperis,
“[a]n evidentiary hearing shall be conducted on the objection
unless the objection is by the court on its own motion on the
grounds that the applicant is asserting legal positions which
are frivolous or malicious.” (Emphasis supplied.) To summa-
rize, as we read § 25-2301.02(1), the trial court cannot deny
in forma pauperis status based on the frivolous or malicious
nature of the appeal where a defendant has a constitutional
right to appeal in a felony case, and a hearing is required on
an objection to a party’s application for in forma pauperis sta-
tus, whether the objection is based on the applicant’s ability
to pay or the applicant is asserting a frivolous position, except
where the objection is made on the court’s own motion on the
grounds that the legal positions asserted by the applicant are
frivolous or malicious.
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We recently considered a denial of in forma pauperis sta-
tus based on ability to pay in a case where the objection was
raised by the court on its own motion. See State v. Sims, 291
Neb. 475, 865 N.W.2d 800 (2015). In Sims, we stated that a
“hearing is required by the plain language of § 25-2301.02
in the event the court objects to an application to proceed in
forma pauperis on the basis that the party filing the application
‘has sufficient funds to pay costs, fees, or security.”” 291 Neb.
at 478-79, 865 N.W.2d at 803. The present in forma pauperis
issue is controlled by § 25-2301.02 and our reading of the stat-
ute as stated in Sims.

In this case, on December 2, 2013, Damian filed his notice
of appeal from the district court’s November 8 order on the
merits of the case, and on the same day, he filed his motion
and poverty affidavit to proceed in forma pauperis on appeal.
The rulings made by the district court show that it believed that
Damian had sufficient funds and, on its own motion, denied
Damian’s motion without holding an evidentiary hearing.
Specifically, on December 12, the district court filed an order
in which it simply stated that Damian’s “Motion to Proceed In
Forma Pauperis is denied.” And on December 16, the district
court filed an amended order in which it stated:

On December 12, 2013, this Court entered an Order
without hearing or opinion denying [Damian’s] Motion
to Proceed In Forma Pauperis. However, pursuant to NEB.
REV.STAT. §25-2301.02 and Glass v. Kenney, 268 Neb.
704[, 687 N.W.2d 907] (2004), this Court failed to hold
an evidentiary hearing or provide written statement of its
reasons, findings, and conclusions. Therefore, this Court
finds that the Order, dated December 12, 2013, must be
vacated and an Amended Order be issued which complies
with both the Nebraska Statute and the case law of our
Supreme Court.

In the amended order, the district court set forth Damian’s
income and expenses as reflected in Damian’s motion and
affidavit to proceed in forma pauperis on appeal. Based on
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this information, the district court determined that Damian
had sufficient funds and thus “is not a person who quali-
fies to proceed In Forma Pauperis.” On January 13, 2014,
Damian filed his notice of appeal from the December 16,
2013, amended order denying his motion to proceed in forma
pauperis on appeal.

Under § 25-2301.02(1), the court was required to hold a
hearing on Damian’s motion to proceed in forma pauperis
where the objection was made on the court’s own motion on
the grounds of ability to pay. The district court erred when it
failed to conduct a hearing—hence, our order remanding the
issue to the district court.

For the sake of completeness, we note that Tiffany asserted
that Damian waived his right to proceed in forma pauperis
because he paid the docketing fee and bond when he filed his
January 13, 2014, notice of appeal from the December 16,
2013, amended order which denied his motion to proceed in
forma pauperis on appeal. Tiffany also asserted that the fore-
going demonstrated Damian’s ability to pay for the appeal.
Because the docket fee paid by Damian is not inconsistent
with in forma pauperis eligibility, Damian did not waive his
right to seek to proceed in forma pauperis, and we reject
Tiffany’s arguments.

We have observed that there is a statutory right of interlocu-
tory appellate review of a decision denying in forma pauperis
eligibility to be conducted “de novo on the record based on
the transcript of the hearing or the written statement of the
court.” § 25-2301.02(2). See State v. Sims, 291 Neb. 475, 865
N.W.2d 800 (2015). See, also, Glass v. Kenney, 268 Neb. 704,
687 N.W.2d 907 (2004); Jacob v. Schlichtman, 261 Neb. 169,
622 N.W.2d 852 (2001). The statutory provisions anticipate an
appeal achieved by filing a docket fee or by filing a poverty
affidavit in lieu of the docket fee and the filing of a record
sufficient for appellate review. Because Damian had a statu-
tory right to appeal, the district court’s denial of his motion
for in forma pauperis status on appeal based on ability to pay
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without a hearing deprived this court of a record other than
the district court’s statement by which to perform a meaning-
ful appellate review of the in forma pauperis ruling. A record,
the cost of which is statutorily to be paid by the county, was
necessary for our review, and a record prepared at the county’s
expense does not demonstrate a party’s ability to pay for the
entire record or other costs of an appeal.

In Jacob v. Schlichtman, supra, we discussed what costs,
fees, or security a litigant proceeding in forma pauperis was
excused from paying. We stated:

After defining “in forma pauperis” and establishing
a statutory procedure for determining whether a litigant
may proceed in that status, the Legislature made specific
provisions for waiver or payment of various costs and
expenses which the in forma pauperis litigant is excused
from paying. Section 25-2302 provides that upon deter-
mining that a party may proceed in forma pauperis, the
court “shall direct the responsible officer of the court
to issue and serve all the necessary writs, process, and
proceedings and perform all such duties without charge.”
Counties are required to pay other essential costs incurred
by the in forma pauperis litigant. See, § 25-2303 (expense
of process by publication, if required); § 25-2304 (pay-
ment of process and fees to secure presence of witnesses
whom court finds to have evidence material and neces-
sary to case); §§ 25-2305 to 25-2307 (costs associated
with briefs and record on appeal).
Jacob v. Schlichtman, 261 Neb. at 175-76, 622 N.W.2d at 856.
See, also, Glass v. Kenney, 268 Neb. at 708, 687 N.W.2d at
911 (stating that “[t]he fees, costs, or security referred to in
§ 25-2301.02(1) are those customarily required to docket an
appeal. See Neb. Rev. Stat. § 25-1912 (Cum. Supp. 2002). We
read §§ 25-2301.02 and 25-1912 in pari materia”). Although
Damian paid the docketing fee and bond when he sought
review of the district court’s in forma pauperis ruling, there
are other costs and fees associated with proceeding with an
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appeal that can be costly, and such costs and fees would not
be borne by Damian if Damian were granted in forma pauperis
status. Therefore, we determined that Damian did not waive
his right to proceed in forma pauperis on appeal when he paid
a docketing fee.

To summarize the proceedings, based on our determination
that the district court erred when it failed to hold an eviden-
tiary hearing regarding whether Damian had “sufficient funds
to pay costs, fees, or security” before denying his motion to
proceed in forma pauperis on appeal, we entered an order on
November 12, 2014, in which we vacated the December 16,
2013, amended order and remanded the issue for an eviden-
tiary hearing to be held in accordance with § 25-2301.02. On
November 14, 2014, the district court filed an order which
granted Damian the right to proceed in forma pauperis on
appeal. Thus, this issue has been resolved and a record of the
proceedings below, including the hearing on the merits of the
modification and support issues, has been prepared and filed
and is available for our review.

The District Court’s Denial of
Modification of Custody.

With respect to the merits of this case, Damian claims
that the district court erred when it determined that Damian
failed to establish that a material change in circumstances had
occurred since the entry of the decree and thus declined to
modify custody of Jakai solely to Damian or order that Tiffany
pay child support. Having reviewed the record, we find no
merit to these assignments of error.

[4-6] Child custody determinations are matters initially
entrusted to the discretion of the trial court, and although
reviewed de novo on the record, the trial court’s determina-
tion will normally be affirmed absent an abuse of discretion.
Schrag v. Spear, 290 Neb. 98, 858 N.W.2d 865 (2015). An
abuse of discretion occurs when a trial court bases its deci-
sion upon reasons that are untenable or unreasonable or if
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its action is clearly against justice or conscience, reason,
and evidence. Flores v. Flores-Guerrero, 290 Neb. 248, 859
N.W.2d 578 (2015). A judicial abuse of discretion requires
that the reasons or rulings of the trial court be clearly unten-
able insofar as they unfairly deprive a litigant of a substan-
tial right and a just result. Schrag v. Spear, supra. In child
custody cases, where the credible evidence is in conflict on
a material issue of fact, the appellate court considers, and
may give weight to, the fact that the trial judge heard and
observed the witnesses and accepted one version of the facts
rather than another. /d.

[7-9] The legal principles governing modification of child
custody are well settled. As summarized in Adams v. Adams,
13 Neb. App. 276, 285, 691 N.W.2d 541, 548-49 (2005),
“First, the party seeking modification must show a material
change in circumstances, occurring after the entry of the previ-
ous custody order and affecting the best interests of the child.
Next, the party seeking modification must prove that changing
the child’s custody is in the child’s best interests.” A material
change in circumstances means the occurrence of something
which, had it been known at the time of the initial decree,
would have persuaded the court to decree differently. See
Schrag v. Spear, supra. The party seeking modification of child
custody bears the burden of showing as an initial matter that
there has been a change in circumstances. See id.

In this case, the district court stated in its November 8,
2013, order that Damian had failed to establish at the hearing
there had been a material change in circumstance since the
decree had been filed 2 years prior thereto and, in any event,
that the evidence was insufficient to determine it was in the
best interests of the minor child to modify custody. In making
these determinations, the district court set forth the evidence
as follows:

1. That the minor child came for parenting time with,
what [Damian] characterized as bruises on the body of
the child. [Note: It is disputed as to when the bruising
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occurred.] [Brackets in original.] This incident was inves-
tigated by law enforcement and the Department of Health
and Human Services, and according to [Damian], the
marks on the child were determined to be heat rashes.
Further, and of significance, is that no action was taken
by any agency in regard to this incident.

2. That [Tiffany] failed to allow parenting time, as
ordered by this Court, on multiple occasions and was held
in contempt on two separate occasions. Although this
reflects negatively upon [Tiffany], she has since corrected
these poor decisions.

3. That both parties fail to appropriately communicate
in regard to the child, which has caused numerous, unnec-
essary, problems for both parents.

4. That [Damian] complains about [Tiffany] not fol-
lowing the parenting plan in regard to his right of first
refusal to parent the child, but, yet, [Damian] has not
requested any additional parenting time pursuant to his
right of first refusal. As a result, [Damian] is as much
at fault as [Tiffany] on this issue. Again, the lack of
communication skills by both parties only magnifies
this issue.

5. The evidence is completely void of any direct harm
to the child caused by any alleged parenting deficien-
cies of [Tiffany]. In fact, the evidence reflects that, for a
single parent with limited resources, she has matured as
a parent.

6. [Tiffany’s] negative comments about [Damian] on
social media is concerning, but no direct connection was
made as to how these comments impact the child.

7. Lastly, even if [Damian’s] concerns are reflective of
the situation, the evidence does not reflect how these cir-
cumstances are any different, now, than they were at the
time that the Decree was entered.

Based on this evidence, the district court declined to modify
custody.
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[10] Upon our de novo review of the record in this case, we
agree that the evidence adduced at the modification trial did
not establish a material change in circumstances since the entry
of the decree warranting a change in custody. At trial, both
Damian and Tiffany presented conflicting evidence concern-
ing their own parenting strengths and the weaknesses of the
other parent. Both parties showed that they are employed and
that they love and are able to care for Jakai. Regarding why
he believed custody of Jakai should be modified, Damian pre-
sented evidence that Tiffany had interfered with his parenting
time on various occasions, and the record showed that she had
earlier been held in contempt for such interference. However,
the record also showed, as noted by the district court, that in
the year prior to the modification trial, Tiffany had addressed
this problem and adhered to the parenting time schedule. In
determining whether the custody of a minor child should be
changed, the evidence of the custodial parent’s behavior during
the year or so before the hearing on the motion to modify is of
more significance than the behavior prior to that time. Schrag
v. Spear, 290 Neb. 98, 858 N.W.2d 865 (2015); State on behalf
of Dawn M. v. Jerrod M., 22 Neb. App. 835, 861 N.W.2d
755 (2015).

Damian testified that Tiffany made disparaging remarks
about him on social media, and we agree with the district court
that this is concerning. But the record did not show that this
disrespect was communicated to the child or affected him up
to the point of trial. The record shows that Damian claimed
that Tiffany did not adhere to Damian’s right of first refusal
and failed to consult with him on decisions regarding Jakai’s
medical treatment and daycare. However, Tiffany presented
contrary evidence regarding Damian’s failure to communicate
effectively about decisions regarding Jakai and that Damain
had not requested any additional parenting time with Jakai
through his right of first refusal.

In child custody cases, where the credible evidence is
in conflict on a material issue of fact, the appellate court
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considers, and may give weight to, the fact that the trial judge
heard and observed the witnesses and accepted one version of
the facts rather than another. Schrag v. Spear, supra. Based on
the evidence presented at trial, the district court determined
that there was not a change in circumstances warranting a
modification of custody. The district court also determined that
the evidence failed to show that a change of custody solely
to Damian was in Jakai’s best interests. Given the record in
this case, and given our standard of review and deference to
the trial court’s determinations with respect to the credibility
of the witnesses, we cannot say that the court’s denial of the
modification of custody was clearly untenable or an abuse
of discretion. Accordingly, we affirm the decision of the dis-
trict court.

CONCLUSION

The issue of Damian’s in forma pauperis status on appeal
has been resolved. Upon our de novo review of the record of
the modification trial, we determine the district court did not
abuse its discretion when it determined that Damian failed to
show a material change in circumstances since the entry of
the decree or that the best interests of the child demonstrably
required modification and thus concluded that a modifica-
tion of custody was not warranted and adjusted child support.
Therefore, we affirm the November 8, 2013, order of the dis-
trict court in all respects.

AFFIRMED.
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Jury Instructions: Proof: Appeal and Error. To establish reversible
error from a court’s refusal to give a requested instruction, an appel-
lant has the burden to show that (1) the tendered instruction is a correct
statement of the law, (2) the tendered instruction is warranted by the
evidence, and (3) the appellant was prejudiced by the court’s refusal to
give the tendered instruction.

Jury Instructions: Appeal and Error. Whether jury instructions are
correct is a question of law, which an appellate court resolves indepen-
dently of the lower court’s decision.

Convictions: Evidence: Appeal and Error. In reviewing a claim
that the evidence was insufficient to support a criminal conviction,
an appellate court does not resolve conflicts in the evidence, pass on
the credibility of witnesses, or reweigh the evidence; such matters
are for the finder of fact, and a conviction will be affirmed, in the
absence of prejudicial error, if the evidence admitted at trial, viewed
and construed most favorably to the State, is sufficient to support the
conviction.

Trial: Prosecuting Attorneys: Appeal and Error. When a defendant
has not preserved a claim of prosecutorial misconduct for direct appeal,
an appellate court will review the record only for plain error.
Sentences: Appeal and Error. An appellate court will not disturb a sen-
tence imposed within the statutory limits absent an abuse of discretion
by the trial court.

Sentences. Whether a defendant is entitled to credit for time served and
in what amount are questions of law.

Records: Appeal and Error. It is incumbent upon an appellant to sup-
ply a record which supports his or her appeal.
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Self-Defense. The choice of evils defense provided by Neb. Rev. Stat.
§ 28-1407 (Reissue 2008) requires that a defendant (1) acts to avoid
a greater harm; (2) reasonably believes that the particular action is
necessary to avoid a specific and immediate harm; and (3) reasonably
believes that the selected action is the least harmful alternative to avoid
the harm, either actual or reasonably believed by the defendant to be
certain to occur.

Homicide: Intent: Time. No particular length of time for premedita-
tion is required, provided that the intent to kill is formed before the act
is committed and not simultaneously with the act that caused the death.
The duration of time required to establish premeditation may be so
short that it is instantaneous.

Trial: Motions for Mistrial. When a party has knowledge during trial
of irregularity or misconduct, the party must timely assert his or her
right to a mistrial.

Motions for Mistrial: Prosecuting Attorneys: Waiver: Appeal and
Error. A party who fails to make a timely motion for mistrial based
on prosecutorial misconduct waives the right to assert on appeal that
the court erred in not declaring a mistrial due to such prosecuto-
rial misconduct.

Appeal and Error. An appellate court may find plain error on appeal
when an error unasserted or uncomplained of at trial, but plainly evident
from the record, prejudicially affects a litigant’s substantial right and,
if uncorrected, would result in damage to the integrity, reputation, and
fairness of the judicial process.

Trial: Prosecuting Attorneys: Words and Phrases. Prosecutorial mis-
conduct encompasses conduct that violates legal or ethical standards for
various contexts because the conduct will or may undermine a defend-
ant’s right to a fair trial.

Trial: Prosecuting Attorneys. In assessing allegations of prosecutorial
misconduct in closing arguments, a court first determines whether the
prosecutor’s remarks were improper. It is then necessary to determine
the extent to which the improper remarks had a prejudicial effect on the
defendant’s right to a fair trial.

Trial: Prosecuting Attorneys: Juries. Prosecutors are charged with the
duty to conduct criminal trials in such a manner that the accused may
have a fair and impartial trial, and prosecutors are not to inflame the
prejudlces or excite the passions of the jury against the accused.

_ : . A prosecutor’s conduct that does not mislead and
unduly 1nﬂuence the jury does not constitute misconduct.

Trial: Confessions: Miranda Rights: Impeachment. The State may
not seek to impeach a defendant’s exculpatory story, told for the first
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time at trial, by cross-examining the defendant about his or her failure to
have told the story after receiving Miranda warnings at the time of the
defendant’s arrest.

Sentences: Probation and Parole. A sentence of life imprisonment
“without the possibility of parole” is erroneous, but not void.
Sentences: Time. A sentence validly imposed takes effect from the time
it is pronounced.

Sentences. When a valid sentence has been put into execution, the
trial court cannot modify, amend, or revise it in any way, either dur-
ing or after the term or session of court at which the sentence was
imposed.

Courts: Sentences. Where a portion of a sentence is valid and a por-
tion is invalid or erroneous, the court has authority to modify or revise
the sentence by removing the invalid or erroneous portion of the sen-
tence if the remaining portion of the sentence constitutes a complete
valid sentence.

Sentences. When imposing a sentence, a sentencing judge should con-
sider the defendant’s (1) age, (2) mentality, (3) education and experi-
ence, (4) social and cultural background, (5) past criminal record or
record of law-abiding conduct, and (6) motivation for the offense, as
well as (7) the nature of the offense, and (8) the violence involved in the
commission of the crime.

. The appropriateness of a sentence is necessarily a subjective judg-
ment and includes the sentencing judge’s observation of the defendant’s
demeanor and attitude and all the facts and circumstances surrounding
the defendant’s life.

Homicide: Sentences. When a defendant is sentenced to life impris-
onment for first degree murder, the defendant is not entitled to credit
for time served in custodial detention pending trial and sentence;
however, when the defendant receives a sentence consecutive to the
life sentence that has maximum and minimum terms, the defendant
is entitled to receive credit for time served against the consecutive
sentence.

Sentences. A sentencing judge must separately determine, state, and
grant the amount of credit on the defendant’s sentence to which the
defendant is entitled.

. When consecutive sentences are imposed for two or more offenses,
periods of presentence incarceration may be credited only against the
aggregate of all terms imposed.

Appeal from the District Court for Cheyenne County: DEREK

C. WEIMER, Judge. Affirmed as modified.
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MILLER-LERMAN, J.
NATURE OF CASE
Jason William Custer appeals his convictions and sen-
tences for first degree murder, use of a firearm to commit
a felony, and being a felon in possession of a firearm. We
affirm Custer’s convictions, and we affirm his sentences as
modified.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The charges against Custer arose from an incident in which
he shot and killed Adam McCormick outside a residence in
Sidney, Nebraska, on November 3, 2012. In the information
filed in the district court for Cheyenne County, Custer was
originally charged with second degree murder and use of a
firearm to commit a felony. The information was amended to
upgrade the murder charge to first degree and to add a charge
of being a felon in possession of a firearm. Custer was alleged
to be a habitual criminal, but the State ultimately chose not to
pursue the habitual criminal enhancement.

Custer grew up in Chico, California, where he met and
became friends with Billy Fields. In 2012, Custer decided to
move to Humboldt, Nebraska, where his son and his son’s
mother lived. Fields was then living in Sidney with his girl-
friend, Amber Davis. Fields invited Custer to stay with him
and Davis for a time while he was in the process of moving
to Humboldt. Custer arrived in Sidney on October 5. While
in Sidney, Custer met various friends of Davis, including
McCormick and Syrus Leal.
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After Davis told Custer and Fields they needed to move out
of her house, Fields arranged for the two to stay at another
friend’s apartment. At around this time, in mid-October,
McCormick gave Custer $150. Although Custer testified that
the money was a loan to help Custer pay his share of rent
and utilities at the new apartment, Fields and Leal testified
that McCormick gave Custer the money to purchase drugs
and that after Custer failed to deliver the drugs, McCormick
wanted his money back. Custer testified that he intended to
pay McCormick back after he received an unemployment
check on October 16, 2012, but that he ended up using the
money from the check to pay other expenses. On or around
October 20, McCormick came to the apartment where Custer
and Fields were staying to collect the money. After Custer told
McCormick he would pay him from his next check, Fields,
who was upset that McCormick had come to confront Custer,
told McCormick that he would pay McCormick by the end
of the week. In the following days, McCormick exchanged
threatening text messages and telephone calls with Custer
and Fields.

On or about October 26, 2012, Custer and Fields attended
Halloween parties at some local bars. While they were walk-
ing between bars, McCormick confronted them, demanding
his money. Fields testified that when McCormick approached
them, it looked like McCormick was reaching into his pocket
for something, and that Fields thought it was a knife that he
knew McCormick carried. Custer and Fields told McCormick
they could not repay the $150 at that time, but in order to calm
McCormick, Fields paid him $40 for another debt he owed.
Fields testified that he later met up with Leal, who told him
that the money McCormick gave Custer was actually Leal’s
and that the money should be repaid to him rather than to
McCormick. Custer thought the matter had been resolved by
agreeing to pay Leal, but McCormick later sent text mes-
sages to Custer and Fields suggesting that the matter could be
resolved if they both left town.
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A few days later, on November 1, 2012, McCormick sent
Fields text messages threatening physical violence if the debt
was not repaid soon. The text messages prompted Custer to
arrange with McCormick to meet in a park for a fight. Custer
and Fields went to the park at the arranged time. McCormick
did not show up, but he continued to exchange confrontational
text messages and telephone calls with Custer and Fields.

Custer and Fields went to Davis’ house that night and
told her about the ongoing conflict with McCormick. Other
friends of Davis were at her house and heard about the con-
flict. Evidence at trial showed that the gun that was later used
to shoot McCormick belonged to one of Davis’ friends, but
there was a conflict in the evidence as to how the gun came
into Custer’s possession. Fields testified that at Davis’ house
on November 1, 2012, Custer had talked to this friend about
obtaining a gun and that after the shooting, Custer told Fields
that prior to the shooting, he had kept the gun stashed in a
culvert behind the apartment building where they were staying.
In contrast, as will be discussed further below, Custer testified
that he found the gun in Fields’ truck immediately before the
shooting and that he had not known before that time that the
gun was in the truck.

The next night, November 2, 2012, Davis hosted a gath-
ering at her house. A conflict arose when Davis saw that
McCormick had come to her house with Leal. Davis insisted
that McCormick leave. Davis sent text messages to Custer and
Fields, who were not at Davis’ house, letting them know about
her confrontation with McCormick. She also let them know that
the gathering was relocating to Leal’s house, that McCormick
would be there, and that although Custer and Fields should not
fight McCormick there, they could “be waiting and watching
for him.” The conflict between Davis and McCormick contin-
ued at Leal’s home. Throughout the evening, Davis updated
Custer and Fields through text messages and telephone calls
regarding McCormick’s activities and whereabouts. Around
11:20 p.m., Custer responded to one of Davis’ updates with a
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text message stating that he and Fields were coming over to
handle matters with McCormick.

Custer testified that throughout the night of November 2,
2012, he had also been exchanging text messages and tele-
phone calls with McCormick and that although Custer tried
to explain to McCormick that Fields was going to repay the
money, McCormick continued to threaten him. Around 11:35
p-m., Custer asked McCormick whether they could “FINISH
THIS RIGHT NOW ONE ON ONE.” McCormick responded in
the affirmative about 15 minutes later. In the same timeframe,
Custer was exchanging texts with Davis to see whether anyone
at Leal’s home would have a problem if Custer came there to
resolve things with McCormick. Custer testified that in light of
mixed messages he received from both Davis and McCormick,
he determined it would be better to wait until McCormick
left and then come to resolve things with Leal instead of
with McCormick.

Shortly after midnight on November 3, 2012, Davis texted
Custer saying that McCormick was leaving the gathering at
Leal’s house. Custer borrowed Fields’ truck to drive to Leal’s
house. Fields did not accompany Custer. When Custer arrived
at Leal’s house, he saw that McCormick, Leal, and Joshua
Wright were standing outside on the lawn. Thereafter, an
incident ensued in which Custer shot McCormick twice. The
testimony at trial presented differing stories regarding the
incident; therefore, Custer’s testimony regarding the inci-
dent will be presented herein after discussion of Leal’s and
Wright’s testimony.

Leal testified that after midnight on November 3, 2012, he,
McCormick, and Wright were leaving the house; Wright was
going to walk home, and Leal was going to give McCormick
a ride home. As they were leaving, a truck pulled up to the
house. When Leal saw the truck arrive, he thought it was
Fields until he heard Custer call McCormick’s name. Custer
left the truck idling with the lights on while he got out of the
truck and headed straight toward McCormick. Leal did not see
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a gun but as soon as McCormick responded to Custer’s calling
his name, Leal heard a shot and saw McCormick buckle over.
Leal heard another shot 1 or 2 seconds after the first shot. Leal
went to attend to McCormick; he tried to catch McCormick’s
fall, but McCormick was already on the ground. Leal looked
up and saw that Custer was almost back to the truck. Leal
ran toward the truck and punched at Custer through the open
window. Leal saw a gun on the seat next to Custer as Custer
drove away in the truck. Leal then turned to see McCormick
trying to walk around Leal’s Jeep, which was parked in the
driveway. By the time Leal reached McCormick, he was on the
ground again.

Wright testified that he, Leal, and McCormick were stand-
ing in front of Leal’s house smoking after midnight on
November 3, 2012, when a truck pulled up and stopped in
the street. Wright did not recognize the truck, but one of
the other men said it belonged to Fields. Wright started to
walk toward the truck because he knew about the tension
between McCormick and Fields and he wanted to tell Fields
to “chill out.” The truck was still running with its lights on.
A man got out of the truck, and Wright realized that it was
not Fields and that, instead, it was Custer. Custer walked
toward the front door of the house. At first Wright did not
see anything in Custer’s hands, but when Custer picked up
his hands, Wright saw that he had a black assault rifle. Custer
raised the rifle to his shoulder, and Wright moved to escape.
Wright heard Custer call for McCormick, and then he heard
a shot. Wright did not see where the shot had been fired
because he was trying to escape. Wright heard another shot 1
or 2 seconds later, and then he saw Custer return to the truck.
Wright saw Leal run to the truck and punch Custer before
the truck left quickly. After he saw the truck leave, Wright
started to run home, but when he heard Leal yell for him, he
ran to the driveway where he saw McCormick on the ground.
McCormick was unresponsive and bleeding, so Wright called
for emergency assistance.
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Other evidence presented by the State indicated that the
bullet from the second shot entered McCormick’s body under
the left arm, continued in a downward trajectory, nicking a
rib and perforating McCormick’s lower left lung, esopha-
gus, and liver, and exited his right side. McCormick died as
a result of the gunshot wounds. In addition, an officer who
arrived at the scene shortly after the shooting testified that he
searched McCormick’s pockets and that he found a pocket-
knife inside McCormick’s front left pants pocket. The officer
testified that when he found the pocketknife, it was closed up
and clasped and was all the way inside the pocket. The offi-
cer further testified that he did not find any other weapon in
McCormick’s proximity.

Custer testified in his own defense at trial. He testified
that when he arrived at Leal’s house, he was confused that
McCormick was still there and that he became concerned he
was being set up. Custer therefore retrieved a gun that was in
the back seat of the truck. Custer testified that he did not know
that the gun was there until after he became concerned about a
setup and started looking through the truck to find something
to protect himself. Custer concealed the gun under his coat as
he got out of the truck. As he walked up the driveway, he told
McCormick that he was there “to talk so we can settle this.”
Custer testified that McCormick replied, “yeah, I’'m going to
settle it,” and that then McCormick pulled out a knife and
rushed at Custer. Custer testified that he backed up but ran into
a Jeep that was parked in the driveway and could not retreat
farther. He therefore pulled the gun out and fired a shot aimed
at McCormick’s knee as McCormick ran at him with the knife
raised. McCormick continued toward Custer, despite having
been shot in the thigh. As McCormick lunged at Custer with
the knife, Custer jumped out of the way, raised the gun, and
fired a shot as he twisted.

Custer testified that Leal began to scream at him and chase
him; so he got back to the truck and returned to the apartment
where he had been staying. He called Fields to tell him that
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he had shot at McCormick, and Fields made arrangements
for Davis to pick up Custer and get him out of town. Custer
stayed at a motel in Big Springs, Nebraska, until some hours
later when police came to arrest him based on a tip from
Fields and Davis.

During the State’s cross-examination of Custer, it asked
questions which pointed out that shortly after the shooting,
Leal and Wright gave statements to police consistent with
their testimony at trial, while Custer “had 15 months” and
“the opportunity to sit through all of the trial and listen to all
of the testimony” before he testified to his version of events.
The State also asked questions which pointed out that after
the shooting, Custer had made no attempt to report to the
police the shooting or McCormick’s alleged aggressive actions.
Custer did not object to any of these questions.

Argument at the jury instruction conference shows that
Custer requested a “choice of evils” instruction with respect
to the charge of being a felon in possession of a firearm. He
argued that the instruction was appropriate because of his testi-
mony that he grabbed the gun he found in the back seat of the
truck only because he was concerned that he was being set up
when he arrived at Leal’s house and that he needed to protect
himself. The court refused such an instruction after determin-
ing that such an instruction was not appropriate under the facts
of this case. Custer also objected to an instruction defining
premeditation because the instruction included a statement
to the effect that the “time needed for premeditation may be
so short as to be instantaneous,” which statement was not
included in the statutory definition of premeditation. The court
overruled Custer’s objection and gave the instruction. The
court also gave a self-defense instruction.

During closing arguments, the State pointed out that Custer
had not reported to police McCormick’s alleged aggressive
actions with the knife. The State also suggested that Custer
had 15 months and knowledge of the testimony and evi-
dence against him before he gave his testimony regarding the
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shooting. Custer did not object to the statements in the State’s
closing arguments, and he did not move for a mistrial based on
the statements.

The jury found Custer guilty of first degree murder, use of a
firearm to commit a felony, and being a felon in possession of
a firearm. The court sentenced Custer to imprisonment for life
for first degree murder, for 20 to 50 years for use of a firearm
to commit a felony, and for 10 to 20 years for being a felon in
possession of a firecarm. The court ordered that the sentences be
served consecutively to one another.

When imposing the sentence for first degree murder, the
court orally stated at the sentencing hearing that the sentence
was “a sentence of not less than a period of your natural life
without the possibility of parole.” However, the written sen-
tencing order omitted the language regarding the possibility
of parole.

In addition, at the sentencing hearing, the court orally stated
in connection with both the sentence for use of a firearm to
commit a felony and the sentence for being a felon in posses-
sion of a firearm that Custer would be given credit for 503
days he had previously served. The written order stated, in a
paragraph separate from the paragraphs setting forth the sen-
tences, that Custer “shall receive credit for five hundred three
(503) days for time already served.”

Custer appeals his convictions and sentences.

ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

Custer claims that the district court erred when it refused
a choice of evils instruction and when it gave an instruc-
tion defining premeditation that did not follow the statu-
tory definition. He also claims that there was not sufficient
evidence to sustain a conviction for first degree murder. He
further claims that the State committed prosecutorial mis-
conduct when it made certain remarks in closing arguments.
Finally, with regard to sentencing, Custer claims that the dis-
trict court erred when it orally pronounced sentence on the
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murder conviction as life imprisonment “without the possibil-
ity of parole” and that the court imposed excessive sentences
for the two other convictions.

In the State’s brief, it asserts that the district court com-
mitted plain error in the manner it ordered the credit for time
served to be applied.

STANDARDS OF REVIEW

[1] To establish reversible error from a court’s refusal to
give a requested instruction, an appellant has the burden to
show that (1) the tendered instruction is a correct statement
of the law, (2) the tendered instruction is warranted by the
evidence, and (3) the appellant was prejudiced by the court’s
refusal to give the tendered instruction. State v. Planck, 289
Neb. 510, 856 N.W.2d 112 (2014).

[2] Whether jury instructions are correct is a question of law,
which an appellate court resolves independently of the lower
court’s decision. State v. Stricklin, 290 Neb. 542, 861 N.W.2d
367 (2015).

[3] In reviewing a claim that the evidence was insufficient
to support a criminal conviction, an appellate court does not
resolve conflicts in the evidence, pass on the credibility of
witnesses, or reweigh the evidence; such matters are for the
finder of fact, and a conviction will be affirmed, in the absence
of prejudicial error, if the evidence admitted at trial, viewed
and construed most favorably to the State, is sufficient to sup-
port the conviction. State v. Davis, 290 Neb. 826, 862 N.W.2d
731 (2015).

[4] When a defendant has not preserved a claim of pros-
ecutorial misconduct for direct appeal, we will review the
record only for plain error. State v. Dubray, 289 Neb. 208, 854
N.W.2d 584 (2014).

[5] An appellate court will not disturb a sentence imposed
within the statutory limits absent an abuse of discretion by
the trial court. State v. Hunnel, 290 Neb. 1039, 863 N.W.2d
442 (2015).
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[6] Whether a defendant is entitled to credit for time served
and in what amount are questions of law. /d. An appellate
court reviews questions of law independently of the lower
court. /d.

ANALYSIS
Discussion of Proposed Choice
of Evils Instruction.

Custer first claims that the district court erred when it
refused to instruct the jury regarding a choice of evils defense
to the charge of being a felon in possession of a firearm. Custer
failed to include his proposed instruction in the record on
appeal, and we are not able to review the instruction on appeal.
However, even if we favor Custer with various assumptions, a
choice of evils instruction was not warranted by the evidence
and we reject this assignment of error.

The record of the jury instruction conference shows that
Custer objected to the court’s proposed instruction setting forth
the elements of being a felon in possession of a firearm and
that his objection was based on the failure to include language
regarding a choice of evils defense. The parties argued their
respective positions regarding whether such language should
be included, and the court determined that an instruction
regarding choice of evils was not appropriate under the facts
of this case.

[7] Although the court indicated at the jury instruction con-
ference that a proposed instruction was on file, Custer did not
include a proposed choice of evils instruction in the record on
appeal. Custer needed to show that his tendered instruction
was a correct statement of law and that it was warranted by the
evidence. See Planck, supra. In order to do so, he needed to
include his proposed instruction in the record on appeal. It is
incumbent upon an appellant to supply a record which supports
his or her appeal. State v. Robinson, 287 Neb. 799, 844 N.W.2d
312 (2014). Because Custer did not include the proposed
instruction in the record on appeal, “we have no instruction
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to review in order to determine whether it ought to have been
given.” See id. at 805, 844 N.W.2d at 318.

[8] Custer argues that although the proposed instruction is
not included in the record, it is clear from the arguments of
counsel at the jury instruction conference that Custer requested
an instruction that followed the language of Neb. Rev. Stat.
§ 28-1407 (Reissue 2008). He asserts that the same language
was proposed by the defendant in State v. Mowell, 267 Neb. 83,
672 N.W.2d 389 (2003). In Mowell, we stated that the defend-
ant had presented an instruction which set forth the choice of
evils defense provided by § 28-1407 and that the choice of
evils defense

requires that a defendant (1) acts to avoid a greater
harm; (2) reasonably believes that the particular action
is necessary to avoid a specific and immediate harm;
and (3) reasonably believes that the selected action is the
least harmful alternative to avoid the harm, either actual
or reasonably believed by the defendant to be certain
to occur.
267 Neb. at 94, 672 N.W.2d at 399. We did not decide in
Mowell whether the instruction proposed by the defendant was
a correct statement of law, and we further questioned whether
a choice of evils justification was available as a defense to a
charge of being a felon in possession of a firearm. Without
deciding either issue, we assumed for the sake of argument
that the proposed instruction was a correct statement of law
and that the defense was generally available against a charge
of being a felon in possession of a firearm. Having made such
assumptions, we nevertheless concluded that under the facts of
the case at hand, the defendant in Mowell was not entitled to an
instruction on the choice of evils defense. If we were to make
the same assumptions in this case, and if we were to assume
that Custer’s proposed instruction was based on the language
of § 28-1407, similar to Mowell, we would again conclude that
the evidence in this case did not entitle the defendant, Custer,
to a choice of evils instruction.
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In Mowell, we emphasized that the choice of evils defense
requires that the defendant’s actions are “‘necessary to avoid
a specific and immediately imminent harm’” and that “gen-
eralized and nonimmediate fears are inadequate grounds upon
which to justify a violation of law.” 267 Neb. at 96, 672
N.W.2d at 400. After reviewing the evidence in Mowell, we
noted that “even if [the defendant] felt threatened and harassed
by [the victim] to a point where he feared for his safety, [the
defendant] had ample opportunity” to avoid the danger. 267
Neb. at 97, 672 N.W.2d at 401.

Custer argues that the facts of the present case are different
from those in Mowell, because the threat in Mowell was vague
and the defendant in Mowell possessed the firearm for a longer
period of time. He contends that in this case, McCormick’s
threats against him “were far more repeated, direct, and unam-
biguous,” brief for appellant at 23, and that he did not possess
the firearm until he was faced with a specific and immedi-
ate harm.

Although the facts of this case differ from those in Mowell,
the evidence in this case does not show that at the time Custer
took possession of the firearm he faced a specific and imme-
diately imminent harm. The evidence most favorable to Custer
was his own testimony that when he arrived at Leal’s house,
he saw that McCormick was still there and that, fearing that
he was being set up, he retrieved the gun from the back seat
of the truck. At the time he retrieved the gun, Custer was still
inside the truck and he had the opportunity to drive away;
instead, he grabbed the gun, got out of the truck, and walked
toward McCormick. Under Custer’s version of events, he
did not face a specific and immediately imminent harm until
McCormick rushed at him with a knife, which did not occur
until after Custer had already grabbed the gun, gotten out of
the truck, and approached McCormick. That is, Custer pos-
sessed the firearm—the crime of which he was convicted—
not to avoid a specific and immediate harm, but instead,
before the harm developed. Therefore, even if we were to
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assume Custer tendered a proposed instruction that followed
the language of § 28-1407, and the defense was available to
a charge of being a felon in possession of a firearm, we con-
clude that the district court did not err when it determined
that a choice of evils instruction was not warranted by the
evidence in this case.

Jury Instruction Defining Premeditation
Was Not Improper.

Custer next claims that the district court erred when it gave
an instruction defining premeditation which included language
that was not included in the statutory definition of premedita-
tion. We conclude as a matter of law that the district court did
not err when it gave the instruction.

The district court gave jury instruction No. 7 which
instructed the jury on definitions of various terms relevant to
the charges against Custer. The instruction included a defini-
tion of premeditation based on NJI2d Crim. 4.0. The court
instructed: “Premeditation means to form the intent to do
something before it is done. The time needed for premedita-
tion may be so short as to be instantaneous provided that the
intent to act is formed before the act and not simultaneously
with the act.” Custer objected to the second sentence of the
definition for premeditation because it did not conform to the
statutory definition of premeditation under Neb. Rev. Stat.
§ 28-302 (Reissue 2008). The definition of premeditation in
jury instruction No. 7 is nearly identical to the definition pro-
vided in NJI2d Crim. 4.0. In comparison to instruction No. 7,
§ 28-302(3) provides one sentence, i.e.: “Premeditation shall
mean a design formed to do something before it is done,” but
does not contain a second sentence regarding the time needed
for premeditation.

[9] The argument made by Custer regarding the variance
between the statutory definition in § 28-302(3) and instruc-
tion No. 7 was rejected by this court in State v. Taylor, 282
Neb. 297, 803 N.W.2d 746 (2011). In Taylor, we noted that
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the second sentence of NJI2d Crim. 4.0 had “apparently been
added to further specify the meaning of ‘before’ as it was
used in § 28-302(3).” 282 Neb. at 310, 803 N.W.2d at 758.
We reviewed our precedent to the effect that no particular
length of time for premeditation is required, provided that the
intent to kill is formed before the act is committed and not
simultaneously with the act that caused the death, as well as
other precedent to the effect that the duration of time required
to establish premeditation may be so short that it is instanta-
neous. /d.

Custer argues that the instruction was erroneous because
“these two words [‘instantaneous’ and ‘simultaneous’] are syn-
onyms that mean something occurring in the same moment.”
Brief for appellant at 30. He contends that instructing the jury
that premeditation may be “instantaneous” violates the statu-
tory requirement that intent must be formed before the act is
done. We disagree.

“Instantaneous” is defined as “done, occurring, or acting
without any perceptible duration of time,” Webster’s Third New
International Dictionary of the English Language, Unabridged
1171 (1993), whereas “simultaneous” is defined as “existing
or occurring at the same time,” id. at 2122. The two words are
not synonymous; “instantaneous” refers to the passage of time
during which something occurs, while “simultaneous” refers
to the point in time at which two or more things occur. Thus,
premeditation may occur instantaneously, or in an amount of
time of imperceptible duration, but without occurring simul-
taneously with, or at the same point in time as, the act. The
instruction makes it clear that although premeditation may be
instantaneous, it must nevertheless occur before the act and
not simultaneous with it. The instruction therefore does not
contradict the statutory requirement that premeditation must
occur before the act. The instruction instead explains that,
while premeditation must occur before the act and not simul-
taneous with it, premeditation need not occur for any minimal
duration of time and may occur in an instant, that is, may be
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instantaneous. Custer also argues that the instruction is a viola-
tion of the separation of powers because it adds to the defini-
tion of premeditation provided by the Legislature. However,
a court’s proper role is to interpret statutes and clarify their
meaning. See Taylor, supra. The instruction given in this case
interprets and clarifies the statutory definition; it does not
change or contradict the statutory definition.

Similar to our discussion in Taylor, supra, we conclude that
jury instruction No. 7 in this case conformed to our interpreta-
tion of premeditation as it is used in § 28-302(3). Accordingly,
as a matter of law, the district court did not err when it gave the
definition of premeditation in instruction No. 7, and we reject
this assignment of error.

The Evidence Was Sufficient to Support Custer's
Conviction for First Degree Murder.

Custer claims that there was not sufficient evidence to
sustain a conviction for first degree murder because the evi-
dence did not show that he killed McCormick with deliberate
and premeditated malice. The theory of Custer’s defense was
essentially that he killed McCormick in self-defense. The State
contends that its evidence established that Custer committed
first degree murder, that there was no sudden quarrel, and that
Custer did not kill McCormick in self-defense. We conclude
that there was sufficient evidence from which the jury could
have found that Custer committed first degree murder.

As an initial matter, we note that Custer’s claim of insuf-
ficient evidence of deliberate and premeditated malice relies in
part on his argument, which we rejected above, that premedita-
tion cannot be “instantaneous” because instantaneous premedi-
tation is synonymous with intent formed simultaneously with
the act. To the extent Custer’s argument is that there was not
sufficient evidence of premeditation because the State proved
only instantaneous premeditation, we reject such argument,
because instantaneous premeditation is sufficient.

Custer’s main argument is that there was insufficient evi-
dence of first degree murder, because there was evidence that



- 106 -

292 NEBRASKA REPORTS
STATE v. CUSTER
Cite as 292 Neb. 88

he did not come to Leal’s house planning to kill McCormick,
that he instead came to settle the dispute over the money he
owed to McCormick, that he grabbed the gun from the back
seat of the truck only after he became concerned that he
was being set up, and that he did not shoot McCormick until
McCormick lunged at him with a knife. Custer contends that
this evidence shows that the killing was not done with deliber-
ate and premeditated malice and that instead, it was done upon
a sudden quarrel and in self-defense.

Although there was evidence in support of the version of
events as urged by Custer, the State presented evidence which
contradicted Custer’s version of how the incident occurred
and from which the jury could have found that Custer killed
McCormick with deliberate and premeditated malice and that
the killing did not result from a sudden quarrel and was not
justified as self-defense. The State’s evidence included the
testimony by Leal and by Wright which indicated that Custer
got out of the truck armed with a gun, left the engine running,
walked toward McCormick, and shot him twice within sec-
onds—all before a sudden quarrel developed or self-defense
was justified.

The main evidence supporting Custer’s version of events
was his testimony in his own defense. But he also directs our
attention to physical evidence, including evidence regarding
the trajectory of the gunshots, which he asserts supports his
version of events over the version of events recounted by other
witnesses. Thus, in this trial, there was conflicting testimony
regarding the events surrounding the shooting, and there was
other evidence which the jury may have found relevant to its
determination of the accuracy or credibility of the witnesses’
testimony. As the finder of fact, the jury resolved the tension
and conflicts in the evidence.

In reviewing a claim that the evidence was insufficient to
support a criminal conviction, an appellate court does not
resolve conflicts in the evidence, pass on the credibility of
witnesses, or reweigh the evidence; such matters are for the
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finder of fact, and a conviction will be affirmed, in the absence
of prejudicial error, if the evidence admitted at trial, viewed
and construed most favorably to the State, is sufficient to sup-
port the conviction. State v. Davis, 290 Neb. 826, 862 N.W.2d
731 (2015).

Viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the
State, we conclude that the evidence was sufficient to support
Custer’s conviction for first degree murder. We therefore reject
this assignment of error.

Prosecutor’s Comments During Closing
Arguments Were Not Improper.

Custer next claims that the State committed prosecuto-
rial misconduct when it made certain statements during clos-
ing arguments. Custer takes issue with the State’s comments
regarding the amount of time he had to prepare his testimony
for trial and the State’s comments highlighting his failure
to report the shooting and McCormick’s alleged aggressive
actions to the police. He contends that the statements were
improper comments on the exercise of his right to remain
silent. We conclude that the State’s comments during closing
arguments were not improper and did not constitute prosecuto-
rial misconduct.

[10,11] We note that Custer did not object when the State
questioned him about these issues on cross-examination or
when the State remarked on these issues during closing argu-
ments; the claim on appeal is limited to the prosecutor’s
comments made during closing arguments. When a party has
knowledge during trial of irregularity or misconduct, the party
must timely assert his or her right to a mistrial. State v
Stricklin, 290 Neb. 542, 861 N.W.2d 367 (2015). A party who
fails to make a timely motion for mistrial based on prosecuto-
rial misconduct waives the right to assert on appeal that the
court erred in not declaring a mistrial due to such prosecutorial
misconduct. /d.

Although Custer acknowledges that he failed to object to
the alleged prosecutorial misconduct at trial, he argues that
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we should note the alleged misconduct as plain error. When a
defendant has not preserved a claim of prosecutorial miscon-
duct for direct appeal, we will review the record only for plain
error. State v. Dubray, 289 Neb. 208, 854 N.W.2d 584 (2014).
We apply the plain error exception to the contemporaneous-
objection rule sparingly. State v. Alarcon-Chavez, 284 Neb.
322, 821 N.W.2d 359 (2012). Therefore, in this case, we will
review the record for plain error with regard to Custer’s allega-
tions of prosecutorial misconduct.

[12] An appellate court may find plain error on appeal when
an error unasserted or uncomplained of at trial, but plainly
evident from the record, prejudicially affects a litigant’s sub-
stantial right and, if uncorrected, would result in damage to the
integrity, reputation, and fairness of the judicial process. /d.
Generally, we will find plain error only when a miscarriage of
justice would otherwise occur. /d.

[13,14] Prosecutorial misconduct encompasses conduct that
violates legal or ethical standards for various contexts because
the conduct will or may undermine a defendant’s right to a
fair trial. Dubray, supra. In assessing allegations of prosecuto-
rial misconduct in closing arguments, a court first determines
whether the prosecutor’s remarks were improper. It is then nec-
essary to determine the extent to which the improper remarks
had a prejudicial effect on the defendant’s right to a fair trial.
State v. Watt, 285 Neb. 647, 832 N.W.2d 459 (2013). The first
step in our analysis, then, is to determine whether the State’s
comments to the jury regarding the amount of time Custer had
to consider his testimony and Custer’s failure to report the inci-
dent were improper.

[15,16] With regard to whether remarks made during clos-
ing arguments are improper, we have stated that prosecutors
are charged with the duty to conduct criminal trials in such a
manner that the accused may have a fair and impartial trial,
and prosecutors are not to inflame the prejudices or excite the
passions of the jury against the accused. /d. A prosecutor’s con-
duct that does not mislead and unduly influence the jury does
not constitute misconduct. /d.
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Custer asserts that it was improper for the State to note that
Custer did not report to police his allegations that McCormick
had threatened him with a knife, which allegations form the
basis for his claim of self-defense. The State further noted that
Custer had 15 months and the advantage of hearing other wit-
nesses’ testimony in order to prepare his testimony in his own
defense. The State contrasted this with the trial testimony of
Leal and Wright, which was consistent with statements they
gave to police within hours after the incident.

[17] Custer argues that these comments by the prosecutor
violated a line of cases beginning with Doyle v. Ohio, 426 U.S.
610, 611, 96 S. Ct. 2240, 49 L. Ed. 2d 91 (1976), in which
the U.S. Supreme Court held that the State may not “seek to
impeach a defendant’s exculpatory story, told for the first time
at trial, by cross-examining the defendant about his failure to
have told the story after receiving Miranda warnings at the
time of his arrest.” In Fletcher v. Weir, 455 U.S. 603, 607, 102
S. Ct. 1309, 71 L. Ed. 2d 490 (1982), the U.S. Supreme Court
clarified that the Doyle rule did not necessarily apply to a pros-
ecutor’s remarks about a postarrest silence occurring before
Miranda warnings and stated:

In the absence of the sort of affirmative assurances
embodied in the Miranda warnings [to the effect that his
silence will not be used against him or her], we do not
believe that it violates due process of law for a State to
permit cross-examination as to [pre-Miranda] postarrest
silence when a defendant chooses to take the stand.

Similar to Fletcher, supra, in Nebraska, we have stated that “it
is not a violation of fundamental fairness for the State to use a
defendant’s pre-Miranda silence as impeachment or as substan-
tive evidence of sanity.” State v. Harms, 263 Neb. 814, 824-25,
643 N.W.2d 359, 371 (2002). We have explicitly extended the
protection of Doyle to a prosecutor’s comments on the defend-
ant’s silence made in closing argument. See State v. Lopez,
274 Neb. 756, 743 N.W.2d 351 (2008). The Doyle challenge
in the instant case is to the prosecutor’s remarks during clos-
ing argument.
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Custer directs our attention to State v. Lofquest, 227 Neb.
567, 418 N.W.2d 595 (1988). In Lofquest, we noted that the
State’s remarks, some of which were made during the pros-
ecutor’s closing, referred to the defendant’s failure to tell
his story to police at any time prior to the trial. We stated in
Lofquest that the dispositive factor with respect to a prosecu-
tor’s remarks regarding a defendant’s silence is the period of
silence to which the prosecutor referred—that is, whether it
is the period before or the period after the defendant received
Miranda warnings. We determined that the prosecutor’s “gen-
eralized questions and comments [made] it nearly impos-
sible to discern, for purposes of a Doyle inquiry, what period
of silence the prosecution was referring to, pre-Miranda or
post-Miranda” and that “the prosecutor’s remarks could be
construed as referring to [the defendant’s] silence from the
first police contact through the moment before [the defendant]
told his story at trial.” 227 Neb. at 570, 418 N.W.2d at 597.
We concluded that the prosecutor’s remarks in Lofquest were
improper because “[w]e cannot allow prosecutors to sidestep
the Doyle protections by skirting the edge of the law with
vague and imprecise references to a defendant’s silence.” 227
Neb. at 570, 418 N.W.2d at 597.

Custer argues that, similar to Lofquest, the State’s remarks
made during closing argument in this case encompassed the
entire period until he testified at trial and that the remarks
were therefore improper. However, we note that the remarks
in which the State referred specifically to Custer’s silence
clearly pertained to a time before his arrest and before
Miranda warnings were given. During closing arguments, the
State discussed Custer’s actions immediately after the shoot-
ing and stated that he did not call police. The State remarked,
“He even sees the police car drive by and never bothers to
tell anybody that he was just in this life and death struggle.
Never tells the police about that.” These remarks clearly refer
to Custer’s silence at a time before he was arrested and given
Miranda warnings. They were unlike the remarks we found
improper in Lofquest, supra, in which the State imprecisely
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referred to the defendant’s silence prior to trial, which period
might have included times after the defendant received post-
Miranda warnings.

Custer argues that in addition to the remarks discussed
above specifically referring to Custer’s failure to report the
incident to police, the State’s remarks regarding the amount
of time he had to prepare his testimony prior to trial were
effectively improper comments on his silence. He argues that
the time period before trial necessarily includes some time
after his arrest and after he invoked his rights. He notes that
in closing arguments, the State remarked that “Custer wrapped
his story around the forensics after having 15 months to look
at it by hearing the testimony about seeing—here’s the angle
here and know that [McCormick] go [sic] wounded right
here,” and later repeated that “Custer forms his story around
the forensics.”

We do not read these remarks as commenting on Custer’s
silence after his arrest and after invocation of his right to
remain silent. Instead, the remarks are similar to those in State
v. Jacob, 253 Neb. 950, 974, 574 N.W.2d 117, 137 (1998),
abrogated on other grounds, State v. Nolan, 283 Neb. 50,
807 N.W.2d 520 (2012), in which the prosecutor stated dur-
ing closing arguments that before the defendant testified at
trial, he “‘had five years to think of his answers, five years
to run through all of this. Five years to prepare’” and that he
had “‘sat through this trial and heard every witness and every
question.”” We characterized the State’s remarks in Jacob as
commenting on the defendant’s credibility and as implying that
“in evaluating the credibility of [the defendant’s] testimony, the
jury should consider that [the defendant] had the benefit of first
hearing all the witnesses’ testimony and had 5 years to prepare
his testimony.” Id. at 975-76, 574 N.W.2d at 138. We stated
that we found “nothing in the argument that can be construed
as a comment on [the defendant’s] silence.” Id. at 976, 574
N.W.2d at 138. Similar to the remarks in Jacob, the remarks
by the State in closing argument in this case were directed to
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the credibility of Custer’s testimony rather than remarks on
Custer’s silence.

We conclude that the State’s remarks during closing argu-
ments were not improper, and we therefore need not consider
whether the comments prejudiced Custer’s right to a fair trial.
Because there was no prosecutorial misconduct and no plain
error, we reject Custer’s assignment of error.

District Court Properly Modified Custer’s
Sentence of Life Imprisonment by Removing
Erroneous Language Regarding Parole

in the Valid Written Order.

Custer claims that the district court erred when, at the sen-
tencing hearing, it orally sentenced him on the first degree
murder conviction to life imprisonment “without the possi-
bility of parole.” Because we conclude that the district court
properly modified the invalid oral sentence by entering a valid
written order that removed the erroneous language of “without
the possibility of parole,” there is no merit to this assignment
of error.

When imposing the sentence for first degree murder, the
court stated at the sentencing hearing that the sentence was “a
sentence of not less than a period of your natural life without
the possibility of parole.” However, the subsequent written
sentencing order omitted the language regarding the possibility
of parole.

[18] Custer was convicted of first degree murder, a Class [A
felony. Under Neb. Rev. Stat. § 28-105 (Cum. Supp. 2014), a
Class IA felony is punishable by life imprisonment, but the
statute does not authorize a sentence of life imprisonment
without the possibility of parole. Therefore, a sentence of life
imprisonment “without the possibility of parole” is erroneous,
but not void. See State v. Conover, 270 Neb. 446, 703 N.W.2d
898 (2005). Custer urges us to remand the cause for resentenc-
ing. Although the State does not dispute that a sentence of
life imprisonment without the possibility of parole is errone-
ous, it argues that in this case, the written sentencing order,
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which does not contain the “without the possibility of parole”
language, is controlling over the earlier sentence orally pro-
nounced and that there is no need to remand the cause for
resentencing. We agree with the State.

[19,20] We have held that a sentence validly imposed takes
effect from the time it is pronounced. State v. Clark, 278 Neb.
557, 772 N.W.2d 559 (2009). And when a valid sentence has
been put into execution, the trial court cannot modify, amend,
or revise it in any way, either during or after the term or session
of court at which the sentence was imposed. /d. As a result,
we have held that when there is a conflict between the record
of a judgment and the verbatim record of the proceedings in
open court, the verbatim record of the earlier proceedings in
open court prevails. See State v. Salyers, 239 Neb. 1002, 480
N.W.2d 173 (1992). These holdings presume an initial sentence
was validly imposed.

[21] In this case, the sentence pronounced at the sentenc-
ing hearing was erroneous to the extent the court stated that
imprisonment would be without the possibility of parole. See
Conover, supra. We have held that where a portion of a sen-
tence is valid and a portion is invalid or erroneous, the court
has authority to modify or revise the sentence by removing the
invalid or erroneous portion of the sentence if the remaining
portion of the sentence constitutes a complete valid sentence.
State v. McDermott, 200 Neb. 337, 263 N.W.2d 482 (1978).
We therefore determine that the district court had authority to
modify the sentence to remove the erroneous language, and
the relief sought in this assignment of error has been accorded
to Custer.

Sentences Imposed by District Court for Custer’s
Convictions for Use of a Firearm to Commit a
Felony and Being a Felon in Possession of a
Firearm Were Not an Abuse of Discretion.

Custer further claims that the district court imposed exces-
sive sentences on the convictions for use of a firearm to com-
mit a felony and being a felon in possession of a firearm.
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We find no abuse of discretion in the sentences imposed for
these convictions.

In addition to the sentence of life imprisonment it imposed
for first degree murder, the district court sentenced Custer to
imprisonment for 20 to 50 years for use of a firearm to commit
a felony and for 10 to 20 years for being a felon in posses-
sion of a firearm. The court ordered all sentences to be served
consecutively. Life imprisonment was the only sentence avail-
able for the first degree murder conviction; therefore, Custer’s
excessive sentence arguments focus on the sentences for use of
a firearm to commit a felony and being a felon in possession
of a firearm.

Custer’s conviction for being a felon in possession of a fire-
arm, first offense, is a Class ID felony under Neb. Rev. Stat.
§ 28-1206(3)(b) (Cum. Supp. 2014). A Class ID felony is pun-
ishable by imprisonment for a mandatory minimum of 3 years
and a maximum of 50 years under § 28-105. Use of a firearm
to commit a felony is a Class IC felony under Neb. Rev. Stat.
§ 28-1205(1)(c) (Cum. Supp. 2014). A Class IC felony is pun-
ishable by imprisonment for a mandatory minimum of 5 years
and a maximum of 50 years under § 28-105. And the sentence
for use of a firearm to commit a felony must be consecu-
tive to any other sentence imposed under § 28-1205(3). The
sentences imposed by the district court were therefore within
statutory limits.

[22,23] An appellate court will not disturb a sentence
imposed within the statutory limits absent an abuse of discre-
tion by the trial court. State v. Hunnel, 290 Neb. 1039, 863
N.W.2d 442 (2015). When imposing a sentence, a sentencing
judge should consider the defendant’s (1) age, (2) mentality,
(3) education and experience, (4) social and cultural back-
ground, (5) past criminal record or record of law-abiding
conduct, and (6) motivation for the offense, as well as (7) the
nature of the offense, and (8) the violence involved in the com-
mission of the crime. /d. The appropriateness of a sentence is
necessarily a subjective judgment and includes the sentencing
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judge’s observation of the defendant’s demeanor and attitude
and all the facts and circumstances surrounding the defendant’s
life. Id.

Custer notes that although § 28-1205(3) requires that the
sentence for use of a firearm to commit a felony must be
consecutive to any other sentence imposed, there is no similar
requirement with respect to the sentence for being a felon in
possession of a firearm under § 28-1206. He therefore urges
that the sentence for being a felon in possession of a firearm
should have been ordered to be served concurrently to the
sentence for first degree murder. He also contends that a lesser
term of years was appropriate for the sentence for use of a
firearm to commit a felony. He asserts that mitigating factors
include the lack of a significant history of violent crime, the
role his addiction to methamphetamine played in contributing
to this and his prior offenses, his remorse for this offense, and
his subjective belief that he acted in self-defense.

With regard to Custer’s criminal history, although it may not
include numerous violent offenses, it dates back to 1999 and
includes several serious offenses, including burglary, theft, and
assault. Custer also showed a history of substance abuse and a
high risk to reoffend.

The record of the sentencing hearing shows that the court
considered the appropriate factors in determining Custer’s
sentences, and the record does not show that the court consid-
ered improper factors. With regard to Custer’s argument that
he acted in self-defense, the district court noted that “[t]here
were any number of points in the time that this lead [sic] to
the event of the night that . . . McCormick was killed where
any number of people, including yourself could have stopped
it, any of you could have stopped it and you didn’t.” The court
particularly questioned why Custer got out of the truck after he
suspected he may have been set up.

Having reviewed the record, we cannot say that the sen-
tences imposed by the district court were an abuse of discre-
tion. We reject this assignment of error.
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Sentencing Order Is Modified to Reflect
Proper Credit for Time Served.

Finally, the State contends that the court committed plain
error in the manner in which it ordered time served to be
credited. The State asserts that the court ordered the time to
be credited against all three of Custer’s sentences. We agree
that there was plain error in the crediting of time served, and
we therefore modify the sentencing order to reflect the proper
crediting of time served.

At Custer’s sentencing hearing, the district court stated in
connection with both the sentence for use of a firearm to com-
mit a felony and the sentence for being a felon in possession
of a firearm that Custer would be given credit for 503 days he
had previously served. The written order stated in a paragraph
separate from the paragraphs imposing sentences that Custer
“shall receive credit for five hundred three (503) days for time
already served.” The State argues that the sentencing order
indicates that time is to be credited against all the sentences,
including the sentence for first degree murder.

[24,25] When a defendant is sentenced to life imprison-
ment for first degree murder, the defendant is not entitled
to credit for time served in custodial detention pending trial
and sentence; however, when the defendant receives a sen-
tence consecutive to the life sentence that has maximum and
minimum terms, the defendant is entitled to receive credit
for time served against the consecutive sentence. State v. Ely,
287 Neb. 147, 841 N.W.2d 216 (2014). A sentencing judge
must separately determine, state, and grant the amount of
credit on the defendant’s sentence to which the defendant is
entitled. /d.

[26] Although under Neb. Rev. Stat. § 83-1,106 (Reissue
2014), an offender shall be given credit for time served as
a result of the charges that led to the sentences, presentence
credit is applied only once. Therefore, when consecutive sen-
tences are imposed for two or more offenses, periods of
presentence incarceration may be credited only against the
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aggregate of all terms imposed. State v. Williams, 282 Neb.
182, 802 N.W.2d 421 (2011).

In this case, the court’s oral pronouncement of sentence
appeared to apply the full credit to each of the sentences for
use of a fircarm to commit a felony and for being a felon
in possession of a firearm; the written sentencing order was
unclear with regard to how the credit should be applied. We
therefore modify the sentencing order to state that Custer is
entitled to credit for time served in the amount of 503 days for
time already served against the aggregate of the minimum and
the aggregate of the maximum sentences of imprisonment for
use of a firearm to commit a felony and for being a felon in
possession of a firearm. See Williams, supra.

CONCLUSION
Having rejected Custer’s assignments of error, we affirm
Custer’s convictions. We affirm Custer’s sentences as modi-
fied to correct plain error in the application of the credit for
time served. The sentencing order shall be modified to state
that Custer is entitled to credit for time served in the amount
of 503 days for time already served against the aggregate of
the minimum and the aggregate of the maximum sentences of
imprisonment for use of a firearm to commit a felony and for

being a felon in possession of a firearm.

AFFIRMED AS MODIFIED.
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Postconviction: Constitutional Law: Appeal and Error. In appeals
from postconviction proceedings, an appellate court reviews de novo
a determination that the defendant failed to allege sufficient facts to
demonstrate a violation of his or her constitutional rights or that the
record and files affirmatively show that the defendant is entitled to
no relief.

Postconviction: Constitutional Law: Proof. In a motion for postcon-
viction relief, the defendant must allege facts which, if proved, consti-
tute a denial or violation of his or her rights under the U.S. or Nebraska
Constitution, causing the judgment against the defendant to be void
or Voidable.

: . A court must grant an evidentiary hearing to resolve
the ¢ clalms in a postconviction motion when the motion contains factual
allegations which, if proved, constitute an infringement of the defend-
ant’s rights under the Nebraska or federal Constitution.

Postconviction: Proof. If a postconviction motion alleges only conclu-
sions of fact or law, or if the records and files in the case affirmatively
show that the defendant is entitled to no relief, the court is not required
to grant an evidentiary hearing.

Constitutional Law: Effectiveness of Counsel. A proper ineffective
assistance of counsel claim alleges a violation of the fundamental con-
stitutional right to a fair trial.

Effectiveness of Counsel: Proof: Appeal and Error. To prevail
on a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel under Strickland v.
Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 104 S. Ct. 2052, 80 L. Ed. 2d 674 (1984),
the defendant must show that his or her counsel’s performance was
deficient and that this deficient performance actually prejudiced the
defendant’s defense.
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: . To show prejudice under the prejudice component of
the Strzckland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 104 S. Ct. 2052, 80 L. Ed.
2d 674 (1984), test, the defendant must demonstrate a reasonable prob-
ability that but for his or her counsel’s deficient performance, the result
of the proceeding would have been different.

. Proof: Words and Phrases. A reasonable probability does not require

that it be more likely than not that the deficient performance altered the
outcome of the case; rather, the defendant must show a probability suf-
ficient to undermine confidence in the outcome.

. Effectiveness of Counsel. A court may address the two prongs of the

Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 104 S. Ct. 2052, 80 L. Ed. 2d
674 (1984), test, deficient performance and prejudice, in either order.
Postconviction: Effectiveness of Counsel: Appeal and Error. A claim
of ineffective assistance of appellate counsel which could not have been
raised on direct appeal may be raised on postconviction review.
Effectiveness of Counsel: Appeal and Error. When analyzing a claim
of ineffective assistance of appellate counsel, courts usually begin by
determining whether appellate counsel actually prejudiced the defend-
ant. That is, courts begin by assessing the strength of the claim appellate
counsel failed to raise.

_ . Counsel’s failure to raise an issue on appeal could be inef-
fective assistance only if there is a reasonable probability that inclusion
of the issue would have changed the result of the appeal.

: . When a case presents layered ineffectiveness claims, an
appellate court determines the prejudice prong of appellate counsel’s
performance by focusing on whether trial counsel was ineffective under
the Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 104 S. Ct. 2052, 80 L. Ed.
2d 674 (1984), test. If trial counsel was not ineffective, then the defend-
ant suffered no prejudice when appellate counsel failed to bring an inef-
fective assistance of trial counsel claim.

Trial: Prosecuting Attorneys. Prosecutors are charged with the duty to
conduct criminal trials in a manner that provides the accused with a fair
and impartial trial.

Trial: Prosecuting Attorneys: Words and Phrases. Generally, pros-
ecutorial misconduct encompasses conduct that violates legal or ethical
standards for various contexts because the conduct will or may under-
mine a defendant’s right to a fair trial.

Trial: Prosecuting Attorneys. Generally, in assessing allegations of
prosecutorial misconduct in closing arguments, a court first determines
whether the prosecutor’s remarks were improper. It is then necessary to
determine the extent to which the improper remarks had a prejudicial
effect on the defendant’s right to a fair trial.
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. When a prosecutor’s comments rest on reasonably drawn
inferences from the evidence, he or she is permitted to present a spir-
ited summation that a defense theory is illogical or unsupported by the
evidence and to highlight the relative believability of witnesses for the
State and the defense. These types of comments are a major purpose of
summation, and they are distinguishable from attacking a defense coun-
sel’s personal character or stating a personal opinion about the character
of a defendant or witness.

Trial: Prosecuting Attorneys: Juries. A distinction exists between
arguing that a defense strategy is intended to distract jurors from what
the evidence shows, which is not misconduct, and arguing that a defense
counsel is deceitful, which is misconduct.

Trial: Photographs. If the State demonstrates that a police photograph
in question is not unduly prejudicial and that it has substantial evidential
value independent of other evidence, it is admissible.

: Caution must be exercised when introducing police file

photographs so that the defendant is not prejudiced by evidence of a
prior contact with the police. In order to avoid such a prejudicial effect
where the fact of a prior criminal record is not properly before the jury,
the prosecution should avoid (1) use of such pictures in a form in which
they may be identified as police pictures and (2) references in testimony
to the files from which they were obtained.
Trial: Verdicts: Appeal and Error. Harmless error review looks
to the basis on which the trier of fact actually rested its verdict; the
inquiry is not whether in a trial that occurred without the error a guilty
verdict would surely have been rendered, but whether the actual guilty
verdict rendered in the questioned trial was surely unattributable to
the error.

Appeal from the District Court for Douglas County: MARLON

A. PoLk, Judge. Affirmed in part, and in part reversed and
remanded for further proceedings.

Michael J. Wilson, of Schaefer Shapiro, L.L.P., for appellant.

Douglas J. Peterson, Attorney General, and Nathan A. Liss

for appellee.

Joshua Nolan, pro se.

HEeavican, C.J., WRIGHT, CONNOLLY, MCCORMACK, MILLER-

LErRMAN, CASSEL, and STACY, JJ.



- 121 -

292 NEBRASKA REPORTS
STATE v. NOLAN
Cite as 292 Neb. 118

MILLER-LERMAN, J.
I. NATURE OF CASE

Joshua W. Nolan, the appellant, was convicted of first
degree murder and use of a deadly weapon to commit a
felony in connection with the killing of Justin Gaines. He was
sentenced to a term of life imprisonment for the first degree
murder conviction and a term of 10 years’ imprisonment for
the use of a deadly weapon to commit a felony conviction,
to be served consecutively. On direct appeal, we affirmed
Nolan’s convictions and sentences. See State v. Nolan, 283
Neb. 50, 807 N.W.2d 520 (2012). On March 31, 2014, Nolan
filed a pro se motion for postconviction relief. On January
21, 2015, the district court for Douglas County filed an order
in which it denied the motion without holding an evidentiary
hearing. Nolan appeals. We determine that the district court
erred when it denied Nolan an evidentiary hearing on three
of his claims, identified as A, B, and C, set forth in detail
below, and we reverse the decision of the district court on
these claims and remand the cause for an evidentiary hearing
on these claims. In all other respects, we affirm the decision
of the district court.

II. STATEMENT OF FACTS
The events underlying Nolan’s convictions and sentences
involve the shooting killing of Gaines. Nolan was 19 years old
at the time of the shooting. In our opinion regarding Nolan’s
direct appeal, we set forth the facts as follows:
The events leading up to Gaines’ death began on the
morning of September 19, 2009, the day of the shoot-
ing. Joshua Kercheval testified that at around 11:30 a.m.
that day, [Trevelle J.] Taylor and Nolan had shown up
at his house and that Kercheval drove Taylor and Nolan
around Omaha. Kercheval explained that Taylor asked
him to drive, although Kercheval was not told where
to go. Kercheval ended up driving them around town
for roughly 30 minutes before deciding to drive to a
gas station near 72d Street and Ames Avenue. Video
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surveillance from the gas station places the three of them
at the gas station from 1:21 to 1:30 p.m. Kercheval testi-
fied that when they left the gas station, he began driving
back toward his house. But as they approached the inter-
section of 45th and Vernon Streets, Taylor told Kercheval
to stop the car and Nolan and Taylor both got out. At
that point, Kercheval parked the car and was sitting in
the car texting on his telephone when he heard a number
of gunshots.

Meanwhile, at around 1 p.m., Gaines had driven past
a home near 45th Street and Curtis Avenue and had seen
Catrice Bryson, a close family friend, in the driveway.
Bryson was at the house visiting a friend and her baby,
but had stepped outside to smoke a cigarette. Gaines
pulled into the driveway, parked right behind Bryson’s
car, and greeted Bryson with a hug. Bryson and Gaines
began talking; Gaines sat back in his car, on the driver’s
side, one foot in, one foot out, with the car door open.
Bryson, standing with the open car door between her and
Gaines, continued talking with Gaines for roughly 10 to
15 minutes. Toward the end of their conversation, Bryson
went to get a pen from her car to give Gaines her tele-
phone number.

When Bryson turned back around, she saw two indi-
viduals with guns behind Gaines’ car and she heard shoot-
ing. The two shooters were on each side of Gaines’ car,
angled toward each other. Bryson described the shooter
on the passenger’s side of Gaines’ car as a black male in
his early twenties with a beard and goatee and shoulder-
length hair in braids, wearing a “do-rag.” Bryson identi-
fied the shooter on the passenger’s side of Gaines’ car
as Nolan.

Gaines, while still sitting in the driver’s-side seat of
his car, was shot in the back. Once Gaines had been hit,
the shooters made their escape, each fleeing in opposite
directions on Curtis Avenue. At that point, Bryson began
screaming for help. Several people responded, and the
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police arrived quickly thereafter. Gaines was transported
to a nearby hospital, but never regained consciousness
and was pronounced dead.

Several eyewitnesses to the aftermath of the shooting
testified at trial. Heather Riesselman, at the time of the
shooting, lived close to the house where the shooting
took place. On the day of the shooting, at approximately
1:40 p.m., Riesselman was outside on her porch with her
daughter. At that time, Riesselman saw a young black
man “jogging down the street.” Riesselman described
him as being roughly 5 feet 10 inches tall, medium build,
medium complexion, with his hair in braids and with a
long, thin goatee. Riesselman identified the man, in court,
as Nolan.

Carrie Schlabs was Riesselman’s next-door neighbor.
At approximately 1:30 p.m. on the day of the shooting,
Schlabs was at home with her husband and two friends
when they heard gunshots and dove to the floor. Once
the gunfire ceased, Schlabs heard screaming, so she got
to her feet and ran out to her front porch. Once outside,
Schlabs started running toward the screams on Curtis
Avenue, to the south, and she saw a young man running
to the north. Schlabs saw the young man holding his left
side, which made her think that he had been shot. Schlabs
ran up to him, getting to within a foot of him, and asked
if he needed help. In response, the individual just smiled
at Schlabs. At that point, Schlabs continued on toward the
screams. While Schlabs could not remember any specific
details of the young man’s physical appearance or cloth-
ing, she remembered his face. Schlabs identified the man,
in court, as Nolan.

Kercheval testified that after he had heard the gun-
shots, he had started the car, getting ready to drive
off. But then Kercheval saw Nolan approaching the car
and waited until Nolan jumped into the back passenger
seat. Once Nolan was in the car, he told Kercheval to
“Drive. Go.” Kercheval said that he began driving toward
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his house, but, at Nolan’s direction, Kercheval dropped
Nolan off near a school. Whether it was Nolan or Taylor
who was dropped off near the school was in dispute.
Kercheval’s next thought was to “go dump the car.” But
before he was able to do so, he was arrested. Taylor was
also arrested that day. Nolan, however, was not taken into
custody that day.

Eight days after the shooting, Nolan, driving in his
car, was pulled over for making an improper turn. The
officers received identification for both the driver and
the passenger. The officers knew that Nolan was associ-
ated with a local gang. Upon approaching the driver’s-
side door of the car, the arresting officer noticed bullet
holes in the car. After running data checks on both the
driver and the passenger, the officer saw that the Omaha
police homicide unit had put out a “locate” for Nolan. A
“locate” means that an officer wishes to speak with the
individual, but it does not give the officers authority to
arrest the individual.

At that point, the officer asked Nolan to get out of his
car and stand near the back fender area. Instead, Nolan
went past that area and sat on the curb. The officer
observed that Nolan moved “[v]ery quickly” and was
grabbing his waistband. The officer also observed that
Nolan’s pants were falling down and that it appeared as
if there was something heavy in his pants. Finally, when
asked if he had any weapons or other dangerous objects
on his person, Nolan did not respond. The officer con-
ducted a pat-down of Nolan, looking for weapons. The
pat-down revealed a .44-caliber gun, found in Nolan’s
waistband. A subsequent search of Nolan’s person uncov-
ered live ammunition, and Nolan was placed under arrest
at that time. The gun and ammunition were admitted into
evidence at trial over objection.

Nolan was charged with one count of murder in the
first degree and one count of use of a deadly weapon to
commit a felony. Nolan filed several pretrial motions.
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The motions relevant to this [direct] appeal are (1) a
motion to suppress the gun and ammunition recovered
from Nolan during the traffic stop, (2) a motion to
suppress identifications of Nolan by Riesselman and
Schlabs, and (3) a motion for the judge to recuse himself
from the case. Each of these motions was denied. The
case proceeded to a jury trial, and Nolan was convicted
of both crimes. Nolan was then sentenced to a term of
life imprisonment for the first degree murder conviction,
and a consecutive term of 10 years’ imprisonment for the
use of a weapon conviction. Nolan appeals.

State v. Nolan, 283 Neb. 50, 53-56, 807 N.W.2d 520, 529-

30 (2012).

Approximately 2 months after Gaines was killed, a gun was
found that was that was later matched to some of the bullet
casings that were found at the scene of the shooting. We wrote
about the finding of this gun in State v. Taylor, 287 Neb. 386,
842 N.W.2d 771 (2014). Trevelle J. Taylor was also convicted
of first degree murder and use of a deadly weapon to commit
a felony in connection with Gaines’ death. With respect to the
gun that was found, we stated in Taylor:

The State also adduced evidence that more than 2
months after the shooting, [Joseph] Copeland’s son found
a gun hidden in the bushes or trees of a nearby school.
The weapon was a semiautomatic 9-mm pistol. Three
bullet casings recovered from the scene of the shooting
were matched to the pistol.
287 Neb. at 390, 842 N.W.2d at 776.

The foregoing facts are also supported by the trial record in
this case. Joseph Copeland testified that he called the police
on November 27, 2009, because his son had found a gun at
a school near his residence. Copeland testified regarding his
son’s informing him of finding a gun and the location thereof:
“My son and his friend had been down at the school flying
an airplane, and at some point they lost the airplane in the
bushes, and they had went looking for it, and they had came
across a pistol,” and “he had brought it to the house and gave
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it to me, and then we called the police and had them come
pick it up.” When asked if the son physically took Copeland
to the area where the son had found the pistol, Copeland testi-
fied: “He did.”
At the current trial, the State’s firearms expert, Daniel
Bredow, testified that a spent bullet retrieved from Gaines’
body was a .44-caliber bullet, but it could not conclusively be
linked to the gun found on Nolan. Bullets at the scene were
fired from a .44-caliber weapon.
In our opinion in Nolan’s direct appeal at which he was
represented by counsel different from trial counsel, we restated
and consolidated Nolan’s assignments of error as follows:
[T]he district court erred in (1) denying [Nolan’s] motion
to suppress the gun and ammunition resulting from the
traffic stop, (2) denying his motion to suppress the iden-
tifications of Nolan made by [Heather] Riesselman and
[Carrie] Schlabs, (3) admitting the .44-caliber gun into
evidence in violation of Neb. Evid. R. 403 and 404, Neb.
Rev. Stat. §§ 27-403 (Reissue 2008) and 27-404 (Cum.
Supp. 2010), (4) allowing a cellular telephone company
employee to testify regarding telephone records, (5) deny-
ing his motion to recuse the trial judge, (6) giving a “step”
jury instruction, and (7) concluding that the evidence was
sufficient to sustain his convictions. Nolan, as his eighth
assignment of error, also claims that he received ineffec-
tive assistance of counsel at trial.

State v. Nolan, 283 Neb. at 56, 807 N.W.2d at 530-31. We

found no merit to any of Nolan’s assignments of error on

direct appeal.

With respect to the eighth assignment of error claiming inef-
fectiveness of trial counsel, we stated:

Nolan claims, consolidated and restated, that his trial
counsel, who was different from appellate counsel, pro-
vided ineffective assistance in three respects, by fail-
ing to (1) file a motion to suppress evidence retrieved
from the investigatory stop of Nolan’s car, (2) object
to prejudicial statements obtained through custodial
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interrogation in violation of Miranda, and (3) consult and
call a fingerprint expert or identification expert to rebut
the State’s testimony.
State v. Nolan, 283 Neb. 50, 74, 807 N.W.2d 520, 542 (2012).
With respect to Nolan’s first and second claims of inef-
fective assistance of counsel, we determined that the record
was sufficient to review the claims and that trial counsel’s
performance was not deficient. With respect to Nolan’s third
claim of ineffective assistance of counsel, we determined
that the record was not sufficient to review this claim on
direct appeal and declined to consider the claim at that time.
We stated:
Nolan claims that trial counsel should have called expert
witnesses in order to rebut aspects of the State’s case. In
particular, Nolan claims that trial counsel should have
consulted with experts on fingerprint evidence and the
reliability of eyewitness identification. But, while we
know such rebuttal evidence was not presented at trial,
the record does not establish whether trial counsel con-
sidered or explored such strategies, what may or may not
have led trial counsel not to pursue the strategies, or what
such experts would have said had they been retained and
called to testify. In other words, from our review of the
record, we cannot make any meaningful determination
whether expert testimony beneficial to Nolan could have
been produced or, if it could have, whether trial counsel
made a reasonable strategic decision not to present cer-
tain evidence. The record is, therefore, not sufficient to
adequately review these claims on direct appeal, and we
decline to consider them at this time.
State v. Nolan, 283 Neb. at 76-77, 807 N.W.2d at 543. In the
present postconviction action, Nolan repeated his allegations
regarding trial counsel’s assistance with respect to experts on
eyewitness identification and fingerprints, as claims A and B
respectively, but the district court did not hold an evidentiary
hearing on these claims. Having found no merit to Nolan’s
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assignments of error on direct appeal, we affirmed his convic-
tions and sentences.

On March 31, 2014, Nolan filed a pro se motion for post-
conviction relief. In his motion, Nolan alleged 14 claims of
ineffective assistance of trial and/or appellate counsel, which
he labeled “A” through “N.” Nolan alleged that his trial and/or
appellate counsel was ineffective for failing to

A. consult with and call an identification expert to rebut the
State’s case;

B. consult with and call a fingerprint expert to rebut the
State’s case;

C. call Gwendolyn Anderson to testify on behalf of Nolan;

D. object to prosecutor’s remarks during closing arguments
about the testimony of Joshua Kercheval;

E. consult with and call a firearms expert to rebut the
State’s case;

F. move for a rehearing of our opinion on direct appeal
regarding the identifications of Nolan made by Carrie Schlabs
and Heather Riesselman;

G. object to exhibits 169 and 170 presented by the State;

H. assign and argue on direct appeal that the handgun found
in Nolan’s possession 8 days after the murder was inadmissible
under Neb. Rev. Stat. § 27-403 (Reissue 2008);

I. move for a rehearing of our opinion on direct appeal
regarding the admissibility of the gun and ammunition found
during the traffic stop and subsequent pat-down of Nolan 8
days after the murder;

J. object to the prosecutor’s remarks during closing argu-
ments regarding “defense counsel’s job”;

K. object on grounds of prosecutorial misconduct to the
State’s use of tainted identifications and testimony of Schlabs
and Riesselman,;

L. and M. object to Nolan’s sentence of life without parole,
which is unlawful under Miller v. Alabama, 567 U.S. 460, 132
S. Ct. 2455, 183 L. Ed. 2d 407 (2012); and

N. object to the State’s presenting inadmissible hearsay evi-
dence from Copeland as to where the 9-mm gun was found.
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On January 21, 2015, the district court denied Nolan’s
motion for postconviction relief without holding an eviden-
tiary hearing. With respect to Nolan’s claims A through K
and N, the district court determined that his motion should be
denied because

the allegations were raised and addressed in his direct
appeal. In addition, these arguments relate to tactical or
strategic decisions made by trial counsel which . . . Nolan
is bound by and he is [sic] not made a requisite showing
of how he may have been prejudiced by the decisions of
trial counsel.

With respect to Nolan’s claims L and M, the district court
denied relief because Nolan was 19 years old at the time of the
offense, and therefore was not entitled to relief under Miller v.
Alabama, supra. Accordingly, the district court denied Nolan’s
motion for postconviction relief without holding an eviden-
tiary hearing.

Nolan appeals.

III. ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR
Nolan assigns that the district court erred when it denied his
motion for postconviction relief without holding an eviden-
tiary hearing.

IV. STANDARD OF REVIEW
[1] In appeals from postconviction proceedings, an appel-
late court reviews de novo a determination that the defendant
failed to allege sufficient facts to demonstrate a violation of his
or her constitutional rights or that the record and files affirma-
tively show that the defendant is entitled to no relief. State v.
Huston, 291 Neb. 708, 868 N.W.2d 766 (2015).

V. ANALYSIS

1. RELEVANT POSTCONVICTION Law
We begin by reviewing general propositions relating to
postconviction relief and ineffective assistance of counsel
claims before applying those propositions to the claims alleged
and argued by Nolan in this appeal.
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[2] The Nebraska Postconviction Act, Neb. Rev. Stat.
§ 29-3001 et seq. (Reissue 2008 & Cum. Supp. 2014), pro-
vides that postconviction relief is available to a prisoner in
custody under sentence who seeks to be released on the ground
that there was a denial or infringement of his constitutional
rights such that the judgment was void or voidable. State v.
Crawford, 291 Neb. 362, 865 N.W.2d 360 (2015). Thus, in
a motion for postconviction relief, the defendant must allege
facts which, if proved, constitute a denial or violation of his or
her rights under the U.S. or Nebraska Constitution, causing the
judgment against the defendant to be void or voidable. State v.
Crawford, supra.

[3,4] A court must grant an evidentiary hearing to resolve the
claims in a postconviction motion when the motion contains
factual allegations which, if proved, constitute an infringe-
ment of the defendant’s rights under the Nebraska or federal
Constitution. State v. Huston, supra. If a postconviction motion
alleges only conclusions of fact or law, or if the records and
files in the case affirmatively show that the defendant is
entitled to no relief, the court is not required to grant an evi-
dentiary hearing. /d.

[5-9] A proper ineffective assistance of counsel claim
alleges a violation of the fundamental constitutional right
to a fair trial. State v. Crawford, supra. To prevail on a
claim of ineffective assistance of counsel under Strickland
v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 104 S. Ct. 2052, 80 L. Ed. 2d
674 (1984), the defendant must show that his or her counsel’s
performance was deficient and that this deficient performance
actually prejudiced the defendant’s defense. State v. Crawford,
supra. To show prejudice under the prejudice component of
the Strickland test, the defendant must demonstrate a reason-
able probability that but for his or her counsel’s deficient
performance, the result of the proceeding would have been
different. State v. Huston, supra. A reasonable probability
does not require that it be more likely than not that the defi-
cient performance altered the outcome of the case; rather, the
defendant must show a probability sufficient to undermine
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confidence in the outcome. /d. A court may address the two
prongs of this test, deficient performance and prejudice, in
either order. /d.

[10-13] A claim of ineffective assistance of appellate coun-
sel which could not have been raised on direct appeal may
be raised on postconviction review. State v. Huston, 291 Neb.
708, 868 N.W.2d 766 (2015). When analyzing a claim of inef-
fective assistance of appellate counsel, courts usually begin by
determining whether appellate counsel actually prejudiced the
defendant. /d. That is, courts begin by assessing the strength of
the claim appellate counsel failed to raise. /d. Counsel’s fail-
ure to raise an issue on appeal could be ineffective assistance
only if there is a reasonable probability that inclusion of the
issue would have changed the result of the appeal. /d. When a
case presents layered ineffectiveness claims, we determine the
prejudice prong of appellate counsel’s performance by focusing
on whether trial counsel was ineffective under the Strickland
test. Id. If trial counsel was not ineffective, then the defendant
suffered no prejudice when appellate counsel failed to bring an
ineffective assistance of trial counsel claim. /d.

2. NOLAN’S CLAIMS FOR POSTCONVICTION RELIEF:
CraiMs A, B, AND C WARRANT
AN EVIDENTIARY HEARING

In his motion for postconviction relief, Nolan alleged 14
claims of ineffective assistance of trial and/or appellate coun-
sel, which he listed as claims A through N. The State concedes
that reversal is warranted with respect to claims A, B, and
C, and on appeal, the parties focus on claims J, G, E, and N.
Accordingly, we consider Nolan’s claims in this order.

As an initial matter, we note that the State indicates in its
appellate brief that the district court erred when it denied
Nolan’s motion for postconviction relief without a hearing on
claims A, B, and C. The State therefore concedes that reversal
and remand for an evidentiary hearing should be ordered lim-
ited to claims A, B, and C. We agree with the State.
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In claim A, Nolan alleges that his trial counsel was ineffec-
tive for failing to consult with and call an identification expert
to rebut the State’s case regarding the eyewitness identifica-
tions of Nolan as a shooter. In claim B, Nolan alleges that his
trial counsel was ineffective for failing to consult with and
call a fingerprint expert to rebut the State’s case regarding
the presence of Nolan’s fingerprints found in the vehicle in
which Nolan, Taylor, and Kercheval were riding just before
the shooting occurred. In claim C, Nolan alleges that his trial
counsel was ineffective for failing to call Anderson to testify
on Nolan’s behalf and that appellate counsel was ineffective
for failing to raise the issue of trial counsel’s ineffectiveness
on direct appeal. Anderson’s testimony would allegedly be
at odds with the State’s witnesses regarding, inter alia, what
color clothing the shooter was wearing.

In our opinion in Nolan’s direct appeal, we stated that the
record was insufficient to evaluate the substance of Nolan’s
complaints, now identified on postconviction as claims A and
B. See State v. Nolan, 283 Neb. 50, 807 N.W.2d 520 (2012).
The record is still insufficient, and an evidentiary hearing is
warranted. See State v. Seberger, 284 Neb. 40, 815 N.W.2d
910 (2012) (stating that district court erred when it failed to
grant evidentiary hearing on counsel’s ineffectiveness because,
after declining to address claim on appeal due to insufficient
record, we determined record was still insufficient to analyze
claim on defendant’s motion for postconviction relief). We
also agree with the State that claim C warrants an evidentiary
hearing. Based on the allegations in Nolan’s motion for post-
conviction relief, the record in this case, and the applicable
law, an evidentiary hearing is warranted on Nolan’s claims
A, B, and C. Thus, we determine that the district court erred
with respect to claims A, B, and C, and we reverse the district
court’s ruling denying these claims without an evidentiary
hearing and remand the cause for an evidentiary hearing on
claims A, B, and C.
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3. NoLAN’S CLAIMS FOR POSTCONVICTION RELIEF:
Crams J, G, E, AND N

(a) Claim J: Prosecutor’s Remarks During Closing
Regarding Defense Counsel Summation

In claim J, Nolan alleges that his trial counsel was ineffec-
tive for failing to object to the prosecutors’ remarks regard-
ing “defense counsel’s job” made during closing arguments,
because the comments amounted to prosecutorial misconduct,
and that appellate counsel was deficient for not raising this
issue on appeal. We determine that the comments were not
improper and that the district court correctly rejected this claim
without an evidentiary hearing.

During the State’s initial closing argument, the prosecu-
tor stated:

So what do you have? What are the odds? Is this all
just mere coincidence? I mean, is the defense going to get
up here and do the smoke screens and mirrors. I assume
he will. That’s his job. That’s what he’s supposed to do.
He will get up here and try to pick apart every incon-
sistency with every witness, and I concede to you that
there are inconsistencies. There are going to be incon-
sistencies. It’s human error.

During the State’s rebuttal closing argument, a second pros-
ecutor stated:

Now, as [the other prosecutor] told you before she sat
down, it’s [defense counsel’s] job to get up here and go
through mirrors and smoke screens. And so what I'm
going to do is go through everything he had to say to
you and let you know how that’s not what you heard.
And I will tell you that our arguments are not evidence.
Okay. You twelve collectively will make that decision.
You twelve will talk about what you all remember hear-
ing. You will have every single one of those exhibits
with you. You will have the jury instructions with you.
Closing arguments are designed to just let you know how
we believe all the evidence fits together and whether
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you collectively think it fits together in that same way.
It’s not evidence. So some of the things — and I’ll point
them out — that [defense counsel] said you will have to
recall was not the evidence.

[14,15] We have stated that prosecutors are charged with
the duty to conduct criminal trials in a manner that provides
the accused with a fair and impartial trial. State v. Dubray,
289 Neb. 208, 854 N.W.2d 584 (2014). Because prosecutors
are held to a high standard for a wide range of duties, the
term “prosecutorial misconduct” cannot be neatly defined. /d.
Generally, prosecutorial misconduct encompasses conduct that
violates legal or ethical standards for various contexts because
the conduct will or may undermine a defendant’s right to a fair
trial. Id.

[16] Generally, in assessing allegations of prosecutorial mis-
conduct in closing arguments, a court first determines whether
the prosecutor’s remarks were improper. State v. Gresham, 276
Neb. 187, 752 N.W.2d 571 (2008); State v. Barfield, 272 Neb.
502, 723 N.W.2d 303 (20006), disapproved on other grounds,
State v. McCulloch, 274 Neb. 636, 742 N.W.2d 727 (2007).
It is then necessary to determine the extent to which the
improper remarks had a prejudicial effect on the defendant’s
right to a fair trial. /d.

In State v. Barfield, supra, during closing arguments, the
prosecutor strongly insinuated that all defense lawyers are
liars. We stated, inter alia, that the evidence in the case was
not overwhelming and that the credibility of the witnesses was
a key factor and that accordingly, “the implication that defense
counsel was a liar, and by extension was willing to suborn per-
jury, was highly prejudicial when viewed in that context.” /d.
at 516, 723 N.W.2d at 315. We concluded that the prosecutor’s
remarks were misconduct and required a new trial.

[17,18] However, in Dubray, we stated:

[W]hen a prosecutor’s comments rest on reasonably
drawn inferences from the evidence, he or she is per-
mitted to present a spirited summation that a defense
theory is illogical or unsupported by the evidence and to
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highlight the relative believability of witnesses for the
State and the defense. These types of comments are a
major purpose of summation, and they are distinguish-
able from attacking a defense counsel’s personal charac-
ter or stating a personal opinion about the character of a
defendant or witness.

So a distinction exists between arguing that a defense
strategy is intended to distract jurors from what the evi-
dence shows, which is not misconduct, and arguing that a
defense counsel is deceitful, which is misconduct.

289 Neb. at 227, 854 N.W.2d at 604-05.

In this case, the prosecutors made statements during closing
arguments that the defense counsel was going to use “smoke
screens and mirrors” to point out inconsistencies in the evi-
dence. These statements, when read in context, constituted
an argument by the State that defense counsel was intending
to divert the jurors’ attention from what the State believed
the evidence showed and to point out inconsistencies in the
evidence. The prosecutors’ statements, when read in context,
did not assert that defense counsel personally or defense law-
yers generally are deceitful, nor did the prosecutors state that
it is the job of defense counsel generally to mislead the jury.
Accordingly, we determine that the prosecutors’ remarks made
during closing arguments were not improper and therefore
were not prosecutorial misconduct.

Following our examination of the record, we determine that
given the absence of prosecutorial misconduct, trial counsel
was not deficient, and that therefore, appellate counsel was
not deficient for not claiming error on appeal. The district
court did not err when it denied relief on this claim without
an evidentiary hearing. We affirm this portion of the district
court’s order.

(b) Claim G: Exhibits 169 and 170
In claim G, Nolan alleges that his trial counsel was inef-
fective for failing to object to exhibits 169 and 170 and
that appellate counsel was ineffective for not raising this
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claim of ineffectiveness on appeal. We determine that the
district court correctly rejected this claim without an eviden-
tiary hearing.

Exhibits 169 and 170, which are black-and-white photo-
graphs of Nolan, were offered by the State. In exhibit 169,
Nolan was facing toward the camera, and in exhibit 170, Nolan
was facing away from the camera. Nolan asserts that exhibits
169 and 170 are mugshot photographs taken in connection with
a prior arrest and that the admission of the photographs was
improper and prejudicial because they implied to the jury that
Nolan had prior contact with the police or had been arrested
and/or convicted of prior crimes.

[19,20] We have previously stated that a police photo-
graph is admissible to show the reasonableness of a witness’
identification that the defendant and the person depicted are
the same, but such a photograph is not admissible simply to
prejudice the jurors by suggesting to them that the defendant
has a prior criminal record. See State v. Birge, 215 Neb. 761,
340 N.W.2d 434 (1983). If the State demonstrates that the
police photograph in question is not unduly prejudicial and
that it has substantial evidential value independent of other
evidence, it is admissible. See id. However, caution must be
exercised when introducing police file photographs so that the
defendant is not prejudiced by evidence of a prior contact with
the police. /d. In order to avoid such a prejudicial effect where
the fact of a prior criminal record is not properly before the
jury, the prosecution should avoid (1) use of such pictures in
a form in which they may be identified as police pictures and
(2) references in testimony to the files from which they were
obtained. See id.

Exhibits 169 and 170 were not prejudicial. There was no
indication at trial that they are mugshots or police pictures.
The attire does not signal the clothing of an incarcerated per-
son. The photographs do not look like traditional mugshot
photographs; in the photographs, Nolan is standing in front of
a wall with wood paneling and there are no writings, numbers,
or other insignia in the photographs that would indicate that
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Nolan is under arrest. Furthermore, there was no testimony at
trial that exhibits 169 and 170 were taken in connection with
a prior arrest. Even if the jury had speculated that the photo-
graphs were mugshots, as urged by Nolan, there would be no
basis for the jury to conclude that the photographs were taken
in connection with a prior arrest instead of the current arrest
for the crimes at issue in this case, and the photographs had
independent value regarding, inter alia, eyewitness descrip-
tions of the shooter.

Nolan’s trial counsel was not deficient for not object-
ing to the photographs, and therefore, appellate counsel was
not deficient for not claiming error on appeal. The district
court did not err when it denied relief on this claim without
an evidentiary hearing. We affirm this portion of the district
court’s order.

(c) Claim E: Firearms Expert

In claim E, Nolan alleges that his trial counsel was inef-
fective for failing to consult with and call a firearms expert
for the purposes of rebutting the State’s evidence to the effect
that some of the bullets recovered from the scene of the shoot-
ing were consistent with having been fired from a .44-caliber
gun, such as the .44-caliber gun found in Nolan’s possession.
Nolan further alleges that appellate counsel was deficient
for not raising this issue on appeal. Nolan asserts that if his
trial counsel had obtained a firearms expert, the expert could
have rebutted the State’s evidence and perhaps distinguished
the gun found in Nolan’s possession from a gun capable of
firing the bullets found at the scene of the shooting. The
district court correctly rejected this claim without an eviden-
tiary hearing.

The premise of Nolan’s argument and Nolan’s speculation
regarding the usefulness of a firearms expert’s testimony are
belied by the record. The record shows that Bredow, the State’s
expert, testified that some of the bullets found at the scene
were consistent with having been fired from a .44-caliber
gun, such as the .44-caliber gun found in Nolan’s possession.
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However, Bredow testified that there was not enough evidence
to determine that any of the bullets found at the scene were in
fact fired from the particular gun found on Nolan. According
to Bredow’s testimony, the evidence regarding the .44-caliber
gun found in Nolan’s possession was inconclusive and did not
directly tie Nolan to Gaines’ murder.

Because the evidence regarding the .44-caliber gun found in
Nolan’s possession was inconclusive and did not tie Nolan to
Gaines’ murder, the scope and potential for rebutting Bredow’s
testimony was limited. There is not a reasonable probability
that Nolan would have been acquitted if a firearms expert had
been obtained by Nolan. Therefore, Nolan was not prejudiced
by trial counsel’s decision to not obtain a firearms expert. The
records and files in this case affirmatively show that Nolan
was entitled to no relief on this claim. Trial counsel’s conduct
was not deficient, and appellate counsel was not deficient for
not claiming error on appeal. We affirm this portion of the
district court’s order.

(d) Claim N: Copeland’s Testimony

In claim N, Nolan alleges that his trial counsel was ineffec-
tive for failing to make a hearsay objection to Copeland’s tes-
timony regarding the location where his son found the 9-mm
gun which was later connected to the shooting of Gaines and
that appellate counsel was deficient for not raising this issue
on appeal. Even though Copeland’s testimony was inadmis-
sible hearsay, we determine the district court correctly rejected
this claim without an evidentiary hearing, because admission
of the testimony was harmless.

At trial, Copeland testified about how his son notified
Copeland of the location of the 9-mm pistol which was found
by his son months after the shooting. Copeland testified
in part:

[Prosecution:] After September 19th of 2009, did you
then have the occasion to call officers out to your resi-
dence on November 27th of 2009?

[Copeland:] We did.
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Q. And was that at approximately 12:30 in the
afternoon?

A. Yes.

Q. And do you recall on that day whether there was
any snow on the ground or anything like that?

A. There was none, no.

Q. And what — why did you call the police to your
residence?

A. My son and his friend had been down at the school
flying an airplane, and at some point they lost the air-
plane in the bushes, and they had went looking for it, and
they had came across a pistol, and —

A. — he had brought it to the house and gave it to me,
and then we called the police and had them come pick
it up.

Q. And did your son physically take you to the area
where he found the pistol?

A. He did.

Q. And can you, using Exhibit 119, show the jury
where your son took you?

A. This corner house right here (indicating), on the
backside of the house, there’s some bushes and stuff that
set right along the edge of the street, and it was approxi-
mately two to three feet off the street in some bushes.
About right here (indicating).

Nolan alleges that Copeland’s testimony regarding where
his son found the gun was inadmissible hearsay. The State con-
cedes that the testimony is inadmissible hearsay but contends
its admission was harmless.

Hearsay is a statement, other than one made by the declar-
ant while testifying at the trial or hearing, offered in evidence
to prove the truth of the matter asserted. Neb. Evid. R. 801(3),
Neb. Rev. Stat. § 27-801(3) (Reissue 2008). A “statement” for
hearsay purposes includes “nonverbal conduct of a person,
if it is intended by him as an assertion.” § 27-801(1). Under
Neb. Evid. R. 802, Neb. Rev. Stat. § 27-802 (Reissue 2008),
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hearsay is not admissible unless a specific exception to the
hearsay rule applies. The State does not argue that Copeland’s
statement fell within any of these exceptions.

Copeland’s statement concerning the location where the
9-mm gun had been found as conveyed by the out-of-court
statement of his son should have been objected to and should
not have been admitted. Copeland did not personally find
the gun. Copeland knew the precise location at which the
gun was found only because of his son’s conduct, which
was an assertion by the son as to where the gun was found.
See, similarly, State v. Taylor, 287 Neb. 386, 842 N.W.2d
771 (2014) (determining that Copeland’s similar testimony
regarding location where his son found 9-mm pistol was
inadmissible hearsay).

[21] However, the State maintains that the admission of
Copeland’s testimony regarding how he learned of the gun
and where the gun was found was harmless error. Harmless
error review looks to the basis on which the trier of fact actu-
ally rested its verdict; the inquiry is not whether in a trial that
occurred without the error a guilty verdict would surely have
been rendered, but whether the actual guilty verdict rendered in
the questioned trial was surely unattributable to the error. See
State v. Johnson, 290 Neb. 862, 862 N.W.2d 757 (2015).

We determine that the admission of Copeland’s testimony
concerning the location where the 9-mm gun was found was
harmless error. The 9-mm gun was not found in Nolan’s pos-
session, and there was no direct evidence that he had been in
possession of this gun. Nolan’s guilt was established in this
case by other relevant evidence, including eyewitness testi-
mony, Kercheval’s testimony, video footage from the gas sta-
tion, and Nolan’s fingerprints in the vehicle that Nolan, Taylor,
and Kercheval had been in just before the murder, and the
guilty verdict against Nolan was surely unattributable to the
error in admitting Copeland’s hearsay testimony.

The records and files in this case refute Nolan’s allega-
tion that his trial counsel was ineffective for failing to object
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to Copeland’s testimony. Furthermore, the allegations sur-
rounding this case do not demonstrate a violation of Nolan’s
constitutional rights. The record shows that Nolan was not
prejudiced by trial counsel’s conduct, and appellate counsel
was not deficient for not claiming error on appeal. Therefore,
the district court did not err when it denied relief without an
evidentiary hearing on this claim. We affirm this portion of the
district court’s order.

4. Camms D, F, H, [, K, L, AND M

(a) Claim D: Prosecutor’s Remarks During Closing
Regarding Kercheval’s Testimony

In claim D, Nolan alleges that his trial counsel was ineffec-
tive for failing to object to remarks the prosecutor made during
closing arguments regarding Kercheval’s testimony. During
closing arguments, the prosecutor stated:

I mean, let’s call a spade a spade here. [Kercheval is]
not giving you full disclosure. He’s not going to sit here
and tell you what they’re saying word for word. These
were his friends. He’s charged with a crime. You think he
wants to seal the deal for this defendant? He knows what
he’s capable of. He gave you just enough that’s consistent
with what he said from the beginning to Detective Tramp
over and over again. But he’s not giving you everything
[that was] said in that car.

Nolan alleges that these comments constituted prosecutorial
misconduct and that his trial counsel was ineffective for failing
to object to them and appellate counsel was ineffective for not
raising this issue on appeal. The district court correctly rejected
this claim without an evidentiary hearing.

As stated above, generally, in assessing allegations of pros-
ecutorial misconduct in closing arguments, a court first deter-
mines whether the prosecutor’s remarks were improper. State
v. Gresham, 276 Neb. 187, 752 N.W.2d 571 (2008); State
v. Barfield, 272 Neb. 502, 723 N.W.2d 303 (2006), disap-
proved on other grounds, State v. McCulloch, 274 Neb. 636,
742 N.W.2d 727 (2007). It is then necessary to determine the
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extent to which the improper remarks had a prejudicial effect
on the defendant’s right to a fair trial. /d. As we have noted
above, “when a prosecutor’s comments rest on reasonably
drawn inferences from the evidence, he or she is permitted to
present a spirited summation that a defense theory is illogical
or unsupported by the evidence and fo highlight the relative
believability of witnesses for the State and the defense.” State
v. Dubray, 289 Neb. 208, 227, 854 N.W.2d 584, 604 (2014)
(emphasis supplied).

In this case, during closing arguments, the prosecutor made
statements regarding Kercheval’s credibility that were based on
the evidence and the inferences that could be drawn therefrom.
These comments were not improper and did not constitute
prosecutorial misconduct. In this regard, we note that defense
counsel also made comments regarding Kercheval’s credibility
during closing arguments and suggested that Kercheval had
lied to the police and had lied to the jury at trial. Defense
counsel also made comments to the effect that Kercheval
lacked credibility because he had an incentive to cooperate
with the State in exchange for a reduced sentence on his pend-
ing charges.

Because both parties challenged the credibility of Kercheval,
the record refutes Nolan’s allegation that his trial counsel was
deficient for failing to object to the prosecutor’s remarks made
during closing arguments regarding Kercheval’s credibility or
that he was prejudiced by this alleged failing. Thus, appellate
counsel was not deficient for not claiming error on appeal.
Nolan is entitled to no relief on this claim. The district court
did not err when it denied postconviction relief on this claim
without an evidentiary hearing. We affirm this portion of the
district court’s order.

(b) Claim F: Rehearing Regarding
Identifications
In claim F, Nolan alleges that his appellate counsel was
ineffective for failing to move for a rehearing of our deci-
sion in Nolan’s direct appeal. See State v. Nolan, 283 Neb.
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50, 807 N.W.2d 520 (2012). Nolan contends that our opinion
was incorrect because it misstated the facts surrounding the
identifications made before trial by Schlabs and Riesselman
and that thus, we incorrectly determined that the identifica-
tions made by Schlabs and Riesselman did not need to be sup-
pressed and were admissible.

Our opinion on Nolan’s direct appeal reflected a synthe-
sis of several somewhat inconsistent versions of the tes-
timony surrounding the identifications. Our description on
direct appeal was supported by testimony. More important,
the argument Nolan implies is that the identification procedure
was unduly suggestive. We discuss this issue below in connec-
tion with claim K, wherein we reject the claim of an unduly
suggestive procedure. In State v. Nolan, supra, we rejected
Nolan’s argument, and upon our further review of the records
and files in this case, we determine that Nolan’s argument
that these identifications should not have been admitted is
without merit. At the trial of this matter, it was for the finder
of fact to determine the weight to be accorded to the wit-
nesses’ identifications.

Another challenge to the admissibility of the identifications
would not have succeeded on rehearing. Because a motion
for rehearing on this issue would not have yielded a different
result, appellate counsel was not deficient for not so moving.
The district court did not err when it denied relief on this claim
without an evidentiary hearing. We affirm this portion of the
district court’s order.

(c) Claim H: Admissibility
of the .44-Caliber Gun
In claim H, Nolan alleges that his appellate counsel was
ineffective for failing to vigorously argue on direct appeal
that the .44-caliber gun found in Nolan’s possession 8 days
after the murder of Gaines was inadmissible under § 27-403
for the reason that its admission was unfairly prejudicial.
Section 27-403 generally provides that relevant evidence may
be excluded if its probative value is substantially outweighed
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by the danger of unfair prejudice, confusion of the issues, or
misleading the jury. Nolan recognizes that his appellate coun-
sel raised this issue on direct appeal, but he asserts that his
appellate counsel failed to sufficiently argue the issue.

We have reviewed the record in this case, including the
appellate arguments made on direct appeal, and we deter-
mine that the issue of the admissibility of the .44-caliber gun
under § 27-403 was adequately raised and considered, and
properly decided on direct appeal. See State v. Nolan, supra.
The fact that appellate counsel did not persuade us is not to
be equated with deficient performance. We determine that the
records and files in this case affirmatively show Nolan was
entitled to no relief on this claim and that Nolan has failed
to allege any facts in his motion which, if proved, constitute
an infringement on his constitutional rights. The district
court did not err when it denied relief on this claim without
an evidentiary hearing. We affirm this portion of the district
court’s order.

(d) Claim I: Rehearing Regarding Motion
to Suppress .44-Caliber Gun

In claim I, Nolan alleges that his appellate counsel was
ineffective for failing to move for a rehearing of our deci-
sion on direct appeal because, according to Nolan, we incor-
rectly determined that the trial court properly denied Nolan’s
motion to suppress evidence of the .44-caliber gun found in
Nolan’s possession. Nolan asserts that our opinion was in
error because it misstated the facts surrounding the evidence
adduced in connection with the motion to suppress and that
thus, we made an incorrect determination based on incorrect
facts. Specifically, Nolan contends our opinion incorrectly
stated that there was evidence that Nolan was affiliated with
a gang and reasoned that this affiliation justified the pat-
down that resulted in the discovery of the .44-caliber gun on
Nolan’s person.

The records and files in this case refute Nolan’s allegation.
We have reviewed the record in this case. The record shows
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that Nolan’s conduct and lack of cooperation after exiting
the vehicle justified the pat-down, quite apart from the fact
that one of the officers believed that Nolan was affiliated
with a gang. In our opinion on direct appeal, we described
Nolan’s conduct after exiting the vehicle, in part, as “grab-
bing his waistband,” having “something heavy in his pants,”
and moving very quickly. State v. Nolan, 283 Neb. 50, 55, 807
N.W.2d 520, 530 (2012). We continue to believe that the trial
court properly denied the motion to suppress evidence of the
.44-caliber gun discovered during the traffic stop and pat-down
as we previously concluded. A motion for rehearing on this
issue would not have yielded a different result, and appellate
counsel was not deficient for not so moving.

The record shows that Nolan was not entitled to relief on
this claim, and Nolan has failed to allege any facts in his
motion which, if proved, constitute an infringement of his con-
stitutional rights. The district court did not err when it denied
relief on this claim without holding an evidentiary hearing. We
affirm this portion of the district court’s order.

(e) Claim K: Prosecutorial Misconduct
Regarding Identifications

In claim K, Nolan alleges that his trial counsel was ineffec-
tive for failing to object to the identifications of Nolan made
by Schlabs and Riesselman on the grounds of prosecutorial
misconduct. Nolan asserts that it was improper for the prosecu-
tion to allow both Schlabs and Riesselman to attend the meet-
ing (initially set for only Riesselman) at which the identifica-
tions were made. Nolan argues that the procedures followed at
the meeting resulted in both Schlabs and Riesselman making
tainted identifications and that the procedures amounted to
prosecutorial misconduct. This issue of the identifications
made by Schlabs and Riesselman was raised and rejected on
direct appeal. See State v. Nolan, supra.

We have reviewed the record and believe the steps taken by
the prosecution to separate the witnesses as they made their
identifications before trial were timely, effective, and proper.
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Based on the reasoning set forth in our opinion on direct
appeal, we determine that the facts surrounding the identifi-
cations made by Schlabs and Riesselman did not constitute
prosecutorial misconduct. Nolan’s claim that trial counsel was
deficient for failing to object to the identifications based on
prosecutorial misconduct is refuted by the record, and appel-
late counsel was not deficient for not claiming error on appeal.
The district court did not err when it denied relief without an
evidentiary hearing with respect to this claim. We affirm this
portion of the district court’s order.

5. Craims L AND M: MILLER V. ALABAMA

In claims L and M, Nolan claims that his trial counsel was
ineffective for failing to object to his sentence of life without
parole and that his appellate counsel was ineffective for not
raising this issue on direct appeal. Nolan argues that because
he was only 19 years old at the time of the crime, his sentence
of mandatory life imprisonment without the possibility of
parole is improper under Miller v. Alabama, 567 U.S. 460, 132
S. Ct. 2455, 183 L. Ed. 2d 407 (2012). Although Miller was
decided after Nolan’s direct appeal was concluded and we have
held it is to be applied retroactively, see State v. Mantich, 287
Neb. 320, 842 N.W.2d 716 (2014), cert. denied 574 U.S. 921,
135 S. Ct. 67, 190 L. Ed. 2d 229, the holding in Miller would
not afford Nolan relief. The district court correctly rejected this
claim without an evidentiary hearing.

Miller generally held that mandatory life sentences with-
out the possibility of parole for persons under 18 years old
at the time they committed their offense were unconstitu-
tional. Specifically, Miller provides that “mandatory life with-
out parole for those under the age of 18 at the time of their
crimes violates the Eighth Amendment’s prohibition on ‘cruel
and unusual punishments.”” 567 U.S. at 465 (emphasis sup-
plied). In State v. Wetherell, 289 Neb. 312, 855 N.W.2d 359
(2014), we determined that Miller applies only to those per-
sons who were under the age of 18 at the time of their
crimes. In Wetherell, we determined that Miller did not apply
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to the appellant therein who was 18 years old at the time of
her crime.

In the present case, Nolan was 19 years old at the time of
Gaines’ murder, and accordingly, because he was not under
the age of 18 at the time of the crime, Miller does not apply
to him. Nolan has failed to allege facts in his motion which,
if proved, constitute an infringement on his constitutional
rights, and the records and files show that he is entitled to
no relief. Trial counsel was not deficient for not raising this
issue with the sentencing court, and appellate counsel was not
deficient for not claiming error on appeal. The district court
did not err when it concluded that Nolan was not entitled to
relief under Miller and denied relief on this claim without
an evidentiary hearing. We affirm this portion of the district
court’s order.

VI. CONCLUSION
The district court erred when it denied Nolan relief with-

out an evidentiary hearing on three claims: claim A, that trial
counsel was ineffective for failing to consult with and call
an identification expert to rebut the State’s case; claim B,
that trial counsel was ineffective for failing to consult with
and call a fingerprint expert to rebut the State’s case; and
claim C, that trial counsel was ineffective for failing to call
Anderson to testify on Nolan’s behalf and that appellate coun-
sel was deficient for not raising this issue on direct appeal.
We reverse the decision of the district court on these three
claims and remand the cause for an evidentiary hearing on
these claims. In all other respects, the decision of the district
court is affirmed.

AFFIRMED IN PART, AND IN PART REVERSED AND

REMANDED FOR FURTHER PROCEEDINGS.
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Trial: Expert Witnesses: Appeal and Error. An appellate court reviews
de novo whether the trial court applied the correct legal standards for
admlttmg an expert s testimony.

. An appellate court reviews for abuse of discretion
how the trlal court applied the appropriate standards in deciding whether
to admit or exclude an expert’s testimony.

Summary Judgment: Appeal and Error. In reviewing a summary
judgment, an appellate court views the evidence in the light most
favorable to the party against whom the judgment was granted and
gives that party the benefit of all reasonable inferences deducible from
the evidence.

Evidence: Appeal and Error. Generally, the control of discovery is a
matter for judicial discretion, and decisions regarding discovery will be
upheld on appeal in the absence of an abuse of discretion.
Prejudgment Interest: Appeal and Error. Prejudgment interest may
be awarded only as provided in Neb. Rev. Stat. § 45-103.02 (Reissue
2010), and whether prejudgment interest should be awarded is reviewed
de novo on appeal.

Summary Judgment. A motion for summary judgment shall be granted
where there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and the moving
party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law.

Evidence: Proof. Failure of proof concerning an essential element of the
nonmoving party’s case necessarily renders all other facts immaterial.
Summary Judgment: Proof. A party moving for summary judgment
makes a prima facie case for summary judgment by producing enough
evidence to demonstrate that the movant is entitled to judgment if the
evidence were uncontroverted at trial.
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_. Once the moving party makes a prima facie case, the bur-
den shlfts to the party opposing the motion to produce admissible con-
tradictory evidence showing the existence of a material issue of fact that
prevents judgment as a matter of law.

Summary Judgment: Evidence. Conclusions based on guess, specula-
tion, conjecture, or a choice of possibilities do not create material issues
of fact for the purposes of summary judgment; the evidence must be
sufficient to support an inference in the nonmovant’s favor without the
fact finder engaging in guesswork.

Products Liability: Warranty. All implied warranty theories of recov-
ery and strict liability claims for manufacturing defect, design defect, or
failure to warn seek to recover for a “defect.”

Actions: Negligence: Warranty: Proximate Cause. Whether a plaintiff
is proceeding under negligence, defect theories, or breach of express
warranty, proximate cause is a necessary element of the plaintiff’s case.
Negligence: Proximate Cause: Words and Phrases. Proximate cause
is the cause that in a natural and continuous sequence unbroken by an
efficient intervening cause, produces the injury, and without which the
injury would not have occurred.

Negligence: Proximate Cause: Proof. To establish proximate cause, the
plaintiff must meet three basic requirements: (1) Without the negligent
action, the injury would not have occurred, commonly known as the
“but for” rule or “cause in fact”; (2) the injury was a natural and prob-
able result of the negligence; and (3) there was no efficient interven-
ing cause.

Expert Witnesses: Testimony. Findings of fact as to technical matters
beyond the scope of ordinary experience are usually not warranted in the
absence of expert testimony supporting such findings.

Testimony. It is well settled that a causation opinion based solely on a
temporal relationship is not derived from the scientific method and is
therefore unreliable.

Products Liability: Proof. Under the malfunction theory, also some-
times called the indeterminate defect theory or general defect theory, a
plaintiff may prove a product defect circumstantially, without proof of
a specific defect, when (1) the incident causing the harm was of a kind
that would ordinarily occur only as a result of a product defect and (2)
the incident was not, in the particular case, solely the result of causes
other than a product defect existing at the time of sale or distribution.
Circumstantial Evidence: Verdicts. Circumstantial evidence is not
sufficient to sustain a verdict that depends solely thereon unless the cir-
cumstances proved by the evidence are of such a nature and so related
to each other that the conclusion reached by the jury is the only one that
can fairly and reasonably be drawn therefrom.




- 150 -

292 NEBRASKA REPORTS
ROSKOP DAIRY v. GEA FARM TECH.
Cite as 292 Neb. 148

19. Juries: Evidence. Where, under the facts viewed in a light most favor-
able to the nonmoving party, the nonexistence of the fact to be inferred
is just as probable as its existence, the conclusion that it exists is a
matter of speculation, surmise, and conjecture, and a jury will not be
permitted to draw it.

20. Evidence. The line between impermissible speculation and reasonable
inferences is drawn by the laws of logic.

21. . Reasoning causation from temporal correlation represents a logi-
cal fallacy. A conclusion based upon such reasoning is not a reasonable
inference but is mere speculation and conjecture.

22. Rules of the Supreme Court: Appeal and Error. It is incumbent
upon the party appealing to present a record which supports the errors
assigned. Neb. Rev. Stat. § 25-1140 (Reissue 2008) and Neb. Ct. R.
App. P. § 2-105(B)(1)(b) (rev. 2010) place the burden on the appel-
lant to file a praecipe identifying the matter to be contained in the bill
of exceptions.

23. Prejudgment Interest: Claims. A claim is liquidated for purposes of
prejudgment interest when there is no reasonable controversy as to both
the amount due and the plaintiff’s right to recover.

Appeal from the District Court for Gage County: PauL W.
KoRSLUND, Judge. Affirmed in part, and in part reversed.

Kristopher J. Covi, of McGrath, North, Mullin & Kratz,
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McCORMACK, J.
NATURE OF CASE
A dairy appeals from the district court’s order of summary
judgment in favor of a manufacturer of a microprocessor-based
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milking control unit and the dealer of that unit (collectively the
defendants). The principal issue is whether the dairy rebutted
the defendants’ prima facie case that mechanical components
of the milking system maintained by the dairy and not a part
of the microprocessor-based control unit were the proximate
cause of the alleged damages.

BACKGROUND

Roskop Dairy, L.L.C. (Roskop Dairy), owned by Michael
Roskop (Roskop), is a commercial dairy operation. GEA Farm
Technologies, Inc. (GEA), manufactures automated dairy
equipment used in dairy systems. Midwest Livestock Systems,
Inc. (Midwest), was an authorized dealer of GEA products.

Roskop Dairy sued the defendants for damages allegedly
stemming from the “Dematron 60 Air Detacher Package”
(Dematron) manufactured by GEA and purchased by Roskop
Dairy from Midwest. The total purchase price was $153,027.88.
Roskop Dairy paid Midwest a downpayment of $33,600 and
made a second payment of $70,000. Roskop Dairy never paid
the remainder.

The installation of the Dematron at Roskop Dairy occurred
in June 2008. There was no evidence of a service agreement
by which Midwest was to regularly inspect or maintain other
component parts of Roskop Dairy’s milking system that were
not provided by Midwest.

Roskop Dairy sued the defendants for breach of express and
implied warranties and negligence. Roskop Dairy theorized
that Midwest negligently and defectively installed and pro-
grammed the Dematron. Specifically, Roskop Dairy asserted
that improper parameter settings caused the milking units to
detach while still under significant vacuum and thereby harmed
the teats of the dairy cows, resulting in mastitis and lowered
milk production. Roskop Dairy did not allege liability based on
negligent maintenance of the physical component parts of the
milking system that are not part of the Dematron.

The defendants generally denied liability and asserted that
Roskop Dairy’s contributory negligence barred any claim
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against them. Midwest counterclaimed for the principal amount
still due under the sales contract agreement, as well as for 8
percent interest per annum from the payment due date. After
discovery, the defendants moved for summary judgment.

MILKING SYSTEM, DEMATRON,
AND SOMATIC CELL COUNTS

Roskop Dairy has 50 milking “parlors” used to milk approx-
imately 700 cows. When a cow enters a parlor, an employee of
Roskop Dairy manually prepares the cow’s teats by cleaning
them and stimulating let down. The employee then presses a
button to apply vacuum to the milking “claw.” The employee
applies the claw to the teats, and milking begins. Milk flows
through tubes into holding tanks. The claw, vacuum, tubes, and
tanks are not part of the Dematron.

The Dematron is a microprocessor-based milking control
unit that monitors signals from milking sensors in the milk-
ing system and sends signals to that system to control when
various processes take place after manual application of the
claw. There are multiple parameter settings involved in the
functioning of the Dematron. These settings are preset at the
factory, but are regularly adjusted to accommodate dairy own-
ers’ preferences.

The “milk flow threshold” level is an adjustable Dematron
parameter that indicates when the system should finish milk-
ing. Another Dematron parameter, “blink time,” is the length
of time a cow must be below the milk flow threshold before
detachment of the claw will start. A component in the sys-
tem actually blinks during the blink time, and milk flow can
also be observed through clear lenses attached to the top of
the claw. After the cow is below the milk flow threshold for
the desired blink time, the Dematron shuts off the vacuum
by sending a signal to a “shifting valve” that is also part of
the Dematron.

After the vacuum is shut off, it should quickly dissipate.
Depending on the model of claw, vacuum dissipates either
through vents in the metal claw itself or in clear plastic
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replaceable lenses that attach to the top of the claws. In the
model of claw used at Roskop Dairy, the vents were located in
the lenses and not in the claw itself.

The “detach delay” is a setting of the Dematron that controls
the time between when the vacuum is shut off and the claw is
retracted by the automated system. Retraction ideally occurs
when most, but not completely all, of the residual vacuum has
dissipated through the vents. If no residual vacuum is left when
the claw retracts, the claw will fall, rather than be retracted,
and will land on the parlor deck.

The “milk sweep delay” is a Dematron setting controlling
the time between when the claw is retracted and when the
“milk sweep begins.” The “milk sweep” is an optional setting
and consists of a short burst of vacuum to pull any residual
milk into the tubes of the milking system.

After detachment, the cows’ udders are manually dried with
a cloth by Roskop Dairy employees.

The somatic cell count of the milk at a dairy is an indica-
tor of the number of mastitis organisms in the herd. Increased
somatic cell count can mean either many cows with a lesser
degree of infection or fewer cows with a worse infection.
Somatic cell counts above 400,000 are “concerning.” Below
200,000 represents a well-managed herd.

While the somatic cell count in Roskop Dairy’s herd had
previously been in the 200,000 range, in January 2008, before
the installation of the Dematron, it significantly increased to
409,000, from 285,000 the previous month. The somatic cell
count continued in the 409,000 to 476,000 range until June
2008, when it reached 510,000.

In July 2008, after installation of the Dematron, the somatic
cell count rose to 627,000. It went back down to 493,000 in
August, after Dematron employees visited Roskop Dairy. It is
undisputed that during that visit, Dematron employees adjusted
some parameter settings of the Dematron.

Roskop Dairy claims that the rise in somatic cell counts in
the herd after installation of the Dematron corresponded to
a reduction in milk production that had not occurred during
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the pre-Dematron rise in somatic cell counts. Roskop did not
address the extent to which any changes in milking practices
entered into this conclusion. Roskop had milked his cows
three times a day until July 2, 2008. Since July 2, however,
he has milked his cows twice a day. Milking three times a
day versus twice a day would increase milk yield by 12 to
15 percent.

DEPOSITION OF MICHAEL ROSKOP AND
KAREN Cass’ MASTITIS REPORTS

Roskop’s deposition was entered into evidence at the sum-
mary judgment hearing. Roskop testified that due to the timing
of events, he believed the July 2008 increase in the somatic
cell count was caused by the parameters of the Dematron’s
being set incorrectly the previous month. Roskop admitted that
he was not an expert on milking machines. He admittedly did
not fully understand the Dematron settings. But he stated that
approximately 20 days after the system was installed, his herd
experienced an increase in mastitis.

Roskop suspected, first, that from the time the system was
installed until July 31, 2008, when Midwest employees made
further adjustments to the Dematron’s parameter settings, the
blink time was set too short, such that the machines were
detaching before the cows were fully milked. He believed this
based on the appearance of the cow udders and the fact that the
cows were not producing as much milk as he expected.

Roskop admitted the blink time setting did not lead to mas-
titis, however. Roskop testified that his employees manually
reattached the system when the cows’ udders appeared to not
be completely milked out. Roskop did not specifically recall
which of the original blink time settings and adjustments may
have been made at his request.

Roskop suspected that incorrect parameters for the sweep
time led to the increase in mastitis. Roskop believed that
from the time of installation until adjustments were made
on July 31, 2008, incorrect sweep time settings resulted in
the machine’s detaching while still under a vacuum. This, in
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turn, tugged on the cows’ teats, causing physical injury that
made them more susceptible to mastitis. Since discovery,
Roskop Dairy no longer asserts that the sweep time settings
led to mastitis.

Roskop testified that from late June 2008 when the system
was installed until Midwest employees made adjustments to
the parameter settings in late July, he witnessed the claw units
being “jerked off” the cows with a lot of “tugging.” He testi-
fied that the units were coming off under vacuum and that
vacuum lasted for approximately 3 seconds before it dissipated.
Roskop did not clearly explain whether he could determine
that this vacuum was active vacuum versus residual vacuum.
At one point, he affirmed that he could hear the hissing of air
being sucked into the machine for about 3 seconds, but that at
another point, he affirmed this was the failure of the vacuum to
dissipate for approximately 3 seconds.

During the time period that the units were detaching under
vacuum, Roskop observed approximately one-third of his
dairy cows with “everted” teat ends. Roskop explained that
normally only about 2 percent of his cows demonstrated
everted teat ends. Roskop further observed bruised teats dur-
ing that time.

Roskop testified that he had concluded the Dematron was
in some manner the cause of the detachment under vacuum
because “when they made the change off of the sweep time,
that’s when we had the instant change of no more damage to
the teat end on the cows.” Roskop explained that although the
cows with damaged teat ends took some time to heal, new
cases of teat-end damage significantly decreased after Midwest
employees changed the parameter settings of the Dematron in
late July.

Roskop confirmed that Roskop Dairy employees were sup-
posed to check the lenses of the claws constantly to make sure
the vents, through which the residual vacuum escapes, were
not clogged. The most common cause of vent clogging was
manure. His employees were supposed to unclog the vents if
they observed them clogged. Roskop did not specify to what
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extent his employees were successfully carrying out these
duties in the summer of 2008. Roskop indicated that sometime
in June 2008, four Roskop Dairy employees quit, because cows
were kicking them. Roskop testified that it took approximately
2 months to replace those employees.

Roskop testified that he hired Karen Cass, a mastitis con-
sultant, to “come in and give me an outside look and test the
herd.” She observed the dairy and tested the cows on July 19,
2008. Roskop admitted that Cass observed several behaviors
of Roskop Dairy’s employees that were concerning from the
standpoint of mastitis prevention. Roskop acknowledged that
Cass’ report found various deficiencies in his employees’ care
of the cows during the milking process. Roskop did not deny
the veracity of Cass’ observations, but hoped those deficiencies
were isolated instances.

Cass found there were too many cows with clinical mastitis
in line being milked with nonclinical cows. Cass found that
the milk and air tubes were falling off the equipment. Cass
also saw employees “flipping towels,” meaning that they were
using the same towel to wipe off the teats of more than one
cow, and were using towels that were still damp. Cass observed
that employees were not wearing gloves during manual clean-
ing and stimulation before attaching the claw. Cass wrote that
the herd’s teat-end condition “look[ed] good.”

Roskop blamed the incidents of cows in the line show-
ing clinical mastitis on the fact that the number of sick cows
exceeded the capacity of his hospital pen. Roskop believed that
the backflush system between each cow, in any case, prevented
cross-contamination.

DEPOSITIONS OF DENNIS NISSEN, GERALD FARRIER,
AND JEFF HUNT CONCERNING INSTALLATION
AND ADJUSTMENTS TO DEMATRON
Dennis Nissen and Gerald Farrier are Midwest employ-
ees who install and maintain equipment sold by Midwest,
including the Dematron. Nissen was the employee who pri-
marily installed the Dematron at Roskop Dairy, and Farrier
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occasionally assisted. Their depositions were entered into evi-
dence at the summary judgment hearing. Jeff Hunt, a GEA
technical specialist who the parties do not dispute qualifies
as an expert, was also deposed on two occasions, and his
depositions were entered into evidence at the summary judg-
ment hearing.

Nissen explained that it is normal to adjust the parameter
settings for the blink time and low milk threshold according
to the dairy owner’s preferences as to how thoroughly the
cows are milked. Although Nissen believed that the factory
settings were correct given his observation of the milk flow
when he installed the Dematron at Roskop Dairy, he testified
that he acceded to Roskop’s request to have the cows milked
more thoroughly by adjusting the parameters of the blink
time and low milk threshold accordingly. Nissen testified that
before doing so, he told Roskop that these were not well-
advised changes and that the cows just needed to get used to
the new detacher.

Nissen made followup visits on July 30 and 31, 2008, after
Roskop had complained of an increase in mastitis. At those
times, Nissen checked the vacuum settings and observed the
detachers coming off the cows after milking. He testified that
he found no problems with the Dematron. Nissen testified that
he made some “minute” parameter changes.

Three out of the 50 milking units had plungers that were not
seating properly, and they were fixed promptly. Hunt testified
that plungers do not create enough vacuum to cause the kind
of problems reported by Roskop.

Nissen and Farrier testified that during their visits in late
July 2008, they found numerous claws that either did not have
vented lenses in them or were placed with the vent upside
down. Of the 50 claws at Roskop Dairy, Nissen found that
half had to have the lenses replaced. Farrier assumed that
Roskop or his employees had improperly replaced the lenses.
Nissen explained that the dairy must be aware of what kind of
claws it has when ordering replacement lenses, because other
models of claws do not require vented lenses. Apparently,
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the vented lenses and unvented lenses are indistinguishable
besides the presence or absence of a vent.

Nissen explained that lenses were not part of the detacher
system sold by Midwest, but were preexisting components that
mount to the claws. Hunt likewise testified that there is no
part of the claw system that is part of the Dematron package.
According to Nissen, Midwest was not charged with maintain-
ing the claws or the lenses. Most dairy owners, according to
Nissen, handle their own maintenance of the lenses. Farrier
similarly explained that it was not “cost conducive” for dairy
owners to have Midwest maintain their lenses. Although they
did not consider it to be part of a maintenance obligation,
Nissen and Farrier used the vented lenses that Roskop had
on hand and replaced the lenses during their visits in late
July 2008.

Hunt visited Roskop Dairy in September 2008. He made
some “routine adjustments” to a portion of the database kept
for the parlors, but he did not make any changes affecting the
detachers. He did not observe anything out of the ordinary in
the operation of the detacher system.

Hunt testified that the factory setting for detach delay is 0
seconds. He explained that the reason for that setting is that
vacuum detachment cylinders typically do not operate instan-
taneously. And if the detach delay is set for longer than 0
seconds, the claw will usually drop before the rope is taut and
allow the claw to fall to the deck. But detach delay, like other
settings, may be adjusted by dairy personnel and the installer
at the time of installation or first use.

Hunt testified that based on computer records of the
Dematron settings at the time of installation, the detach delay
was originally set for 3 seconds around the time of installation.
When Nissen and Farrier visited Roskop Dairy in late July
2008, they changed the detach delay setting from 3 seconds to
10 seconds. By February 2013, however, the detach delay set-
ting had been reduced from 10 seconds to 1 second.

Hunt explained that, generally, “[I]enses without vent holes
or claws with no venting is a cause of poor residual vacuum
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decay.” Likewise, Nissen and Farrier testified that improper
venting will cause the claws to detach while still under vac-
uum. Without proper venting, these witnesses explained, there
is no way to quickly release the residual vacuum when the
vacuum is signaled by the Dematron to be turned off.

Hunt testified that “one of the most prominent and most
probable” reasons for residual vacuum during retraction of the
claw is vents not functioning properly. Other physical compo-
nents of the milking system, however, can also cause residual
vacuum not to dissipate, such as short air tubes or vacuum
pulsation. Those other physical components are likewise not
matters controlled by the Dematron settings or maintained by
the defendants.

Having reviewed the records, reports, and Nissen’s depo-
sition, and taking into account other possible causes, Hunt
opined that the most likely cause for the claws to retract under
vacuum in the summer of 2008 was the condition described by
Nissen of the vents in the lenses of the claws.

LiMITED EXCLUSION OF WILLIAM
WAILES’” TESTIMONY

Roskop Dairy had designated William Wailes as an expert
witness. Wailes has a bachelor’s degree in animal science and
is a member of the National Mastitis Council. He considers
himself an expert in management systems, including treatment
protocols, in the overall operation of a dairy farm. Wailes testi-
fied that he was not an expert in milking machine equipment
and that he is not a veterinarian.

Wailes explained that there are two forms of mastitis.
Environmental mastitis comes from organisms that are in the
cow’s environment and typically involve issues of cleanliness,
keeping the manure under control, changing the bedding, and
other sanitary conditions. Contagious mastitis does not grow
in the environment but is passed from cow to cow depend-
ing on a number of factors. Usually, contagious mastitis is
passed from infected cows to uninfected cows during milk-
ing time. Wailes confirmed that according to Cass’ report,
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both environmental and contagious mastitis was present in
Roskop’s herd in the summer of 2008. Most of the cases were
contagious mastitis.

Waliles testified generally that there are many reasons why
a dairy herd might have an outbreak of mastitis, which have
nothing to do with the milking machine. For instance, using
bare hands rather than gloves when preparing cows for the
milking machine can increase the spread of mastitis. Using
damp cloths in the milking parlor is also not advisable, because
there are opportunities for more colonies of bacteria within the
damp cloth. Using the same towel for two different cows by
flipping it over was “unacceptable,” “[b]ecause you can cross-
contaminate two cows if you use a single towel on two differ-
ent cows.”

Further, Wailes testified that milking clinical cows in the
same line as nonclinical cows can lead to the spread of mas-
titis. Wailes testified that a backflush system will help pre-
vent certain types of contagious mastitis from spreading when
clinical cows are in the line with nonclinical cows, but not
all. Buying infected cows from other herds could also cause
an outbreak.

Wailes had reviewed Cass’ reports in which Cass stated that
in July 2008, she had observed Roskop’s employees failing to
use gloves and using damp towels, which they flipped for use
on multiple cows. Wailes was also aware of Cass’ observation
that cows with clinical mastitis were being milked with cows
who did not have mastitis and that other cows with mastitis
were being kept in sick pens with other cows that did not have
mastitis. Wailes acknowledged these were “unacceptable” prac-
tices that could cause the spread of contagious mastitis. Wailes
did not specifically address the causal role of these practices in
the rise of mastitis in the Roskop Dairy herd.

Wailes explained that, physically, the “first and second lines
of defense” against mastitis are a healthy teat end, “from a
sphincter muscle skin condition,” and the keratin that is in
the teat canal. But Wailes did not otherwise elaborate on how
much more susceptible to contagious mastitis a cow with
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damaged teat ends might be. Wailes did not testify that teat-end
damage alone can cause mastitis.

Wailes further explained that teat-end lesions are “pretty
rare” and, in normal circumstances, would only result from
teats being stepped on or similar injuries. Wailes testified that
vacuum not properly shutting off before retraction of the claw
could lead to teat-end damage. In addition, certain practices
leading to overmilking, such as prepping the cow too long
before milking or a low flow rate setting, could “possibly” lead
to teat-end damage.

Although Cass purportedly checked teat health and found
little evidence of teat-end damage in the herd in July 2008,
Wailes relied on Roskop’s statement that 30 percent of the
cows had visible teat-end damage, which would be approxi-
mately 200 cows. Wailes considered Cass to be qualified to
evaluate teat-end health—more so than Roskop—and she was
“[v]ery diligent” in her work. But Wailes questioned the logis-
tics of Cass’ making such observations while carrying out her
primary duty of obtaining clean samples from the cows to test
for mastitis.

Wailes testified that he did not have the factual informa-
tion he needed to make a report or a “differential diagnosis
as to the causes of the cows having mastitis at the Roskop
Dairy farm in 2008.” Wailes had not reviewed Nissen’s depo-
sition and had no knowledge of the allegedly clogged vents.
Neither did Wailes consider, in reaching his opinion, the
rise in somatic cell count from January to June 2008, before
installation of the Dematron. Wailes specifically stated that
he had not ruled out the various other possible causes of a
mastitis outbreak at Roskop Dairy that would be unrelated to
the Dematron, because he did not have the necessary records
to do so.

Wailes did not know how long the milking system was
coming off under vacuum. Wailes did not know how many
units in the system were coming off under vacuum. Wailes
had no specific information about the hygienic practices at the
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dairy in the summer of 2008 other than Cass’ report and his
longtime relationship with Roskop Dairy.

Wailes stated that he had generally found throughout the
years that Roskop Dairy was well maintained. When asked
whether through his discussions with Roskop he had learned
of any changes in the sanitation practices at Roskop Dairy
from May to June 2008, Wailes responded, “I think he had
protocols in place for his milking facility, his people, and so
that’s, that’s my answer, he had protocols in place.” Wailes
testified that he did not specifically review what the proto-
cols were. Wailes further testified that he was not specifically
aware of what steps were taken at Roskop Dairy to enforce
its protocols.

Wailes summarized, “[M]y analysis is that there had to be
some event to trigger somatic cell counts to take that much of
a spike.” Citing as the factual foundation for his opinion the
documentation of a spike in the somatic cell count and his con-
versation with Roskop in which Roskop related observing the
units coming off under vacuum and the teat-end damage during
the time of that spike, Wailes concluded that the alleged dam-
age to Roskop’s herd was “consistent with” the units detaching
under vacuum.

Wailes stated that he did not have the facts to say that units
coming off under vacuum was the “probable” cause of the
spike in mastitis. He elaborated that, based on the facts he
had, he could only say it was “possible” that detachment under
vacuum caused the spike in mastitis:

A. It’s very possible, but my, my only backup to that
would be that when we see a spike in somatic cell counts
something is causing the mastitis.

Q. And we’ve agreed it could be many things?

A. Yes.

Q. One of which could be something wrong with the
detacher if indeed there was?

A. Yes.

Q. But a lot of other things that have nothing to do
with the detacher?
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A. Yes.

Q. And we can’t rule anyone in or rule anyone out
based on the facts we have right now?

A. It’s a dynamic issue.

But later, Wailes mentioned that “when you try to eliminate
events that could occur during that period of time, the one that
you can’t eliminate is the installation of new equipment that
was not working properly at the time.” Wailes further stated
at counsel’s prompting that he did not find any other cause
for the spike in mastitis and loss of production in the summer
of 2008.

On this point, Wailes elaborated only that there was no
change in feed, that Roskop had “protocols in place,” that
Cass’ report did not necessarily mean that none of the dairy
workers were exercising good hygiene practices, and that
he had no reason to believe new cows had been introduced
into the herd. Wailes then answered affirmatively to Roskop
Dairy’s counsel’s question as to whether his “analysis that
the detacher system caused the damage [was] based in part
on the fact that [Wailes had] either eliminated or not been
provided with any evidence of any other causes during that
time frame.”

But when Midwest’s counsel asked, “You said you didn’t
find any other cause other than the installation, but fair to
say you didn’t really look for any other cause other than the
installation; is that correct?” Wailes answered, “My main con-
cern at the time was the timing of the events, and the timing
of the events match up to the installation.” Midwest’s counsel
then pressed, “But, sir, the question I asked you was did you
look for any other causes?” Wailes answered, “No.”

Wailes again clarified that he did not know what, if any-
thing, was wrong with the Dematron and had no opinion about
the parameter settings. Wailes stated that he was not an expert
in the design, installation, diagnosis, settings, or repair of milk-
ing machine equipment.

Wailes confirmed generally that “a properly operat-
ing detacher system” does not “come off under pressure as
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described by . . . Roskop.” But Wailes also acknowledged
that there were many reasons other than the Dematron why
units could come off under vacuum. Wailes described these
as including improper venting of the claws, misapplication
of the unit to the udders, kinks in the hoses, and cow move-
ment. Wailes further conceded there were other parts of the
milking system that, if not properly maintained by the dairy
farmer, could cause conditions conducive to cows’ getting con-
tagious forms of mastitis. Thus, Wailes agreed that it would not
be “scientific reasoning” to conclude that the Dematron was
responsible for the claws’ detaching under vacuum.

The defendants moved to strike Wailes’ testimony on the
issue of causation, asserting that his testimony represented
mere speculation and conjecture and was based on unscientific
methodology and insufficient facts to meet the requirements
of Schafersman v. Agland Coop.'" The district court granted
the motion and excluded Wailes’ testimony insofar as Wailes
sought to opine that the units were coming off under vacuum
because of something wrong with the Dematron or that the
increase in mastitis was caused by the units detaching under
vacuum. Wailes’ deposition was not offered at the summary
judgment hearing.

LiMITED EXCLUSION OF MICHAEL
SLATTERY’S TESTIMONY

Michael Slattery is Roskop Dairy’s veterinarian. In his
deposition, Slattery discussed in the abstract several possible
causes of an increased somatic cell count in a dairy herd. In
addition to the factors discussed by Wailes and acknowledged
by Roskop in his discussion of Cass’ report, Slattery testi-
fied that the “inflations” components of the milking machine
could be worn out and porous, therefore harboring bacteria
and leading to an increase in mastitis. He also added that
high temperatures and humidity can lead to an increase in

! Schafersman v. Agland Coop, 268 Neb. 138, 681 N.W.2d 47 (2004).
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the spread of mastitis. Finally, milking cows on manual for
too long could lead to overmilking and increased incidents
of mastitis.

Slattery stated he believed that the increase in mastitis at
Roskop Dairy was due to the Dematron, although he did not
observe anything wrong with the Dematron and explained that
he was not an expert on milking machines. Rather, he testified
that he based his conclusion solely on Roskop’s statement that
the somatic cell count of the herd increased after the Dematron
was installed. Slattery conceded he did not look at any data
and did not eliminate the other possible causes of increased
somatic cell count that had been discussed.

Upon the defendants’ motion in limine, the court excluded
Slattery’s testimony to the extent that it concerned the proxi-
mate causation of the increased somatic cell count at Roskop
Dairy in the summer of 2008. Slattery’s deposition was
offered by Roskop at the summary judgment hearing. It was
allowed into evidence only to the extent that it contained “fac-
tual observations.”

ORDER GRANTING SUMMARY JUDGMENT

The court granted the defendants’ motions for summary
judgment. In its order, the court noted that it had stricken the
causation testimony of both Slattery and Wailes as unreliable.
But it also noted in its order that “[bJoth Slattery and Wailes
admitted there are numerous possible causes for spikes in a
dairy herd’s mastitis rate that could not be ruled out in this
case.” The court noted that there was evidence that Roskop
Dairy was not following proper hygiene procedures to prevent
the spread of mastitis. Indeed, the court noted, the somatic
cell counts indicated a mastitis problem before the Dematron
was installed.

The court further noted that Midwest’s expert, Patrick
Gorden, testified that there was no scientific basis to con-
clude that the detacher system caused mastitis or decreased
milk production. Rather, Gorden testified that the mastitis was
preexisting and likely exacerbated by hot weather and Roskop
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Dairy’s failure to implement a milk quality program and to
properly maintain the milking system. Gorden’s affidavit is
not in the record and apparently was not entered into evidence
at the summary judgment hearing.

Finally, the court noted that Hunt opined that Roskop Dairy’s
failure to properly maintain the vents caused the mastitis. The
court noted that Roskop had failed to present any expert to
contradict Hunt’s expert opinion.

The court reasoned that the fact the detacher units came
off under vacuum did not in itself demonstrate a product
defect. Although parameter settings were changed throughout
the installation process, there was no evidence that any settings
were incorrect or defective. While, under Genetti v. Caterpillar,
Inc.,? proof that a warranted product is defective may be
circumstantial and inferred from the evidence, the court con-
cluded that Genetti was inapplicable. There were various pos-
sible causes of the increase in the somatic cell count or for the
units detaching under vacuum, which were beyond the normal
experience and understanding of the jury.

The court concluded that expert testimony was required for
a jury to determine which component parts or settings of the
milking system caused it to come off under vacuum. Expert
testimony was also required for the jury to determine which,
among a number of possible causes of the spike in mastitis
in the herd, was more probable. Roskop Dairy had no such
expert testimony.

PREJUDGMENT INTEREST

The court subsequently granted summary judgment in favor
of Midwest on its counterclaim for the remaining principal
due of $78,026.56 plus prejudgment interest. Because the con-
tract did not provide for interest, the court applied Neb. Rev.

Stat. § 45-104 (Reissue 2010):
Unless otherwise agreed, interest shall be allowed
at the rate of twelve percent per annum on money due

2 Genetti v. Caterpillar; Inc., 261 Neb. 98, 621 N.W.2d 529 (2001).
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on any instrument in writing, or on settlement of the
account from the day the balance shall be agreed upon,
on money received to the use of another and retained
without the owner’s consent, express or implied, from
the receipt thereof, and on money loaned or due and
withheld by unreasonable delay of payment. Unless oth-
erwise agreed or provided by law, each charge with
respect to unsettled accounts between parties shall bear
interest from the date of billing unless paid within thirty
days from the date of billing.

The court observed that Midwest sent a payment request to
Roskop Dairy which bore a date of October 14, 2008, but there
was no evidence of when it was actually sent. Therefore, the
court utilized the date of November 1, because Roskop Dairy
admitted that the outstanding principal was owed to Midwest
as of November 1. The court utilized the rate of 8 percent per
annum rather than the statutory 12 percent, because 8 percent
was what Midwest had requested. The court did not expressly
discuss whether there had been a “reasonable controversy”
over the amount due to Midwest.’

ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR
Roskop Dairy asserts that the district court erred by (1)
excluding the testimony of Wailes, (2) denying Roskop Dairy’s
motion to compel, (3) granting the defendants’ motions for
summary judgment, and (4) awarding prejudgment interest
to Midwest.

STANDARD OF REVIEW
[1,2] We review de novo whether the trial court applied the
correct legal standards for admitting an expert’s testimony.*
We review for abuse of discretion how the trial court applied

3 See, e.g., Wilson Concrete Co. v. A. S. Battiato Constr. Co., 196 Neb. 185,
188, 241 N.W.2d 819, 821 (1976).

4 King v. Burlington Northern Santa Fe Ry. Co., 277 Neb. 203, 762 N.W.2d
24 (2009).
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the appropriate standards in deciding whether to admit or
exclude an expert’s testimony.’

[3] In reviewing a summary judgment, an appellate court
views the evidence in the light most favorable to the party
against whom the judgment was granted and gives that
party the benefit of all reasonable inferences deducible from
the evidence.®

[4] Generally, the control of discovery is a matter for
judicial discretion, and decisions regarding discovery will be
upheld on appeal in the absence of an abuse of discretion.’

[5] Prejudgment interest may be awarded only as provided
in Neb. Rev. Stat. § 45-103.02 (Reissue 2010), and whether
prejudgment interest should be awarded is reviewed de novo
on appeal.?

ANALYSIS

ExcrLusioN OF WAILES” TESTIMONY AND WHETHER
THERE WAS MATERIAL [SSUE OF FACT

[6,7] The central question in this case is whether we should
affirm the district court’s order of summary judgment for
the defendants. A motion for summary judgment shall be
granted where there is no genuine issue as to any material
fact and the moving party is entitled to judgment as a mat-
ter of law.” Failure of proof concerning an essential element
of the nonmoving party’s case necessarily renders all other
facts immaterial.!®

S 1d.

¢ Rent-A-Roofer v. Farm Bureau Prop. & Cas. Ins. Co., 291 Neb. 786, 869
N.W.2d 99 (2015).

7 Farmington Woods Homeowners Assn. v. Wolf, 284 Neb. 280, 817 N.W.2d
758 (2012).

8 Countryside Co-op v. Harry A. Koch Co., 280 Neb. 795, 790 N.W.2d 873
(2010).
% See Rent-A-Roofer v. Farm Bureau Prop. & Cas. Ins. Co., supra note 6.

19 See Celotex Corp. v. Catrett, 477 U.S. 317, 106 S. Ct. 2548, 91 L. Ed. 2d
265 (1986).
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[8-10] A party moving for summary judgment makes a
prima facie case for summary judgment by producing enough
evidence to demonstrate that the movant is entitled to judg-
ment if the evidence were uncontroverted at trial.'" Once the
moving party makes a prima facie case, the burden shifts to
the party opposing the motion to produce admissible contra-
dictory evidence showing the existence of a material issue of
fact that prevents judgment as a matter of law.'> Conclusions
based on guess, speculation, conjecture, or a choice of pos-
sibilities do not create material issues of fact for the purposes
of summary judgment'; the evidence must be sufficient to
support an inference in the nonmovant’s favor without the fact
finder engaging in guesswork.'

The defendants made a prima facie case for summary
judgment through expert testimony that poor maintenance of
the vents in the claws was the proximate cause of the units
detaching under vacuum and, thus, of any mastitis resulting
therefrom. Without endorsing the sufficiency of the evidence
on any other aspect of Roskop Dairy’s case, we focus our
analysis on this element of mechanical causation. Doing so,
we conclude that Roskop Dairy failed to produce admissible
contradictory evidence creating a material issue of fact to rebut
the defendants’ prima facie case.

Wailes neither purported to opine on the mechanical cause
of the units detaching under vacuum, nor was he qualified
to do so. And Roskop Dairy did not present other sufficient
circumstantial evidence that could lead a reasonable person to
accept its theory that the Dematron was the proximate cause

" Chicago Lumber Co. of Omaha v. Selvera, 282 Neb. 12, 809 N.W.2d 469
(2011).

12 See, Borrenpohl v. DaBeers Properties, 276 Neb. 426, 755 N.W.2d 39
(2008); New Tek Mfg. v. Beehner, 270 Neb. 264, 702 N.W.2d 336 (2005).

3 Marksmeier v. McGregor Corp., 272 Neb. 401, 722 N.W.2d 65 (2006);
Richards v. Meeske, 268 Neb. 901, 689 N.W.2d 337 (2004).

Y C.E. v. Prairie Fields Family Medicine, 287 Neb. 667, 844 N.W.2d 56
(2014).
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of the purported injury. As will be explained in more detail
below, we agree with the district court that Roskop Dairy’s
reliance on the malfunction theory is misplaced, because it
is limited to proving a specific defect through circumstantial
evidence and because Roskop Dairy failed to present evidence
that could establish the elements of the malfunction theory.
Any other circumstantial evidence that Roskop Dairy relies on
to rebut the defendants’ prima facie case for summary judg-
ment amounts to speculative reasoning based on observations
of a temporal correlation.

[11] All implied warranty theories of recovery and strict
liability claims for manufacturing defect, design defect, or fail-
ure to warn seek to recover for a “defect.”’” Express warranty
claims are not merged with implied warranty claims or strict
liability claims due to the “‘dickered’” aspects of the indi-
vidual bargain,'® but express warranty claims, like implied war-
ranty theories and strict liability claims, require a showing that
the goods were defective.'” While a “defect” traditionally falls
under the category of either a design, manufacturing, or warn-
ing defect, “defective” installation is also cognizable under the
Uniform Commercial Code’s breach of warranty theories when
the installation is incident to the sale; in other words, when the
purchase is for a system that is dependent upon proper instal-
lation."” And the user of a product may also assert a cause of
action for negligent installation concurrently with actions under
express and implied warranty theories."

[12-14] Whether a plaintiff is proceeding under negligence,
defect theories, or breach of express warranty, proximate cause

15 See Freeman v. Hoffman-La Roche, Inc., 260 Neb. 552, 618 N.W.2d 827
(2000).

16 7d. at 574, 618 N.W.2d at 844.
17 Genetti v. Caterpillar, Inc., supra note 2.

18 See, Mennonite Deaconess Home & Hosp. v. Gates Eng’g Co., 219 Neb.
303, 363 N.W.2d 155 (1985); 3 American Law of Products Liability 3d
§ 37:12 (2015).

Y 3 American Law of Products Liability 3d, supra note 18.
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is a necessary element of the plaintiff’s case.?” Proximate cause
is the cause that in a natural and continuous sequence unbro-
ken by an efficient intervening cause, produces the injury,
and without which the injury would not have occurred.?! To
establish proximate cause, the plaintiff must meet three basic
requirements: (1) Without the negligent action, the injury
would not have occurred, commonly known as the “but for”
rule or “cause in fact”; (2) the injury was a natural and prob-
able result of the negligence; and (3) there was no efficient
intervening cause.?

[15] In this case, proving the elements of defect/negligence
and proximate cause involves the mechanical functioning of
a dairy farm milking system and its various component parts.
Such technical matters are outside the scope of ordinary expe-
rience. Findings of fact as to technical matters beyond the
scope of ordinary experience are usually not warranted in the
absence of expert testimony supporting such findings.?

Hunt testified that the clogged and upside-down vents
reported by Nissen and Farrier were the cause of the milking
units detaching under vacuum. Roskop presented no reliable
expert opinion to the contrary. Roskop admitted that he was
not an expert on milking machines. Wailes likewise stated

20 See, Powell v. Harsco Corp., 209 Ga. App. 348, 433 S.E.2d 608 (1993); 1
American Law of Products Liability 3d § 4:1 (2007).

21 See, Stahlecker v. Ford Motor Co., 266 Neb. 601, 667 N.W.2d 244 (2003);
Pendleton Woolen Mills v. Vending Associates, Inc., 195 Neb. 46, 237
N.W.2d 99 (1975).

22 See, Hughes v. School Dist. of Aurora, 290 Neb. 47, 858 N.W.2d 590
(2015); Belgum v. Mitsuo Kawamoto & Assoc., 236 Neb. 127, 459 N.W.2d
226 (1990); Daniels v. Andersen, 195 Neb. 95, 237 N.W.2d 397 (1975).

3 See, McVaney v. Baird, Holm, McEachen, 237 Neb. 451, 466 N.W.2d 499
(1991); Overland Constructors v. Millard School Dist., 220 Neb. 220, 369
N.W.2d 69 (1985). See, also, Green v. Box Butte General Hosp., 284 Neb.
243, 818 N.W.2d 589 (2012); State v. Aguilar, 268 Neb. 411, 683 N.W.2d
349 (2004); Eiting v. Godding, 191 Neb. 88, 214 N.W.2d 241 (1974);,
Clark v. Village of Hemingford, 147 Neb. 1044, 26 N.W.2d 15 (1947).
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clearly that he was not an expert in the design, installation,
diagnosis, settings, or repair of milking machine equipment.
Wailes stated that he did not know what, if anything, was
wrong with the Dematron and had no opinion about the param-
eter settings.

Roskop points out that Wailes confirmed that “a properly
operating detacher system” does not “come off under pressure
as described by . . . Roskop.” This statement, in combination
with Roskop’s testimony, may support the occurrence of some
kind of malfunction of the milking system. But this was not
an opinion as to whether the Dematron was the cause of that
malfunction. To the contrary, Wailes acknowledged that there
were many possible mechanical causes of the units coming off
under vacuum, which have nothing to do with the Dematron.
Wailes agreed that it would not be “scientific reasoning” to
conclude that the Dematron was responsible for the claws’
detaching under vacuum.

Even if Wailes had been qualified to opine on which com-
ponent part of the milking system caused the units to detach
under vacuum, and had actually attempted to do so, such opin-
ion would be unreliable under Schafersman v. Agland Coop.**
The expert must have “good grounds” for his or her belief “in
every step of the analysis.”® The term “good grounds” means
an inference or assertion derived by scientific method and sup-
ported by appropriate validation.?

[16] Waliles testified, “[M]y analysis is that there had to be
some event to trigger somatic cell counts to take that much
of a spike” and “[m]y main concern at the time was the tim-
ing of the events, and the timing of the events match up to
the installation.” It is well settled that a causation opinion
based solely on a temporal relationship is not derived from the

2% Schafersman v. Agland Coop, supra note 1.

% King v. Burlington Northern Santa Fe Ry. Co., supra note 4, 277 Neb. at
227, 762 N.W.2d at 43.

% 1d.
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scientific method and is therefore unreliable.”” Such an opinion
is also unreliable because it is not based upon sufficient facts
or data.”®

An expert can challenge hypotheses formulated through the
observation of association® or utilize a challenge/dechallenge/
rechallenge methodology, or the expert can systematically
eliminate other reasonably probable causes in conjunction with
observation of temporal correlation.’® But the reliability of
such methodologies to support a causation opinion is directly
related to the degree of scientific rigor.’! Wailes’ assertion
that “when you try to eliminate events that could occur dur-
ing that period of time, the one that you can’t eliminate is the
installation of new equipment that was not working properly
at the time,” and his further assertions that the feed had not
changed, that Roskop had a good reputation, and that Roskop
had unspecified protocols in place, demonstrate little scientific
rigor. Furthermore, this testimony concerns, at most, alternate
etiologies of mastitis and not the alternate mechanical causes
of the malfunction. Thus, to the extent that Roskop makes an
argument that the court should have admitted Wailes’ testimony
for purposes of mechanical causation, we find that the district
court did not err.

Roskop alternatively argues that expert testimony is not
required to create a material issue of fact rebutting the

27 See, Porter v. Whitehall Laboratories, Inc., 9 F.3d 607 (7th Cir. 1993);

Derzavis v. Bepko, 766 A.2d 514 (D.C. 2000); Terry v. Bd. of Mental
Retardation, 165 Ohio App. 3d 638, 847 N.E.2d 1246 (2006), reversed in
part on other grounds sub nom. Terry v. Caputo, 115 Ohio St. 3d 351, 875
N.E.2d 72 (2007). See, also, e.g., Schafersman v. Agland Coop, supra note
1; Carlson v. Okerstrom, 267 Neb. 397, 675 N.W.2d 89 (2004).

28 King v. Burlington Northern Santa Fe Ry. Co., supra note 4.

2 See id.

30 See Heller v. Shaw Industries, Inc., 167 F.3d 146 (3d Cir. 1999). See, also,
Carlson v. Okerstrom, supra note 27.

31 See McClain v. Metabolife Intern., Inc., 401 F.3d 1233 (11th Cir. 2005).

See, also, Glastetter v. Novartis Pharmaceuticals Corp., 252 F.3d 986 (8th
Cir. 2001).
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defendants’ prima facie case for summary judgment. In making
this argument, Roskop apparently relies on the “malfunction
theory.” The malfunction theory is based on the same principle
underlying res ipsa loquitur, which permits a fact finder to
infer negligence from the circumstances of the incident, with-
out resort to direct evidence of the wrongful act.’?

[17] Under the malfunction theory, also sometimes called
the indeterminate defect theory or general defect theory,*® a
plaintiff may prove a product defect circumstantially, without
proof of a specific defect, when (1) the incident causing the
harm was of a kind that would ordinarily occur only as a result
of a product defect and (2) the incident was not, in the particu-
lar case, solely the result of causes other than a product defect
existing at the time of sale or distribution.**

The malfunction theory should be utilized with the utmost
of caution. Although some circumstances may justify the use
of the malfunction theory to bridge the gap caused by miss-
ing evidence, the absence of evidence does not make a fact
more probable but merely lightens the plaintiff’s evidentiary
burden despite the fact that the missing evidence might well
have gone either way, and this rationale is too often subject
to misapplication by courts in situations in which evidence is
actually available.*

32 Restatement (Third) of Torts: Products Liability § 3, comment a. (1998).

3 See, id., § 3; David G. Owen, Manufacturing Defects, 53 S.C. L. Rev. 851
(2002). See, also, e.g., Sochanski v. Sears, Roebuck and Co., 621 F.2d 67
(3d Cir. 1980); Stewart v. Ford Motor Co., 553 F.2d 130 (D.C. Cir. 1977);
Higgins v. General Motors Corp., 287 Ark. 390, 699 S.W.2d 741 (1985);
Wakabayashi v. Hertz, 66 Haw. 265, 660 P.2d 1309 (1983); Gillespie v. R.
D. Werner Co., 71 1ll. 2d 318, 375 N.E.2d 1294, 17 1l Dec. 10 (1978);
Stackiewicz v. Nissan Motor Corp., 100 Nev. 443, 686 P.2d 925 (1984);,
Moraca v. Ford Motor Co., 66 N.J. 454, 332 A.2d 599 (1975); Brownell v.
White Motor Corp., 260 Or. 251, 490 P.2d 184 (1971).

3% Genetti v. Caterpillar, Inc., supra note 2; Restatement, supra note 32, § 3.
35 See Metro. Property & Cas. Ins. Co. v. Deere & Co., 302 Conn. 123, 25
A.3d 571 (2011).
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We have explained that as a matter of policy we allow
circumstantial proof of a product defect without evidence of
the specific defect because in many instances the dealer or
manufacturer has either purposefully or inadvertently tam-
pered with the evidence. Further, in light of the technological
complexity in proving a specific defect, “forcing consumers to
identify the cause, rather than the effect, of a defect would be
unrealistically burdensome.”?

The malfunction theory is narrow in scope. The malfunction
theory simply provides that it is not necessary for the plaintiff
to establish a specific defect so long as there is evidence of
some unspecified dangerous condition or malfunction from
which a defect can be inferred®—the malfunction itself is cir-
cumstantial evidence of a defective condition.*® The malfunc-
tion theory does not alter the basic elements of the plaintiff’s
burden of proof and is not a means to prove proximate cause
or damages.*

Other courts have set forth a nonexhaustive list of the kind
of circumstantial evidence that may be used to support a rea-
sonable inference of a specific defect. In DeWitt v. Eveready
Battery Co., Inc.,** for example, the court illustrated six evi-
dentiary factors that a plaintiff may present to create a genuine
issue of fact on the element of defect through circumstantial
evidence: (1) the malfunction of the product; (2) expert tes-
timony as to a possible cause or causes; (3) the timeframe of
the malfunction’s occurrence after the plaintiff first obtained
the product and other relevant history of the product, such
as its age and prior usage by the plaintiff and others, includ-
ing evidence of misuse, abuse, or similar relevant treatment

3¢ Genetti v. Caterpillar; Inc., supra note 2, 261 Neb. at 114, 621 N.W.2d. at
542.

37 1 American Law of Products Liability 3d, supra note 20, § 1:15 (2013).
38 Ducko v. Chrysler Motors Corp., 433 Pa. Super. 47, 639 A.2d 1204 (1994).
3 See Sochanski v. Sears, Roebuck and Co., supra note 33.

4 DeWitt v. Eveready Battery Co., Inc., 355 N.C. 672, 565 S.E.2d 140
(2002).
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before it reached the defendant; (4) similar incidents, when
accompanied by proof of substantially similar circumstances
and reasonable proximity in time; (5) elimination of other pos-
sible causes of the accident; and (6) proof tending to establish
that such an accident would not occur absent a manufactur-
ing defect.

Roskop relies on Genetti v. Caterpillar, Inc., in which we
applied the principles of the malfunction theory and some of
these factors to conclude that the circumstantial evidence of
a defect was sufficient to support a verdict in the plaintiffs’
favor.*! The plaintiffs in Genetti sought recovery for the total
failure of their truck’s engine. Subsequent to purchasing the
truck new, multiple engine failures had occurred. The defend-
ant had first repaired the engine and, upon subsequent failures,
replaced it. In replacing the engine, the defendant utilized some
components from the old engine. The defendant did not keep
records of which components of the engine were replaced and
which were reused. Eventually, the truck was sold, and the
defendant replaced the engine again after another engine fail-
ure subsequent to the purchase.

The plaintiffs’ expert witness, a mechanic, admitted he was
not an expert in engine design, but illustrated his expertise in
repairing, rebuilding, and overhauling the kind of engine at
issue. The mechanic reviewed documentation of the repairs,
photographs, and interviews, and concluded that a coolant
leak caused the engine failures. The mechanic negated alter-
nate, reasonably possible causes of the engine failures. The
mechanic was unsure whether the coolant leak was specifi-
cally due to a cracked head, cracked head gasket, or some
other failure allowing the intrusion of coolant. He testified,
however, that the uncontroverted testimony concerning the
use of the truck was not a misuse that should have resulted in
engine failure.

We held that because the plaintiffs presented evidence elim-
inating abuse or misuse as the alternate cause of the engine

4 Genetti v. Caterpillar, Inc., supra note 2.
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failure, it was reasonable for a jury to conclude that if the fail-
ure was not due to improper use of the truck, then it was due
to a defect, such as one of those suggested by the mechanic.*?
We held that the plaintiffs were not required to prove the spe-
cific defect that caused the failures in order to prove that the
engine was defective.®

But more apposite to the facts of this case is Wilgro, Inc.
v. Vowers & Burback.** In Wilgro, Inc., although (unlike here)
there was direct evidence of a specific defect, we held that the
circumstantial evidence was insufficient to support a finding of
proximate cause. The defendant in Wilgro, Inc. had provided
the plaintiff with feed supplements for the plaintiff’s cattle that
contained slightly higher levels of nonprotein nitrogen, urea,
than warrantied. Shortly after obtaining the feed, the cattle
became sick. Some eventually died. Autopsies on some of the
cattle were performed, and they were found to have died of
urea poisoning.

Other causation theories unrelated to the defect and sup-
ported by the record could account for the poisoning. For
instance, given the method of merely spreading the supplement
on the bottom of a truck and pouring silage on top where the
cattle “free fed,” the feed could have been improperly mixed
with the supplement. Or, some cows could have eaten more
feed than they were allotted. Furthermore, the plaintiff’s own
immature silage could account for the symptoms observed
in the majority of the animals that the plaintiff claimed had
been injured.

[18,19] We explained that circumstantial evidence is not
sufficient to sustain a verdict that depends solely thereon
unless the circumstances proved by the evidence are of such a
nature and so related to each other that the conclusion reached
by the jury is the only one that can fairly and reasonably be

4 See id.
B Id
“ Wilgro, Inc. v. Vowers & Burback, 190 Neb. 369, 208 N.W.2d 698 (1973).
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drawn therefrom.* Where, instead, under the facts viewed in a
light most favorable to the nonmoving party, the nonexistence
of the fact to be inferred is just as probable as its existence, the
conclusion that it exists is a matter of speculation, surmise, and
conjecture, and a jury will not be permitted to draw it.*¢ We
concluded in Wilgro, Inc. that the plaintiff had failed to adduce
evidence that would lead the reasonable person to accept the
plaintiff’s theory of causation over those theories presented by
the defendant.

In Pendleton Woolen Mills v. Vending Associates, Inc.,” a
negligence case, we similarly found the circumstantial evi-
dence to be insufficient for any determination of proximate
cause in the plaintiff’s favor to rise above speculation. The
plaintiff’s building had been damaged by the flooding of a
sticky substance. A large amount of water and syrup was found
on the floor in the vicinity of a soft drink machine, which was
the apparent source of the flooding. The machine obtained its
water supply from a water pipe in the building, to which it
was connected by copper tubing. The defendant was allegedly
responsible for the maintenance of the machine.

We found “a total lack of evidence establishing that any
negligence . . . was the ‘proximate cause’ of either the leak
or the damages; or to state it more accurately, that there was
any ‘causation in fact’ between the alleged negligence, and
the occurrence and the water damage.”*® Only one nonexpert
witness reported a hearsay statement loosely attributing the
leak to a malfunctioning shutoff valve. And there was no
proof that the absence of regular inspection was a substan-
tial factor in causing the valve to malfunction, if it indeed
did. Nor was there evidence that but for the absence of such
inspection, the leak would not have occurred. In particular,

 Id.

46 See Ehler et ux v. Portland Gas & Coke Co., 223 Or. 28, 352 P.2d 1102
(1960).

47 Pendleton Woolen Mills v. Vending Associates, Inc., supra note 21.
“ Id. at 50, 237 N.W.2d at 102.
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there was no evidence indicating the location of the shutoff
valve in the machine and whether a leak could be detected.
Again, we said that speculation and conjecture are not suf-
ficient to establish causation; there must be something more
that will lead a reasonable mind to one conclusion rather
than another.®

In considering Roskop Dairy’s argument that the malfunc-
tion theory applies, we first note that there is no apparent loss
of the evidence of a specific defect, because there is a record
of the parameter settings. Indeed, from these records, Roskop
has suggested a very specific theory that the detach delay
setting of 3 seconds was defective and negligent and that it
should have been 10 seconds, the setting it was changed to in
late July 2008. While we have found little case law specifi-
cally addressing whether the malfunction theory applies when
there is no loss of evidence or when there is an allegation of
a specific defect, we find no cases that have done so. And we
observe that the related doctrine of res ipsa loquitur does not
apply when specific acts of negligence are alleged or there is
evidence of the precise cause of the accident.™

Assuming that the malfunction theory can be utilized when
there has been no loss of evidence relating to the alleged spe-
cific defect, Roskop presented insufficient evidence to estab-
lish a material issue of fact supporting the malfunction theory.
Roskop presented no reliable evidence that the incident causing
the harm was of a kind that would ordinarily occur only as a
result of a product defect, as he had no expert on milking sys-
tems. And he presented no reliable evidence negating causes
other than the alleged product defect—despite undisputed evi-
dence that detachment under vacuum could have multiple pos-
sible mechanical sources.’® Roskop did not even present evi-
dence negating Nissen’s and Farrier’s testimony that the vents

4 Pendleton Woolen Mills v. Vending Associates, Inc., supra note 21.

0 See Maly v. Arbor Manor, Inc., 225 Neb. 276, 404 N.W.2d 419 (1987).

1 See, Genetti v. Caterpillar, Inc., supra note 2; Restatement, supra note 32,
§ 3.
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of the lenses had been placed upside down and that nonvented
lenses had been placed in the claws.

[20,21] In any event, the malfunction theory would not
serve to create a material issue on the element of proxi-
mate cause, because it is a theory only utilized to prove the
element of defect.””> Roskop Dairy seeks more than just a
bridge over the gap of difficult-to-obtain and highly techni-
cal evidence of a specific defect. Roskop attempts to create
a material issue of fact on little more than his observation of
a temporal correlation. But the line between impermissible
speculation and reasonable inferences is drawn by the laws
of logic.”® And reasoning causation from temporal correlation
represents a logical fallacy. A conclusion based upon such
reasoning is not a reasonable inference but is mere specula-
tion and conjecture.*

We find no merit to Roskop’s argument that Hunt’s testi-
mony confirming that the settings for the detach delay were
changed from 3 seconds to 10 seconds rebuts the defendants’
prima facie case. It would be speculative to derive any conclu-
sion as to either negligence/defect or proximate cause based on
the record of the parameter settings without an expert opinion
interpreting those settings in the larger context of the milking
system. Roskop Dairy’s conclusion based on the correlation of
the 3-second setting to detachment under vacuum and of the
10-second setting to no detachment under vacuum remains at
its core an application of the logical fallacy that correlation
equals causation.

52 See, White v. Mazda Motor of America, Inc., 313 Conn. 610, 99 A.3d 1079
(2014); Barnish v. KWI Bldg. Co., 916 A.2d 642 (Pa. 2007).

3 Tose v. First Pennsylvania Bank, N.A., 648 F.2d 879 (3d Cir. 1981),
abrogated on other grounds, Griggs v. Provident Consumer Discount Co.,
459 U.S. 56, 103 S. Ct. 400, 74 L. Ed. 2d 225 (1982).

% See, Sunward Corp. v. Dun & Bradstreet, Inc., 811 F.2d 511 (10th Cir.

1987); Loesch v. United States, 645 F.2d 905 (Ct. Cl. 1981); Dodge Motor
Trucks, Inc. v. First Nat. Bank of Omaha, 519 F.2d 578 (8th Cir. 1975);
Genesee M. B. & T. Co. v. Payne, 6 Mich. App. 204, 148 N.W.2d 503
(1967).
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At oral arguments, Roskop Dairy also suggested that sum-
mary judgment was improper because cross-examination of
Hunt at trial might lead to a more favorable and direct admis-
sion regarding the Dematron settings and their connection to
the detachment under vacuum. In two depositions, Roskop
Dairy has failed to obtain an opinion from Hunt that the
Dematron settings during the relevant time period were in any
way improper or a substantial factor in causing the units to
detach under vacuum. Roskop’s hope that this testimony might
change at trial is insufficient to rebut the defendants’ prima
facie case for summary judgment.

Under the malfunction theory or otherwise, Roskop Dairy
failed to present evidence from which a jury could deter-
mine, without resorting to speculation, that the Dematron was
the proximate cause of the alleged injury to Roskop Dairy’s
cows. The district court accordingly did not err in granting the
defendants summary judgment. Although we share the district
court’s concerns over the lack of evidence that the Dematron
was defectively or negligently installed and the lack of reli-
able evidence causally linking the detachment under vacuum
to the medical condition of mastitis, we need not examine
those aspects of the district court’s ruling in order to affirm
its decision.

CONSIDERING TESTIMONY
NoT IN EVIDENCE

We find no merit to Roskop Dairy’s assertion that we
should reverse the district court’s order because it errone-
ously relied on facts not in evidence when it granted sum-
mary judgment. Roskop argues that in reasoning that there are
several causes of mastitis, the district court erroneously relied
on Gorden’s affidavit, which was not entered into evidence.
Roskop argues that, even “more egregiously,” the district court
relied on Wailes’ excluded testimony and upon the deposition
of Slattery, which was admitted for limited purposes only.>

55 Brief for appellant at 28.
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Roskop argues that the district court could not rely on any
aspect of Wailes’ testimony, because neither party reoffered
it for summary judgment. Finally, Roskop characterizes the
district court’s order as expressing an improper factual finding
that other factors could have contributed to or caused mastitis
in the herd.

It is unclear how Roskop believes it helpful to argue that
Wailes’ deposition was not in evidence for purposes of sum-
mary judgment. The absence of Wailes’ testimony in its entirety
provides only less evidence from which we could conclude
there was a material issue of fact. And such argument ren-
ders fruitless Roskop Dairy’s argument that Wailes’ testimony
should not have been excluded.

Furthermore, the alternate causes of mastitis that Roskop
believes the court erred in considering were generally listed
in other admitted testimony, such as Roskop’s deposition
and the limited receipt of Slattery’s deposition. A summary
judgment hearing is similar to a bench trial of an action at
law; thus, ordinarily, the erroneous admission of evidence in
a summary judgment hearing is not reversible error if other
relevant evidence, admitted without objection or properly
admitted over objection, sustains the trial court’s necessary
factual findings.>

Regardless, none of Roskop Dairy’s arguments on this
assignment of error concern the absence of reliable evidence
rebutting the defendants’ prima facie case that improper main-
tenance by Roskop Dairy employees of the physical compo-
nents of the milking system was the proximate cause of the
malfunction. Therefore, these arguments are not grounds for
reversal under our reasoning set forth above.

DENYING DISCOVERY
Roskop Dairy also argues that the district court erred in
denying its motion to compel. Roskop Dairy argues vaguely

36 John Markel Ford v. Auto-Owners Ins. Co., 249 Neb. 286, 543 N.W.2d
173 (1996).
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that there is a series of correspondence listed on the privilege
log between an employee of Midwest and its designated expert
witness. Roskop Dairy further argues generally that it was
entitled to discover underlying facts contained in privileged
documents, such as parameter settings and changes, facts
regarding the operation and maintenance of the system, and
facts relating to the investigations of the malfunction of the
system. Lastly, Roskop Dairy asserts broadly that information
and parameter settings gathered by Hunt in the ordinary course
of business were not privileged.

[22] The party asserting error in a discovery ruling bears
the burden of showing that the ruling was an abuse of dis-
cretion.”” For our review, Roskop Dairy requested only that
sealed exhibit 9 be included in the bill of exceptions. It
is incumbent upon the party appealing to present a record
which supports the errors assigned. Neb. Rev. Stat. § 25-1140
(Reissue 2008) and Neb. Ct. R. App. P. § 2-105(B)(1)(b) (rev.
2010) place the burden on the appellant to file a praecipe
identifying the matter to be contained in the bill of excep-
tions. Thus, we consider Roskop’s assignment of error only
as pertains to exhibit 9.

After an in camera review, the district court found that the
documents contained in exhibit 9 were protected by attorney-
client privilege and work-product privilege. The court also
noted that GEA had produced for Roskop Dairy its most
knowledgeable witness, Hunt, to be deposed on the topics
contained in the deposition notice duces tecum attached to
Roskop Dairy’s motion to compel discovery. Further, the
court found that GEA had produced the records required
by Roskop Dairy’s discovery request, except for those pro-
tected by privilege, but that Roskop Dairy had difficulty
opening certain computer records and that Hunt did not
have them all with him during his deposition. Because of
this, the court allowed Roskop Dairy “latitude in discovery”
and ordered that Roskop Dairy be able to reconvene the

5T U.S. Bank Nat. Assn. v. Peterson, 284 Neb. 820, 823 N.W.2d 460 (2012).
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deposition of Hunt and that Hunt should have with him cop-
ies of any records he relied on for his testimony. That second
deposition occurred, and Hunt brought with him records of
the Dematron parameter settings.

We find no abuse of discretion in the district court’s order
partially denying Roskop Dairy’s motion to compel. There is
no evidence that Roskop Dairy was denied discovery of rel-
evant underlying facts or business records pertaining to param-
eter settings or to any changes or facts regarding the operation
and maintenance of the system. Furthermore, the court did
not abuse its discretion in finding the documents contained in
sealed exhibit 9 to be protected by the attorney-client privilege
and the work-product privilege.

We have recognized that it is difficult to show that a party
has been prejudiced by a discovery order, or that the question
is not moot; and the harmless error doctrine, together with
the broad discretion the discovery rules vest in the trial court,
will bar reversal save under very unusual circumstances.®®
This case is no exception. We find no merit to Roskop
Dairy’s assignment of error concerning the motion to com-
pel discovery.

PREJUDGMENT INTEREST

Finally, we turn to Roskop Dairy’s argument that the district
court erred in granting Midwest prejudgment interest on its
counterclaim for the unpaid amount of the purchase agree-
ment. Prejudgment interest may be awarded only as provided
in § 45-103.02, and whether prejudgment interest should be
awarded is reviewed de novo on appeal.”’

[23] A claim is liquidated for purposes of prejudgment
interest when there is no reasonable controversy as to both the
amount due and the plaintiff’s right to recover.® The amount

8 Brozovky v. Norquest, 231 Neb. 731, 437 N.W.2d 798 (1989).

3 Countryside Co-op v. Harry A. Koch Co., supra note 8.

% Brook Valley Ltd. Part. v. Mutual of Omaha Bank, 285 Neb. 157, 825
N.W.2d 779 (2013). See, also, § 45-103.02(2).
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due was uncontroverted. But we conclude that, given the tech-
nical complexity of the matters at issue, until discovery was
completed, there was a reasonable controversy over Roskop
Dairy’s right to recover. The fact that summary judgment was
properly granted is not decisive of whether there was until
that point a reasonable controversy over a plaintiff’s right to
recover.® We therefore reverse the district court’s order grant-
ing prejudgment interest on Midwest’s counterclaim.

CONCLUSION

The opponent of a motion for summary judgment must be
given the benefit of every reasonable inference from the evi-
dence, but not inferences based on guess or speculation.® The
defendants made a prima facie case that there was no issue of
fact that components other than the Dematron were the proxi-
mate cause of the detachment under vacuum. Roskop’s eyewit-
ness observation of a temporal correlation between installation
of the Dematron and the units detaching under vacuum calls
for speculation and is insufficient to create an issue of fact on
the essential element of proximate cause. We therefore affirm
the order of the district court granting summary judgment for
the defendants in Roskop Dairy’s action against them. But we
reverse the district court’s order granting prejudgment interest
on Midwest’s counterclaim.

AFFIRMED IN PART, AND IN PART REVERSED.

HEeavican, C.J., participating on briefs.

STEPHAN, J., not participating in the decision.

WRIGHT, J., not participating.

1 See, Countryside Co-op v. Harry A. Koch Co., supra note 8; Dutton-

Lainson Co. v. Continental Ins. Co., 279 Neb. 365, 778 N.W.2d 433
(2010).

2 See Giordano v. Sherwood, 968 A.2d 494 (D.C. 2009).
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Postconviction: Appeal and Error. Whether a claim raised in a post-
conviction proceeding is procedurally barred is a question of law.
Jurisdiction: Appeal and Error. A jurisdictional question which does
not involve a factual dispute is determined by an appellate court as a
matter of law.

Judgments: Appeal and Error. When reviewing questions of law,
an appellate court resolves the questions independently of the lower
court’s conclusion.

Postconviction: Election of Remedies. A remedy is cumulative when
it is created by statute and is in addition to another remedy which still
remains in force.

Judgments: Evidence: Appeal and Error. The purpose of a writ of
error coram nobis is to bring before the court rendering judgment mat-
ters of fact which, if known at the time the judgment was rendered,
would have prevented its rendition.

: . A writ of error coram nobis reaches only matters of
fact unknown to the applicant at the time of judgment, not discoverable
through reasonable diligence, and which are of a nature that, if known
by the court, would have prevented entry of judgment.

Judgments: Appeal and Error. A writ of error coram nobis is not
available to correct errors of law.

Convictions: Proof: Appeal and Error. The burden of proof in a
proceeding to obtain a writ of error coram nobis is upon the applicant
claiming the error, and the alleged error of fact must be such as would
have prevented a conviction. It is not enough to show that it might have
caused a different result.

Testimony: Appeal and Error. A writ of error coram nobis cannot be
invoked on the ground that an important witness testified falsely about a
material issue in the case.
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10. Final Orders: Appeal and Error. There are three types of final orders
that may be reviewed on appeal under the provisions of Neb. Rev. Stat.
§ 25-1902 (Reissue 2008): (1) an order which affects a substantial right
in an action and which in effect determines the action and prevents a
judgment, (2) an order affecting a substantial right made during a special
proceeding, and (3) an order affecting a substantial right made on sum-
mary application in an action after judgment is rendered.

11. : . An order affects a substantial right if it affects the subject
matter of the litigation, such as diminishing a claim or defense that
was available to the appellant prior to the order from which he or she
is appealing.

Appeal from the District Court for Douglas County: WILLIAM
B. ZASTERA, Judge. Reversed and remanded with directions.

Sarah P. Newell and James Mowbray, of Nebraska
Commission on Public Advocacy, for appellant.

Douglas J. Peterson, Attorney General, and Kimberly A.
Klein for appellee.

WRIGHT, CONNOLLY, MCCORMACK, MILLER-LERMAN, CASSEL,
and STACY, JJ.

WRIGHT, J.
NATURE OF CASE

Jack E. Harris appeals the order of the district court which
dismissed his motion for postconviction relief without preju-
dice pursuant to Neb. Rev. Stat. § 29-3003 (Reissue 2008),
because it was filed simultaneously with a motion for new
trial and a motion for writ of error coram nobis. We reverse,
and remand the cause to the district court for consideration of
Harris’ postconviction motion on its merits.

SCOPE OF REVIEW
[1] Whether a claim raised in a postconviction proceeding is
procedurally barred is a question of law. State v. Thorpe, 290
Neb. 149, 858 N.W.2d 880 (2015).
[2] A jurisdictional question which does not involve a
factual dispute is determined by an appellate court as a
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matter of law. State v. Meints, 291 Neb. 869, 869 N.W.2d
343 (2015).

[3] When reviewing questions of law, an appellate court
resolves the questions independently of the lower court’s con-
clusion. State v. Thorpe, supra.

FACTS

TRIAL AND DIRECT APPEAL

Harris was convicted by a jury in 1999 of first degree mur-
der and use of a deadly weapon to commit a felony in connec-
tion with the killing of Anthony Jones. He was sentenced to
life in prison for the murder conviction and to a consecutive
term of 10 to 20 years’ imprisonment for the weapon con-
viction. We affirmed Harris’ convictions and sentences on
direct appeal in State v. Harris, 263 Neb. 331, 640 N.W.2d
24 (2002).

FIRST POSTCONVICTION ACTION

On June 3, 2002, Harris filed a pro se motion for post-
conviction relief and was appointed counsel. An evidentiary
hearing was granted as to some, but not all, of the issues
raised in Harris’ motion for postconviction relief. Harris filed
an interlocutory appeal, and we reversed the judgment and
remanded the cause for an evidentiary hearing on two addi-
tional claims. See State v. Harris, 267 Neb. 771, 677 N.W.2d
147 (2004). Following an evidentiary hearing in November
2005, the district court denied postconviction relief and Harris
timely appealed that denial to this court. In December 2006,
while the appeal was still pending, Harris filed a motion to stay
the appeal and remand to the district court for further proceed-
ings on grounds of newly discovered evidence. We overruled
the motion and, on July 27, 2007, affirmed the district court’s
denial of postconviction relief. See State v. Harris, 274 Neb.
40, 735 N.W.2d 774 (2007).

PRESENT POSTCONVICTION ACTION
On January 17, 2008, Harris filed a second motion for
postconviction relief, along with a motion for new trial and a
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motion for writ of error coram nobis. All three motions con-
tained allegations regarding newly discovered evidence that
Howard “Homicide” Hicks, who was the primary witness for
the State, testified falsely at trial that it was Harris who shot
and killed Jones when, in fact, it was Hicks who acted alone
in committing the murder. In support of the motions, Harris
submitted an affidavit from Terrell McClinton, an inmate to
whom Hicks allegedly confessed to killing Jones. Harris also
submitted an affidavit from Curtis Allgood, a witness who
provided details placing Hicks near the crime scene at the
time of the murder and corroborated some of the informa-
tion provided by McClinton. The motions further alleged that
Harris was not aware of this information until McClinton
contacted Harris’ postconviction counsel in August 2006 and
that Harris was prevented from discovering the evidence
due to the misconduct of the prosecuting attorney and the
State’s witness.

The district court granted an evidentiary hearing seemingly
limited to the postconviction motion, stating that “[bJecause
the Court is granting [Harris’] motion for an evidentiary hear-
ing, his motions for new trial and writ of error coram nobis
will not be addressed.” Before the evidentiary hearing was
held, the entire Douglas County District Court bench recused
itself when the prosecutor of the case was appointed to the
bench. On August 27, 2009, a district court judge from Sarpy
County was appointed to preside over the matter.

On December 20, 2010, Harris was permitted to file a third
amended motion for postconviction relief, which added alle-
gations of newly discovered evidence relating to Hicks’ plea
deal, contending that the prosecutor engaged in misconduct by
misrepresenting or allowing Hicks to misrepresent the nature
of the plea agreement at Harris’ trial.

An evidentiary hearing on the third motion for postconvic-
tion relief was held in the district court on June 28, 2013.
During the hearing, the State argued that the postconviction
action must be dismissed pursuant to § 29-3003 because the
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motion for new trial and the motion for writ of error coram
nobis were still pending in the district court.

On October 16, 2014, the district court agreed with the
State and dismissed Harris’ postconviction motion pursuant to
§ 29-3003, without addressing the merits of his claims. It cited
the language of the statute and concluded:

[Harris’] simultaneous filing of a Motion for New Trial
and Writ of Error Coram Nobis constitutes an acknowl-
edgment that he had other remedies available to him
and that a postconviction motion was not the exclusive
remedy available to him as required by Neb. Rev. Stat.
§ 29-3003. Accordingly, this Court finds that it is not
necessary to address the claims asserted by [Harris] in his
postconviction motion, as it should be dismissed.
Harris timely appeals from that judgment.

ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

Harris assigns that the district court erred in dismissing his
motion for postconviction relief under § 29-3003, because
the remedies are mutually exclusive, not cumulative. He also
assigns that the district court’s judgment is not a final, appeal-
able order, because the remedies constitute separate causes
of action and the district court did not direct final entry
of judgment as required under Neb. Rev. Stat. § 25-1315
(Reissue 2008).

ANALYSIS

DisSMISSAL OF POSTCONVICTION MOTION
Harris first assigns that the district court erred in dismissing
his motion for postconviction relief on the basis of § 29-3003,
which provides:

The remedy provided by sections 29-3001 to 29-3004
is cumulative and is not intended to be concurrent with
any other remedy existing in the courts of this state.
Any proceeding filed under the provisions of sections
29-3001 to 29-3004 which states facts which if true
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would constitute grounds for relief under another remedy
shall be dismissed without prejudice.

[4] A remedy is cumulative when it is created by statute and
is in addition to another remedy which still remains in force.
State v. Turner, 194 Neb. 252, 231 N.W.2d 345 (1975). The
cumulative remedy may not be pursued simultaneously with
the previously existing remedy. /d.

Harris argues that the remedies sought in a motion for new
trial and a motion for writ of error coram nobis are not cumu-
lative to the postconviction remedy, because they are mutually
exclusive. But whether those remedies are mutually exclusive
is not important to our analysis. By virtue of § 29-3003, the
postconviction remedy is clearly a cumulative remedy that
may not be pursued concurrently with any other remedy exist-
ing under state law, including the remedies sought in a motion
for new trial and a motion for writ of error coram nobis. Thus,
the question we must consider is whether the allegations,
if true, under the above remedies would constitute grounds
for relief.

We agree with Harris that the district court erred when it
dismissed the postconviction action solely on the basis that
other motions for relief were pending. The question is not
whether the petitioner believes he is entitled to other remedies,
but, rather, whether the allegations, if true, would constitute
grounds for relief under the other remedies sought.

Accordingly, we hold that a court presented with a motion
for postconviction relief which exists simultaneously with a
motion seeking relief under another remedy must dismiss the
postconviction motion without prejudice when the allegations,
if true, would constitute grounds for relief under the other
remedy sought. See § 29-3003. If the district court determines
the other remedy has no grounds for relief, the postconviction
motion is not procedurally barred under § 29-3003 and should
be considered on its merits.

Applying this framework and analyzing the other remedies
sought in the case at bar, we conclude that Harris’ motion for
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new trial and his motion for writ of error coram nobis provide
no grounds for relief.

Harris’ motion for new trial is based on the grounds set forth
in Neb. Rev. Stat. § 29-2101(1), (2), and (5) (Reissue 2008).
At the time Harris filed his motion, the applicable statute of
limitations was 10 days from the date of the verdict for claims
under subsections (1) and (2), and 3 years from the date of the
verdict for claims under subsection (5). See Neb. Rev. Stat.
§ 29-2103(3) and (4) (Reissue 2008). The verdicts Harris is
challenging were entered on July 27, 1999. His motion for new
trial was filed on January 17, 2008. On its face, Harris” motion
for new trial is barred by the applicable statute of limitations
and there is no possibility of relief.

[5-8] We also conclude that there is no possibility of Harris’
obtaining relief through his motion for writ of error coram
nobis. The purpose of a writ of error coram nobis is to bring
before the court rendering judgment matters of fact which, if
known at the time the judgment was rendered, would have
prevented its rendition. State v. Sandoval, 288 Neb. 754, 851
N.W.2d 656 (2014). The writ reaches only matters of fact
unknown to the applicant at the time of judgment, not discov-
erable through reasonable diligence, and which are of a nature
that, if known by the court, would have prevented entry of
judgment. /d. The writ is not available to correct errors of law.
Id. The burden of proof in a proceeding to obtain a writ of
error coram nobis is upon the applicant claiming the error, and
the alleged error of fact must be such as would have prevented
a conviction. It is not enough to show that it might have caused
a different result. State v. Hessler, 288 Neb. 670, 850 N.W.2d
777 (2014).

Here, the affidavits from McClinton and Allgood are state-
ments which imply that Hicks testified falsely against Harris
at Harris’ trial. McClinton stated that he knew Hicks and
that it was Hicks’ job to kill people for a drug dealer named
“Corey Bass.” McClinton said that during a conversation
with Hicks in 2001, Hicks told him that Hicks was the per-
son who shot Jones and described to McClinton the details
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of the killing, including the fact that he walked to Allgood’s
house afterward.

Allgood stated that at approximately 10:30 p.m. on August
22, 1995, he was at home having a conversation with Bass
when Hicks hurriedly entered Allgood’s home through the
back door without knocking. Allgood overheard Hicks telling
Bass that “‘it was handled.”” According to Allgood, Hicks was
normally “very laid back,” but that night, he was very agitated.
About a week later, Allgood learned that Jones had been mur-
dered in his apartment, which was just around the corner from
Allgood’s home.

[9] Assuming these allegations are true, Harris would not
be entitled to a writ of error coram nobis. The writ of error
coram nobis cannot be invoked on the ground that an impor-
tant witness testified falsely about a material issue in the case.
See, State v. Lotter, 266 Neb. 245, 664 N.W.2d 892 (2003),
superseded by statute on other grounds, State v. Huggins, 291
Neb. 443, 866 N.W.2d 80 (2015); Parker v. State, 178 Neb.
1, 131 N.W.2d 678 (1964); Hawk v. State, 151 Neb. 717, 39
N.W.2d 561 (1949). Thus, we conclude that Harris’ motion for
writ of error coram nobis, on its face, provides no possibility
of relief.

Because Harris has no possibility of obtaining relief through
the motion for new trial and the motion for writ of error coram
nobis that were filed simultaneously with the postconviction
action, the district court erred in dismissing the postconviction
action under § 29-3003. We therefore remand the cause to the
district court for consideration of the postconviction motion
on its merits.

FINALITY OF ORDER
In his second assignment of error, Harris argues that the
district court’s judgment is not a final, appealable order, even
though he is the one who appealed from it. He argues that the
dismissal of his postconviction motion is not a final, appeal-
able order, because there were two other claims for relief
presented in this action and the district court did not expressly
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determine that there was no just reason for delay or expressly
direct the entry of final judgment as to this claim, as required
under § 25-1315(1).

[10] There are three types of final orders that may be
reviewed on appeal under the provisions of Neb. Rev. Stat.
§ 25-1902 (Reissue 2008): (1) an order which affects a sub-
stantial right in an action and which in effect determines the
action and prevents a judgment, (2) an order affecting a sub-
stantial right made during a special proceeding, and (3) an
order affecting a substantial right made on summary applica-
tion in an action after judgment is rendered. State v. Jackson,
291 Neb. 908, 870 N.W.2d 133 (2015). We have previously
held that postconviction actions are special proceedings within
the context of § 25-1902. See State v. Silvers, 255 Neb. 702,
587 N.W.2d 325 (1998).

[11] An order affects a substantial right if it affects the
subject matter of the litigation, such as diminishing a claim or
defense that was available to the appellant prior to the order
from which he or she is appealing. State v. Jackson, supra. The
order in the present case affected a substantial right of Harris.
It concluded that his postconviction motion was procedurally
barred under § 29-3003 and dismissed his action entirely, albeit
without prejudice. Because the district court’s order affected a
substantial right and was made in a special proceeding, it is
final and appealable under § 25-1902.

CONCLUSION

The district court erred in dismissing Harris’ motion for
postconviction relief pursuant to § 29-3003. We reverse the
district court’s judgment and remand the cause to the dis-
trict court for consideration of the postconviction motion on
its merits.

REVERSED AND REMANDED WITH DIRECTIONS.
Heavican, C.J., not participating.
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CASSEL, J.
INTRODUCTION

For the third time, we consider an appeal from a judi-
cial dissociation of four partners from a family agricultural
partnership having assets consisting primarily of real estate.
The main issue is whether the district court, in recalculat-
ing the buyout distributions, correctly implemented our man-
date from the second appeal. The dissociating partners rely
on a hypothetical capital gain on the real estate but ignore
that this “gain” exceeds the total profit on the hypothetical
sale of all of the partnership’s assets. We affirm the district
court’s judgment.

BACKGROUND

In Robertson v. Jacobs Cattle Co. (Robertson I),! we upheld
the judicial dissociation of four partners of the Jacobs Cattle
Company, a family partnership owning agricultural land in
Valley County, Nebraska. However, we reversed the district
court’s calculation of the buyout price to be paid to the four
dissociating partners and remanded the cause for further pro-
ceedings on that issue.

In the second appeal (Robertson II),> we again reversed the
district court’s calculation of the buyout price to be paid to the
dissociating partners. We remanded the cause with direction
that the court calculate the buyout distributions “by adding
12.5 percent of the profit received from a hypothetical sale of
the partnership’s assets . . . to the value of each dissociated
partner’s capital account.”® The district court purported to fol-
low our mandate, but the dissociating partners filed this appeal
from its order.

The underlying facts concerning this appeal are primarily
contained in Robertson I and will be briefly summarized here.

' Robertson v. Jacobs Cattle Co., 285 Neb. 859, 830 N.W.2d 191 (2013).
2 Robertson v. Jacobs Cattle Co., 288 Neb. 846, 852 N.W.2d 325 (2014).
3 Id. at 853, 852 N.W.2d at 331.
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The Jacobs Cattle Company was organized in 1979. As noted
above, the partnership consisted of agricultural land, compris-
ing 1,525 acres. As of September 2011, the land was appraised
at a value of $5,135,000.

At the time of litigation, the partnership consisted of seven
partners. (Our opinion in Robertson I stated that the partner-
ship had six partners. But as indicated in Robertson II, one
individual represented two trusts, and thus, the partnership had
seven partners.) The partners included:

* Ardith Jacobs, as trustee of the Leonard Jacobs Family Trust;

e Ardith Jacobs, as trustee of the Ardith Jacobs Living
Revocable Trust;

e Dennis Jacobs;

* Duane Jacobs;

» Carolyn Sue Jacobs;

e James E. Robertson; and

* Patricia Robertson.

In July 2007, Duane, Carolyn, James, and Patricia (collec-
tively the dissociating partners) filed a complaint against the
partnership, Ardith, and Dennis (collectively the remaining
partners). The complaint sought a dissolution and winding up
of the partnership under the Uniform Partnership Act of 1998.
In an amended answer and counterclaim, the remaining part-
ners alleged that dissociation, not dissolution, was the appro-
priate remedy.

After a bench trial, the district court determined that no
grounds for dissolution of the partnership had been established
under Neb. Rev. Stat. § 67-439(5) (Reissue 2009). However,
the court ordered dissociation of the four partners by judicial
expulsion pursuant to Neb. Rev. Stat. § 67-431(5)(a) and (c)
(Reissue 2009). And after receiving buyout proposals from the
parties, the court arrived at a distribution scheme wherein each
of the dissociating partners received 5.33 percent of the total
liquidation value of the partnership.

In Robertson I, we affirmed the dissociation of the four
partners and the date of the judicial expulsion as the valuation
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date of the partnership’s assets. We also observed that the
buyout price was governed by Neb. Rev. Stat. § 67-434(2)
(Reissue 2009), which provides:
The buyout price of a dissociated partner’s interest is the
amount that would have been distributable to the disso-
ciating partner under subsection (2) of section 67-445 if,
on the date of dissociation, the assets of the partnership
were sold at a price equal to the greater of the liquidation
value or the value based on a sale of the entire business
as a going concern without the dissociated partner and
the partnership were wound up as of that date. Interest
must be paid from the date of dissociation to the date
of payment.
And another statute requires that profits and losses be cred-
ited and charged to the partners’ accounts. Neb. Rev. Stat.
§ 67-445(2) (Reissue 2009) provides:
Each partner is entitled to a settlement of all partnership
accounts upon winding up the partnership business. In
settling accounts among the partners, profits and losses
that result from the liquidation of the partnership assets
must be credited and charged to the partners’ accounts.
The partnership shall make a distribution to a partner
in an amount equal to any excess of the credits over the
charges in the partner’s account. A partner shall contrib-
ute to the partnership an amount equal to any excess of
the charges over the credits in the partner’s account but
excluding from the calculation charges attributable to an
obligation for which the partner is not personally liable
under section 67-418.
We concluded that based upon the plain language of
§ 67-434(2), “the proper calculation must be based upon the
assumption that the partnership assets, here the land, were sold
on the date of dissociation, even though no actual sale occurs.”

* Robertson I, supra note 1, 285 Neb. at 877, 830 N.W.2d at 205.
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And as to the appreciation in the land’s value, we determined
that the capital gain from a hypothetical sale of the land was to
be considered “profit” in the context of § 67-445(2). However,
there was no indication as to whether such profit should have
been distributed based upon the partners’ capital account own-
ership or their right to partnership income.

Under the operative partnership agreement, each partner was
allotted a capital account and an income account. A partner’s
capital account was “directly proportionate to the original
Capital contributions as later adjusted for draws taken from the
Partnership.” As for the income account, the partnership’s “net
profits and net losses . . . as determined by generally accepted
accounting principles” were to be credited or debited to each
partner’s income account in proportion to the partner’s votes in
the partnership. Out of a total of eight votes in the partnership,
the dissociating partners each possessed one vote. Thus, each
of the dissociating partners was entitled to 12.5 percent of the
partnership’s “net profits.”

In determining its initial buyout price, the district court
considered the value of the partnership’s assets, including the
appreciated value of the land, less the partnership’s liabilities,
and arrived at a liquidation value of $5,212,015 for the part-
nership. The court then applied each partner’s capital account
ownership percentage to the partnership’s total liquidation
value. Thus, because each dissociating partner possessed 5.33
percent capital account ownership, each dissociating partner
received 5.33 percent of the total liquidation value.

We reversed the district court’s buyout price and remanded
the cause for further proceedings concerning the treatment
of the appreciation in the value of the land. In Robertson I,
it was unclear whether the capital gain which would be real-
ized from a hypothetical sale of the land should be distributed
based upon the partners’ capital account ownership or as “net
profits” of the partnership. As the district court determined, if
the capital gain was distributable based upon capital account
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ownership, each of the dissociating partners was entitled to
5.33 percent. But if the capital gain was to be treated as “net
profits,” each of the dissociating partners was entitled to
12.5 percent.

On remand, the district court received expert testimony
from both the dissociating partners and the remaining part-
ners. Ultimately, the court determined that the capital gain
from a hypothetical sale of the land did not constitute “net
profits.” Rather, the court determined that the capital gain
should be distributed in accordance with the partners’ capital
account ownership. This resulted in a lower buyout distribu-
tion to the dissociating partners, and the dissociating part-
ners appealed.

In Robertson II, we concluded that the district court erred
in determining that the capital gain from a hypothetical sale of
the land would not constitute “net profits.” In making its deter-
mination, the court had relied upon expert testimony that gain
or income could not be recognized until an actual sale of the
land took place. But this testimony was based upon the prem-
ise that no actual sale occurred. And we determined that this
premise was inconsistent with the controlling statute. As we
explained, “Appellees’ experts’ analysis ignored the statutory
requirement that the buyout distributions be calculated based
on the assumption that the assets had been sold and the result-
ing profits distributed to the partners.”

However, we determined that there was sufficient evidence
for the district court to calculate the buyout distributions on
remand. The dissociating partners’ expert witness testified
that under generally accepted accounting principles, the term
“net profits” includes capital gain from the sale of land. Thus,
we concluded that the “capital gain from the hypothetical
sale of land should be distributed to the partners in accord-
ance with [the provision] governing the distribution of ‘net

5 Robertson I, supra note 2, 288 Neb. at 852, 852 N.W.2d at 330.
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profits.””® And we remanded the cause with direction that the
district court “enter an order which calculates a buyout dis-
tribution by adding 12.5 percent of the profit received from a
hypothetical sale of the partnership’s assets . . . to the value
of each dissociated partner’s capital account.”

On remand, the dissociating partners offered seven exhibits
for the district court’s consideration: this court’s opinion and
mandate, a certified copy of the application to spread mandate
and determine judgment amount filed with the district court,
affidavits and e-mails pertaining to attempts by the dissoci-
ating partners’ counsel to obtain a bill of exceptions for the
evidentiary hearing following our mandate in Robertson I, and
the bill of exceptions for that hearing. The remaining partners
objected, essentially based on this court’s determination that
there was sufficient evidence already in the record for the dis-
trict court to calculate the buyout distributions on remand. The
district court sustained the objections.

The district court purported to follow our mandate in
Robertson I1. To that effect, it again identified the net liquida-
tion value of the partnership as $5,212,015. From that amount,
it subtracted the total balance of the partners’ capital accounts
to arrive at a gain of $4,052,201 from the liquidation:

Net liquidation value $5,212.,015
Total balance of capital accounts ($1.159.814)

Gain on liquidation of partnership $4,052,201
The court then distributed 12.5 percent of the gain to each
of the dissociating partners, in addition to the balance of the
dissociating partners’ capital accounts. Thus, the dissociating
partners received:

* Duane $598,497 = ($4,052,201 x .125) + $91,972
* Carolyn  $598,501 = (84,052,201 x .125) + $91,976
* James $598,977 = ($4,052,201 x .125) + $92,452
* Patricia  $598,976 = (84,052,201 x .125) + $92,451

6 1d.
7 Id. at 853, 852 N.W.2d at 331.
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Finally, the court ordered that the buyout distributions be paid
to the “Clerk of the District Court of Valley County.”

The dissociating partners filed a timely notice of appeal. We
denied the remaining partners’ motion for summary affirmance.
After briefing and oral argument, the appeal was submitted.

ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

In the current appeal, the dissociating partners assign nine
errors. In those errors, summarized and condensed, they con-
test (1) the ultimate amount of their buyout distributions; (2)
the district court’s authority, under this court’s mandates, to
require that payment be made to the clerk of the district court;
and (3) the exclusion of the evidence offered by the dissociat-
ing partners.

STANDARD OF REVIEW
[1,2] An action for a partnership dissolution and accounting
between partners is one in equity and is reviewed de novo on
the record.® On appeal from an equity action, an appellate court
resolves questions of law and fact independently of the trial
court’s determinations.’

ANALYSIS
Buyout Distributions.

In Robertson II, we concluded that the “capital gain from
the hypothetical sale of land should be distributed to the part-
ners in accordance with [the provision] governing the distri-
bution of ‘net profits.””!® We remanded the cause, directing
the district court to “enter an order which calculates a buyout
distribution by adding 12.5 percent of the profit received from
a hypothetical sale of the partnership’s assets . . . to the value

8 Robertson II, supra note 2.
° Id.
19 74, at 852, 852 N.W.2d at 330.
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of each dissociated partner’s capital account.”'’ On remand, the
district court utilized a net liquidation value of the partnership
in the amount of $5,212,015. From that figure, it subtracted
the total balance of the partners’ capital accounts, resulting in
a gain of $4,052,201 from the liquidation.

The dissociating partners contend that the district court
should have calculated the buyout distributions beginning
with a capital gain from the hypothetical sale of the farm-
land. From the land’s market value, they would compute
the capital gain by subtracting the land’s original purchase
price. They assert that they each should have received 12.5
percent of this capital gain, in addition to the balance of
their capital accounts. According to the dissociating partners,
such a calculation would result in distributions of $718,685
to Duane, $718,689 to Carolyn, $719,165 to James, and
$719,164 to Patricia.

We acknowledge that we made frequent reference to “capi-
tal gain” in Robertson I and Robertson II; however, the dis-
sociating partners’ proposed calculation is too simplistic. The
dissociating partners overlook the proper framework of a
hypothetical liquidation of the partnership. As we stated in
Robertson 11, “[T]he buyout distributions were to be calculated
based on the assumption that the partnership assets had been
liquidated and the profits from such liquidation were cred-
ited to the partners.”’> And in determining the buyout price,
§ 67-445(2) provides that “profits and losses that result from
the liquidation of the partnership assets must be credited and
charged to the partners’ accounts.”

The capital gain from the sale of the land does not repre-
sent the “profits and losses” from the liquidation of all of the
partnership’s assets. As the dissociating partners conceded at
oral argument, the record does not reflect what the profit or

"' Id. at 853, 852 N.W.2d at 331.
2 1d.
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loss would have been on the hypothetical sale of the remain-
ing assets, i.e., the assets other than the land. They attempt to
minimize the significance of this concession by stating that
the “value” of the personal property was only about $35,000.
But the liquidation value of the remaining assets tells us noth-
ing regarding the gain or loss from their hypothetical sale.
Thus, the dissociating partners’ arguments are premised only
on the gain or loss from part of the assets. Our discussion in
Robertson II makes it abundantly clear that the hypothetical
sale must apply to all of the partnership assets. The dissociat-
ing partners’ calculations fail this basic requirement.

As determined by the district court, the net liquidation value
of the partnership was $5,212,015. And none of the parties
contested this figure in Robertson I.

In order to calculate the “profits and losses,” the total
balance of the partners’ capital accounts in the amount of
$1,159,814 must be subtracted from the net liquidation value.
The partners’ capital accounts are not profits derived from
the hypothetical liquidation of the partnership’s assets, but
represent equity in the partnership and, as the dissociating
partners conceded at oral argument, included all of the cumu-
lative profits and losses during the life of the partnership
other than those flowing from the hypothetical sale of net
partnership assets. Thus, as identified by the district court,
the net profits from the liquidation would be $4,052,201. And
each of the dissociating partners was entitled to 12.5 percent
of this amount, in addition to the balance of his or her capi-
tal account.

Based on the above analysis, we conclude that the district
court correctly followed our mandate to determine a buyout
distribution by adding “12.5 percent of the profit received
from a hypothetical sale of the partnership’s assets” to the
balance of each dissociating partner’s capital account. The
dissociating partners rely wholly upon the use of pure capital
gain in calculating the buyout distributions. But that approach
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fails to implement the statutory framework of §§ 67-434(2)
and 67-445(2).

Adopting the dissociating partners’ argument would lead
to an absurd result. Their argument assumes a total partner-
ship “pie,” as of the valuation date, of at least $6,173,514
($5,013,700 capital gain on real estate + $1,159,814 capital
accounts). But the “pie” to be divided cannot exceed the total
hypothetical liquidation value of all of the partnership’s assets
less the total amount of the partnership’s liabilities. The undis-
puted evidence shows that this amount was $5,212,015. Their
argument simply does not “add up.” The assigned errors con-
cerning the buyout distribution have no merit.

Payment to Clerk of District Court.

[3] The dissociating partners assert that the district court
was without authority, within the parameters of this court’s
mandate, to order that the buyout distributions be paid to the
clerk of the district court. They argue that there was no previ-
ous order or mandate that buyout payments be made to the
clerk of the district court. But under Neb. Rev. Stat. § 25-2214
(Reissue 2008), the clerk of each court “shall exercise the
powers and perform the duties conferred and imposed upon
him by . . . the common law” and is “under the direction of his
court.” And we have previously indicated that the proper place
to pay a judgment is the clerk of the court in which the judg-
ment is obtained."” This assigned error lacks merit.

Exclusion of Evidence on Remand.

[4] Finally, the dissociating partners claim that the district
court erred in refusing to receive the exhibits they offered at
the hearing on remand following Robertson II. Our opinion
in Robertson Il indicated that the record was sufficient to
determine the appropriate buyout distributions to be paid to
the dissociating partners. And our mandate did not permit

13 See Myers v. Miller, 134 Neb. 824, 279 N.W. 778 (1938).
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a further evidentiary hearing to be conducted. Where the
Nebraska Supreme Court reverses a judgment and remands a
cause to the district court for a special purpose, on remand,
the district court has no power or jurisdiction to do anything
except to proceed in accordance with the mandate as inter-
preted in the light of the Supreme Court’s opinion.'* Thus,
the district court did not err in refusing to receive addi-
tional evidence.

CONCLUSION

We find no error in the district court’s calculation of the
buyout distribution on remand, or in its order that such dis-
tributions be paid to the clerk of the district court. Further,
we find no error in the district court’s exclusion of evidence.
Therefore, we affirm.

AFFIRMED.
WRIGHT, J., not participating.

Y VanHorn v. Nebraska State Racing Comm., 273 Neb. 737, 732 N.W.2d 651
(2007).
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LErRMAN, and CASSEL, JJ., and INBODY, Judge.

WRIGHT, J.
NATURE OF CASE
Lyle J. Carman appeals his conviction for “unlawful act
manslaughter” under Neb. Rev. Stat. § 28-305 (Reissue 2008).
Carman’s dump truck struck the rear of a car that had stopped
or slowed due to highway construction. The collision forced
the car off the highway, causing it to roll, and the driver was
killed as a result. The unlawful acts for which Carman was
convicted were following too closely and driving too fast for
the conditions present. He claims these acts were traffic infrac-
tions which were insufficient to sustain his conviction. For the
reasons stated below, we reverse, and remand with directions to
vacate Carman’s conviction and sentence.

SCOPE OF REVIEW

[1] The constitutionality and construction of a statute are
questions of law, which an appellate court resolves indepen-
dently of the conclusion reached by the lower court. See State
v. Taylor, 287 Neb. 386, 842 N.W.2d 771 (2014).

[2] When reviewing a criminal conviction for sufficiency of
the evidence to sustain the conviction, the relevant question
for an appellate court is whether, after viewing the evidence in
the light most favorable to the prosecution, any rational trier
of fact could have found the essential elements of the crime
beyond a reasonable doubt. State v. Nolan, 283 Neb. 50, 807
N.W.2d 520 (2012).

BACKGROUND
Carman was driving a dump truck on an interstate highway
that was closed to one lane eastbound due to construction, and
traffic was stop and go. Carman stated that he looked down
at his side mirrors and that when he looked up, the victim’s
car had stopped and he was unable to timely stop. Carman’s
truck struck the victim’s car from the rear, causing it to go off
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the Interstate and roll. The driver of the car died as a result of
the collision.

Carman was charged and ultimately convicted of man-
slaughter pursuant to § 28-305, a Class III felony. Section
28-305 codifies what has been referred to as “unlawful act
manslaughter” or “involuntary manslaughter.” Unlawful act
manslaughter is defined as causing the death of another “unin-
tentionally while in the commission of an unlawful act.” See
§ 28-305.

Carman waived his right to a jury trial and proceeded with a
bench trial. The district court found him guilty of the unlawful
acts of “following too close,” under Neb. Rev. Stat. § 60-6,140
(Reissue 2010), and “driving too fa[s]t for [the] conditions,”
under Neb. Rev. Stat. § 60-6,185 (Reissue 2010). Carman was
found not guilty of driving under the influence, reckless driv-
ing, and careless driving.

Before trial, Carman raised the issue of being charged
with felony manslaughter instead of misdemeanor motor vehi-
cle homicide. Motor vehicle homicide occurs when a person
causes the death of another unintentionally while engaged in
the operation of a motor vehicle in violation of Nebraska law
or a city ordinance. See Neb. Rev. Stat. § 28-306 (Cum. Supp.
2014). Carman claimed that he should have been charged with
motor vehicle homicide and that § 28-306 was the proper
statute if the unintentional killing of another occurred during
the operation of a motor vehicle. He claimed that a prosecu-
tor should not be permitted to charge a defendant under the
general unlawful act manslaughter statute if the unintentional
death was caused by a motor vehicle accident.

In his motion for new trial, Carman alleged that the
provisions of § 28-305 were unconstitutional as applied to
his conviction. The motion was overruled without discus-
sion or written order. The district court did not expressly
address whether the use of traffic infractions as a basis for
a felony conviction for manslaughter violated due process,
but rejected Carman’s arguments by overruling his motion.
Carman timely appealed.
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ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

Carman argues, summarized and restated, that the district
court erred in concluding the evidence was sufficient to con-
vict him of manslaughter. He claims that § 28-306 precludes a
conviction for unlawful act manslaughter when the underlying
offense is a traffic infraction or other public welfare offense
and that, therefore, the evidence was insufficient to convict
him of manslaughter.

ANALYSIS

The issue is whether Carman’s traffic infractions were suf-
ficient unlawful acts to support a manslaughter conviction
under § 28-305. Carman argues that recent amendments to
§ 28-306, the motor vehicle homicide statute, demonstrate the
Legislature’s intent to preclude convictions for manslaugh-
ter when an unintentional death results from an unlawful act
occurring while operating a motor vehicle. He claims the
predicate unlawful acts, which were traffic infractions, were
insufficient to sustain his conviction.

[3,4] Our analysis is governed by the following principles.
Statutory interpretation presents a question of law, which an
appellate court reviews independently of the lower court’s
determination. See JVokal v. Nebraska Acct. & Disclosure
Comm., 276 Neb. 988, 759 N.W.2d 75 (2009). Penal statutes
are considered in the context of the object sought to be accom-
plished, the evils and mischiefs sought to be remedied, and the
purpose sought to be served. /d. A court must then reasonably
or liberally construe the statute to achieve the statute’s purpose,
rather than construing it in a manner that defeats the statutory
purpose. See Fisher v. Payflex Systems USA, 285 Neb. 808,
829 N.W.2d 703 (2013). An appellate court will try to avoid,
when possible, a statutory construction which would lead to an
absurd result. See State v. McCave, 282 Neb. 500, 805 N.W.2d
290 (2011).

“A person commits manslaughter if he . . . causes the
death of another unintentionally while in the commission of
an unlawful act.” § 28-305. At the time Carman was charged,
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manslaughter was a Class III felony, with a penalty between 1
and 20 years’ imprisonment, up to a $25,000 fine, or both.

“A person who causes the death of another unintentionally
while engaged in the operation of a motor vehicle in viola-
tion of the law of the State of Nebraska or in violation of any
city or village ordinance commits motor vehicle homicide.”
§ 28-306(1) (emphasis supplied). Motor vehicle homicide is
a Class I misdemeanor, but the statute provides for penalty
enhancements if the offender is convicted of driving under the
influence, reckless or willful reckless driving, or driving under
revocation. These predicate offenses enhance motor vehicle
homicide to varying degrees of felonies.

Carman opines that “there has always existed, just below
the surface, an issue as to what criminal intent or mens rea
had to be present in the unlawful act to support a manslaugh-
ter conviction.” Brief for appellant at 21. He claims that a
manslaughter conviction cannot be upheld when the unlawful
act was an infraction or petty offense. He points out that all
prior manslaughter cases involving the use of a motor vehicle
evidenced a showing that the driver was impaired or driv-
ing recklessly.

While both §§ 28-305 and 28-306 require some kind of
unlawful act which proximately causes an unintentional
death of another, neither statute defines the type of unlawful
act required. The district court acquitted Carman of driving
recklessly, pursuant to Neb. Rev. Stat. § 60-6,213 (Reissue
2010), and driving carelessly, pursuant to Neb. Rev. Stat.
§ 60-6,212 (Reissue 2010). But it found him guilty of follow-
ing too closely, in violation of § 60-6,140, and driving too
fast under the conditions, in violation of § 60-6,185, both traf-
fic infractions.

A traffic infraction is a violation of the Nebraska Rules
of the Road. State v. Lee, 265 Neb. 663, 658 N.W.2d 669
(2003). Neither of the infractions for which Carman was con-
victed is punishable by incarceration; the infractions carry
only a fine. But the district court found that these infractions
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were unlawful acts which caused the death of the vic-
tim unintentionally and, therefore, constituted the crime of
manslaughter.

It is apparent to this court that such traffic infractions are
not the type of unlawful acts that were typically considered in
connection with the crime of manslaughter. Nevertheless, the
State asserts that any unlawful act which proximately causes
the death of another is sufficient under § 28-305 and that the
State could validly exercise prosecutorial discretion to charge
the unlawful act as manslaughter. We agree with the State’s
assertion that it had discretion to elect under which statute to
charge Carman. But the election to charge under § 28-305 did
not define what unlawful act the State was required to prove in
order to sustain the manslaughter conviction. The State’s argu-
ment that it had discretion to charge Carman with manslaugh-
ter or motor vehicle homicide does not answer the question.
Prosecutorial discretion does nothing to define what unlawful
act is required for manslaughter.

We have repeatedly held that the same conduct may consti-
tute both involuntary manslaughter and motor vehicle homi-
cide and that the State has prosecutorial discretion to pursue
charges for either offense. But the State’s argument misapplies
prosecutorial discretion as a basis for its position that traffic
infractions that would sustain a conviction for misdemeanor
motor vehicle homicide would also sustain a conviction for
felony manslaughter. This argument ignores a fundamental dif-
ference between those unlawful acts required for manslaughter
and those which would sustain a conviction for misdemeanor
motor vehicle homicide. A public welfare offense which would
sustain misdemeanor motor vehicle homicide does not require
mens rea. In contrast, the predicate unlawful act for man-
slaughter must have a mens rea.

Although §§ 28-305 and 28-306 do not refer to mens rea
or criminal intent in the unlawful act, the distinction between
the two statutes cannot be ignored. Because of the different
context in which the offenses of manslaughter and motor
vehicle homicide arise, §§ 28-305 and 28-306 are clearly
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distinct crimes and must be interpreted differently. Whereas
the offense of unlawful act manslaughter or involuntary man-
slaughter has its origins in common law, motor vehicle homi-
cide does not.

In State v. Perina, 282 Neb. 463, 804 N.W.2d 164 (2011),
we examined the requirements for misdemeanor motor vehi-
cle homicide in the context of the requirement of criminal
intent. The deceased was killed when a dump truck driven
by the defendant ran a red light and struck the decedent’s
car. The defendant was charged with misdemeanor motor
vehicle homicide and violation of a traffic control device.
We compared the distinct interpretations of public welfare
offense penal statutes with those which were codifications of
common-law offenses. We concluded that misdemeanor motor
vehicle homicide was a public welfare offense which did not
require proof of mens rea.

In discussing the absence of mens rea in penal statutes
codifying common-law offenses, we reiterated the rule for
statutory interpretation of criminal statutes. “‘“[T]he exis-
tence of a criminal intent is regarded as essential even though
the terms of the statute do not require it, unless it clearly
appears that the legislature intended to make the act criminal
without regard to the intent with which it was done.”’” Id.
at 470, 804 N.W.2d at 170 (quoting State v. Pettit, 233 Neb.
436, 445 N.W.2d 890 (1989). In applying this rule to misde-
meanor motor vehicle homicide, we held that misdemeanor
motor vehicle homicide was a public welfare offense without
common-law origins and that, therefore, the absence of the
mens rea element in the statute indicated that the Legislature
intended to dispense with the element.

Our reasoning in Perina was based on the U.S. Supreme
Court’s analysis in Morissette v. United States, 342 U.S.
246, 72 S. Ct. 240, 96 L. Ed. 288 (1952), and its progeny.
In Morissette, the defendant was convicted of violating 18
U.S.C. § 641 (2012), which provided, then as now, that who-
ever steals or knowingly converts U.S. government property
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may be punished by a fine or imprisonment. In a rural area,
the defendant found spent bomb casings and sold them. He
explained that he had no intention of stealing anything and
thought the casings had been abandoned. He was convicted,
because the trial court concluded that the statute required no
element of mens rea and that any necessary intent could be
presumed from the defendant’s act.

In reversing the lower courts’ decisions, the U.S. Supreme
Court discussed the principle that some crimes, which became
known as public welfare offenses, can involve no mental ele-
ment or criminal intent, but consist only of forbidden acts or
omissions. Such offenses did not arise from the common law,
but, rather, from changing societal circumstances and did not
require any element of intent. Such offenses were not in the
nature of positive aggressions or invasions, with which the
common law so often dealt, but were in the nature of neglect
where the law requires care, or inaction where it imposes a
duty. One accused of such offenses usually is in a position to
prevent it with no more care than society might reasonably
expect and no more exertion than it might reasonably exact
from one who assumed his responsibilities. Thus, the type of
legislation whereby penalties serve as effective means of regu-
lation dispenses with the conventional requirement for criminal
intent. The Court found that 18 U.S.C. § 641 was essentially
a theft offense codified from the common law and, therefore,
required proof of criminal intent or mens rea.

The U.S. Supreme Court revisited Morissette decades later
in Staples v. United States, 511 U.S. 600, 114 S. Ct. 1793, 128
L. Ed. 2d 608 (1994). In Staples, the Court reiterated that a
statute’s silence on the mens rea of an offense did not suggest
legislative intent to dispense with the element. “On the con-
trary, we must construe the statute in light of the background
rules of the common law . . . in which the requirement of some
mens rea for a crime is firmly embedded.” Staples v. United
States, 511 U.S. at 605. Furthermore, in noting that offenses
requiring no mens rea are disfavored, the Court concluded that
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a general characteristic of public welfare offenses is that they
do not carry heavy penalties, stating:

In rehearsing the characteristics of the public welfare
offense, we, too, have included in our consideration the
punishments imposed and have noted that “penalties com-
monly are relatively small, and conviction does no grave
damage to an offender’s reputation.” . . .

Our characterization of the public welfare offense in
Morissette hardly seems apt, however, for a crime that
is a felony . . . . After all, “felony” is, as we noted in
distinguishing certain common-law crimes from public
welfare offenses, “‘as bad a word as you can give to
man or thing.”” . . . In this view, absent a clear statement
from Congress that mens rea is not required, we should
not apply the public welfare offense rationale to interpret
any statute defining a felony offense as dispensing with
mens red.

Staples v. United States, 511 U.S. at 617-18 (quoting Morissette
v. United States, supra).
In State v. Perina, 282 Neb. 463, 804 N.W.2d 164 (2011),
we adopted the Court’s rules of statutory interpretation regard-
ing the absence of mens rea in penal statutes. Moreover, we
adopted the Court’s characterization of public welfare offenses
as generally carrying relatively small penalties. We stated:
[I]f the statute “omits mention of intent and where it
seems to involve what is basically a matter of policy,
where the standard imposed is, under the circumstances,
reasonable and adherence thereto properly expected of a
person, where the penalty is relatively small, where con-
viction does not gravely besmirch, where the statutory
crime 1s not taken over from the common law, and where
congressional purpose is supporting, the statute can be
construed as one not requiring criminal intent.”

State v. Perina, 282 Neb. at 470, 804 N.W.2d at 170 (quot-

ing Holdridge v. United States, 282 F.2d 302 (8th Cir. 1960)).

Thus, we concluded that although motor vehicle homicide
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bears some relationship to manslaughter, it was more directly
related to the traffic offenses upon which it was based. See
State v. Perina, supra. Traffic violations were expressly iden-
tified in Morissette v. United States, 342 U.S. 246, 72 S. Ct.
240, 96 L. Ed. 288 (1952), as an example of public welfare
offenses not taken from the common law, and, therefore, not
requiring mens rea.

Applying our reasoning in Perina to the case at bar, we
conclude that public welfare offenses such as traffic infrac-
tions which do not contain the element of criminal intent can-
not support convictions for manslaughter. Section 28-305 is a
codification of a common-law offense of manslaughter, and
the existence of criminal intent is regarded as essential even
though the terms of the statute do not expressly require it.
There is no indication that the Legislature intended to dispense
with the State’s requirement to show mens rea in the predicate
unlawful act for involuntary manslaughter.

Unlike misdemeanor motor vehicle homicide, a charge of
manslaughter cannot be supported when the predicate unlaw-
ful act is a public welfare offense which contains no mens rea.
In order to sustain a conviction for involuntary manslaughter
or unlawful act manslaughter under § 28-305, the State must
prove beyond a reasonable doubt that the defendant acted with
the requisite mens rea in committing the unlawful act.

Other courts have reached similar conclusions in the con-
text of their own involuntary manslaughter statutes. Florida
appellate courts have held that the commission of traffic
infractions is not sufficient, without more, to support a con-
viction for culpable negligence manslaughter, which depends
on the extreme character of the conduct itself, not on its
mere illegality. See Logan v. State, 592 So. 2d 295 (Fla. App.
1991). See, also, Behn v. State, 621 So. 2d 534 (Fla. App.
1993) (holding that operation of motor vehicle with deficient
brakes, even when coupled with traffic infraction, does not
rise to level of criminality required to support conviction of
manslaughter).
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Similarly, Virginia appellate courts have held that the
operation of a motor vehicle in violation of a safety statute,
amounting to mere negligence proximately causing accidental
death, is not sufficient to support the conviction of involun-
tary manslaughter. See, Jenkins v. Commonwealth, 220 Va.
104, 255 S.E.2d 504 (1979) (defendant driving southbound
down middle of unmarked road with lights on low beam saw
pedestrian in northbound lane ahead and applied brakes but
hit victim); King v. Commonwealth, 217 Va. 601, 231 S.E.2d
312 (1977) (inadvertent failure to turn on white headlights,
rather than amber running lights, in violation of statute);
Lewis v. Commonwealth, 211 Va. 684, 179 S.E.2d 506 (1971)
(failing to keep proper lookout, but no evidence of speed-
ing, drinking, or recklessness); Tubman v. Commonwealth, 3
Va. App. 267, 348 S.E.2d 871 (1986) (failing to keep proper
lookout and to yield right of way to motorcycle approaching
on public highway which motorist was entering from pri-
vate road).

North Carolina appellate courts have held that whereas
a defendant may be convicted under the state’s “Death by
Vehicle” statute, see N.C. Gen. Stat. § 20-141.4(a2) (2007),
if the death proximately results from the violation of a traf-
fic statute or ordinance, such violations by themselves are not
sufficient to convict a person of the common-law offense of
involuntary manslaughter. See, State v. Lackey, 71 N.C. App.
581, 323 S.E.2d 32 (1984); State v. Freeman, 31 N.C. App. 93,
228 S.E.2d 516 (1976) (superseded by statute as stated in State
v. Davis, 198 N.C. App. 443, 680 S.E.2d 239 (2009)).

The State claims that to convict for involuntary man-
slaughter, it must establish only that a defendant acted neg-
ligently in committing the predicate unlawful act. This pro-
posed interpretation of § 28-305 would make involuntary
manslaughter a de facto strict liability crime. And this is
demonstrated by the State’s attempt to use Carman’s traffic
infractions—both public welfare offenses—as the underlying
unlawful acts.
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Even if we accept this argument, Carman’s conviction still
cannot be upheld. The State must prove each element of the
criminal offense beyond a reasonable doubt. State v. Parks,
253 Neb. 939, 573 N.W.2d 453 (1998). Following a bench
trial, Carman was found not guilty of driving “carelessly or
without due caution so as to endanger a person or property.”
See § 60-6,212. The district court found Carman guilty of fol-
lowing too closely, pursuant to § 60-6,140, and driving too fast
for the conditions, pursuant to § 60-6,185. We have held that
violation of a statute is not negligence as a matter of law, but
is only evidence of negligence to be considered with all other
evidence in the case. Orduna v. Total Constr. Servs., 271 Neb.
557, 713 N.W.2d 471 (2006). If negligence were the mens rea
required to convict for manslaughter, the district court was
required to find beyond a reasonable doubt that Carman acted
negligently. It did not do so.

Our analysis points us toward the conclusion that momentary
inattentiveness and minor traffic violations do not involve the
culpability or mens rea required to convict one of felony man-
slaughter. This rationale was espoused more than 70 years ear-
lier when it was observed that the term “manslaughter” imports
a degree of brutality which jurors generally do not care to cast
upon a merely negligent driver, and society is often unwilling
to condemn as a felon one who is guilty only of some act of
negligence, even though that act has resulted in the death of
another. See Frank A. Karaba, Note, Negligent Homicide or
Manslaughter: A Dilemma, 41 J. Crim. L. & Criminology 183
(1950). Moreover, “[t]o inflict substantial punishment upon one
who is morally entirely innocent, who caused injury through
reasonable mistake or pure accident, would so outrage the
feelings of the community as to nullify its own enforcement.”
Francis Bowes Sayre, Public Welfare Offenses, 33 Colum. L.
Rev. 55, 56 (1933).

In State v. Perina, 282 Neb. 463, 804 N.W.2d 164 (2011),
we cited to the Oregon Supreme Court’s explanation of its
negligent homicide statute. The Oregon court found that the
statute was essentially a police regulation. It concluded that
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“the [Oregon] legislature did not intend that any form of
moral culpability should be an element of the offense,”
because “[t]he crime created by the act is not one that
casts great stigma upon those convicted, nor is the pen-
alty prescribed by the act so great that its imposition upon
those who had no evil purposes tends to shock the sense
of natural justice.”

Id. at 474, 804 N.W.2d at 172 (quoting State of Oregon v.

Wojahn, 204 Or. 84, 282 P.2d 675 (1955)).

In enacting the motor vehicle homicide statute, § 28-306,
the Legislature provided that only certain acts would be treated
as felonies and that all other violations of the law which
result in the unintended death of another while engaged in the
operation of a motor vehicle were Class I misdemeanors. The
Legislature described what specific acts under § 28-306 would
result in a felony conviction. But this does not mean that the
State was relieved of its burden to establish criminal intent if it
elected to charge Carman under § 28-305.

Carman’s conviction for public welfare offenses which
required no mens rea was insufficient to support his conviction
for unlawful manslaughter. Unless the Legislature expressly
dispenses with the element of criminal intent, or mens rea,
from the offense of manslaughter, our rules in construing
criminal statutes require the State to prove such intent. See
State v. Perina, supra. This conclusion does not require us to
define precisely what criminal intent is required for involuntary
manslaughter. However, sources examining the subject almost
invariably agree that more than ordinary negligence in the civil
sense is required to support such convictions.

Decades ago, the Kansas Supreme Court carefully reviewed
the common-law background of manslaughter and concluded
that “it came to be thoroughly understood that the system
of thought known as the common law did not sanction con-
viction of a man of manslaughter resulting from negligent
conduct, unless his conduct was accompanied by a wrong
mental attitude having the qualities of recklessness.” State
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v. Custer, 129 Kan. 381, 387, 282 P. 1071, 1075 (1929). The

court explained:
We are familiar in civil cases with the kind of conduct
which will authorize punitive damages, and will prevent
interposition of the defense of contributory negligence.
It is supposed to involve fault, just as guilt of crime
subjecting the offender to punishment was supposed to
involve a certain “wickedness.” It is regarded as display-
ing greater culpability than negligence. The higher degree
of culpability was essential to common-law manslaughter
resulting from negligence.

Id. at 394, 282 P. at 1078.

Adopting the Kansas court’s reasoning, the South Dakota
Supreme Court similarly held that ordinary negligence was
insufficient to sustain a conviction for manslaughter at com-
mon law. In construing South Dakota’s manslaughter statute,
the court held:

[T]his statute which we are now considering was enacted
originally with the purpose and intent of codifying the
common law on the subject, and . . . the common law
required that negligence to be sufficient to support a
criminal action must be something more than mere inad-
vertence. There must be some action from which the
jury might reasonably infer the mens rea. The statute has
described this action as “culpable.”
State v. Bates, 65 S.D. 105, 108, 271 N.W. 765, 766 (1937).
The court described culpable negligence as an intentional act
or omission which the defendant “consciously realized that his
conduct would in all probability (as distinguished from pos-
sibly) produce the precise result which it did produce.” /d. at
109, 271 N.W. at 767.

Similarly, in reviewing the mens rea required to convict for

involuntary manslaughter, the Michigan Supreme Court held:
[Ulnder the common law, one is not criminally respon-
sible for death from negligence unless the negligence
is so great that the law can impute a criminal intent. If
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death ensues from negligence which shows a culpable
indifference to the safety of others, the negligence is said
to be gross or wanton or wil[l]ful, and is equivalent to
criminal intent, a necessary element of every common-
law crime. One whose acts cause death under such
circumstances is guilty of involuntary manslaughter or
common-law negligent homicide.

People v. Campbell, 237 Mich. 424, 428, 212 N.W. 97, 99

(1927).

The New Mexico Supreme Court held that careless driv-
ing was insufficient to show criminal negligence required to
convict under the state’s manslaughter statute, which was a
codification of the common-law offense. The court stated:
“‘Mere negligence is not sufficient. It may be sufficient to
compel the driver to respond in damages. However, when it
comes to responding to an accusation of involuntary man-
slaughter, with the possibility of a penitentiary sentence,
a different rule is called into play.”” State v. Yarborough,
122 N.M. 596, 930 P.2d 131, 135 (1996) (quoting State v.
Sisneros, 42 N.M. 500, 82 P.2d 274 (1938)). The court noted
a clear majority of jurisdictions require that the predicate
offense for involuntary manslaughter involve criminal negli-
gence or recklessness.

One commentator noted: “Tests of criminal culpability nec-
essary to sustain [manslaughter] convictions are many and
varied. But it is generally agreed that slight negligence or
even ‘ordinary’ or ‘civil’ negligence is not sufficient to sustain
manslaughter convictions.” Frank A. Karaba, Note, Negligent
Homicide or Manslaughter: A Dilemma, 41 J. Crim. L. &
Criminology 183, 183-84. The courts look for a degree of care-
lessness which might be labeled “‘willful’ or ‘wanton’ or
‘gross or culpable.’” Id. at 184.

Another commentator observed that courts around the coun-
try generally use one or more of six terms to describe the
level of negligence required to convict a defendant of involun-
tary manslaughter by unlawful act: (1) criminal, (2) culpable,
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(3) gross, (4) willful, (5) wanton, or (6) reckless. James J.
Robinson, Manslaughter by Motorists, 22 Minn. L. Rev. 755
(1938). He noted that these terms were generally used and
treated synonymously by most courts, but asserted that the
most effective term to describe the mens rea for manslaughter
is “reckless,” or heedless regard for consequences. /d.

For more than a century, our case law has used nearly all
of these six terms. This court has not been consistent in its
language and decisions as to what criminal intent or mens rea
is required for an unlawful act to support a conviction for man-
slaughter. In Schultz v. State, 89 Neb. 34, 46, 130 N.W. 972,
977 (1911), when considering what is required to convict for
manslaughter, we held:

“One may be criminally responsible for the negligent
operation of an automobile. A person is guilty of crimi-
nal negligence . . . when the breach of duty is so flagrant
as to warrant an implication that the resulting injury was
intended; that is, when his negligent conduct is incom-
patible with a proper regard for human life. Negligence is
the gist of the offense, and, in the absence of recklessness
or of want of due caution, there is no criminal liability.
Actual intent is not an essential element of the offense.
It is enough if there is shown a negligent and reckless
indifference of the lives and safety of others.”
(Emphasis supplied.) Thus, we used both the legal terms “neg-
ligent” and “reckless,” but we clearly described a culpability
higher than ordinary negligence for civil damages.

Shortly after Schultz, in upholding a manslaughter con-
viction based on child neglect, we considered whether the
defendant was “culpably negligent” or “criminally negligent.”
See Stehr v. State, 92 Neb. 755, 759, 761, 139 N.W. 676, 678
(1913). Although we did not define what made an act culpably
or criminally negligent, we noted, “It is not a slight failure in
duty that would render him criminally negligent, but a great
failure of duty undoubtedly would.” /d. at 759, 139 N.W. at
678. We later held:
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We believe the rule to be that, though the act, made
unlawful by statute, is an act merely malum prohibitum
and is ordinarily insufficient, still, when such an act is
accompanied by negligence or further wrong, so as to be,
in its nature, dangerous, or so as to manifest a reckless
disregard for the safety of others, then it . . . may consti-
tute involuntary manslaughter.

Thiede v. State, 106 Neb. 48, 53, 182 N.W. 570, 572 (1921)
(emphasis supplied).
Years later, we affirmed a manslaughter conviction upon
finding that a jury instruction containing reference to driving
an automobile in an unlawful, reckless, careless, and negli-
gent manner, instead of charging in regard to driving on the
wrong side of the road, did not constitute reversible error. See
Crawford v. State, 116 Neb. 125, 216 N.W. 294 (1927). In
that case, the defendant was found to have been driving while
intoxicated and driving on the wrong side of the road.
In Cowan v. State, 140 Neb. 837, 2 N.W.2d 111 (1942), we
affirmed a manslaughter conviction of a defendant who was
found to have been driving while intoxicated at a high rate of
speed. We stated:
Our conclusion is that the evidence is sufficient to sustain
the finding of the jury that plaintiff in error was guilty of
such gross negligence as to indicate a wanton disregard
of human life. Such negligence is criminal in its character,
and where it results in a death will sustain a conviction
for manslaughter.

Id. at 843, 2 N.W.2d at 114-15 (emphasis supplied).

To support its argument that § 28-305 is unconcerned with
the nature of the unlawful act, the State relies on a series of
cases which largely omit the requirement that an act be crimi-
nally, culpably, or grossly negligent or that the defendant’s
conduct is willful, wanton, or reckless. In Benton v. State, 124
Neb. 485, 247 N.W. 21 (1933), the defendant was convicted
of manslaughter after he was found to have negligently driven
an automobile, while intoxicated, into the rear of a car on
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the highway, resulting in the death of a passenger of that car.
We stated: “When one drives an automobile in violation of
law pertaining to the operation of such vehicles on the public
highway and in so doing, as a result of the violation of law,
causes death to another is guilty of manslaughter. This rule
applies to one driving while intoxicated.” /d. at 488, 247 N.W.
at 23.

In Schluter v. State, 153 Neb. 317, 44 N.W.2d 588 (1950),
we upheld the defendant’s conviction for manslaughter after
causing the death of another while intoxicated, operating his
vehicle at a reckless speed, and driving on the wrong side of
the highway. In Hoffinan v. State, 162 Neb. 806, 77 N.W.2d
592 (1956), the defendant’s vehicle collided with the rear end
of a truck, and a passenger in the defendant’s vehicle was
killed. The defendant was intoxicated at the time of the colli-
sion. We stated that although the jury found the defendant was
grossly negligent, the State was not required to show gross
negligence to convict him.

But the State’s reliance on these cases is misplaced. Each
involved more than mere traffic infractions, which have no
mens rea. They almost invariably involved driving while
intoxicated, driving recklessly, or both. These actions would
establish that the unlawful act was done voluntarily and
intentionally and was not the result of mistake, accident, or
momentary inattention. And we are unaware of any Nebraska
cases that involved a conviction for manslaughter where the
predicate unlawful acts were mere traffic infractions without
any showing of driving while intoxicated or some other reck-
less act.

State v. Burnett, 254 Neb. 771, 579 N.W.2d 513 (1998), is
the exception, but it is distinguishable from the case at bar.
In that case, the defendant entered a plea of no contest to the
information charging him with manslaughter under § 28-305
for killing the victim while operating a motor vehicle in an
unlawful manner. Following an unsuccessful direct appeal and
denial of his postconviction action, the case reached this court
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on his petition for further review. The defendant claimed that
although he pled no contest to manslaughter under § 28-305, a
Class III felony, his attorney should have argued for a sentence
in accordance with § 28-306. He claimed ineffective assistance
of counsel because of his attorney’s failure to argue for a sen-
tence in the range prescribed by § 28-306. We denied relief,
because he pled to and was convicted of manslaughter under
§ 28-305 and could not be sentenced for motor vehicle homi-
cide under § 28-306.

Furthermore, with the exception of Burnett, at the time of
the above-mentioned cases, the statute for motor vehicle homi-
cide did not exist. It was considered an amelioration of the
penalty provision of the manslaughter statute. See Birdsley v.
State, 161 Neb. 581, 74 N.W.2d 377 (1956). Neb. Rev. Stat.
§ 39-669.20 (Reissue 1984) provided:

Any person, convicted of manslaughter or mayhem
resulting from his operation of a motor vehicle, or of
motor vehicle homicide, shall be (1) fined in a sum not
exceeding five hundred dollars, (2) imprisoned in the
county jail not to exceed six months, or (3) both so fined
and imprisoned.

Persons convicted of manslaughter while operating motor vehi-
cles in violation of the law were subject to this ameliorated
penalty. In 1978, manslaughter and motor vehicle homicide
were made into two separate and distinct offenses under differ-
ent statutes and with different penalties. See 1977 Neb. Laws,
L.B. 38, §§ 20 and 21 (operative July 1, 1978).

Our holding in State v. Roth, 222 Neb. 119, 382 N.W.2d
348 (1986), disapproved on other grounds, State v. Wright, 261
Neb. 277, 622 N.W.2d 676 (2001), and State v. Wright, supra,
that the State has prosecutorial discretion to charge a person
for either manslaughter or motor vehicle homicide as the result
of an unintentional death arising from an unlawful act during
the operation of a motor vehicle remains unaffected by our
decision in the case at bar. We noted that “‘[i]t is not uncom-
mon for an act to constitute a violation of more than one crime
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. ... State v. Wright, 261 Neb. at 288, 622 N.W.2d at 683
(quoting State v. Roth, supra). Where a single act violates more
than one statute, a prosecutor is free to prosecute under any
statute he chooses, so long as the selection is not deliberately
based upon an unjustifiable standard such as race, religion, or
other arbitrary classification. State v. Roth, supra.

But in exercising its discretion to charge under one offense
or another, the State must prove each element of that offense
beyond a reasonable doubt. See State v. Parks, 253 Neb. 939,
573 N.W.2d 453 (1998). When the State charged Carman
with manslaughter, it was required to show mens rea. It failed
to do so. The traffic infractions upon which Carman’s man-
slaughter charge were predicated were public welfare offenses.
Therefore, they did not establish the required element of
mens rea.

Because the State did not prove that Carman acted with the
mens rea required to convict him under § 28-305, we need not
review the constitutional challenges to his conviction.

CONCLUSION
For the reasons stated above, we reverse the judgment of the
district court and remand the cause with directions to vacate
Carman’s conviction and sentence under § 28-305.
REVERSED AND REMANDED WITH DIRECTIONS.
StAcy, J., not participating.
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Motions to Suppress: Confessions: Constitutional Law: Appeal and
Error. In reviewing a motion to suppress a confession based on the
claimed involuntariness of the statement, an appellate court applies a
two-part standard of review. With regard to historical facts, an appellate
court reviews the trial court’s findings for clear error. Whether those
facts suffice to meet the constitutional standards, however, is a ques-
tion of law, which an appellate court reviews independently of the trial
court’s determination.

Constitutional Law: Self-Incrimination. The protections of the Fifth
Amendment to the U.S. Constitution are generally not self-executing.

: . There are two main exceptions to the general rule that the
Fifth Amendment to the U.S. Constitution is not self-executing: where
a suspect is in police custody and the so-called penalty exception,
where the assertion of the privilege is penalized so that the option to
remain silent is foreclosed and the incriminating testimony is effec-
tively compelled.

Self-Incrimination: Termination of Employment. An implicit threat
of termination of employment can be sufficient to support a claim that a
statement was coerced.

. In order to determine whether a statement is coerced
for purposes of the penalty exceptions, courts apply a two-pronged
approach: (1) that the defendant have a subjective belief that he or she
was compelled to give a statement on threat of the loss of his or her job
and (2) that the defendant’s belief be objectively reasonable.

: . A subjective belief will not be considered objectively rea-
sonable if the state has played no role in creating the impression that the
refusal to give a statement will be met with termination of employment.
_:_ .Theexistence of a statute, rule, regulation, or policy subject-
ing an employee to termination for the failure to provide a statement is
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highly relevant, though not usually dispositive, in determining whether a
subjective belief is objectively reasonable. Under this subjective/objec-
tive test, a court examines the totality of the circumstances surrounding
the statement.

Appeal from the District Court for York County: JAMESs C.
STECKER, Judge. Affirmed.

Mark Porto, of Shamberg, Wolf, McDermott & Depue, for
appellant.

Douglas J. Peterson, Attorney General, and George R. Love
for appellee.

HEeavican, C.J., WRIGHT, CONNOLLY, MCCORMACK, MILLER-
LErRMAN, CASSEL, and STAcCY, 1J.

HEeavican, C.J.
INTRODUCTION

Michael S. Weichman, appellant, was convicted of first
degree sexual abuse of an inmate and was sentenced to 1 to 2
years’ imprisonment. At issue on appeal is whether statements
made by Weichman during a polygraph examination were
admissible against him at trial. We conclude that the state-
ments were admissible and accordingly affirm.

FACTUAL BACKGROUND

Weichman was employed by the Nebraska Department
of Correctional Services as a maintenance supervisor at the
Nebraska Correctional Center for Women (NCCW). On April
21, 2014, reports were received that Weichman had engaged
in sexual intercourse with an NCCW inmate. Weichman was
interviewed regarding the allegation and denied the reports.
The inmate was also interviewed and denied the allegations.

On May 5, 2014, Weichman submitted to a polygraph
examination. During the course of the examination, Weichman
made statements admitting that he had received oral sex from
the inmate in question about 2 to 3 weeks prior to the poly-
graph examination.
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On May 15, 2014, the inmate was interviewed again and
initially denied the relationship. But after being told that
Weichman had admitted to a sexual relationship, she also admit-
ted to the relationship and indicated that she and Weichman
had engaged in sexual intercourse four or five times and that
she had performed oral sex on Weichman on at least two occa-
sions prior to the sexual intercourse.

On June 20, 2014, Weichman was charged by information
with first degree sexual abuse of an inmate. He filed a motion
to suppress both the statements he made during the polygraph,
under Garrity v. New Jersey,' and the statements made by the
inmate as fruit of the poisonous tree. Weichman’s motion to
suppress was denied.

At the hearing on the motion to suppress, Benny Noordhoek,
an investigator with the Department of Correctional Services,
testified. Noordhoek had been tasked with investigating the
allegations against Weichman. In the course of that investiga-
tion, Noordhoek questioned Weichman about the allegations.
Prior to that questioning, Weichman was informed of his
Miranda® rights. Weichman denied the relationship.

Noordhoek asked Weichman if he would be willing to take a
polygraph examination. Weichman agreed. Noordhoek testified
he explained to Weichman that a polygraph was presented as
an option to Weichman, not a requirement, and that Weichman
could not be forced to submit to the polygraph. Noordhoek
told Weichman he would get back to him with the details of
the polygraph examination.

Weichman testified that he initially agreed to take a poly-
graph examination, but was reconsidering that decision when
he received a “written directive” from the NCCW warden
regarding the polygraph. After receiving the directive and

U Garrity v. New Jersey, 385 U.S. 493, 87 S. Ct. 616, 17 L. Ed. 2d. 562
(1967).

2 Miranda v. Arizona, 384 U.S. 436, 86 S. Ct. 1602, 16 L. Ed. 2d 694
(1966).
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speaking with the warden, Weichman believed that taking the
polygraph was nonnegotiable and that he would be fired if
he refused to do so. He acknowledged that no one, including
Noordhoek, the warden, or the polygraph examiner, ever told
him that he would be fired for refusing to take the polygraph.
Weichman admitted that the polygraph examiner told him that
he, the examiner, could not force Weichman to take the exami-
nation. The polygraph examiner also informed Weichman that
he did not know what the employment ramifications might be
if Weichman declined to take the polygraph.

The warden also testified about her delivery of the directive
to Weichman regarding the polygraph. She indicated that she
provided Weichman with details of the time and place of his
examination, and also informed him that he could use a State
vehicle and State time to travel to the examination. The warden
testified that she was really only complying with Noordhoek’s
request to inform Weichman of the pertinent details of the
examination, a fact confirmed by Noordhoek. But Noordhoek
also confirmed that on its face, the directive was to Weichman
from the warden.

A bench trial on stipulated facts was held on March 3, 2015,
after which Weichman was found guilty of first degree sexual
abuse of an inmate. He was sentenced to 1 to 2 years’ impris-
onment. He appeals.

ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR
Weichman makes three assignments of error that can be
consolidated and restated into one: The district court erred in
denying his motion to suppress.

STANDARD OF REVIEW
[1] In reviewing a motion to suppress a confession based
on the claimed involuntariness of the statement, an appellate
court applies a two-part standard of review.> With regard to
historical facts, we review the trial court’s findings for clear

3 State v. Bormann, 279 Neb. 320, 777 N.W.2d 829 (2010).
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error.* Whether those facts suffice to meet the constitutional
standards, however, is a question of law, which we review
independently of the trial court’s determination.’

ANALYSIS

On appeal, Weichman argues that the district court erred in
denying his motion to suppress. Weichman contends that the
statements he made during his polygraph were not voluntary
under the 5th and 14th Amendments to the U.S. Constitution
and under Garrity® and should have been suppressed.

[2,3] The protections of the Fifth Amendment are gener-
ally not self-executing. “[I]n the ordinary case, if a witness
under compulsion to testify makes disclosures instead of claim-
ing the [Fifth Amendment] privilege, the government has not
‘compelled’ him to incriminate himself.”” But, “application
of this general rule is inappropriate in certain well-defined
situations.” “In each of those situations . . . some identifiable
factor ‘was held to deny the individual a “free choice to admit,
to deny, or to refuse to answer.”’”’ There are two main excep-
tions to this general rule: where a suspect is in police custody,'”
commonly referred to as “Miranda'' rights,” and where “the
assertion of the privilege is penalized so that the option to
remain silent is foreclosed and the incriminating testimony is
effectively compelled.”!?

4 1d.
S 1d.
¢ Garrity, supra note 1.

7 Garner v. United States, 424 U.S. 648, 654, 96 S. Ct. 1178, 47 L. Ed. 2d
370 (1976).

8 Minnesota v. Murphy, 465 U.S. 420, 429, 104 S. Ct. 1136, 79 L. Ed. 2d
409 (1984).

Id. (citing Garner, supra note 7).
Miranda, supra note 2.
" rd.

2 US. v. Camacho, 739 F. Supp. 1504, 1513 (S.D. Fla. 1990) (citing
Murphy, supra note 8).
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The seminal U.S. Supreme Court case setting forth this
so-called penalty exception is Garrity."® In Garrity, the New
Jersey Attorney General was investigating the alleged fixing
of traffic tickets. During the investigation, the defendant police
officers were questioned. Prior to that questioning, each officer
was informed that (1) anything the officer said might be used
against him in a criminal proceeding; (2) the officer had a
privilege to refuse to answer if the disclosure would tend to be
incriminating; and (3) if the officer refused to testify, he would
be subject to removal from office.

The officers did not invoke the Fifth Amendment and
answered the questions asked of them. Over their objections,
some of those statements were later offered against them in
criminal prosecutions for conspiracy to obstruct the adminis-
tration of the traffic laws. The defendants appealed, arguing
that the statements offered against them were coerced because
the officers risked losing their jobs if they failed to answer
the questions.

The Supreme Court found that the officers’ statements were
not voluntary,' noting that “[t]he choice given [the defendants]
was either to forfeit their jobs or to incriminate themselves™'s
and that “[t]he option to lose their means of livelihood or to
pay the penalty of self-incrimination is the antithesis of free
choice to speak out or to remain silent.”'® The Court also noted
that the State’s practice was “‘likely to exert such pressure
upon an individual as to disable him from making a free and
rational choice.””"” The Court concluded that “the protection
of the individual under the Fourteenth Amendment against
coerced statements prohibits use in subsequent criminal pro-
ceedings of statements obtained under threat of removal from

3 Garrity, supra note 1.
4 Id.

5 1d., 385 U.S. at 497.
16 1d.

7 1d.
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office, and that . . . extends to all, whether they are policemen
or other members of our body politic.”!®

Since its decision in Garrity, the Supreme Court has noted
that the decision was “limited to instances where an inter-
viewee is coerced into waiving his constitutional right against
self-incrimination through the threat of dismissal,”" and “[did]
not prohibit the state from compelling an employee from
answering questions directly and narrowly related to his duties,
provided that he is not coerced into relinquishing his privilege
against self-incrimination.”?

There are generally two approaches courts take when deter-
mining whether a defendant’s right against self-incrimination
under Garrity was violated. The first approach is set forth
in United States v. Indorato.*' There, the defendant was not
explicitly told that he would be dismissed for the failure to
submit to questioning, but he argued that departmental rules
required him to obey the lawful order of his superior or be
dismissed. The First Circuit rejected this argument, not-
ing that

[i]n all of the cases flowing from Garrity, there are
two common features: (1) the person being investigated
is explicitly told that failure to waive his constitutional
right against self-incrimination will result in his discharge
from public employment . . . ; and (2) there is a statute

8 1d., 385 U.S. at 500.

19 Camacho, supra note 12, 739 F. Supp. at 1514 (citing Gardner v. Broderick,
392 U.S. 273, 88 S. Ct. 1913, 20 L. Ed. 2d 1082 (1968)).

20 Id. See, Lefkowitz v. Cunningham, 431 U.S. 801, 97 S. Ct. 2132, 53 L. Ed.
2d 1 (1977); Sanitation Men v. Sanitation Comm’r., 392 U.S. 280, 88 S.
Ct. 1917, 20 L. Ed. 2d 1089 (1968); Gardner, supra note 19.

21 United States v. Indorato, 628 F.2d 711 (Ist Cir. 1980). See, also, U.S.
v. Stein, 233 F.3d 6 (1st Cir. 2000); Singer v. State of ME., 49 F.3d 837
(1st Cir. 1995); People v. Bynum, 159 Ill. App. 3d 713, 512 N.E.2d 826,
111 1Il. Dec. 437 (1987); Commonwealth v. Harvey, 397 Mass. 351, 491
N.E.2d 607 (1986); People v. Coutu, 235 Mich. App. 695, 599 N.W.2d 556
(1999); State v. Litvin, 147 N.H. 606, 794 A.2d 806 (2002).
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or municipal ordinance mandating such procedure. In this
case, there was no explicit “or else” choice and no statu-
torily mandated firing is involved.?
Thus, under Indorato and subsequent cases following its rea-
soning, Garrity is limited to its facts; a defendant is not entitled
to its protections unless the defendant was told that his or her
employment would be terminated and there was a statute man-
dating such discharge.

[4-7] In contrast to the Indorato line of cases, other courts
have concluded that an implicit threat of termination of employ-
ment might be sufficient to support a claim that a statement
was coerced under Garrity. These courts adopt a two-pronged
approach: (1) that the defendant have a subjective belief that he
or she was compelled to give a statement on threat of the loss
of his or her job and (2) that the defendant’s belief be objec-
tively reasonable.” A subjective belief that Garrity applies will
not be considered objectively reasonable if the state has played
no role in creating the impression that the refusal to give the
statement will be met with termination of employment.* The
existence of a statute, rule, regulation, or policy subjecting an
employee to termination for the failure to provide a statement
is highly relevant, though not usually dispositive, in determin-
ing whether a subjective belief is objectively reasonable.”
Under this test, a court examines the totality of the circum-
stances surrounding the statement.?

Both Weichman and the State argue that the subjective/
objective test is the appropriate test to utilize; the district court

2 Indorato, supra note 21, 628 F.2d at 716.

B See, e.g., U.S. v. Friedrick, 842 F.2d 382 (D. C. Cir. 1988). But see State

v. Aiken, 282 Ga. 132, 646 S.E.2d 222 (2007).

Camacho, supra note 12.

% See id.

% See, U.S. v. Vangates, 287 F.3d 1315 (11th Cir. 2002); Camacho, supra
note 12; People v. Sapp, 934 P.2d 1367 (Colo. 1997); State v. Chavarria,

131 N.M. 172, 33 P.3d 922 (N.M. App. 2001); State v. Brockdorf, 291 Wis.
2d 635, 717 N.W.2d 657 (2006).

24
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also applied this test. We agree. As such, we must first consider
whether Weichman held a subjective belief that his employ-
ment would be terminated for failing to submit to the poly-
graph examination. If we conclude that Weichman held such
a subjective belief, we must then ask whether that subjective
belief was objectively reasonable.

Weichman testified that he believed he would be fired if he
refused to take the polygraph examination. The district court
accordingly found that Weichman had a subjective belief that
his employment would be terminated. There was no error in
this finding.

This subjective belief satisfies the first prong of the subjec-
tive/objective test. But we cannot conclude the second prong
was met, because on these facts, Weichman’s subjective belief
was not objectively reasonable. In coming to this conclusion,
we examine the totality of the circumstances.

Weichman initially agreed to take the polygraph, even
though he was told that he did not have to do so. Upon
Weichman’s agreement, Noordhoek, the investigator, told
Weichman he would be in touch regarding details of the
test. Prior to the commencement of this questioning and con-
versation regarding the polygraph, Weichman was read his
Miranda rights.

Soon thereafter, Weichman was called to see the NCCW
warden and was given a document entitled “Written Directive.”
That document set forth the details of his polygraph exam-
ination. The evidence shows that the warden did not tell
Weichman that he must submit to the polygraph or be fired. At
the time, the warden informed Weichman that he could use a
State vehicle and worktime to attend the polygraph.

Upon attending the polygraph, Weichman was again read
his Miranda rights. The record is clear that the polygraph
examiner told Weichman that he did not have to take the
examination. The examiner also told Weichman that he, the
examiner, did not know what the ramifications of refusing to
take the test would be.
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We note that there was no express threat made to Weichman
regarding termination for failure to submit to the polygraph or
to questioning. Nor is there any statute, ordinance, rule, regula-
tion, or policy that would require Weichman’s termination for
his failure to submit to the polygraph or to otherwise fail to
cooperate with an investigation.

Weichman alleges that the warden’s “written directive” was
a sufficient action which made his belief that he would be
fired objectively reasonable. We disagree. We observe that
Weichman was expecting to receive information about the
polygraph examination from Noordhoek. Particularly, given the
totality of all the circumstances as described above, we cannot
conclude that the fact that information about the polygraph was
received from the warden and not from Noordhoek transforms
Weichman’s otherwise subjective belief into an objectively
reasonable one. We therefore conclude that the district court
did not err in denying Weichman’s motion to suppress his
own statements.

Having concluded that Weichman’s statements were admis-
sible, we need not address his contention that the victim’s
statements were inadmissible as fruit of the poisonous tree.
Because there was no tree, there can be no fruit.

CONCLUSION
The district court did not err in denying Weichman’s motion
to suppress. Accordingly, we affirm Weichman’s conviction
and sentence.
AFFIRMED.
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Jury Instructions: Appeal and Error. Whether a jury instruction
is correct is a question of law, which an appellate court indepen-
dently decides.

Trial: Courts: Juries: Appeal and Error. Whether to answer a ques-
tion of law posed by a jury which has retired for deliberations is a matter
entrusted to the discretion of the trial court, and in the absence of an
abuse of that discretion, its action will not be disturbed on appeal.
Rules of Evidence. In proceedings where the Nebraska Evidence Rules
apply, the admissibility of evidence is controlled by the Nebraska
Evidence Rules; judicial discretion is involved only when the rules make
discretion a factor in determining admissibility.

Rules of Evidence: Appeal and Error. Because the exercise of judicial
discretion is implicit in determinations of admissibility under Neb. Evid.
R. 403, Neb. Rev. Stat. § 27-403 (Reissue 2008), the trial court’s deci-
sion will not be reversed absent an abuse of discretion.

Trial: Evidence: Appeal and Error. In a civil case, the admission or
exclusion of evidence is not reversible error unless it unfairly prejudiced
a substantial right of the complaining party.

Wills: Undue Influence: Proof. Under Neb. Rev. Stat. § 30-2431
(Reissue 2008), contestants of a will have the burden of establishing
undue influence and carry the ultimate burden of persuasion.

: . To show undue influence, a will contestant must
prove the followmg elements by a preponderance of the evidence:
(1) The testator was subject to undue influence, (2) there was an
opportunity to exercise such influence, (3) there was a disposition to
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exercise such influence, and (4) the result was clearly the effect of
such influence.

Wills: Undue Influence. Undue influence sufficient to defeat a will
is manipulation that destroys the testator’s free agency and substitutes
another’s purpose for the testator’s.

Undue Influence: Proof. Because undue influence is often difficult to
prove with direct evidence, it may be reasonably inferred from the facts
and circumstances surrounding the actor: his or her life, character, and
mental condition.

. Although the burden of going forward on the issue of
undue influence may shift to the proponent of the written instrument,
the ultimate burden of proof remains at all times on the party asserting
the issue.

Rules of Evidence: Presumptions: Proof. According to Neb. Evid. R.
301, Neb. Rev. Stat. § 27-301 (Reissue 2008), a presumption imposes
on the party against whom it is directed the burden of proving that the
nonexistence of the presumed fact is more probable than its existence.
Rules of Evidence: Presumptions. The “presumption of undue influ-
ence” is not a true presumption within the meaning of Neb. Evid. R.
301, Neb. Rev. Stat. § 27-301 (Reissue 2008).

Wills: Undue Influence: Presumptions. If a contestant’s evidence
shows a confidential or fiduciary relationship, coupled with other suspi-
cious circumstances, the contestant has introduced evidence sufficient to
justify an inference of undue influence.

Wills: Undue Influence: Presumptions: Proof. The inference of undue
influence may be rebutted by proof that the testator had competent inde-
pendent advice and that the will was his or her own voluntary act.
Undue Influence: Proof. The party seeking to establish undue influence
has not met his or her burden of proof if all of the evidence is circum-
stantial and the inferences to be drawn therefrom are equally consistent
with the hypothesis that undue influence was not exercised and the
hypothesis that such influence was exercised.

Jury Instructions: Proof: Appeal and Error. To establish reversible
error from a court’s failure to give a requested jury instruction, an appel-
lant has the burden to show that (1) the tendered instruction is a correct
statement of the law, (2) the tendered instruction was warranted by the
evidence, and (3) the appellant was prejudiced by the court’s failure to
give the requested instruction.

Jury Instructions: Appeal and Error. Jury instructions do not consti-
tute prejudicial error if, taken as a whole, they correctly state the law,
are not misleading, and adequately cover the issues supported by the
pleadings and evidence.



-239 -

292 NEBRASKA REPORTS
IN RE ESTATE OF CLINGER
Cite as 292 Neb. 237

18. Jury Instructions. The general rule is that whenever applicable, the
Nebraska Jury Instructions are to be used.

19. Trial: Juries. The trial judge is in the best position to sense whether
the jury is able to proceed with its deliberations and has considerable
discretion in determining how to respond to communications indicating
that the jury is experiencing confusion.

20. Jury Instructions: Presumptions. It is presumed a jury followed the
instructions given in arriving at its verdict, and unless it affirmatively
appears to the contrary, it cannot be said that such instructions were
disregarded.

21. Wills. A prior will, executed when the testator’s testamentary or men-
tal capacity was and is unquestioned, and as to which the existence of
undue influence is not charged, and which conforms substantially as
to the results produced to the instrument contested, may be considered
as competent evidence for the purpose of refuting charges of undue
influence or want of testamentary or mental capacity by showing that
the testator had a constant and abiding scheme for the distribution of
his property.

22. Constitutional Law: Trial: Witnesses. The Sixth Amendment right
to confront witnesses and its Nebraska equivalent do not apply to a
civil case.

23. Rules of Evidence: Witnesses: Hearsay. When a witness is unavailable
for cross-examination, his or her statements are admissible only if they
bear adequate indicia of reliability.

24. Rules of Evidence: Hearsay: Presumptions. Hearsay that falls
within a firmly rooted hearsay exception is presumptively reliable and
trustworthy.

25. Trial: Waiver: Appeal and Error. A litigant’s failure to make a timely
objection waives the right to assert prejudicial error on appeal.

26. Appeal and Error. Error without prejudice provides no ground for
relief on appeal.

27. Courts: Appeal and Error. Upon further review from a judgment of
the Nebraska Court of Appeals, the Nebraska Supreme Court will not
reverse a judgment which it deems to be correct simply because its rea-
soning differs from that employed by the Court of Appeals.

Petition for further review from the Court of Appeals,
Mooreg, Chief Judge, and RiepmanN and BisHop, Judges, on
appeal thereto from the District Court for Custer County, MARK
D. Kozisek, Judge. Judgment of Court of Appeals affirmed.
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LErRMAN, and CASSEL, JJ.

CASSEL, J.
I. INTRODUCTION

This appeal arises from an unsuccessful will contest, pre-
mised upon undue influence and tried to a jury. The Nebraska
Court of Appeals affirmed the district court’s judgment.! We
granted further review primarily to determine whether the
jury should have been instructed regarding a “presumption
of undue influence.” After both sides have sustained their
respective burdens of production, an instruction describing
a permissible or probable inference of undue influence as a
“presumption” would conflict with the statutory burden of
proof and likely mislead the jury. The Court of Appeals cor-
rectly affirmed the district court’s refusal to give the contest-
ants’ proposed instructions. And we agree with the Court of
Appeals that the district court did not abuse its discretion in
responding to a jury question or in admitting, in part, a video
of the execution of an earlier will. Even though our reasoning
differs somewhat from that of the Court of Appeals, we affirm
its decision.

II. BACKGROUND
The facts are set forth in greater detail in the Court of
Appeals’ published decision.? We summarize the relevant

' In re Estate of Clinger, 22 Neb. App. 692, 860 N.W.2d 198 (2015).
2 See id.
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background to the extent necessary to provide context for the
errors asserted on further review.

1. PARTIES
The decedent, Mary Ann Clinger, had six children: Mary
E. Chalupa, Sandra A. Goodwater, LeRoy A. Clinger, Orin M.
Clinger, Calvin Clinger, and Melvina D. Bundy. Four of her
children—Orin, Mary, Melvina, and Sandra—were the will’s
contestants. The proponents were Calvin; his wife, Patricia
Clinger; and their son, Shaun Clinger.

2. MArRY ANN AND HER WILLS

In 2000, the contestants became concerned about Mary
Ann’s financial situation. They were also uneasy about the
influence Calvin had over Mary Ann. The contestants initiated
a conservatorship proceeding, and the court appointed a perma-
nent conservator for Mary Ann in January 2001. The conserva-
torship made Mary Ann upset with the contestants, because she
felt that it was not necessary.

In August 2001, Mary Ann executed a will in which she
left her 320-acre farm to Calvin. This will directed that Mary
Ann’s home be sold, with LeRoy and Sandra each receiving
one-third of the net proceeds and the other one-third being
divided equally between Orin, Mary, and Melvina. Mary Ann
devised the remainder of her property equally to Calvin and
LeRoy. The execution of this will was videotaped.

Over the next 10 years, Mary Ann’s health deteriorated. In
January 2011, she was diagnosed with lung cancer. She was
prescribed numerous medications, but her doctor described her
as “sharp” and did not detect any of the medications’ potential
side effects.

In January 2011, Mary Ann asked Calvin to draft a new will
for her. The disposition of property was similar to that of the
2001 will, but she made some changes in the percentages each
child received. Calvin took Mary Ann to see an attorney, who
drafted a new will for Mary Ann in February. The February
2011 will also left all of the farmland to Calvin. The proceeds
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from the sale of Mary Ann’s house and its contents were to be
divided among her other five children, and the remainder of the
estate was to go to Calvin. The will specified that Mary Ann
was aware the devise to Calvin was substantially more valuable
than the devises to the other children, but that she was inten-
tionally making those devises to reflect Calvin’s dedication and
service to her throughout the years.

On March 5, 2011, Mary Ann died at age 89. The contestants
objected to the petition to admit to probate either the February
2011 will or the August 2001 will, claiming that the wills were
invalid because Mary Ann lacked testamentary capacity and
because the devises were the result of undue influence. The
will contest was transferred to the district court.

3. TRIAL

The district court conducted a jury trial regarding the 2011
will on two issues: testamentary capacity and undue influence.
There was contradicting evidence regarding whether Calvin
improperly influenced Mary Ann or whether she favored him
because of his assistance with the farm and his support regard-
ing her feelings about the conservatorship.

During the trial, the parties also adduced evidence regard-
ing the 2001 will. The proponents offered the video of the
will signing. The attorney who drafted the will testified that
he arranged for the video because he was “fairly certain there
was going to be a will contest.” The contestants objected to the
video on the bases that it was duplicative and hearsay and that
it violated “Rule 403.”

Although the court first stated that it was inclined to instruct
the jury to consider the video only to determine testamen-
tary capacity and not to consider it as to influence, the actual
instruction, which followed a colloquy with counsel, was less
restrictive. Prior to showing the video, the court limited the
jury’s use of the video by stating: “There are specific ques-
tions asked by [the attorney depicted] regarding influence and
whether Calvin . . . influenced Mary Ann . . . . You are to
disregard those questions and answers given and they may not
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be considered by you as evidence on the issue of undue influ-
ence.” The video was played for the jury and sent into the jury
room during deliberation.

After the contestants rested, the proponents moved for a
directed verdict on both issues. The district court granted the
motion on the issue of testamentary capacity but denied it as to
undue influence.

During the jury instruction conference, the contestants
offered proposed instructions regarding a presumption of
undue influence. The court declined to give the proposed
instructions.

During deliberation, the jury asked a question regarding the
burden of proof. The court referred the jury to the instruction
on the burden of proof.

The parties later stipulated that the jury would be allowed to
return a verdict if seven or more members of the jury agreed to
it. The jury ultimately rendered an 8-to-4 verdict, finding that
the 2011 will was valid.

4. COURT OF APPEALS’ DECISION

The contestants appealed, and the Court of Appeals affirmed
the district court’s judgment. Although in the appellate court
the contestants assigned error to the granting of the directed
verdict on testamentary capacity, they did not seek further
review on that issue.

With regard to the presumption of undue influence, the
Court of Appeals determined that the contestants presented
evidence that could support a finding of a confidential rela-
tionship coupled with suspicious circumstances. The court
noted that Mary Ann began living with Calvin and Patricia
in January 2009 and that Mary Ann wrote checks to them in
2009 and 2010 totaling over $15,000. But the court reasoned
that the proponents then rebutted the presumption. The court
noted that Patricia testified that she was a licensed practical
nurse and that Mary Ann wrote her checks to reimburse her
for the care she provided, because it was less expensive than
paying for a nursing home. Mary Ann had her own attorney
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when she lived with Calvin and his wife and would speak with
him alone. Also, Mary Ann repeatedly explained that she was
upset by the conservatorship and that she wished to leave the
farm to Calvin because of his assistance to her.

The Court of Appeals reasoned that the presumption of
undue influence in a will contest is not an evidentiary pre-
sumption, but, rather, is a “bursting bubble” presumption that
disappears when evidence to rebut the presumption is intro-
duced. And because the proponents offered rebuttal evidence,
the court determined that the presumption disappeared and
that thus, there was no basis upon which to instruct the jury
regarding the presumption. The court stated, “Since the burden
of proof remained on the contestants to prove undue influence,
and because the jury instructions given properly placed this
burden on the contestants, they were not prejudiced by the
court’s failure to give the tendered instructions.”

The Court of Appeals found no abuse of discretion by the
district court in refusing to further instruct the jury in response
to its question about the burden of proof.

The Court of Appeals determined that the video regarding
the 2001 will was admissible because it pertained to Mary
Ann’s state of mind and fell under the hearsay exception con-
tained in Neb. Evid. R. 803(2), Neb. Rev. Stat. § 27-803(2)
(Reissue 2008). The court stated that Mary Ann’s responses
to questions regarding undue influence would be hearsay if
offered to prove the truth of the matter asserted, but noted that
the district court instructed the jury to not consider the video
as to whether it showed influence. The court determined that
it was not an abuse of discretion to admit the video as evi-
dence of Mary Ann’s state of mind, with the limiting instruc-
tion given.

The Court of Appeals rejected the assertion that the video
was cumulative. The court noted that the jury had not observed
or heard from Mary Ann. The court also determined that the

3 Id. at 708-09, 860 N.W.2d at 213.
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video did not violate the contestants’ rights to cross-examine
witnesses against them. The court stated:
[W]here guarantees of trustworthiness exist, cross-
examination of a declarant in a civil case may not be
required if the statement sought to be introduced falls
within a statutory exception. As stated above, because the
present state-of-mind exception allowed admission of the
video, and the court properly gave a limiting instruction as
to the purpose for which it could be considered, the con-
testants were not denied their right to cross-examination.*
The Court of Appeals found no error in allowing the video
into the jury room during deliberation. The court stated that it
would analyze the issue despite the absence of an objection to
the video’s being taken into the jury room and the absence of
any indication that the jury replayed the video. In addressing
the merits of the argument, the Court of Appeals noted that
courts have broad discretion in allowing the jury unlimited
access to exhibits that constitute substantive evidence. Relying
upon our decision in State v. Vandever,’” the court concluded
that the video was nontestimonial evidence and that the district
court did not abuse its discretion in allowing the jury unlimited
access to it during deliberations.
We granted the contestants’ petition for further review.

III. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

In the contestants’ petition for further review, they assign
that the Court of Appeals erred in affirming the district court’s
(1) refusal to instruct the jury on the presumption of undue
influence as proposed by the contestants, (2) refusal to further
instruct the jury in response to its question about the proper
burden of proof, and (3) admission into evidence of the video
of the 2001 will signing and allowing the jury access to it dur-
ing deliberation.

4 Id. at 703, 860 N.W.2d at 210.
5 State v. Vandever, 287 Neb. 807, 844 N.W.2d 783 (2014).
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IV. STANDARD OF REVIEW

[1] Whether a jury instruction is correct is a question of law,
which an appellate court independently decides.®

[2] Whether to answer a question of law posed by a jury
which has retired for deliberations is a matter entrusted to the
discretion of the trial court, and in the absence of an abuse of
that discretion, its action will not be disturbed on appeal.’

[3-5] In proceedings where the Nebraska Evidence Rules
apply, the admissibility of evidence is controlled by the
Nebraska Evidence Rules; judicial discretion is involved only
when the rules make discretion a factor in determining admis-
sibility.® Because the exercise of judicial discretion is implicit
in determinations of admissibility under Neb. Evid. R. 403,
Neb. Rev. Stat. § 27-403 (Reissue 2008), the trial court’s deci-
sion will not be reversed absent an abuse of discretion.” In a
civil case, the admission or exclusion of evidence is not revers-
ible error unless it unfairly prejudiced a substantial right of the
complaining party.!'

V. ANALYSIS
1. JURY INSTRUCTIONS

(a) Proposed Instructions on
Undue Influence

The contestants challenge the district court’s refusal of their
proposed instructions regarding a presumption of undue influ-
ence. They offered two instructions, each of which addressed
this presumption.

The first instruction sought an addition to the statement of
the case. It proposed to instruct the jury that a presumption
of undue influence arose if the contestants’ evidence showed

® Warner v. Simmons, 288 Neb. 472, 849 N.W.2d 475 (2014).

7 Sedlak Aerial Spray v. Miller, 251 Neb. 45, 555 N.W.2d 32 (1996).
8 Hike v. State, 288 Neb. 60, 846 N.W.2d 205 (2014).

° See Curran v. Buser, 271 Neb. 332, 711 N.W.2d 562 (2006).

10 Hess v. State, 287 Neb. 559, 843 N.W.2d 648 (2014).
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that Calvin and/or Patricia had a confidential relationship
with Mary Ann, which was coupled with other suspicious
circumstances.

The second proposed instruction described a burden of proof
on undue influence. It proposed to instruct as follows:

In connection with this claim of undue influence, the
burden is on contestants to establish facts which show that
a confidential relationship existed between Mary Ann . . .
and her son, Calvin . . ., and/or his wife, Patricia . . . , and
the existence of suspicious circumstances. If such facts
are established, a presumption of undue influence arises
and the burden of going forward with the evidence to
rebut the presumption then shifts to the proponent[s].

The proponent[s] may rebut this presumption by evi-
dence which shows that there was no undue influence or
by evidence which shows that Mary Ann . . . had compe-
tent independent advice and that [the will] was her own
voluntary act.

The district court declined both instructions. The court
explained that the burden of proof always remained on the
contestants to show undue influence. Without referring to any
presumption of undue influence, the court instead instructed
the jury that the burden of proving undue influence was on the
contestants. The instruction given by the court stated in perti-
nent part:

The contestants . . . claim that [the will] is not the valid
Will of Mary Ann . . . because Calvin . . . and/or Pat[ricia]
. .. exerted undue influence over Mary Ann . . . .

(2) BURDEN OF PROOF: In connection with contest-
ants’ claim, the burden is on the contestants to prove by
the greater weight of the evidence each of the following:

(a) That Mary Ann . . . was a person who would be
subject to undue influence;

(b) That there was an opportunity to exercise undue
influence upon Mary Ann . . . ;

(c) That there was a disposition to exercise undue
influence upon Mary Ann . . . ; and
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(d) That [the will] was the result of such undue
influence.

(3) EFFECT OF FINDINGS:

(a) If the contestants have not met this burden of proof,
your verdict must be that [the will] is the valid Will of
Mary Ann . . . .

(b) If the contestants have met this burden of proof,
then your verdict must be that [the will] is not the valid
Will of Mary Ann . . . .

This instruction was consistent with Nebraska’s pattern jury
instruction explaining the statement of a claim of undue influ-
ence.” And the court’s instructions defined undue influence
using another pattern jury instruction.!?

[6-10] We first recall several well-settled principles of the
law of undue influence. By statute, contestants of a will have
the burden of establishing undue influence and carry the ulti-
mate burden of persuasion.”* Because the specific language
will become important, we quote it here: “Contestants of a
will have the burden of establishing undue influence . . . .
Parties have the ultimate burden of persuasion as to matters
with respect to which they have the initial burden of proof.”!*
To show undue influence, a will contestant must prove the
following elements by a preponderance of the evidence: (1)
The testator was subject to undue influence, (2) there was an
opportunity to exercise such influence, (3) there was a disposi-
tion to exercise such influence, and (4) the result was clearly
the effect of such influence.'”” Undue influence sufficient to
defeat a will is manipulation that destroys the testator’s free
agency and substitutes another’s purpose for the testator’s.'®

' See NJI2d Civ. 16.06.

12 See NJI2d Civ. 16.07.

13 See Neb. Rev. Stat. § 30-2431 (Reissue 2008).

“rd.

S In re Estate of Hedke, 278 Neb. 727, 775 N.W.2d 13 (2009).
16 1d.
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Because undue influence is often difficult to prove with direct
evidence, it may be reasonably inferred from the facts and
circumstances surrounding the actor: his or her life, character,
and mental condition.!” Although the burden of going forward
on the issue of undue influence may shift to the proponent of
the written instrument, the ultimate burden of proof remains at
all times on the party asserting the issue.'®

[11] The contestants rely on a concept referred to as a
“presumption of undue influence.” According to statute, a pre-
sumption “imposes on the party against whom it is directed the
burden of proving that the nonexistence of the presumed fact is
more probable than its existence.”

[12] But nearly 40 years ago, we held that the “presump-
tion of undue influence” was not a true presumption within
the meaning of § 27-301.2 We explained that in connection
with undue influence, “presumption” appeared to have been
intended to mean a permissible or probable inference.?’ And
several of our cases thereafter spoke of an “inference” of undue
influence.”> But occasionally, we have reverted to the former

7 Goff'v. Weeks, 246 Neb. 163, 517 N.W.2d 387 (1994).
18 See id.
19 See Neb. Evid. R. 301, Neb. Rev. Stat. § 27-301 (Reissue 2008).

20 See McGowan v. McGowan, 197 Neb. 596, 250 N.W.2d 234 (1977). See,
also, Anderson v. Claussen, 200 Neb. 74, 262 N.W.2d 438 (1978).

See McGowan v. McGowan, supra note 20.

22 See, Caruso v. Parkos, 262 Neb. 961, 637 N.W.2d 351 (2002) (deed); In
re Estate of Disney, 250 Neb. 703, 550 N.W.2d 919 (1996) (elective share
of augmented estate); In re Estate of Wagner, 246 Neb. 625, 522 N.W.2d
159 (1994) (will); Goff v. Weeks, supra note 17 (life insurance proceeds);
Pruss v. Pruss, 245 Neb. 521, 514 N.W.2d 335 (1994) (constructive trust);
Miller v. Westwood, 238 Neb. 896, 472 N.W.2d 903 (1991) (installment
contract); Pawnee County Bank v. Droge, 226 Neb. 314, 411 N.W.2d
324 (1987) (guaranty); In re Estate of Price, 223 Neb. 12, 388 N.W.2d
72 (1986) (will); In re Estate of Wagner, 220 Neb. 32, 367 N.W.2d 736
(1985) (conservatorship); Craig v. Kile, 213 Neb. 340, 329 N.W.2d 340
(1983) (deed); McDonald v. McDonald, 207 Neb. 217, 298 N.W.2d 136
(1980) (deed).

21
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nomenclature.”® Most recently, in In re Estate of Hedke,** we
discussed in detail a “presumption of undue influence” and
noted tension concerning the proof necessary to rebut a pre-
sumption of undue influence.

But none of these later cases referring to a “presumption”
of undue influence involved the instructions to be given to
a jury in a will contest. In /n re Estate of Hedke, we deter-
mined that in a will contest tried to the bench, the trial court
was clearly wrong in rejecting the contestant’s claim of undue
influence.” Thus, we applied the usual standard of review of
a probate court’s factual findings.” In In re Estate of Novak,”
we reviewed a will contest where a verdict was directed at the
close of the contestant’s evidence. In that situation, the motion
for directed verdict admits the truth of all material and relevant
evidence submitted by the contestant, and the contestant is to
have it and all inferences fairly deducible therefrom viewed in
the most favorable light in testing the correctness of the court’s
granting the motion.”® Each of the other cases involved an
action in equity to set aside a deed. And, of course, equitable
actions are tried to the bench.”

Although a comment in NJI2d seems to suggest that such
an instruction might be given, the cited cases do not support
giving one. NJI2d Civ. 16.07 provides the pattern instruc-
tion defining undue influence. Under this instruction, one of

2 See, In re Estate of Hedke, supra note 15 (will); In re Estate of Novak, 235
Neb. 939, 458 N.W.2d 221 (1990) (will); Schaneman v. Schaneman, 206
Neb. 113,291 N.W.2d 412 (1980) (deed); Rule v. Roth, 199 Neb. 746, 261
N.W.2d 370 (1978) (deed).

2% In re Estate of Hedke, supra note 15.
B d.

26 Id. (probate court’s factual findings have effect of verdict and will not be
set aside unless clearly wrong).

¥ In re Estate of Novak, supra note 23.
2 1d.
2 See Jacobson v. Shresta, 288 Neb. 615, 849 N.W.2d 515 (2014).
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the comments states, “Further instruction may be necessary
in a case that involves a confidential or fiduciary relation-
ship.” The comment cites to three cases,® but these cases
shed little light on instructions to be given the jury. In one
case,’! we recited that a confidential relationship between the
testator and a beneficiary does not raise a presumption that
the beneficiary exercised undue influence, but that the rela-
tionship between the two may be considered along with all
of the other facts and circumstances in determining whether
undue influence existed. In another case,’> we merely deter-
mined that the evidence was insufficient to justify submitting
the issue of undue influence to the jury. And in the last case
cited in the comment,** we upheld a trial court’s refusal to
give proffered instructions to the effect that a confidential
relationship existed between the testatrix and a beneficiary
and that undue influence was largely a matter of inference
and facts surrounding the testatrix and would rarely be estab-
lished by direct proof. We stated that the instructions given
by the court adequately covered the matters contained in the
proposed instructions and that the relationship between the
testatrix and beneficiary may be considered along with all of
the other facts and circumstances in the case in determining
undue influence.

An earlier case discussing instructing the jury on a pre-
sumption of undue influence is likewise of little assistance.
In that case,* the trial court instructed the jury that a pre-
sumption of undue influence arose in the case of a confi-
dential adviser who was a beneficiary. We stated that the

30 Cook v. Ketchmark, 174 Neb. 222, 117 N.W.2d 375 (1962); In re Estate
of Thompson, 153 Neb. 375, 44 N.W.2d 814 (1950); In re Estate of Goist,
146 Neb. 1, 18 N.W.2d 513 (1945).

31 Cook v. Ketchmark, supra note 30.

32 In re Estate of Thompson, supra note 30.

3 In re Estate of Goist, supra note 30.

3% In re Estate of Kajewski, 134 Neb. 485, 279 N.W. 185 (1938).
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court correctly instructed the jury that when a beneficiary
assisted in the preparation of the will, there was a presump-
tion that undue influence secured the will. But we explained
that because “the presumption is the only evidence of undue
influence, and the presumption is not evidence, there is no
evidence sufficient to submit the question of undue influence
to the jury.”®* Thus, we stated that the matter of undue influ-
ence as to a particular beneficiary was erroneously submitted
to the jury.

And we note that these earlier cases, including the three
cases mentioned in the comment to NJI2d Civ. 16.07, predate
the probate code. To the extent any of those cases indicate that
a presumption of undue influence would remain after the pro-
ponent provided sufficient evidence to meet his or her burden
of producing evidence, the statute*® overrules that notion.

At oral argument, the proponents’ counsel asserted that he
was unable to find any decision of this court sanctioning a jury
instruction regarding a presumption of undue influence. The
contestants did not cite to any such decision. And we are per-
suaded that sound reasons dictate against using the language of
presumption in charging the jury in a will contest.

Where an appellate court reviews a bench trial or a ruling
granting a directed verdict, it makes little difference whether
the court speaks of a presumption or a permissible or probable
inference. As we said in In re Estate of Hedke, one does not
exert undue influence in a crowd.” It is usually surrounded by
all possible secrecy; it is usually difficult to prove by direct
evidence; and it rests largely on inferences drawn from facts
and circumstances surrounding the testator’s life, character,
and mental condition. In determining whether undue influ-
ence existed, a court must also consider whether the evidence

35 1d. at 493,279 N.W. at 189.
3 See § 30-2431.
37 In re Estate of Hedke, supra note 15.
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shows that a person inclined to exert improper control over the
testator had the opportunity to do so.*® It was in that context
that we referred to a presumption of undue influence arising
from a contestant’s evidence of a confidential or fiduciary
relationship, coupled with other suspicious circumstances. And
where a court is considering whether the evidence was suftfi-
cient to sustain a contestant’s burden of producing evidence, or
whether the burden of going forward with evidence has shifted
to a proponent, it may be that using the terminology of pre-
sumption causes no harm.

But where a contestant has met the burden of going forward
and a proponent has met the burden of producing contrary
evidence in response, the language of presumption becomes
unimportant and potentially misleading. An instruction that a
“presumption” of undue influence exists would conflict with
the statutory burden of persuasion that must be satisfied by the
contestant. And it could easily be seen by a jury as placing the
judge’s imprimatur on the contestant’s claim.

We reaffirm our prior holding from McGowan v. McGowan,*
and declare that the concept referred to as a “presumption of
undue influence” in will contests is not a true presumption. We
discourage continued use of this terminology, particularly in a
matter tried to a jury.

[13,14] A trial court should focus instead on the evidence
presented. If a contestant’s evidence shows a confidential
or fiduciary relationship, coupled with other suspicious cir-
cumstances, the contestant has introduced evidence sufficient
to justify an inference of undue influence.* In other words,
that evidence is sufficient to sustain the contestant’s prima
facie case of undue influence. The inference of undue influ-
ence may be rebutted by proof that the testator had competent

3 1d.
¥ McGowan v. McGowan, supra note 20.

40 See In re Estate of Novak, supra note 23.
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independent advice and that the will was his or her own vol-
untary act.*! Throughout the proceeding, the statute places the
ultimate burden of persuasion on the contestant.

[15] And a “tie” is not enough to sustain a contestant’s
burden of persuasion. The party seeking to establish such
influence has not met his or her burden of proof if all of the
evidence is circumstantial and the inferences to be drawn
therefrom are equally consistent with the hypothesis that undue
influence was not exercised and the hypothesis that such influ-
ence was exercised.*

[16] The district court did not err in refusing the contestants’
proposed instructions, because there is no true presumption of
undue influence where both the contestant and the proponent
have met their respective burdens of production of evidence.
The contestants did not assign error to the court’s submission
of the factual issue to the jury. Rather, they argue that the jury
should have been instructed in the language of presumption.
We disagree. To establish reversible error from a court’s fail-
ure to give a requested jury instruction, an appellant has the
burden to show that (1) the tendered instruction is a correct
statement of the law, (2) the tendered instruction was warranted
by the evidence, and (3) the appellant was prejudiced by the
court’s failure to give the requested instruction.* At the time
of submission of the issue to the jury, the court had determined
that each side had produced sufficient evidence, if believed,
to sustain its respective burden of going forward. Because the
contestants’ proposed instructions referred to a “presumption of
undue influence” and at that stage, there was no such presump-
tion, their tendered instructions were not a correct statement of
the law and could mislead the jury.

[17] The jury instructions as a whole correctly charged
the jury regarding undue influence. Jury instructions do not

4 d.
42 See Goff v. Weeks, supra note 17.
S Hike v. State, supra note 8.
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constitute prejudicial error if, taken as a whole, they correctly
state the law, are not misleading, and adequately cover the
issues supported by the pleadings and evidence.** In instruct-
ing the jury as to direct and circumstantial evidence, the dis-
trict court informed the jury that “[c]ircumstantial evidence
is evidence of one or more facts from which another fact can
logically be inferred” and that “[a] fact may be proved by
either direct evidence or circumstantial evidence or both.”
As part of the instruction on the burden of proof, the court
advised the jury that “[w]here two inferences may be drawn
from the facts proved, which inferences are opposed to each
other but are equally consistent with the facts proved, a party
having the burden of proof on an issue may not meet that
burden by relying solely on the inference favoring that party.”
And with regard to undue influence, the court provided the
jury with the correct definition and with the correct elements
that the contestants had the ultimate burden to prove. The
court did not err in instructing the jury.

Our opinion should not be interpreted to mean that it would
never be appropriate to include an instruction regarding a per-
missible inference in a will contest involving undue influence.
But no such instruction was requested in this case, and we
decline to expound on a hypothetical situation.

Although our reasoning differs somewhat from that of the
Court of Appeals, we affirm its determination that the district
court did not err in refusing to give the contestants’ tendered
jury instructions.

(b) Jury Question on
Burden of Proof
The contestants also argue that the district court erred by
refusing to further instruct the jury on the burden of proof.
During deliberation, the jury asked the court to explain the
difference between “[g]reater weight of the evidence” and

4 Wulf v. Kunnath, 285 Neb. 472, 827 N.W.2d 248 (2013).
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“shadow of doubt.” The court merely referred the jury to
instruction No. 7, which defined the burden of proof primarily
using the pattern instruction.*

[18] The Court of Appeals determined that this instruction
was a correct statement of the law. On further review, the con-
testants do not quarrel with this assessment. And the general
rule is that whenever applicable, the Nebraska Jury Instructions
are to be used.*

The contestants do not dispute that the district court’s action
is reviewed for abuse of discretion. They argue that the jury’s
question showed its confusion with regard to the meaning
of the instruction and that the court should have “responded
with a simple ‘no’ or with some explanation of the difference
between civil and criminal burdens of proof.”*

[19] The trial judge is in the best position to sense whether
the jury is able to proceed with its deliberations and has con-
siderable discretion in determining how to respond to commu-
nications indicating that the jury is experiencing confusion.*®
None of the instructions referred to “shadow of doubt.” By
directing the jury back to the correct burden of proof, the dis-
trict court declined to inject law that did not pertain to the case.
And the Court of Appeals correctly held that in so doing, the
district court did not abuse its discretion.

2. VIDEO
The district court received into evidence the video of Mary
Ann’s execution of her 2001 will but instructed the jury to
disregard the specific questions asked by Mary Ann’s attor-
ney regarding influence and whether Calvin influenced Mary
Ann. The court further instructed the jury that those ques-
tions and answers could not be considered as evidence on the

45 See NJI2d 2.12A (defining “greater weight of the evidence™).

4 Shipler v. General Motors Corp., 271 Neb. 194, 710 N.W.2d 807 (2006).
47 Brief for appellants on petition for further review at 50.

4 See U.S. v. Parker, 903 F.2d 91 (2d Cir. 1990).
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issue of undue influence. The jury viewed the video during
the trial, and the video was sent into the jury room during
deliberation.

(a) Admission of Video

The contestants argue that the video should not have been
admitted into evidence for three reasons. First, they contend
that it was inadmissible hearsay. Second, they argue that the
district court abused its discretion in failing to exclude the
video under § 27-403, which, they claim, provided two bases
for its exclusion: that the video’s probative value was substan-
tially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice and that it
was cumulative. Finally, they argue that admission of the video
violated their right of cross-examination.

(i) Hearsay

We find no merit to the contestants’ hearsay objection. The
district court excluded the questions and answers regarding
undue influence. As a result, the video’s content largely fell
outside the definition of hearsay.*’ Proof of Mary Ann’s con-
duct, demeanor, and statements not admitted for the truth of
what she said, was not hearsay. And contrary to the contest-
ants’ argument, the “state of mind” exception applied to her
statements regarding her intentions for the disposition of her
property.*® Because the portions of the video admitted by the
district court communicated Mary Ann’s state of mind at the
time, the Court of Appeals correctly rejected the contestants’
hearsay argument.

4 Neb. Evid. R. 801(3), Neb. Rev. Stat. § 27-801(3) (Reissue 2008) (hearsay
is statement, other than one made by declarant while testifying at trial or
hearing, offered in evidence to prove truth of matter asserted).

50§ 27-803(2) (excluding from hearsay rule “[a] statement of the declarant’s
then existing state of mind, emotion, sensation, or physical condition
..., but not including a statement of memory or belief to prove the fact
remembered or believed unless it relates to the execution, revocation,
identification, or terms of declarant’s will”).
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(ii) § 27-403

We agree with the Court of Appeals that the district court
did not abuse its discretion under § 27-403.°' The contestants
raise the same two arguments here.

[20] In an effort to establish unfair prejudice, the contest-
ants argue that the district court could not “‘unring the bell’”
regarding the questions and Mary Ann’s answers on undue
influence.” But the court directed the jury to disregard those
questions and answers. It is presumed a jury followed the
instructions given in arriving at its verdict, and unless it affirm-
atively appears to the contrary, it cannot be said that such
instructions were disregarded.” The contestants have failed to
point to anything in the record showing that the instructions
were disregarded. They also argue that Mary Ann’s attorney’s
questions were leading, but they fail to explain how the ques-
tions were unfairly prejudicial.

The contestants also argue that the video was cumulative.
At the time the video was offered into evidence, the 2001
will had already been received into evidence and Mary Ann’s
attorney at the time of its execution had testified regarding her
testamentary capacity and reasoning. We digress to observe
that the admission of a video recording showing the execution
of a will is not novel in Nebraska® or elsewhere.>

51§ 27-403 (“evidence may be excluded if its probative value is substantially
outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice, confusion of the issues, or
misleading the jury, or by considerations of undue delay, waste of time, or
needless presentation of cumulative evidence”).

52 Brief for appellants on petition for further review at 47.

3 Kvamme v. State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co., 267 Neb. 703, 677 N.W.2d 122
(2004).

3 See In re Estate of Peterson, 232 Neb. 105, 439 N.W.2d 516 (1989).

% See, e.g., Patterson-Fowlkes v. Chancey, 291 Ga. 601, 732 S.E.2d 252
(2012); Corley v. Munro, 631 So. 2d 708 (La. App. 1994); Geduldig v.
Posner, 129 Md. App. 490, 743 A.2d 247 (1999); Matter of Burack, 201
A.D.2d 561, 607 N.Y.S.2d 711 (1994); Matter of Estate of Seegers, 733
P.2d 418 (Okla. App. 1986).
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[21] Although the action focused on the 2011 will, the
proponents offered evidence of the 2001 will in order to
establish a consistent estate plan. We have stated that a prior
will, executed when the testator’s testamentary or mental
capacity was and is unquestioned, and as to which the exis-
tence of undue influence is not charged, and which conforms
substantially as to the results produced to the instrument
contested, may be considered as competent evidence for the
purpose of refuting charges of undue influence or want of
testamentary or mental capacity by showing that the testator
had a constant and abiding scheme for the distribution of his
property.>® Here, both the 2001 will and the 2011 will left the
entire farm to Calvin. If the contestants were not challenging
the validity of the 2001 will, their argument regarding the
cumulative nature of the video might have merit. But when
the video was offered and received, both wills were under
attack based upon lack of testamentary capacity and undue
influence. As the Court of Appeals observed, “the jury had
not observed nor heard, firsthand, from Mary Ann.””’ The
video provided the jury with a direct opportunity to assess
Mary Ann’s testamentary capacity. And after the directed ver-
dict on testamentary capacity, the record shows no attempt to
have the video stricken.

(iii) Cross-Examination
[22] Finally, the contestants argue that they had no oppor-
tunity to cross-examine Mary Ann. This is a civil case,
and the Sixth Amendment right to confront witnesses and
its Nebraska equivalent do not apply.® But the contestants
appear to assert a broad entitlement to cross-examination
rather than a constitutional right. The principles underlying

3¢ See In re Estate of Flider, 213 Neb. 153, 328 N.W.2d 197 (1982).

T In re Estate of Clinger, supra note 1, 22 Neb. App. at 703, 860 N.W.2d at
209.

8 See Walsh v. State, 276 Neb. 1034, 759 N.W.2d 100 (2009).
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the right to confront witnesses as part of the factfinding
process are also applicable in civil cases. We recognize that
Nebraska’s evidentiary rules contemplate cross-examination
of witnesses in all cases.”

[23,24] Closely related to the right of confrontation or cross-
examination is the hearsay rule. “[I]t may readily be conceded
that hearsay rules and the Confrontation Clause are generally
designed to protect similar values . . . .”® The idea behind both
concepts is that the witness should be made available at trial
so that he or she may be subjected to cross-examination under
oath. When a witness is unavailable for cross-examination, his
or her statements are admissible only if they bear adequate
indicia of reliability.®! Hearsay that falls within a firmly rooted
hearsay exception is presumptively reliable and trustworthy.®
We recognize that this principle cannot be applied in a crimi-
nal case, because it would violate the current understanding of
the Confrontation Clause.® But the principle remains valid in
the context of a civil case.

Here, there was no infringement of the contestants’ broad
right to cross-examination. The contestants were able to cross-
examine the individual who supervised the 2001 will execu-
tion—and who was the person responsible for making and
preserving the video. And while neither the video itself nor
Mary Ann could be cross-examined at trial, our rules of evi-
dence recognize such impossibilities and provide numerous

% See Neb. Evid. R. 611, Neb. Rev. Stat. § 27-611 (Reissue 2008).

 California v. Green, 399 U.S. 149, 155, 90 S. Ct. 1930, 26 L. Ed. 2d 489
(1970).

State v. Sheets, 260 Neb. 325, 618 N.W.2d 117 (2000), disapproved on
other grounds, State v. McCulloch, 274 Neb. 636, 742 N.W.2d 727 (2007),
citing Ohio v. Roberts, 448 U.S. 56, 100 S. Ct. 2531, 65 L. Ed. 2d 597
(1980), overruled, Crawford v. Washington, 541 U.S. 36, 124 S. Ct. 1354,
158 L. Ed. 2d 177 (2004).

See State v. Sheets, supra note 61.

6

62

% See Crawford v. Washington, supra note 61.
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exceptions to the hearsay rule.®* As we determined above,
the video’s content was admissible because it either was not
hearsay or fell within an exception to the hearsay rule. To the
extent it fell within a firmly rooted hearsay exception, there
was sufficient indicia of reliability such that the contestants’
right to cross-examination was not violated.

(b) Use of Video in
Jury Deliberations

Finally, the contestants argue that the Court of Appeals
erred in affirming the district court’s decision to allow the
jury access to the video during its deliberations. The Court
of Appeals ultimately founded its decision on our opinion in
State v. Vandever.®®

In Vandever, we interpreted the meaning of the word “testi-
mony” used in the statute®® permitting a court to allow a jury
to rehear testimony during deliberation. We determined that it
encompassed evidence authorized as “testimony” under another
statute,®” which enumerated the four modes of taking the “tes-
timony of witnesses.”®® Thus, we held that a jury’s request to
rehear an §-minute investigator interview recording was not a
request relating to “testimony” as used in the first statute.

But the Court of Appeals first acknowledged that there
was no indication in the record that the jury had the neces-
sary equipment to replay the video and that the record did
not show that the contestants ever objected to the delivery of
the video to the jury room with the other exhibits. Neither the

% See § 27-803 and Neb. Evid. R. 804, Neb. Rev. Stat. § 27-804 (Reissue
2008).

% State v. Vandever, supra note 5.
% See Neb. Rev. Stat. § 25-1116 (Reissue 2008).
7 Neb. Rev. Stat. § 25-1240 (Reissue 2008).

8 Id. (affidavit, deposition, oral examination, and “videotape of an exam-
ination conducted prior to the time of trial for use at trial in accordance
with procedures provided by law”).
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contestants nor the proponents dispute the state of the record.
Thus, the record does not establish either that the contestants
objected or that the jury replayed the video.

[25-27] Two principles of appellate review preclude us
from reaching this assignment. We have often stated that a
litigant’s failure to make a timely objection waives the right
to assert prejudicial error on appeal.®” And an equally funda-
mental principle is that error without prejudice provides no
ground for relief on appeal.”” On the state of the record, we
cannot reach this issue without indulging in pure speculation
beyond the record. Upon further review from a judgment of the
Nebraska Court of Appeals, the Nebraska Supreme Court will
not reverse a judgment which it deems to be correct simply
because its reasoning differs from that employed by the Court
of Appeals.”!

VI. CONCLUSION
On further review, we conclude that the Court of Appeals
did not err in affirming the district court’s
* refusal of the contestants’ proposed instructions regarding a
“presumption of undue influence”;
* refusal, in response to a jury question, to further instruct the
jury regarding the burden of proof; and
 admission into evidence of the video of the 2001 will exe-
cution subject to an instruction to disregard a portion of
the exhibit.
We also determine that the contestants did not preserve an
objection to, or show prejudicial error from, the district court’s
decision to allow the jury access to the video during its
deliberations. We therefore affirm the decision of the Court
of Appeals.
AFFIRMED.

% In re Estate of Odenreider, 286 Neb. 480, 837 N.W.2d 756 (2013).

0 See Brothers v. Kimball Cty. Hosp., 289 Neb. 879, 857 N.W.2d 789
(2015).

" Id.
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ordinary training and skill in criminal law.

Effectiveness of Counsel. A court judges the challenged conduct of
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CONNOLLY, J.
SUMMARY

Donald L. Sidzyik pleaded no contest to second degree
sexual assault under a plea agreement. On direct appeal, he
argued that his trial counsel was ineffective for failing to
object to statements made by the prosecutor at the sentencing
hearing. We concluded that the State had materially breached
the plea agreement, but we could not resolve Sidzyik’s inef-
fectiveness claim on direct appeal because the record did not
show if his trial counsel had a strategic reason for remaining
silent.! Sidzyik later moved for postconviction relief. The
postconviction court overruled the motion after an evidentiary
hearing because it did not think that the State’s breach of the
plea agreement was significant. Sidzyik appeals. We con-
clude that Sidzyik received ineffective assistance of counsel
when his trial counsel failed to object to the State’s material

! See State v. Sidzyik, 281 Neb. 305, 795 N.W.2d 281 (2011).
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breach of the plea agreement. We reverse, and remand
with directions.

BACKGROUND

The State charged Sidzyik with first degree sexual assault, a
Class II felony. Under a plea agreement, the State amended the
charge to second degree sexual assault, a Class III felony. The
prosecutor agreed to “stand silent” as part of the agreement.
Sidzyik pleaded no contest to the amended charge.

At the sentencing hearing, a different prosecutor endorsed
the recommendation in the presentence investigation report.
The report “in no uncertain terms recommended that Sidzyik
receive a substantial period of incarceration.” Sidzyik’s trial
counsel did not object to the prosecutor’s comments. The court
sentenced him to 18 to 20 years’ imprisonment.

Represented by new counsel, Sidzyik appealed. He assigned
that his trial counsel was ineffective for failing to object
to the State’s breach of the plea agreement. We concluded
that the State had materially breached the plea agreement by
not remaining silent at the sentencing hearing.® Even though
Sidzyik’s trial counsel had not objected, we held out “the pos-
sibility, albeit rare,” that counsel said nothing in order to gain
a tactical advantage.* The record did not show if Sidzyik’s trial
counsel had a strategic reason for not objecting. So, we could
not resolve the ineffectiveness claim on direct appeal.

In 2011, Sidzyik moved for postconviction relief. He alleged
that his trial counsel was ineffective for failing to object to the
State’s breach of the plea agreement. Sidzyik asked the court
to allow him to withdraw his plea or have a court sentence him
in a proceeding not tainted by the State’s breach.

The postconviction court held an evidentiary hearing and
received the deposition of Sidzyik’s trial counsel. Counsel
testified that he did not object because (1) he did not think

2 Id. at 313, 795 N.W.2d at 288.
3 d.
4 Id. at 314, 795 N.W.2d at 288.
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the State had breached the plea agreement and (2) he thought

Sidzyik’s only option was to withdraw his plea:
I didn’t object for a couple of reasons. One, all [the
prosecutor] said was they would rely on the presentence
investigation, and [ didn’t feel that was a breach of the
— of our plea agreement. The second one was probably
— well, not probably. Was a strategy decision that had I
objected and moved to withdraw the plea, then we would
have been stuck then going to bat and going to trial on a
Class II felony as opposed to the negotiated plea agree-
ment that [ was able to achieve for . . . Sidzyik which was
an admission to a Class III felony which potentially saved
him a much more lengthy sentence.

Counsel stated that he did not know Sidzyik could also demand

specific performance of the agreement. He testified that it was

“very common” for the prosecutor to submit on the presen-

tence investigation report.

The court also received a joint stipulation. The parties
agreed that Sidzyik had relied on the State’s promise to stand
silent and that Sidzyik’s trial counsel had not discussed his
options after the State breached the agreement. They further
stipulated that “[h]ad Sidzyik known of his option of choosing
to withdraw his plea or ask for specific performance of a sen-
tencing with a different judge, Sidzyik would have requested
specific performance with a different judge.”

The court overruled Sidzyik’s motion for postconviction
relief. It emphasized that Sidzyik’s trial counsel did not think
the State had breached the plea agreement and that Sidzyik
himself had not told his counsel the State had breached the
agreement. The court concluded that the prosecutor’s com-
ments had not made the proceeding “‘fundamentally unfair’”
and that an objection would have had “no merit.”

Sidzyik appeals.

ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR
Sidzyik assigns that the court erred by overruling his motion
for postconviction relief.
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STANDARD OF REVIEW

[1,2] A claim of ineffective assistance of counsel in a
postconviction proceeding usually presents a mixed question
of law and fact.® For “mixed question” ineffective assist-
ance claims, we review the lower court’s factual findings for
clear error but independently determine whether those facts
show counsel’s performance was deficient and prejudiced
the defendant.®

ANALYSIS

[3] Because the postconviction court’s comment that a timely
objection by Sidzyik’s trial counsel would have had “no merit,”
we start by restating the underlying rules. The State’s failure
to remain silent in violation of a plea agreement is a material
breach of the agreement.” If the State breaches the agreement,
the defendant has two options: (1) withdraw the plea or (2)
demand specific performance of the plea agreement by way of
sentencing before a different judge.® Relief is mandatory on a
timely objection.’

[4] The question here is not if the State materially breached
its plea agreement with Sidzyik. It did. Nor is the question
whether Sidzyik could have withdrawn his plea or obtained
specific performance on a timely objection. He could have. We
answered these questions on Sidzyik’s direct appeal. The issue
now is whether his trial counsel was ineffective for failing to
object to the State’s breach. To prevail on a claim of ineffec-
tive assistance of counsel under Strickland v. Washington,'
the defendant must show that his or her counsel’s performance

5 See State v. Dubray, 289 Neb. 208, 854 N.W.2d 584 (2014).
° Id.

7 State v. Sidzyik, supra note 1.

8 1d.

° See State v. Birge, 263 Neb. 77, 638 N.W.2d 529 (2002).

10" Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 104 S. Ct. 2052, 80 L. Ed. 2d 674
(1984).
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was deficient and that this deficient performance actually
prejudiced the defendant’s defense.! We will address the two
prongs of this test, deficient performance and prejudice, in
that order.

DEFICIENT PERFORMANCE

[5-7] To demonstrate deficient performance, a defendant
must show that counsel’s performance did not equal that of
a lawyer with ordinary training and skill in criminal law."? A
court judges the challenged conduct of counsel on the facts of
the particular case, viewed at the time of counsel’s conduct."
The function of counsel is to make the adversarial testing
process work in the defendant’s case, but we will not second-
guess reasonable strategic decisions.'

We have said that it would be a rare circumstance if a law-
yer with ordinary training and skill in criminal law would not
inform the court of the State’s material breach of a plea agree-
ment.!> We afford counsel due deference to form trial strategy
and tactics, but it is hard to imagine what possible advantage a
defendant could gain from silence.'® Only by pointing out the
breach can counsel protect the benefits the defendant bargained
for in exchange for his or her plea."’

We conclude that this is not one of those rare cases in which
not objecting to the State’s material breach was a sound strate-
gic choice. The State argues that trial counsel’s silence was a
reasonable trial strategy, because counsel thought that (1) the
State had not breached the plea agreement and (2) Sidzyik’s
only option upon a breach would be to withdraw his plea.

1" State v. Crawford, 291 Neb. 362, 865 N.W.2d 360 (2015).

12 State v. Armstrong, 290 Neb. 991, 863 N.W.2d 449 (2015).

B See id.

4 Id.

15 State v. Gonzalez-Faguaga, 266 Neb. 72, 662 N.W.2d 581 (2003).
16 1d.

7 1d.
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Counsel was mistaken on both counts. We realize that even
seasoned criminal attorneys, like Sidzyik’s trial counsel, are
not walking repositories of the entire body of the criminal law.
But trial strategy based on a misunderstanding of the law is
not reasonable. So, the performance of Sidzyik’s trial counsel
was deficient.

PREJUDICE

[8,9] To demonstrate prejudice, a defendant must show a
reasonable probability that but for counsel’s deficient per-
formance, the result of the proceeding would have been dif-
ferent.’® A reasonable probability is one sufficient to under-
mine confidence in the outcome.! In addressing the prejudice
requirement in Strickland, we ask whether counsel’s deficient
performance made the result of the trial unreliable or the pro-
ceeding fundamentally unfair.?’

[10] The State argues that Sidzyik was not prejudiced,
because “the main focus of the plea negotiation was on the
reduction of the charge” and the State’s promise to stand silent
was not an “integral part of the plea agreement.”?' To the
extent the State argues that the breach was not material, we
note again that we held on Sidzyik’s direct appeal that it was.
Furthermore, Sidzyik does not have to show that he would
have received a lesser punishment to show prejudice.? Instead,
the focus is whether counsel’s silence sacrificed Sidzyik’s abil-
ity to protect the bargain he struck with the State, thereby mak-
ing the proceedings fundamentally unfair.”

We conclude that trial counsel’s failure to object to the
State’s breach of the plea agreement prejudiced Sidzyik. Had

18 See State v. Rocha, 286 Neb. 256, 836 N.W.2d 774 (2013).
19 See id.
20 1.

2! Brief for appellee at 9.

22 See State v. Gonzalez-Faguaga, supra note 15.

B Id.
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trial counsel timely objected, the outcome would have been
different, because Sidzyik would have had the option to
withdraw his plea or seek resentencing before a different
judge.* The loss of this choice made the proceeding funda-
mentally unfair.?

CONCLUSION

Sidzyik received ineffective assistance of counsel because
his attorney failed to object to the State’s material breach of
the plea agreement. Had his counsel objected, Sidzyik would
have had the choice to withdraw his plea or demand that the
court sentence him in a proceeding not tainted by the breach.
We reverse, and remand with directions to give Sidzyik the
choice to either (1) withdraw his no contest plea or (2) be
resentenced for his second degree sexual assault conviction
by a judge other than the judge who imposed the original sen-
tence and the judge who overruled his motion for postconvic-
tion relief.

REVERSED AND REMANDED WITH DIRECTIONS.

24 See State v. Sidzyik, supra note 1.

25 See State v. Gonzalez-Faguaga, supra note 15.

CASSEL, J., concurring.

This court has never considered, and this case does not
present, a situation where a trial court, upon the occurrence of
a prosecutor’s breach of a plea-bargained promise to remain
silent at sentencing, promptly and decisively strikes the pros-
ecutor’s offending comments from the record, admonishes the
prosecutor, expressly states that the comments will be entirely
disregarded, and affirmatively offers the defendant with a
choice of (1) withdrawing his or her plea, (2) requesting sen-
tencing before a different judge, or (3) going forward with
sentencing before the current judge.

StAcy, J., joins in this concurrence.
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affirm a lower court’s grant of summary judgment if the pleadings and
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facts or as to the ultimate inferences that may be drawn from those facts
and that the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law.
Summary Judgment. When reasonable minds can differ as to whether
an inference can be drawn, summary judgment should not be granted.
Summary Judgment: Appeal and Error. In reviewing a summary
judgment, an appellate court views the evidence in the light most
favorable to the party against whom the judgment was granted and
gives that party the benefit of all reasonable inferences deducible from
the evidence.

Partition: Equity: Appeal and Error. A partition action is an action in
equity and is reviewable by an appellate court de novo on the record.
Uniform Commercial Code: Negotiable Instruments. Under the
Uniform Commercial Code, when a note is payable to two or more
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only enforce or receive payment jointly.

Accord and Satisfaction. To constitute an accord and satisfaction, there
must be (1) a bona fide dispute between the parties, (2) substitute per-
formance tendered in full satisfaction of the claim, and (3) acceptance of
the tendered performance.
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jointly owned interest in real property so that each owner may enjoy and
possess in severalty.
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HEeavican, C.J.
INTRODUCTION

In this conversion suit, Eric M. Zornes, as trustee for his
revocable trust, appeals the district court’s summary judg-
ment in favor of his ex-wife, Julia A. Zornes, as trustee of her
revocable trust. We also review the district court’s partition
of two promissory notes. We reverse, and remand for fur-
ther proceedings.

BACKGROUND

In 2006, Eric won a lottery with a group of coworkers who
had pooled their money. With their new wealth, Eric and his
wife, Julia, commenced a gifting plan to three family mem-
bers: Julia’s brothers, Andy Wolfe and Jason Wolfe, and Jason
Reed, the husband of Eric’s niece. To avoid taxes, these gifts
were structured as loans with annual payment forgiveness.
Each borrower made a promissory note for his loan, payable
to Julia’s and Eric’s trusts jointly.

Andy’s note was secured by a deed of trust for real property
in Lincoln, Nebraska. Deciding to make a change, Andy sold
his Lincoln property in July 2009 and purchased a new home
with the sale proceeds. Julia had discussed the prospect of the
sale with Eric and told him the new home would not cost Julia
and Eric “any more or less money.” In response, Eric told
Julia she was “going to do what she was going to do.”
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Later that month, after the sale, Andy wired full payment on
the note to Julia’s individual savings account. Without inform-
ing Eric, Julia re-lent all but $22,154.66 of the proceeds to
Andy’s wife, Sara Whitney, for the purchase of the new home.
Whitney made two notes for the loan, payable only to Julia’s
trust. Julia retained the surplus proceeds. There is some dis-
pute as to whether Eric had knowledge of these transactions at
that time.

A couple of weeks after Andy and Whitney paid the old note
and made the new notes, Eric and Julia legally separated. In
October 2009, Eric filed for divorce. During divorce settlement
negotiations, Eric’s attorney made reference several times to
the promissory notes for Andy, Jason Wolfe, and Jason Reed.
However, the final settlement agreement reached in August
2011 did not mention the promissory notes or the proceeds.
Nothing in the record indicates the parties ever discussed the
Whitney notes.

A year later, in August 2012, Julia’s attorney sent a letter
to Eric’s attorney referencing “recent discussions” between
them. The letter stated that Andy’s note had been paid in full
to Julia and that the proceeds were loaned to Whitney. In
response, on October 19, one of Eric’s attorneys sent a let-
ter to Julia’s attorney, demanding Eric’s alleged share of the
note proceeds.

Eric claims that he did not learn that Andy’s house had
been sold until March 2010. He further alleges he discovered
sometime later, presumably around the time of the August
2012 letter, that Julia had retained the proceeds of the sale and
lent money to Whitney. But Julia argues that Eric consented to
her handling of the proceeds. Julia also asserts several affirm-
ative defenses, including, as relevant to this appeal, accord
and satisfaction.

Eric filed his complaint in this action on October 30, 2012,
alleging Julia had converted the proceeds of Andy’s note.
Julia counterclaimed for partition of the Jason Wolfe and
Jason Reed notes. The parties each filed motions for summary
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judgment and motions for expenses, costs, and attorney fees.
The district court granted Julia’s motion for summary judg-
ment. It found that even if Julia had converted the proceeds,
the settlement agreement operated as an accord and satisfac-
tion. The district court also ordered partition of the promissory
notes for Jason Wolfe’s and Jason Reed’s loans by granting
each party a one-half divided interest in proceeds from each.
The district court denied both Julia’s and Eric’s motions for
expenses, costs, and attorney fees.
Eric appeals, and Julia cross-appeals.

ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

Eric assigns, consolidated and reordered, that the lower
court erred by (1) denying his motion for summary judgment
on his conversion claim and (2) granting Julia’s motion for
summary judgment on the ground of accord and satisfaction.

In her cross-appeal, Julia assigns the lower court erred in (1)
the method by which it partitioned the Jason Wolfe and Jason
Reed notes and (2) denying her motion for expenses, costs, and
attorney fees.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

[1-3] An appellate court will affirm a lower court’s grant
of summary judgment if the pleadings and admitted evidence
show that there is no genuine issue as to any material facts or
as to the ultimate inferences that may be drawn from those
facts and that the moving party is entitled to judgment as a
matter of law.! When reasonable minds can differ as to whether
an inference can be drawn, summary judgment should not
be granted.? In reviewing a summary judgment, an appellate
court views the evidence in the light most favorable to the
party against whom the judgment was granted and gives that

' DMK Biodiesel v. McCoy, 290 Neb. 286, 859 N.W.2d 867 (2015).
2 Hughes v. School Dist. of Aurora, 290 Neb. 47, 858 N.W.2d 590 (2015).
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party the benefit of all reasonable inferences deducible from
the evidence.?

[4] A partition action is an action in equity and is reviewable
by an appellate court de novo on the record.*

ANALYSIS

This case presents four primary issues. The first two issues
are interrelated: whether the undisputed facts establish that
Julia committed conversion and whether they also establish
accord and satisfaction. We must next determine the proper
method to partition two promissory notes. Finally, Julia asks
us to review the district court’s denial of expenses, costs, and
fees. Because we find that there exist genuine issues of mate-
rial fact as to both motions, as well as to the value of the
notes, we reverse, and remand.

Eric’s Claim for Conversion.

In his first assignment of error, Eric argues the undisputed
facts show that Julia committed conversion. We disagree.

Section 3-420 of the Uniform Commercial Code (UCC)
states that the common law of conversion applies to negotiable
instruments and also creates a statutory cause of action when,
in part, “a bank makes or obtains payment [on an] instrument
for a person not entitled to enforce the instrument or receive
payment.”> When a provision of the UCC applies, a litigant
cannot rely on common-law causes of action.®

[5] The parties assume that the common law applies to
suits between copayees; however, we note that § 3-420 could
be construed to apply here. Under the UCC, when a note is
payable to two or more persons not alternatively, i.e., joined
by “and” rather than “or,” they may only enforce or receive

3 Rent-A-Roofer v. Farm Bureau Prop. & Cas. Ins. Co., 291 Neb. 786, 869
N.W.2d 99 (2015).

4 Channer v. Cumming, 270 Neb. 231, 699 N.W.2d 831 (2005).
5 Neb. U.C.C. § 3-420(a) (Reissue 2001).
¢ Mandolfo v. Mandolfo, 281 Neb. 443, 796 N.W.2d 603 (2011).
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payment jointly.” Andy’s note was payable to both trusts
not alternatively. Therefore, Julia, alone, was not entitled to
enforce the note, potentially bringing this case into the ambit
of § 3-420.

But we note that the factual disputes discussed below would
be material to a claim under either the UCC or common law.
Therefore, our selection of conversion law in this case would
not affect our decision and we need not determine which
rule applies.

Julia argues she did not commit conversion because she had
Eric’s consent to collect and relend the proceeds. Reviewing
the denial of Eric’s motion for summary judgment, if a reason-
able jury could find that Julia acted with Eric’s consent, then
the district court did not err.®

To prove consent, Julia argued three central facts. First, Julia
presented evidence that starting in July 2009, Eric knew Andy
was planning to sell his house, and that the proceeds would be
used to purchase a new home. Next, Julia relies upon a con-
versation in which she informed Eric of these plans and told
him the new home would not cost “any more or less money”
than was already owed on Andy’s note. Eric responded that
Julia was “going to do what she was going to do.” Finally,
Julia presented e-mail messages between bank and title com-
pany representatives that could infer Eric knew about and
consented to the wire transfer of proceeds to Julia’s individual
savings account.

Eric denies he was aware of the wire transfer and claims
the conversation Julia relies upon is highly ambiguous. Eric
argues that his apparent consent to Andy and Whitney’s pur-
chase of a new home for “any more or less money” hardly
proves he consented to giving Julia his entire interest in the
proceeds from Andy’s note. Further, Julia admits that she
never asked Eric’s permission for the wire transfer and never
informed him of the new notes to Whitney.

7 Neb. U.C.C. § 3-110(d) and comment 4 (Reissue 2001).
8 See Hughes v. School Dist. of Aurora, supra note 2.
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Despite the weaknesses in Julia’s defense as illustrated by
Eric, a reasonable jury could find that Julia acted with Eric’s
consent. Thus, a genuine issue of material fact precludes
Eric’s motion for summary judgment and his first assignment
of error is without merit.

Julia's Defenses.

In his second assignment of error, Eric argues Julia was not
entitled to summary judgment on the theory that the settlement
agreement constituted an accord and satisfaction. We agree.

[6] To constitute an accord and satisfaction, there must
be (1) a bona fide dispute between the parties, (2) substitute
performance tendered in full satisfaction of the claim, and (3)
acceptance of the tendered performance.” Whether Eric should
have known that Julia made concessions in the divorce settle-
ment, intending them to satisfy Eric’s claim for proceeds, is
a question of fact.!” A meeting of the minds is essential, and
therefore, there is no accord and satisfaction if one party is not
yet aware of the later-disputed matter. !

The district court found, first, that the parties had a bona
fide dispute at the time of settlement concerning the disposition
of Eric’s half of the note proceeds. Second, the district court
found that Julia had made concessions in settlement negotia-
tions in order to reach an agreement and that the parties had
done so in satisfaction of Eric’s claim of right to the proceeds.
Finally, the district court found that Eric had accepted the
settlement agreement as substitute performance, which was
evidenced by his hearing testimony.

Each of the district court’s findings relies upon an infer-
ence that Eric knew about the proceeds. This inference would
have been permissible had there been no reasonably cred-
ible evidence to the contrary. However, summary judgment

® Simons v. Simons, 261 Neb. 570, 624 N.W.2d 36 (2001).
10 See Peterson v. Kellner, 245 Neb. 515, 513 N.W.2d 517 (1994).
' See Mahler v. Bellis, 231 Neb. 161, 435 N.W.2d 661 (1989).
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proceedings do not resolve factual issues, but instead deter-
mine whether there is a material issue of fact in dispute.'?

In this case, there was a genuine issue of material fact as to
whether Eric knew about the proceeds. There was evidence to
support a conclusion that Eric was unaware of Julia’s actions
until after the settlement agreement was executed. For exam-
ple, letters from Eric’s divorce attorney during negotiations
consistently listed the original loan to Andy as marital prop-
erty, suggesting that Eric believed his trust still had an interest
in the note to Andy and that the note had not yet been satisfied.
There could be no meeting of the minds, and no agreement for
substitute performance in satisfaction of that dispute, if Eric
did not yet know that the note had been paid off.

Julia alternatively claims that the dispute was over whether
the notes were marital property as opposed to gifts to the loan
recipients. However, the record shows that while she consid-
ered the loans to be gifts, Julia also knew the parties could
cease the gifting plan at any time. Thus, a finder of fact could
reasonably determine there was no bona fide dispute as to the
proper classification of the notes as marital property.

For these reasons, summary judgment on the ground of
accord and satisfaction was improper.

Julia pleaded several additional defense theories before the
district court. These included: failure to state a claim upon
which relief can be granted, laches, estoppel, res judicata, col-
lateral estoppel, waiver, and ratification. The district court did
not pass upon any of these defenses. Julia raised the defenses
of waiver and ratification in the argument section of her appel-
late brief. We find that summary judgment on these theories
is precluded by the same genuine issues of material fact as
pertain to accord and satisfaction. Further, we do not find that
any of the other defenses Julia pleaded below warrant sum-
mary judgment in her favor.

12 O’Brien v. Bellevue Public Schools, 289 Neb. 637, 856 N.W.2d 731
(2014).
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Therefore, Julia was not entitled to summary judgment and
Eric’s second assignment of error has merit. We reverse, and
remand for further proceedings.

Partition of Remaining Notes.

In Julia’s first assignment of error on cross-appeal, she
asserts the district court erred by partitioning the Jason
Wolfe and Jason Reed notes in one-half interests of each to
the parties.

[7] The purpose of a partition action is to divide a jointly
owned interest in real property so that each owner may enjoy
and possess in severalty.'® This court has twice applied the law
of partition to personal property, including one case involving
promissory notes.'

Julia requests that this court grant her the entire Jason Wolfe
note and grant the Jason Reed note to Eric. She argues that
splitting each note as the district court did is legally ineffec-
tive, because the notes still require Julia and Eric to act jointly
as holder under § 3-110.

Eric contends that the district court partitioned the notes
properly. He claims that although the Jason Reed note has a
greater face value, other factors render the Jason Wolfe note
more valuable.

We find merit in both arguments. Because the district
court did not order any assignments of interest when it parti-
tioned the notes, it actually preserved joint management under
§ 3-110. However, if there truly are significant differences
in value between the two notes, Julia’s proposal might not
be equitable.

Thus, upon remand, the parties shall assign their inter-
ests in the notes so that Julia retains complete interest in the
Jason Wolfe note and Eric retains complete interest in the

13 Channer v. Cumming, supra note 4.

4 Hoover v. Haller, 146 Neb. 697, 21 N.W.2d 450 (1946); Riley v. Whittier,
100 Neb. 107, 158 N.W. 446 (1916).
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Jason Reed note so that the parties can independently manage
the notes made by their respective family members. We also
direct the trial court to determine the values of each note, tak-
ing into consideration any relevant factors such as collateral
and financing terms. The district court shall order partition
with an equalization payment as necessary.

Attorney Fees and Costs.

In Julia’s second assignment of error, she argues the district
court should have granted her motion for expenses, costs, and
attorney fees. The district court denied Julia’s motion with-
out explanation.

Julia claims that a provision of the Uniform Trust Code
authorizes the court to award costs and fees, because this is “a
judicial proceeding involving the administration of a trust.”"
Eric denies that the Uniform Trust Code applies. We note, how-
ever, that the applicability of this section is irrelevant, because
the code merely grants courts discretion to award costs and
fees. The record does not indicate the district court abused its
discretion, particularly in light of our decision to remand the
cause for further proceedings. Therefore, Julia’s second assign-
ment of error is without merit.

CONCLUSION
We reverse the summary judgment and remand the cause
for further proceedings not inconsistent with this opinion.
REVERSED AND REMANDED FOR
FURTHER PROCEEDINGS.
Stacy, J., not participating.

15 See Neb. Rev. Stat. § 30-3893 (Reissue 2008).
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Summary Judgment: Appeal and Error. In reviewing a summary
judgment, an appellate court views the evidence in the light most favor-
able to the party against whom the judgment was granted and gives
such party the benefit of all reasonable inferences deducible from
the evidence.

Negligence: Proof. To entitle a defendant to judgment under the com-
parative negligence statutory scheme, the defendant must prove that
any contributory negligence chargeable to the plaintiff is equal to or
greater than the total negligence of all persons against whom recovery
is sought.

Summary Judgment. Summary judgment is proper if the pleadings
and admissible evidence offered at the hearing show there is no genuine
issue as to any material facts or as to the ultimate inferences that may be
drawn from those facts and that the moving party is entitled to judgment
as a matter of law.

. On a motion for summary judgment, the question is not how the
factual issue is to be decided but whether any real issue of material
fact exists.

Negligence: Words and Phrases. Contributory negligence is conduct
for which the plaintiff is responsible, amounting to a breach of the duty
which the law imposes upon persons to protect themselves from injury
and which, concurring and cooperating with actionable negligence on
the part of the defendant, contributes to the injury.

Negligence: Proximate Cause. A plaintiff is contributorily negligent
if (1) he or she fails to protect himself or herself from injury, (2) his
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or her conduct concurs and cooperates with the defendant’s actionable
negligence, and (3) his or her conduct contributes to his or her injuries
as a proximate cause.

7. Actions: Negligence. Nebraska’s comparative negligence law, Neb. Rev.
Stat. §§ 25-21,185 to 25-21,185.12 (Reissue 2008), applies only to civil
actions in which contributory negligence is a defense.

8. Negligence: Liability. An important factor to be considered in appor-
tioning fault is the extent to which each person’s risk-creating conduct
failed to meet the applicable legal standard.

9. Negligence: Minors. A child is required to exercise that degree of
care which a person of that age would naturally and ordinarily use in
the same situation under the same circumstances; the degree of care
required increases when an actor is dealing with a dangerous activity.

10. Trial: Negligence: Evidence. Where reasonable minds may draw dif-
ferent conclusions and inferences regarding the negligence of the plain-
tiff and the negligence of the defendant such that the plaintiff’s negli-
gence could be found to be less than 50 percent of the total negligence
of all persons against whom recovery is sought, the apportionment of
fault must be submitted to the jury. Only where the evidence and the
reasonable inferences therefrom are such that a reasonable person could
reach only one conclusion, that the plaintiff’s negligence equaled or
exceeded the defendant’s, does the apportionment of negligence become
a question of law for the court.
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WRIGHT, J.
NATURE OF CASE
On July 27, 2005, 13-year-old Efrain Ramos-Domingo
(Efrain) was struck and killed by a Union Pacific Railroad



- 283 -

292 NEBRASKA REPORTS
GONZALEZ v. UNION PACIFIC RR. CO.
Cite as 292 Neb. 281

Company (Union Pacific) train in Schuyler, Nebraska. Manuela
Domingo Gaspar Gonzalez (Plaintiff), Efrain’s mother, as per-
sonal representative of Efrain’s estate, filed a wrongful death
action against Union Pacific. Union Pacific moved for sum-
mary judgment on the wrongful death claim, which motion
the district court sustained. The court concluded that as a
matter of law, Union Pacific had not violated its standard of
care, and that Efrain had violated his duty to look and lis-
ten for the oncoming train. We reverse, and remand for fur-
ther proceedings.

SCOPE OF REVIEW

[1] In reviewing a summary judgment, an appellate court
views the evidence in the light most favorable to the party
against whom the judgment was granted and gives such party
the benefit of all reasonable inferences deducible from the evi-
dence. DMK Biodiesel v. McCoy, 290 Neb. 286, 859 N.W.2d
867 (2015); Dresser v. Union Pacific RR. Co., 282 Neb. 537,
809 N.w.2d 713 (2011).

[2] To entitle a defendant to judgment under the compara-
tive negligence statutory scheme, the defendant must prove
that any contributory negligence chargeable to the plaintiff
is equal to or greater than the total negligence of all persons
against whom recovery is sought. Fickle v. State, 273 Neb.
990, 735 N.W.2d 754 (2007), modified on denial of rehearing
274 Neb. 267, 759 N.W.2d 113.

[3] Summary judgment is proper if the pleadings and
admissible evidence offered at the hearing show there is no
genuine issue as to any material facts or as to the ultimate
inferences that may be drawn from those facts and that the
moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law.
Estate of Powell v. Montange, 277 Neb. 846, 765 N.W.2d
496 (2009).

FACTS
At the railroad crossing in Schuyler, there are two sets
of tracks, one for eastbound trains and one for westbound
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trains. On the date of the accident, an eastbound train was
on the south track and a westbound train was on the north
track. They passed each other just east of the railroad cross-
ing. At approximately 1 p.m., Efrain proceeded to cross from
the south set of railroad tracks after the eastbound train had
passed. Efrain was struck and killed by the westbound train as
he tried to cross the north set of tracks.

In Plaintiff’s initial complaint, she alleged claims for
wrongful death and breach of fiduciary duty. The district
court granted a motion to dismiss filed by Union Pacific
with respect to the wrongful death claim and granted Union
Pacific’s motion for summary judgment on the breach of
fiduciary duty claim. Plaintiff appealed. We affirmed the dis-
trict court’s order in the breach of fiduciary duty claim, but
reversed the court’s order regarding Plaintiff’s wrongful death
claim. See Gonzalez v. Union Pacific RR. Co., 282 Neb. 47,
803 N.W.2d 424 (2011).

In the operative complaint filed after remand, Plaintiff
alleged that Efrain’s death was caused by Union Pacific’s
negligence. It was alleged that the noise of one train was loud
enough to prevent a pedestrian from determining whether there
was one train or two at the crossing.

Both parties offered evidence at a summary judgment hear-
ing. The district court took judicial notice of all the exhib-
its that had been offered by the parties in prior hearings.
Included in the evidence was a summation of data collected
by Union Pacific from an event recorder on the eastbound
train. According to that summation, the last car of the east-
bound train cleared the crossing 7.1 seconds prior to the
time the westbound train struck Efrain. The lead locomotive
on the westbound train became even with the last car of the
eastbound train approximately 250 feet east of the crossing.
The westbound train was traveling at 59 m.p.h., and there was
evidence that the view of the westbound train would have been
obscured to one waiting at the south side of the crossing until
approximately 2.9 seconds prior to the time the train entered
the crossing.
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Union Pacific offered the deposition testimony of the con-
ductor and the engineer of the westbound train. The conduc-
tor did not recall seeing the eastbound train. He stated that
5 or 6 seconds before the westbound train entered the cross-
ing, he could see cars stopped on both sides of the railroad
tracks and see the crossing gates were down. A second or
two before the westbound train entered the crossing, he saw
Efrain maneuver his bicycle around the driver’s side of a car
that was stopped in the first position south of the closed gate
and then enter the crossing. Efrain was not on the sidewalk
but, instead, was in the middle of the street as he entered
the crossing.

The conductor believed the train’s horn was blowing, and
when he stood up, he saw Efrain and made eye contact with
him. The conductor testified that Efrain “got off the seat of
his bicycle with both feet on the pedals” and that he thought
the boy was going to stop. He stated that Efrain pedaled a few
more times and, at the last second, he took his eyes off the
train and tried to make it across. The conductor thought for
a split second that Efrain might make it, and then he heard
the collision.

The westbound train’s engineer testified he did not recall
seeing an eastbound train. He did not see Efrain, but he did
see two boys cross safely as the train approached. He recalled
those boys crossing either before the gates went down or as
the gates were going down. He then heard the conductor yell
that he saw a boy on the tracks, and he immediately applied
the emergency brake. The engineer reviewed the data from the
train’s event recorder and stated that it appeared the train horn
stopped sounding 2 or 3 seconds before the accident.

A claims representative for Union Pacific stated in an affi-
davit that based upon his investigation, the westbound train’s
horn was blowing “at the appropriate time as it approached
the crossing.” He averred that the gates, lights, and other
signals at the crossing were actively and properly working.
Union Pacific’s manager of signal maintenance also testified
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that all the lights and signals at the crossing were working
properly on the day of the accident.

At the time of the accident, one witness was stopped in a
vehicle at the south side of the crossing. In his affidavit, he
stated that he saw several boys try to cross the tracks after the
eastbound train passed and that, at that time, it was hard to see
the approaching westbound train because the eastbound train
was blocking the view of the tracks looking eastward.

Plaintiff’s expert, Charles Culver, was a locomotive engineer
with 44 years of railroad industry experience and a railroad
safety instructor. He explained how train crews warn vehicu-
lar and pedestrian traffic of a train’s approach. Culver opined
that based on the configuration of the tracks at the crossing,
the view of the approaching westbound train would have been
obstructed “until the eastbound train had cleared the leading
locomotive of the westbound train.”

Culver stated that Efrain was not provided with the required
warnings of the westbound train’s approach to the cross-
ing. He stated that applicable federal regulations and Union
Pacific’s general operating rules in effect in 2005 required a
train horn to sound for at least 15 seconds prior to entering a
crossing and to sound the horn all the way through the cross-
ing. Culver reviewed the horn activation records from the
westbound train and concluded that its horn sounded for 12
seconds prior to entering the intersection, but did not sound
for the 3 seconds prior to the collision. He opined that the
westbound train approached the crossing at a rate of 86.7 feet
per second and that a proper audible warning was ‘“crucial
for safe railroad operation.” He further opined that Union
Pacific’s failure to comply with the rules and regulations rela-
tive to audible warnings was a matter of negligence on the
part of Union Pacific.

The district court entered summary judgment in favor of
Union Pacific. The court concluded that Union Pacific did not
breach its standard of care. It also concluded that Plaintiff’s
assertions about the sounding of the train’s horn and the
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reduced visibility at the crossing were “speculative [at] best
and . . . not sufficient to create a material issue of fact on the
issue of breach of the standard of care.” It concluded that as a
matter of law, Efrain violated his duty to look and listen for the
approaching train and to obey the crossing gate by maneuver-
ing around the closed gate and attempting to cross the intersec-
tion. Plaintiff filed this timely appeal.

ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR
Plaintiff assigns as error, summarized and restated, that the
district court erred in finding there was no genuine issue of
material fact as to whether Union Pacific breached its duty of
care and erred in finding as a matter of law that Efrain’s fail-
ure to follow the safety rules was contributory negligence that
barred his recovery.

ANALYSIS

[4] On a motion for summary judgment, the question is not
how the factual issue is to be decided but whether any real
issue of material fact exists. Harrison v. Seagroves, 250 Neb.
495, 549 N.W.2d 644 (1996). In reviewing a summary judg-
ment, an appellate court views the evidence in a light most
favorable to the party against whom the judgment is granted
and gives such party the benefit of all reasonable inferences
deducible from the evidence. /d.

[5,6] The issue is whether Efrain was, as a matter of law,
contributorily negligent to such a degree as to bar his recov-
ery. Contributory negligence is conduct for which the plaintiff
is responsible, amounting to a breach of the duty which the
law imposes upon persons to protect themselves from injury
and which, concurring and cooperating with actionable negli-
gence on the part of the defendant, contributes to the injury.
Springer v. Bohling, 263 Neb. 802, 643 N.W.2d 386 (2002).
A plaintiff is contributorily negligent if (1) he or she fails to
protect himself or herself from injury, (2) his or her conduct
concurs and cooperates with the defendant’s actionable neg-
ligence, and (3) his or her conduct contributes to his or her
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injuries as a proximate cause. Connelly v. City of Omaha, 284
Neb. 131, 816 N.W.2d 742 (2012).

[7] Nebraska’s comparative negligence law, Neb. Rev. Stat.
§§ 25-21,185 to 25-21,185.12 (Reissue 2008), applies only to
civil actions in which contributory negligence is a defense.
Brandon v. County of Richardson, 261 Neb. 636, 624 N.W.2d
604 (2001). To entitle a defendant to judgment under the com-
parative negligence statutory scheme, the defendant must prove
that any contributory negligence chargeable to the plaintiff
is equal to or greater than the total negligence of all persons
against whom recovery is sought. Fickle v. State, 273 Neb. 990,
735 N.W.2d 754 (2007), modified on denial of rehearing 274
Neb. 267, 759 N.W.2d 113.

Therefore, in order for Union Pacific to be entitled to sum-
mary judgment, it had the burden of proving under the facts
viewed most favorably to Efrain that Efrain’s negligence was
equal to or greater than the negligence of Union Pacific.

[8,9] An important factor to be considered in apportioning
fault is the extent to which each person’s risk-creating conduct
failed to meet the applicable legal standard. Tadros v. City of
Omaha, 269 Neb. 528, 694 N.W.2d 180 (2005). A child is
required to exercise that degree of care which a person of that
age would naturally and ordinarily use in the same situation
under the same circumstances; the degree of care required
increases when an actor is dealing with a dangerous activity.
Humphrey v. Burlington Northern RR. Co., 251 Neb. 736, 559
N.W.2d 749 (1997). Union Pacific was required to exercise
that degree of care imposed upon a railroad by federal regu-
lations and its own code of operating instructions to provide
proper and adequate warnings of its trains’ approach to rail-
road crossings.

In considering the negligence of the parties, we compare
the duty of care imposed upon a 13-year-old boy on a bicycle
to the duty required of a railroad company whose train is
approaching a pedestrian and automobile crossing. We view the
evidence in a light most favorable and give the benefit of all



- 289 -

292 NEBRASKA REPORTS
GONZALEZ v. UNION PACIFIC RR. CO.
Cite as 292 Neb. 281

reasonable inferences deducible from the evidence to the party
against whom the judgment was granted.

The evidence offered at the summary judgment hearing
showed that just moments before Efrain was struck by the
train, two other children crossed with their bicycles after the
eastbound train had passed. Efrain also crossed the south tracks
but was killed as he attempted to cross the north set of tracks
upon which the westbound train was approaching.

Generally, it is the duty of a traveler on a highway, or a
pedestrian in this case, when approaching a railroad crossing,
to look and listen for the approach of trains. He or she must
look where by looking, he or she could see, and listen where
by listening, he or she could hear. See, Kloewer v. Burlington
Northern, Inc., 512 F.2d 300 (8th Cir. 1975); Crewdson v.
Burlington Northern RR. Co., 234 Neb. 631, 452 N.W.2d
270 (1990).

Efrain had a duty to look and listen for the oncoming train
and to stop at the crossing gate. It can reasonably be inferred
that a 13-year-old boy knows that railroad crossings are dan-
gerous. And such individual has a duty not to proceed to cross
the railroad tracks until it is safe to do so.

On the other hand, it is undisputed that Union Pacific knew
the dangers associated with a railroad crossing and that it
must sound its horn prior to and through the crossing. Plaintiff
offered evidence that applicable federal regulations, combined
with Union Pacific’s general operating rules in effect in 2005,
required the train horn to sound for at least 15 seconds prior
to entering the crossing and to sound all the way through the
crossing. Plaintiff’s expert testified that the horn activation
records from the westbound train showed the horn sounded
for 12 seconds prior to entering the intersection, but did not
sound for the 3 seconds prior to the accident. Plaintiff’s expert
opined that a proper audible warning was crucial for safe rail-
road operation.

Plaintiff offered evidence that two other children crossed
the tracks just before Efrain. There was evidence that when
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Efrain attempted to cross the tracks, his view was blocked
by the departing eastbound train on the tracks until the last
car of the eastbound train passed the first locomotive of the
westbound train. A motor vehicle operator who was stopped
at the south side of the crossing said it was hard to see the
westbound train because the eastbound train blocked the view
of the westbound train.

The district court erred in concluding as a matter of law that
Union Pacific did not violate its standard of care. There was
evidence that the view of the westbound train was obscured
and that the train failed to sound its horn for 3 seconds prior
to the collision. Union Pacific had a duty to properly sound
its horn as the train approached the railroad crossing in order
to warn of its approach. The failure to properly sound the
horn through the crossing was evidence that Union Pacific
was negligent.

Efrain had a duty to look before he crossed the tracks. But
there was evidence that his view of the westbound train was
obstructed. He had 7.1 seconds in which to safely cross both
tracks. It can reasonably be inferred that Efrain’s view of the
westbound train was obstructed for 4 seconds, until the last car
of the eastbound train cleared the crossing and passed the first
engine on the westbound train. At this point, the westbound
train was 250 feet east of the crossing. The train was traveling
at 86.7 feet per second. It can reasonably be inferred that after
the eastbound train passed the crossing, Efrain had less than 3
seconds in which to see and react to the westbound train before
he was killed.

Efrain had a duty to listen for the train’s approach. But there
was evidence that the horn was not blown for 3 seconds prior
to entry of the intersection. It can reasonably be inferred that
Efrain did not hear the train as it approached because its horn
was not sounded. There was sufficient evidence to establish a
reasonable inference that Union Pacific was negligent in fail-
ing to properly sound its horn and that its negligence was a
proximate cause of Efrain’s death.
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In apportioning fault, we examine the extent to which
Efrain’s and Union Pacific’s conduct failed to meet the appli-
cable standards of care. See Tadros v. City of Omaha, 269
Neb. 528, 694 N.W.2d 180 (2005). Efrain’s conduct is to be
compared to that of a 13-year-old boy, and Union Pacific’s
conduct is to be compared to the experience of a railroad with
over a century of operation and its knowledge of the dan-
gers of railroad crossings. It can reasonably be inferred that
Efrain’s duty to see was hindered by the eastbound train and
his duty to hear was hindered by the westbound train’s failure
to warn of its approach by properly sounding its horn. It can
also be inferred that Union Pacific was negligent in failing to
sound its horn continuously for 15 seconds prior to the rail-
road crossing.

The district court’s conclusion that Union Pacific did not
breach its standard of care was in effect a determination that
Efrain’s negligence was the sole proximate cause of his death.
This determination failed to consider that there was a reason-
able inference that Union Pacific failed to properly warn of the
westbound train’s approach to the crossing.

[10] Where reasonable minds may draw different conclu-
sions and inferences regarding the negligence of the plaintiff
and the negligence of the defendant such that the plaintiff’s
negligence could be found to be less than 50 percent of the
total negligence of all persons against whom recovery is
sought, the apportionment of fault must be submitted to the
jury. Traphagan v. Mid-America Traffic Marking, 251 Neb.
143, 555 N.W.2d 778 (1996). Only where the evidence and
the reasonable inferences therefrom are such that a reasonable
person could reach only one conclusion, that the plaintiff’s
negligence equaled or exceeded the defendant’s, does the
apportionment of negligence become a question of law for the
court. /d.

There are cases in which this court has considered the
comparative negligence of a minor. But it is clear that each
case must be considered on the facts presented. In Humphrey
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v. Burlington Northern RR. Co., 251 Neb. 736, 559 N.W.2d
749 (1997), a child almost 11 years old was injured when
she tried to jump onto a moving train. There, we concluded
as a matter of law that the plaintiff was guilty of contribu-
tory negligence sufficient to bar recovery from the railroad
company. She had repeatedly been warned that trains were
dangerous, and she admitted to knowing she could get hurt
by jumping onto a train. She had made an earlier attempt to
jump onto a train and let go of the ladder because it felt like
her arm was “‘ripped off.”” Id. at 738, 559 N.W.2d at 752. But
most significantly, there was no evidence that the defendant
was negligent.

Thus, Humphrey is readily distinguishable. We did not
address the comparative negligence between the minor and
the railroad company because the railroad was not negligent.
It was uncontradicted that the minor’s persistence in trying
to climb on the ladder of a railroad car while it was mov-
ing required the district court to declare, as a matter of law,
the minor guilty of contributory negligence sufficient to bar
recovery. Her negligence was the sole proximate cause of
her injury.

But this case is different. Plaintiff was entitled to the reason-
able inference that the intersection was obscured by the east-
bound train and that the westbound train became visible only
2.9 seconds before the collision. Plaintiff was entitled to the
inference that Union Pacific did not properly blow its horn for
3 seconds before the collision. Reasonable minds could draw
different inferences and conclusions from the evidence as to
the degree of negligence of Union Pacific and the negligence
of Efrain.

It was for the trier of fact to determine whether Efrain’s
negligence when compared to the negligence of Union Pacific
equaled or exceeded that of Union Pacific. Plaintiff was entitled
to all reasonable inferences from the evidence presented. And
since reasonable minds could draw different inferences and
conclusions from this evidence, the issue of the comparative
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negligence of the parties must be submitted to the jury. See
Traphagan v. Mid-America Traffic Marking, supra.

CONCLUSION
Reasonable minds could draw different conclusions and
inferences when comparing the negligence of Efrain and the
negligence of Union Pacific. The district court erred in decid-
ing as a matter of law that Union Pacific was not negligent and
that Efrain was contributorily negligent sufficient to bar his
recovery. For the above reasons, we reverse the judgment and
remand the cause for further proceedings.
REVERSED AND REMANDED FOR
FURTHER PROCEEDINGS.
MILLER-LERMAN, J., not participating.

Heavican, C.J., dissenting.

I agree that the record, viewed in the light most favorable
to Manuela Domingo Gaspar Gonzalez, demonstrates there is
a genuine issue of material fact as to whether Union Pacific
breached its duty to sound the train horn in accord with its
own policies and applicable federal regulations. Specifically,
there is an issue of fact as to whether Union Pacific sounded
the horn in the proper sequence for the entire 15 seconds
before the train entered the crossing, or whether the horn
sounded only for 12 seconds, with the last 3 seconds’ being
silent. That, however, is the only possible duty Union Pacific
breached on the record before us. In comparison, it is undis-
puted that Efrain, a 13-year-old boy, maneuvered around
a closed railroad crossing gate and entered the path of an
oncoming train that was clearly visible to him for at least 3
seconds. In my opinion, no reasonable fact finder could con-
clude that Efrain’s negligence in completely disregarding the
railroad safety features at the crossing and riding his bicycle
into the path of an oncoming train did not equal or exceed
Union Pacific’s alleged negligence in failing to sound the
horn in the proper sequence for the entire 15 seconds. I there-
fore dissent.
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The majority opinion immediately states that the issue is
whether Efrain was, as a matter of law, contributorily negligent
to such a degree as to bar his recovery. I agree that this is the
ultimate issue, but I disagree with how the majority analyzes
it. A key component of the comparative negligence analysis is
the extent to which each party’s risk-creating conduct failed
to meet the applicable legal standard.' It is therefore neces-
sary to first analyze the respective allegations of negligence
made by Gonzalez in the complaint in order to determine the
precise risk-creating conduct of Union Pacific that is at issue
here. Once that conduct is determined, it can then be measured
against Efrain’s conduct.

VISUAL OBSTRUCTION

Gonzalez alleged that Union Pacific was negligent in “struc-
turing” the crossing in a manner that allowed trains traveling
through the crossing in opposite directions to create visual
obstructions for travelers. This court has never held that a
railroad violates its standard of care by structuring a crossing
in such a manner. Gonzalez cites to no case or federal regula-
tion, and I have found none, finding that a railroad has a duty
to prevent two trains from passing in opposite directions on
parallel tracks.

Gonzalez relies on Case v. Norfolk & Western Ry. Co.’
decided by an Ohio appellate court. In Case, a driver crossed
a double train track after one train had passed and while
electric flashers were still operating. The vehicle was then
struck by a train traveling on the other track in the opposite
direction. The court found that summary judgment in favor of
the railroad was improper for a number of reasons, including
that there was a fact question as to whether the oncoming

' Tadros v. City of Omaha, 269 Neb. 528, 694 N.W.2d 180 (2005).

2 Case v. Norfolk & Western Ry. Co., 59 Ohio App. 3d 11, 570 N.E.2d 1132
(1988).
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train was “visible” just prior to collision.’ Case did not hold,
however, that the railroad had any duty to prevent trains from
passing through a crossing in opposite directions on paral-
lel tracks. Rather, the visibility issue was simply part of the
larger question of whether the railroad breached the standard
of care by failing to place additional safety features or mecha-
nisms, such as a crossing gate, at the crossing.* That is not
the issue here, as there is no allegation that Union Pacific
failed to place proper safety features at the crossing. And it
is undisputed that all the safety features in place were prop-
erly functioning.

Simply allowing trains to pass in opposite directions on
parallel tracks at a railroad crossing does not violate a rail-
road’s duty to use reasonable care under the circumstances.’
Thus, in my opinion, Union Pacific was entitled to summary
judgment on the claim that it was negligent for structuring
the crossing in such a manner that trains could simultane-
ously cross on parallel tracks. And the majority opinion is
incorrect to the extent it considers any visual obstruction
created by the passing trains to be negligent conduct of
Union Pacific.

SOUNDING OF TRAIN’S HORN

Gonzalez relies heavily, as does the majority, on the alleged
failure of Union Pacific to comply with federal and internal
regulations regarding how and when a train horn should sound
at a crossing. I am somewhat reluctant to analyze this allega-
tion of negligence at all, as it was not specifically raised in
her complaint. The complaint did, however, allege both that
Union Pacific failed to use reasonable care to eliminate the

3 Id. at 13, 570 N.E.2d at 1135.
4 Case, supra note 2.

5 See, generally, A.W. v. Lancaster Cty. Sch. Dist. 0001, 280 Neb. 205, 784
N.W.2d 907 (2010).
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danger caused by the visual obstruction and that “the noise
of one train was loud enough to prevent a pedestrian from
determining whether one train or two was crossing before
him.” Under our liberal notice pleading rules, this likely was
sufficient to raise the issue. The district court clearly agreed,
because it addressed the horn issue in its order. This convinces
me that we should address the issue as well.

I agree that the record shows a genuine issue of material fact
on this issue. Union Pacific’s conductor testified that the horn
was sounding through the intersection. And a Union Pacific
claims representative testified the horn was “blowing at the
appropriate time” as it approached the crossing. But Gonzalez’
expert opined the horn sounded for only 12 seconds prior
to entering the crossing, instead of the 15 seconds required
by federal regulations. Her expert’s affidavit can reasonably
be interpreted to opine that the horn failed to sound in the
3 seconds prior to the accident, but was sounding for the 12
seconds prior to that time. Gonzalez’ expert also testified that
the horn failed to sound in the sequence required by federal
regulations. There is thus a genuine issue of material fact in
the record as to whether Union Pacific breached the standard
of care with respect to the timing and manner in which it blew
the train horn.

COMPARATIVE NEGLIGENCE

But, as the majority implicitly finds, the mere existence of
an issue of material fact as to whether Union Pacific breached
its standard of care with respect to the horn does not automati-
cally bar Union Pacific from an award of summary judgment
in this action. Here, the district court found Efrain was con-
tributorily negligent as a matter of law to such a degree as
to bar his recovery because he maneuvered around the closed
crossing gate and violated his duty to look and listen for
oncoming trains. Even assuming that the horn failed to blow
in the proper sequence and for the final 3 seconds before the
accident, I agree with the district court’s conclusion.
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Contributory negligence is conduct for which the plaintiff
is responsible, amounting to a breach of the duty which the
law imposes upon persons to protect themselves from injury
and which, concurring and cooperating with actionable negli-
gence on the part of the defendant, contributes to the injury.°
A plaintiff is contributorily negligent if (1) she or he fails to
protect herself or himself from injury, (2) her or his conduct
concurs and cooperates with the defendant’s actionable neg-
ligence, and (3) her or his conduct contributes to her or his
injuries as a proximate cause.’

Nebraska’s comparative negligence law, Neb. Rev. Stat.
§§ 25-21,185 to 25-21,185.12 (Reissue 2008), applies to civil
actions in which contributory negligence is a defense.® To enti-
tle a defendant to judgment under the comparative negligence
statutory scheme, the defendant must prove that any con-
tributory negligence chargeable to the plaintiff is equal to or
greater than the total negligence of all persons against whom
recovery is sought.” An important factor to be considered in
apportioning fault is the extent to which each person’s risk-
creating conduct failed to meet the applicable legal standard.!®
Where reasonable minds may draw different conclusions and
inferences regarding the negligence of the plaintiff and the
negligence of the defendant such that the plaintiff’s negli-
gence could be found to be less than 50 percent of the total
negligence of all persons against whom recovery is sought,
the apportionment of fault must be submitted to the jury. Only
where the evidence and the reasonable inferences therefrom
are such that a reasonable person could reach only one conclu-
sion, that the plaintiff’s negligence equaled or exceeded the

¢ Springer v. Bohling, 263 Neb. 802, 643 N.W.2d 386 (2002).
7 Connelly v. City of Omaha, 284 Neb. 131, 816 N.W.2d 742 (2012).
8 Brandon v. County of Richardson, 261 Neb. 636, 624 N.W.2d 604 (2001).

 § 25-21,185.09; Fickle v. State, 273 Neb. 990, 735 N.W.2d 754 (2007),
modified on denial of rehearing 274 Neb. 267, 759 N.W.2d 113.

19 Tadros, supra note 1.
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defendant’s, does the apportionment of negligence become a
question of law for the court.!

Here, the extent to which each party’s conduct failed to meet
the applicable legal standard must be evaluated. Union Pacific
failed to meet its standard of care in only one respect—failing
to properly blow the horn in a specific sequence and for the
3 seconds prior to the accident. How, then, did Efrain fail to
meet the applicable legal standard?

A traveler on a highway, when approaching a railroad
crossing, has a duty to look and listen for the approach of
trains, and the failure to do so without a reasonable excuse
constitutes negligence.'? He or she must look whereby look-
ing, he or she could see, and listen whereby listening, he or
she could hear.” In addition, § 60-6,170 specifically provides
that when a railroad crossing gate is lowered, any person
approaching the crossing in a vehicle must stop within 50
feet but not less than 15 feet from the nearest rail and shall
not proceed until it is safe to do so. Section 60-6,170 also
provides that no person shall drive a vehicle through, around,
or under any crossing gate or barrier while it is closed or
being closed.™

The ordinary rules of the road which are applicable to
motor vehicles that cross at highway intersections have no
application to railroad trains that approach grade crossings."

" Traphagan v. Mid-America Traffic Marking, 251 Neb. 143, 555 N.W.2d
778 (1996).

12 Dresser v. Union Pacific RR. Co., 282 Neb. 537, 809 N.W.2d 713 (2011).

13 Kloewer v. Burlington Northern, Inc., 512 F.2d 300 (8th Cir. 1975);
Crewdson v. Burlington Northern RR. Co., 234 Neb. 631, 452 N.W.2d 270
(1990); Anderson v. Union Pacific RR. Co., 229 Neb. 321, 426 N.W.2d
518 (1988); Wyatt v. Burlington Northern, Inc., 209 Neb. 212, 306 N.W.2d
902 (1981). See, also, Neb. Rev. Stat. §§ 60-6,170 and 60-6,314 (Reissue
2010).

14 See, also, Neb. Rev. Stat. § 60-6,314 (Reissue 2010) (operator of bicycle
is subject to all duties applicable to drivers of motor vehicles).

S Wyatt, supra note 13.
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Instead, presumably because it is incredibly difficult to stop
a moving train, there is no duty on the part of an engineer
who is operating a train to yield the right of way until the
situation is such as to indicate to a reasonably prudent person
that to proceed would probably result in a collision.'® The
rules impose such a heightened duty on a traveler crossing
an intersection that we have held that “even if the train fails
to give warning signals of its approach to the crossing, [a
traveler] can not recover if he recklessly fails and neglects
to” look and listen “at the proper time [so that] he could have
seen the approaching train in time to stop before reaching the
crossing.”!” In a similar vein, although in a case involving the
issue of comparative negligence under the prior “more than
slight” standard, we have held:
[Wlhere it is undisputed that a traveler on a highway
failed to exercise reasonable precautions by looking
and listening at a reasonable point where he could have
seen an approaching train in time to stop before reach-
ing the tracks, his negligence, as a matter of law, will
defeat a recovery for damages resulting from a colli-
sion with a train at a crossing, even though no signal
by the locomotive bell or whistle was given as required
by law.

Failure of [a] locomotive[’s] engineer to ring the bell
or blow the whistle as the train approached the cross-
ing, even though it may have been negligent, would
not make the railroad company liable for damages . . .
in a collision at the crossing, if the driver of the motor
vehicle recklessly failed and neglected to have his motor
vehicle under control and by looking and listening at
the proper time and place could have seen the approach-
ing train in time to stop before reaching the track, but

16 Dresser, supra note 12; Wyatt, supra note 13.
7 Wyatt, supra note 13, 209 Neb. at 216, 306 N.W.2d at 905.
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recklessly failed and neglected to do so, whereby there
was a collision.'®

Here, it is undisputed that Efrain maneuvered his bicycle
under the crossing gate as it was either closed or closing.
Had Efrain obeyed this traffic signal, which he had every
reasonable opportunity to do, he easily would have stopped
in a place of safety and avoided the oncoming train. Once he
chose to maneuver around the crossing gate, it is also undis-
puted that the oncoming train was clearly visible to him for
at least 3 seconds; yet, he chose to proceed onto the tracks.
In my opinion, no reasonable fact finder could conclude
that Efrain’s negligence in disregarding the closed crossing
gate and entering into the path of an oncoming train was not
greater than or equal to Union Pacific’s failure to blow the
horn in the proper sequence and for the 3 seconds prior to
the collision.

Gonzalez’ brief and the majority opinion generally seek to
minimize the degree of Efrain’s negligence for two reasons.
First, that his ability to see the oncoming train was partially
obstructed by the passing train. And second, that he was only
13 years old.

The record does show that Efrain’s view of the oncom-
ing train was partially obstructed by the passing train. But,
as noted, this visual obstruction cannot be imputed to Union
Pacific as negligence. At most, then, it can be considered as
a “reasonable excuse” for Efrain’s failure to comply with his
duty to look for oncoming trains.!” But even this is unclear. In
several cases, we have held that when an obstruction prevents
a traveler from seeing an approaching train or a distraction
averts a traveler’s attention, a railroad is not entitled to rely
upon the traveler’s duty to stop (presumably because the trav-
eler has a reasonable excuse for not complying with this duty),

8 Milk House Cheese Corp. v. Chicago, B. & Q. R. R. Co., 161 Neb. 451,
465, 73 N.W.2d 679, 687 (1955).

Y See Dresser, supra note 12, 282 Neb. at 542, 809 N.W.2d at 718.
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and that the question of whether the traveler’s conduct in tra-
versing was reasonable is a matter of fact for the jury.?°

But none of our prior cases invoking this rule involved a
“reasonable excuse” that was not negligently created by the
railroad. In Anderson v. Union Pacific RR. Co.,*" a railroad
created a visual obstruction by parking 17 empty railcars just
cast of the crossing on one of three sets of tracks. In Crewdson
v. Burlington Northern RR. Co.,** a railroad created a visual
obstruction by parking a coal train west of the crossing on
the second of four sets of parallel tracks. And in Kulhanek v.
Union Pacific RR.,* a railroad created a visual obstruction by
parking a bus adjacent to the tracks. In each of those cases,
we considered the traveler’s reduced visibility in analyzing
the extent to which he or she breached the duty to look for
oncoming trains.

But here, as noted, Union Pacific did not negligently cre-
ate the visual obstruction, because it had no duty to prevent
trains traveling on parallel tracks from simply crossing at an
intersection. It thus appears to me that these cases are inap-
plicable to the instant case. But even assuming the visual
obstruction created by the passing trains can be considered in
weighing the degree of Efrain’s negligent conduct, I would
still hold that his negligence was greater than or equal to that
of Union Pacific’s as a matter of law. It is undisputed that
Efrain willfully passed under the crossing gate and was able
to see the oncoming train for at least 3 seconds, and yet still
chose to enter its path. His complete disregard for the cross-
ing gate safety feature imposed by the railroad at the crossing

20 Crewdson, supra note 13 (per curiam of three judges, with two judges
concurring); Anderson, supra note 13. See, also, Kulhanek v. Union
Pacific RR., 8 Neb. App. 564, 598 N.W.2d 67 (1999).

2! Anderson, supra note 13.
22 Crewdson, supra note 13.

2 Kulhanek, supra note 20.
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is significant negligence, and I do not see how any visual
obstruction created by the passing train could constitute a rea-
sonable excuse for ignoring this safety feature. Moreover, it
is undisputed that there was no visual obstruction for at least
3 seconds, and there is nothing in the record to suggest that
had he looked during those 3 seconds, he would not or could
not have seen the approaching train. To the contrary, the only
evidence is that he actually did look and did make eye contact
with the conductor, and nevertheless chose to attempt to cross
the tracks. In these circumstances, any negligence on Union
Pacific’s part in failing to blow the horn to alert Efrain of the
oncoming train is minimal; for had Efrain looked, he would
have seen the train in time to return to a place of safety. And
had he not disregarded the closed crossing gate, he never
would have been in a place of danger at all.

I also do not find it significant that Efrain was only 13
years old. A minor child is required to exercise that degree of
care which a person of that age would naturally and ordinarily
use in the same situation and under the same circumstances.’
In Humphrey v. Burlington Northern RR. Co.,” we held that
although it is difficult to find a child contributorily negligent
as a matter of law, the contributory negligence of a child is
not always a question of fact resting within the purview of
a jury. Instead, the issue is whether the child had sufficient
knowledge, discretion, and appreciation of the danger that it
can be said as a matter of law that the child was contributorily
negligent and, if so, whether that contributory negligence is
sufficient to bar recovery as a matter of law.?

And we have so found in other cases involving children
similar in age to Efrain and with similar open and obvious

2% Humphrey v. Burlington Northern RR. Co., 251 Neb. 736, 559 N.W.2d 749
(1997).

2 Id.
% Id.
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dangers. In Suarez v. Omaha P.P. Dist.,” a 12-year-old boy
was shocked and burned when he climbed a 27-foot tree and
touched a high-voltage wire. The boy possessed average intel-
ligence and testified that he knew he could be shocked if he
touched the wire. We concluded that a 12-year-old should pos-
sess sufficient knowledge that a wire carrying electric current
is capable of causing shock or injury to one contacting it, and
ruled the boy was guilty of contributory negligence to a degree
sufficient to bar him from recovery.

In Garreans v. City of Omaha,® two 12-year-old boys were
injured when they dropped a lighted firecracker into a 55-
gallon drum labeled “flammable.” We held the trial court was
clearly wrong when it failed to find them contributorily negli-
gent as a matter of law, reasoning the boys knew what the word
“flammable” meant and knew fireworks were dangerous.

I would reach a similar conclusion in this case. A reason-
able 13-year-old knows train crossings are dangerous and
knows he or she has a duty to stop, look, and listen for oncom-
ing trains. He or she also knows that he or she has a duty not
to go under a closed gate at a railroad crossing and enter the
path of a train that is approaching him or her. Under the facts
of this case, considering the obvious and inherent dangers
present at a railroad crossing, there is no reasonable argument
that Efrain’s age makes any difference in the contributory neg-
ligence analysis.”

7 Suarez v. Omaha P.P. Dist., 218 Neb. 4, 352 N.W.2d 157 (1984).

8 Garreans v. City of Omaha, 216 Neb. 487, 345 N.W.2d 309 (1984),
overruled on other grounds, Bronsen v. Dawes County, 272 Neb. 320, 722
N.W.2d 17 (2006).

» See, generally, Egan v. Erie R. Co., 29 N.J. 243, 148 A.2d 830 (1959)
(7-year-old negligent in attempting to board moving freight train); Olson
v. Payne, 116 Wash. 381, 199 P. 757 (1921) (12-year-old walking beside
railroad track negligent); Kyle v. Boston Elevated Railway, 215 Mass.
260, 102 N.E. 310 (1913) (6-year-old who ran into street into path of
approaching car negligent); Studer v. Southern Pacific Co., 121 Cal. 400,
53 P. 942 (1898) (12-year-old who attempted to cross between railcars of
nonmoving train negligent).
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Union Pacific was entitled to summary judgment if the
evidence and the reasonable inferences therefrom were such
that a reasonable person could reach only one conclusion—
that Efrain’s negligence equaled or exceeded Union Pacific’s.
Union Pacific was negligent, at most, by not sounding the
horn in the proper sequence and for failing to sound it during
the 3 seconds immediately preceding the accident. Efrain, in
contrast, was negligent in failing to look for an approach-
ing train and in maneuvering under the closed crossing gate.
Although his visibility was somewhat impaired by the cross-
ing trains, the record shows that Efrain had approximately
3 seconds in which to view the oncoming westbound train.
In addition, Efrain had at least 12 seconds of audible warn-
ing of the approaching train. Further, nothing in this record
contradicts the conductor’s testimony that Efrain made eye
contact with him, saw the approaching train, and nevertheless
decided to attempt to cross. On the record before us, no rea-
sonable fact finder could find that Efrain’s negligence was not
equal to or greater than Union Pacific’s negligence. Although
this accident was tragic, subjecting Union Pacific to liability
under these circumstances is legally inappropriate, and I there-
fore dissent.

CASSEL, J., joins in this dissent.
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STATE OF NEBRASKA, APPELLEE, V.
SusaN M. DEJONG, APPELLANT.
872 N.W.2d 275
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Effectiveness of Counsel. A claim that defense counsel provided inef-
fective assistance presents a mixed question of law and fact.
Effectiveness of Counsel: Appeal and Error. When reviewing a claim
of ineffective assistance of counsel, an appellate court reviews the fac-
tual findings of the lower court for clear error.

. With regard to the questions of counsel’s performance or
prejudlce to the defendant as part of the two-pronged test articulated in
Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 104 S. Ct. 2052, 80 L. Ed. 2d
674 (1984), an appellate court reviews such legal determinations inde-
pendently of the lower court’s decision.

Postconviction: Constitutional Law: Appeal and Error. In appeals
from postconviction proceedings, an appellate court reviews de novo
a determination that the defendant failed to allege sufficient facts to
demonstrate a violation of his or her constitutional rights or that the
record and files affirmatively show that the defendant is entitled to
no relief.

Postconviction: Appeal and Error. Whether a claim raised in a post-
conviction proceeding is procedurally barred is a question of law.
Judgments: Appeal and Error. When reviewing questions of law,
an appellate court resolves the questions independently of the lower
court’s conclusion.

Postconviction: Constitutional Law: Proof. In a motion for postcon-
viction relief, the defendant must allege facts which, if proved, consti-
tute a denial or violation of his or her rights under the U.S. or Nebraska
Constitution, causing the judgment against the defendant to be void
or Voidable.

. A court must grant an evidentiary hearing to resolve
the ¢ clalms in a postconviction motion when the motion contains factual
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allegations which, if proved, constitute an infringement of the defend-
ant’s rights under the Nebraska or federal Constitution.

Postconviction: Proof. If a postconviction motion alleges only conclu-
sions of fact or law, or if the records and files in the case affirmatively
show that the defendant is entitled to no relief, the court is not required
to grant an evidentiary hearing.

Constitutional Law: Effectiveness of Counsel. A proper ineffective
assistance of counsel claim alleges a violation of the fundamental con-
stitutional right to a fair trial.

Effectiveness of Counsel: Proof: Appeal and Error. To prevail
on a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel under Strickland v.
Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 104 S. Ct. 2052, 80 L. Ed. 2d 674 (1984),
the defendant must show that his or her counsel’s performance was
deficient and that this deficient performance actually prejudiced the
defendant’s defense.

Effectiveness of Counsel: Proof: Words and Phrases: Appeal
and Error. To show prejudice under the prejudice component of the
Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 104 S. Ct. 2052, 80 L. Ed. 2d
674 (1984), test, the defendant must demonstrate a reasonable probabil-
ity that but for his or her counsel’s deficient performance, the result of
the proceeding would have been different. A reasonable probability does
not require that it be more likely than not that the deficient performance
altered the outcome of the case; rather, the defendant must show a prob-
ability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome.
Effectiveness of Counsel. A court may address the two prongs of the
Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 104 S. Ct. 2052, 80 L. Ed. 2d
674 (1984), test, deficient performance and prejudice, in either order.
Postconviction. The need for finality in the criminal process requires
that a defendant bring all claims for relief at the first opportunity.
Postconviction: Appeal and Error. It is fundamental that a motion
for postconviction relief cannot be used to secure review of issues
which were known to the defendant and could have been litigated on
direct appeal.

: . A motion for postconviction relief cannot be used to secure
review of issues which were or could have been litigated on direct
appeal, no matter how those issues may be phrased or rephrased.
Postconviction: Due Process. A postconviction motion asserting a per-
suasive claim of actual innocence might allege a constitutional violation,
in that such a claim could arguably amount to a violation of a movant’s
procedural or substantive due process rights.

Postconviction: Constitutional Law: Presumptions: Proof. In order to
trigger a court’s consideration of whether continued incarceration could
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give rise to a constitutional claim that can be raised in a postconvic-
tion motion, there must be a strong demonstration of actual innocence,
because after a fair trial and conviction, a defendant’s presumption of
innocence disappears.

Appeal from the District Court for Jefferson County: PauL
W. KorsLunD, Judge. Affirmed.

Susan M. DelJong, pro se.

Douglas J. Peterson, Attorney General, and Erin E. Tangeman
for appellee.

HEeavican, C.J., WRIGHT, CONNOLLY, MCCORMACK, MILLER-
LErRMAN, CASSEL, and STACY, JJ.

MILLER-LERMAN, J.
NATURE OF CASE

Susan M. DelJong was convicted after a jury trial of first
degree murder and use of a deadly weapon to commit a felony
for the death of her husband, Thomas DeJong (Tom). She was
sentenced to a term of life imprisonment for the first degree
murder conviction and a term of 50 to 50 years’ imprisonment
for the use of a deadly weapon to commit a felony conviction,
to be served consecutively. On direct appeal, we affirmed
Susan’s convictions and sentences. See State v. DeJong, 287
Neb. 864, 845 N.W.2d 858 (2014). On September 26, 2014,
Susan filed a pro se motion for postconviction relief in the
district court for Jefferson County. On December 18, the
district court filed an order in which it denied the motion
without holding an evidentiary hearing. Susan appeals. Upon
our review, including Susan’s motion, her brief, and the files
and records of this case, we determine that there is no merit
to Susan’s assignments of error, and we therefore affirm
the decision of the district court in which it denied Susan’s
motion for postconviction relief without holding an eviden-
tiary hearing.
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STATEMENT OF FACTS
The events underlying Susan’s convictions and sentences
involve the death of her husband, Tom. In our opinion regard-
ing Susan’s direct appeal, we set forth the facts as follows:
BACKGROUND

On March 11, 2011, Susan called the 911 emergency
dispatch service at approximately 4 p.m. Susan told the
operator that her husband, Tom, was not breathing and
was cold to the touch. Susan stated that Tom had gone
to South Dakota to be with his “whore” and came home
“all . . . beat up.” The operator had Susan perform car-
diopulmonary resuscitation on Tom until the emergency
units arrived.

When emergency personnel arrived at the Delong
home, Susan was hysterical and she repeatedly stated that
the “whore” had done this to Tom. Emergency person-
nel immediately began resuscitation efforts. Tom was not
breathing, and there was no heartbeat. Dried blood was
around his nostrils and the top of his mouth. His hands,
arms, feet, legs, torso, and head were visibly scratched,
cut, and deeply bruised. Emergency personnel were able
to help Tom regain a heartbeat.

Tom was taken to the Jefferson Community Health
Center and was later transported by ambulance to Bryan
Health, west campus trauma center, in Lincoln, Nebraska
(Bryan hospital). Laboratory reports and blood tests
indicated a threat of imminent heart and renal failure.
A chest x ray indicated multiple rib-sided fractures and
a partially collapsed lung. A CAT scan revealed the fol-
lowing injuries: a swollen brain; a tremendous amount
of fractures within the chest cavity, including the spine,
the ribs, and the scapula; a comminuted fracture of
the nose; and a possible fracture of the hyoid bone in
the neck.

The treating physicians concluded that Tom would
not be able to recover from the injuries. The physicians
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asked Susan for permission to remove Tom from life
support, and she granted the request. Tom passed away
shortly thereafter.
SUSAN’S STATEMENTS
AT HOSPITALS

At the Jefferson Community Health Center, Rebecca
McClure, a nurse, stayed with Susan while waiting for
Tom’s prognosis. The two of them waited in a small quiet
room located outside of the emergency room.

Susan told McClure that she had not seen Tom since
Wednesday and that he came home that Friday morn-
ing. She stated that Tom was “stumbling around in the
house” and that the noise woke her up. Tom had been
beaten, was cold, and quickly became unresponsive.
Susan told McClure that Tom had spent the past days vis-
iting the “whore” in South Dakota. According to Susan,
the “whore” would beat Tom with tie-down straps from
Tom’s semi-truck. Susan also stated that the “whore” and
Tom were trying to kill her by giving her a sexually trans-
mitted disease (STD). McClure personally drove Susan
home after Tom was transported to Lincoln, and Susan
then drove herself to Bryan hospital in Lincoln.

Investigator Wendy Ground from the Lincoln Police
Department arrived at Bryan hospital at approximately
10:20 p.m. Ground questioned Susan about Tom’s inju-
ries. Susan told Ground that Tom had returned home that
morning. He looked pale, and he had stated that he did
not feel well. Susan told Ground that Tom was apolo-
getic and that he had told her he had made a mistake.
According to Susan, Tom said his alleged mistress did
not love him and that the mistress went “psycho” and
wanted to kill him. Susan told Ground that the mistress
had previously tried to kill Susan by cutting her vehicle’s
brake lines.

Ground asked Susan about Tom’s medical history.
Susan stated that Tom had been feeling weak and clumsy
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for the past 2)2 years. Susan stated that he was diagnosed
with an STD 1% years ago. Susan also explained that the
current cut on Tom’s lip was caused by a pipe when Tom
was working with a cow.

After Tom had been declared dead, Ground asked
Susan if she was willing to go to the police headquarters
for an interview. Susan agreed.

INTERROGATION OF SUSAN AT
PoLICE HEADQUARTERS

After arriving at the police headquarters at approxi-
mately 1 a.m., Ground placed Susan in an interview
room. Ground left the room, and Susan began working on
her written statement. Susan was left alone in the inter-
view room from 1:12 to 3:04 a.m.

At approximately 3:04 a.m., Ground reentered the inter-
view room. At 3:08 a.m., Ground read Susan her Miranda
rights and Susan told Ground that she understood her
rights. Susan proceeded to sign the Miranda waiver.

Ground began the interrogation by asking general ques-
tions about Tom’s injuries and his whereabouts for the
week. Susan repeated the facts as she had stated at
Bryan hospital.

Susan stated Tom went to Seward, Nebraska, on
Monday, March 7, 2011, for a job application and from
there he went directly to South Dakota. Susan told Ground
that she had talked to him on her cell phone on Monday,
March 7, for approximately 44 minutes. According to
Susan, Tom indicated that he wanted to be with “that
thing.” On March 8, Susan and Tom talked for 5 minutes,
and Susan told Ground that she likely screamed at him
because she was not happy.

At approximately 3:22 a.m., Susan told Ground that
she was exhausted. But she continued to talk. Susan
explained that the next time she heard from Tom was on
Friday morning. She again repeated the same story of
what had occurred that day. At approximately 3:34 a.m.,
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Susan stated that she needed some sleep because she
was exhausted.

The questioning continued, and Susan stated that she
had confronted Tom when he came home on Friday
morning because she was angry. Susan told Ground
that she cannot say for sure that Tom drove home and
that she does not know how he could have driven in
his condition.

At approximately 3:41 a.m., Investigator Robert Farber
entered the room and silently sat at the table. At 3:42
a.m., Susan began crying, and at 3:43 a.m., she stated,
“I’m tired. I wanna go to bed, please. I’'m done, I wanna
go to sleep. I'm tired.” Farber immediately interrupted
her and introduced himself. Farber then told Susan that he
had “a couple questions.”

Farber began questioning. He asked Susan when Tom
and she were married and whether they have common
children. Farber questioned Susan about her relationship
with Tom and about Tom’s alleged relationship with his
mistress. The questions became more directed and intense
as Farber continued the interrogation.

In response to the questioning, Susan stated that every-
body called Tom a “wheeney” and that he took the beat-
ings from his alleged mistress. Susan also stated that Tom
had slapped her in Minnesota. Susan explained that she
was arrested for that incident because she decided to not
tell the police that Tom had slapped her.

At approximately 4 a.m., Susan again stated, “I’m
getting tired, I'm done, I’'m tired.” Farber interjected
again before Susan completed the statement. Farber asked
Susan if she had anything to do with the injuries. Susan
answered no; Farber continued to ask questions, and
Susan continued to answer. For the next 18 minutes, the
questions from Farber became more pointed and directed.

At 4:18 a.m., Susan exclaimed, “I want a lawyer,
please. I'm tired of this.” “I will talk [to] them and they,
I want some sleep, please.” “I didn’t, I will, I just wanted
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to live and I loved him so much, and I just wanted to live
and he wanted a divorce, and I just wanted to live with
him. . . . I loved him.” Farber said “okay” and left the
room almost immediately. Ground followed.

Susan laid her head down at the table for approximately
30 seconds, stood, and grabbed her keys to leave. Susan
opened the door to the interview room and asked to have
a cigarette. Ground told her to take a seat. Susan turned
around and mumbled, “So sorry. I'm sorry.” Ground
apparently paused to hear what Susan said and then reen-
tered. Ground silently took a seat at the table in the same
spot she sat during the entire interrogation.

Susan talked uninterrupted for nearly 8 minutes with
a slow delivery, while Ground sat and listened. Susan
stated: “So sorry. I’m sorry. (inaudible) beat by that
whore. He used to come home, bruises, bloody nose,
black eyes. He’s got scars on his back that are not from
me. He’s got marks on him that are not from me. He’d
come home and, well, he’d tell his boss (inaudible) on
the trip. He’d tell me he did it on the truck going to
(inaudible). Then he’d turn around, go to Sioux Falls
and that Gloria. Oren called me today and asked if I’d
seen your face. It’s all bruised up. I told him that fuckin’
cunt you’re married to did it. (inaudible) I didn’t ever
touch him. Didn’t ever touch him. When I slapped him
in Fairbury, not Fairbury, in (inaudible), what the name
of that town? I can’t think of it, Burger King, God. The
car pulls in there, parked, to get a burger but on the way
in is when he finally admitted he’d been sleeping with
that thing. Finally admitted it. He got our money, went
into Burger King. I got out of the truck and proceeded
to walk across the highway to the other little truck stop
across the road and he followed me over there. Came
up to me, grabbed one of the dogs and I picked my leg
up. Leave it alone. And then I proceeded, I walked, was
walking, trying to call my son to come get me but he
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wouldn’t answer his stupid phone. Standing there at the
back, I'm like I’'m going home. I’'m going home. Well,
fine, I’ll take you home. I don’t know. I’'m going home.
That’s when he shoved me into the wall and cracked me
in the jaw. And I slapped him. Some kid walked out of
Burger King. So I’'m yowling so he called the cops. Next
thing I know they’re showing up. He said I’ll take you
home, I'll take you home. Fine, I’ll take you home. Fine,
I’1l take you home. Then we got in the truck. Next thing I
know there’s the cops. Everybody thinks Tom is such an
innocent man. He used to be. He used to be the most lov-
ing, gentle, sweet man you could meet. Till he met that
(inaudible). Then they started molesting children. I still
say I think he was on drugs. Cuz you don’t drive 14, 16
hours with nothing. My Blazer for one hasn’t ever had a
problem with the brakes. I hit a deer. Well, come to find
out my front brakes are disconnected. Huh. Excuse me. |
don’t know. I just know that (inaudible) no more getting
shoved. (inaudible) I didn’t poison him. He is what he is
from what he plays with. (inaudible) He told me he was
going to kill me. (inaudible) kill me. (inaudible) Am I
under arrest?”

Ground told Susan that the decision for arrest was up
to the police department in Fairbury, Nebraska. Ground
answered some questions from Susan, but did not ask
Susan any questions.

Susan continued: “Self-defense, because I don’t bruise
and he does. That’s pretty much the way that goes. (inau-
dible) she did (inaudible) to him. For what she did to
him. He wasn’t the man I married. What I told you about
it is all true. It does deal drugs, (inaudible) drugs, go
psycho. And it went psycho on him more than once. Does
molest children. Little boy’s name’s Chris. . . . I have to
be arraigned within 24 hours. I know that, why not. Just
like the deal in Minnesota. And he’ll walk away scott
free. And there’s a lot of the injuries he had [that were]
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not from me. The worse one he get that I can remember
is falling off the ladder. That one scared me. Why didn’t
I just leave. Why didn’t I just run. Because he always
showed up. He always showed up. (inaudible) I need
some sleep. (inaudible) so tired. I just, I just need some-
body to talk for me right now, I’'m so tired. I’'m too tried.
I haven’t (inaudible) for two days. Could you? I want
a cigarette.”

Ground responded: “Okay, just be patient with us.”
Susan continued: “No, I want a cigarette. [ want a ciga-
rette. Then He did take off and go back to S.D. (inaudible)
either. It’s all partly true. The whole story is partly true.
I don’t know. He came back beaten up from S.D. too. I
didn’t hit him in the head. (inaudible) when he fell on it.
I stepped on it. That was after he threw it at me is how it
ended up there. I’'m not under arrest. I can go outside and
have a cigarette if [ want.”

After a back and forth conversation between Susan
and Ground, Susan stated, without being questioned:
“(inaudible) you’ll arrest me because that’s the way it
always goes. Let’s (inaudible) her and she’s the one
that always gets in trouble. (inaudible) self defense, self
preservation. They made sure of it. It takes a heck of
a hit for me to bruise but . . . make sure that and Tom
knew it.”

Shortly thereafter, an unidentified female officer
entered the room. Ground and the female officer took
pictures of Susan’s bruised hands and forearms. The inter-
rogation video ends. Susan was subsequently arrested
and charged with first degree murder and use of a deadly
weapon to commit a felony.

HEARING ON MOTION TO
SUPPRESS INTERROGATION

On June 13, 2011, Susan filed a motion to suppress her
statements given on March 12, which she argued were
obtained in violation of her constitutional rights. Susan
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argued that there were three different statements made by
her that invoked her constitutional right to end the inter-
rogation. At 3:43 a.m., Susan stated, “I’m done, I wanna
go to sleep. I'm tired.” At 4 a.m., Susan stated, “I’'m
getting tired, I’'m done, I’'m tired.” And the last relevant
statement was made at 4:18 a.m., when Susan stated, “I
want a lawyer, please. I'm tired of this.”

At the hearing, the district court accepted a joint stipu-
lation that Susan was in custody at the time of the
interrogation.

In its order, the district court found Susan’s first
two statements were not unequivocal and unambiguous
statements that she wanted to cut off the questioning.
Additionally, the court found that all of the statements
made by Susan after exercising her right to counsel were
voluntarily made and were not the result of the functional
equivalent of interrogation.

Susan filed a motion to reconsider. Upon reconsid-
eration, the district court suppressed the statements made
from 4 to 4:18 a.m., because her statement that she
was “done” was unequivocal and unambiguous. However,
statements made before 4 a.m. were admissible, because
Susan had not yet invoked her right to end questioning.
The district court found that statements made after 4:18
a.m. were admissible, because they were not the result of
questioning or the functional equivalent.

RULE 404 HEARING

On January 26, 2012, the State filed an “Amended
Motion to Conduct Hearing Pursuant to Neb. Rev. Stat.
§ 27-104 Regarding the Admissibility of § 27-404(2)
Evidence.” A hearing was held on the same date (rule
404 hearing), and evidence was accepted. There are three
prior “bad acts” that the State wanted admitted for lim-
ited purposes.

For the first prior “bad act,” the State offered the
testimony of then-police officer Nicholas Schwalbe of
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Jackson, Minnesota. Schwalbe testified that on May 31,
2010, he received a call of a fight in progress at a truck-
stop. He identified the driver as Tom and the passenger
as Susan. Schwalbe observed that Tom had a black eye,
a fresh wound under that eye, and scabbing on his face,
ear, and neck, as well as spots of fresh blood rolling
down his neck. Susan was placed under arrest. Susan
told Schwalbe that they were fighting because Tom was
cheating on her.

The second event occurred in August 2010. James
Platt, Susan’s son, and Sharon Platt, James’ wife, testified
that Susan and Tom unexpectedly came to live with them
that August. Susan told them that she and Tom needed to
get away from their home, which was in South Dakota at
the time. Both James and Sharon testified that Tom was
“in bad shape.” Tom’s face was beaten and swollen, and
he had bloody ears. When asked, Susan told James that
the injuries were caused by a truckstop robbery. James
testified that Susan had for years believed Tom was
unfaithful with someone from work. Shortly thereafter,
James testified that Susan and Tom moved to Jefferson
County, Nebraska.

The third event occurred in late 2010. James and
Sharon visited Susan and Tom at their new home in
Jefferson County. Both testified that Tom looked “‘ter-
rible.”” He had cuts on his face and a split lip. Sharon
asked Tom about his facial injuries, and Susan replied for
Tom that the injuries happened at work when “the pigs
got him.”

At the hearing, the State also offered the testimony of
McClure, Brian Bauer, and Ground. McClure testified
about Susan’s story that Tom had gone to South Dakota
“probably up visiting his girlfriend.” She testified about
what Susan had told her at the hospital.

Bauer, who had employed Tom on his farm in Jefferson
County, testified that Tom would come to work every 2 to
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3 weeks visibly sore with bruises on his face, black eyes,
split lips, and marks on his hands. According to Bauer,
these injuries did not occur at work.

Ground testified that at the hospital, Susan stated that
Tom’s facial injuries and split lip were caused by working
on the farm. Susan told her that the split lip was caused
by a pipe when Tom was working with a cow.

Based on the evidence presented, the district court
found that the May 31, 2010, incident in Minnesota was
admissible as it pertains to the injuries observed on Tom
and to Susan’s statements as to the reason for their alter-
cation, for the specific and limited purposes of demon-
strating the existence of motive and intent. The district
court further ordered that all three incidents were admis-
sible for the specific and limited purposes of negating,
or demonstrating the existence of, intent, identity of the
perpetrator, and absence of mistake or accident.

TrRIAL

A jury trial was held on February 21, 2012. The
State offered the testimony of the 911 dispatcher, the
responding emergency personnel, the investigating offi-
cers, Farber, Ground, McClure, Bauer, Schwalbe, and
James and Sharon. The State offered the video interroga-
tion of Susan at the police headquarters, with the footage
from 4 to 4:18 a.m. redacted. The three prior bad acts
that were the subject of the rule 404 hearing were also
presented to the jury. In addition, the following evidence
was presented.

EVIDENCE FOUND AT HOME

The DeJong home was searched on March 12, 2011.
Tom’s Chevrolet Blazer was parked in the detached
garage. No evidence was found in the garage or either in
or on the Blazer. Susan’s white pickup truck was proc-
essed on March 15. Tom’s blood was found on the hood
and fender of the truck. Inside the pickup truck, there was
a red duffelbag and a blue denim bag.
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In the red bag, investigators found women’s clothing,
a yellow hammer, a blue hammer, toiletry items, men’s
pajamas, and Tom’s wallet. The blue bag contained a
computer, a lug wrench, and a cell phone.

DNA tests were conducted on this evidence, and results
showed that the blue hammer had a mixture of Tom’s and
Susan’s DNA. Susan’s DNA was found on the handle of
the yellow hammer, and a mixture of DNA was found in
a blood sample on the claw area of the yellow hammer.
Tom was the major contributor of that DNA. Tom’s DNA
was found in the bloodstains on the men’s pajamas.

In the house, at least 70 blood drops were found
throughout. No large pools of blood were found. Blood
was found in the living room, kitchen, bathroom, dining
room, and the master bedroom. Blood was also found on
clothing items seized from the laundry room. A forensic
scientist testified to which stains were left by Tom, by
Susan, or by a mixture of the two. Tom’s DNA was found
repeatedly in the bloodstains throughout the house.

MEeDpIcAL TESTIMONY

Dr. Craig Shumard was working in the emergency
room when Tom was brought by ambulance to the
Jefferson Community Health Center. Shumard described
Tom’s injuries to the jury and testified that the injuries
did not arise from natural causes or accidents. He testi-
fied that Tom’s injuries were inconsistent with typical
farmwork injuries.

Dr. Stanley Okosun, a trauma surgeon at Bryan hos-
pital, testified to his treatment and care of Tom. Okosun
testified that Tom’s high levels of myoglobin indicated
that the trauma inflicted on Tom occurred 12 to 24 hours
prior to his arrival at Bryan hospital. Okosun testified
that Susan told him that Tom’s bruising was caused by
working on a pig farm. Okosun testified that the explana-
tion was highly unlikely. He further testified that with the
injuries suffered, Tom could not have driven home on the
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Friday morning before his death. According to Okosun,
Tom’s injuries could not have been caused by natural
causes or a car accident. He attributed Tom’s injuries to
blunt force trauma caused by an assault.

Dr. Juris Purins was the radiologist who reviewed the
CAT scan performed on Tom at Bryan hospital. The CAT
scan revealed unusually severe head and brain injuries
which are typically associated with a patient’s not breath-
ing. Tom’s nose had a comminuted fracture, which means
it was fractured in multiple places. Tom had a dislocation
of the lens in his right eye, which was another unusual
injury. Purins described a tremendous number of frac-
tures within the chest cavity, including the spine, ribs,
and scapula. One of the fractures was an old injury but
the rest were recent. Purins also identified a fracture of
the hyoid bone in the neck. Purins testified that the frac-
tured hyoid bone, along with subcutaneous emphysema,
indicated a potential choking injury. Purins opined that
the injuries were the result of a “pretty severe beating,”
maybe from a hammer, and that the injuries would have
prevented Tom from driving or walking.

Dr. Jean Thomsen was the pathologist who performed
Tom’s autopsy. Thomsen stated that she had “never seen
someone so extensively injured.” After the autopsy,
Thomsen found the cause of death to be “[b]lunt force
trauma to the head, neck, chest and extremities.” In her
opinion, Tom’s death was a homicide.

In her autopsy report, Thomsen found defects on Tom’s
hands and arms that she described as defensive wounds.
Thomsen found that the injuries were caused by some
type of instrument. Thomsen testified that the injuries
were C-shaped and semicircular and may have been
caused by a hammer. The autopsy also confirmed a frac-
ture of the hyoid bone in the neck, but she did not find
other signs usually associated with manual strangulation
beyond neck bruising.
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Defense counsel offered the expert testimony of Dr.
Robert Bux, a forensic pathologist. Bux agrees that this
case was a homicide caused by multiple instances of blunt
force trauma. He stated that he has “never personally seen
a case like this with so much soft tissue contusion.” Tom
was “really beaten.” Bux opined that the injuries occurred
at least 24 hours prior to death, and maybe as many as 36
hours prior. He agrees that the wounds on Tom’s hands
and arms indicate that Tom was attempting to ward off
an attack.

Bux disagreed that a clawhammer was used, because
there were no circle bruises from the hammerhead, no
raking marks from the claw, and no pattern of contu-
sions consistent with the side of a hammer. He opined
that based on a lack of hemorrhaging around the hyoid
bone, the bone had been fractured during the autopsy.
He argued that the brain injuries were caused not by the
blunt force trauma but by Tom’s not breathing while still
at home. Bux also testified that Tom would have been
able to walk and talk immediately after the beating he
suffered, but that his condition would have continued to
deteriorate. Bux also opined that because of the relatively
small amounts of blood found in the home, the assaults
that caused Tom’s facial injuries likely did not occur in
the home.

INSTANT MESSENGER CHATS

An investigator seized Susan’s computer and found
relevant Internet instant messenger chats. James, Susan’s
son, confirmed the messages were sent to him from Susan
under her handle “the piglady.” On September 24, 2010,
“the piglady” wrote in reference to Tom, “i can’t do

this . . . staying here anymore,” “i’ve come to realize i
literally hate him.” She continued, “now i wish he was
dead . . . i really hate him more than i have ever hated

ANYONE.” On February 14, “the piglady” wrote that
“i’m looking at getting rid of tom” and “i can’t take or do
this anymore.”
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ToM’s WHEREABOUTS
WEEK oF His DEATH

Beyond testifying about Tom’s injuries while working
at the farm, Bauer testified that on the Tuesday before his
death, Tom worked a full day. Tom was bruised and had
trouble getting around. On Wednesday and Thursday, Tom
called in sick. On Thursday, Bauer drove by the house
and noticed that both vehicles owned by the DelJongs
were at the house, including Tom’s Blazer.

James testified that he had a telephone conversation
with Susan on the Thursday morning before Tom’s death.
James asked Susan what size tires were on Susan’s white
pickup truck. James testified that Susan asked someone
else in the house. James assumed that the person was Tom
and was surprised that Tom was not working. James testi-
fied that Susan did not mention in that telephone call that
Tom was in South Dakota.

Cell phone records were also introduced into evidence.
On March 8, 2011, the Tuesday before Tom’s death, there
were four calls from Susan’s cell phone to Tom’s cell
phone and the calls “hit” or “pinged” off the nearby cell
towers in the Fairbury and Hebron, Nebraska, areas. On
Wednesday and Thursday, there were calls from Tom’s
cell phone to Bauer’s cell phone. Both calls “hit” off cell
towers in the Fairbury and Hebron areas.

ALLEGED MISTRESS

The woman who Susan alleged was Tom’s mistress
also testified at trial. The woman worked as a dispatcher
for a small trucking company in South Dakota. Tom had
been a truckdriver for that company. The woman testified
that she and Tom had a working relationship only. She
never spent time with Tom socially. She never had any
type of sexual contact with Tom. She testified that she
had no reason to want to hurt Tom or Susan. The woman
testified that from March 8 to 11, 2011, she was on a trip
to Minnesota and had no contact with Tom. She testified
that she did not inflict Tom’s injuries.
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CONVICTIONS AND SENTENCES
After deliberation, the jury found Susan guilty on
count I, murder in the first degree, and guilty on count
II, use of a deadly weapon to commit a felony. Susan
was sentenced to life imprisonment for count I and 50
to 50 years’ imprisonment on count II, to be served
consecutively.
State v. DeJong, 287 Neb. 864, 867-80, 845 N.W.2d 858, 863-
71 (2014).

Susan was represented both at trial and on direct appeal by
lawyers from the same office, the Nebraska Commission on
Public Advocacy. In our opinion on direct appeal, we restated
and summarized Susan’s assignments of error as follows:

[T]he district court erred by (1) admitting at trial the
statements she made to investigators between 3:43 to
4 am.; (2) admitting at trial the statements she made
to investigators after 4:18 a.m.; (3) admitting at trial
evidence of Tom’s injuries on prior occasions and her
related statements concerning the injuries, because there
was no clear and convincing evidence that she had com-
mitted a crime, wrong, or act with respect to those
injuries; and (4) admitting at trial evidence of Tom’s
injuries on prior occasions and her related statements
concerning the injuries, because the probative value of
the evidence was substantially outweighed by the danger
of unfair prejudice.
Id. at 880, 845 N.W.2d at 871-72.

With respect to Susan’s assignments of error on direct
appeal, we determined that her statements made from 3:43
to 4 a.m. should have been suppressed, but we concluded
that the error was harmless. We further determined that her
statements made after 4:18 a.m. were not required to be sup-
pressed. With respect to the evidence admitted regarding the
prior bad acts, for purposes of the direct appeal, we assumed
without deciding that the admission of the evidence was
error; however, we found the admission of the evidence to be
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harmless. Based on these determinations, we affirmed Susan’s
convictions and sentences on direct appeal.

On September 26, 2014, Susan, acting pro se, filed a
motion for postconviction relief. As we read her motion, Susan
alleged that she received ineffective assistance of counsel
because counsel failed to “investigate further” and question
more extensively numerous witnesses who testified at trial
and failed to argue on direct appeal that there was insufficient
evidence to support her convictions and sentences. Susan also
alleged, as we read her motion, that the district court erred
when it admitted evidence related to prior bad acts and other
evidence. Susan also alleged in her motion that she is actu-
ally innocent.

On December 18, 2014, the district court denied Susan’s
motion for postconviction relief without holding an eviden-
tiary hearing.

Susan appeals.

ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

Susan assigns, restated and consolidated, that the district
court erred when it denied her motion for postconviction relief
without holding an evidentiary hearing on her claims that (1)
she received ineffective assistance of counsel when counsel
failed to further investigate and ask questions of the witnesses
and failed to argue on direct appeal that the evidence presented
at trial was insufficient; (2) the district court improperly
admitted evidence generally and, in particular, evidence of
prior bad acts; (3) she is actually innocent; and (4) the district
court improperly denied her motion for new trial.

STANDARDS OF REVIEW
[1-3] A claim that defense counsel provided ineffective
assistance presents a mixed question of law and fact. Srate
v. Thorpe, 290 Neb. 149, 858 N.W.2d 880 (2015). When
reviewing a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel, an
appellate court reviews the factual findings of the lower court
for clear error. Id. With regard to the questions of counsel’s
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performance or prejudice to the defendant as part of the two-
pronged test articulated in Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S.
668, 104 S. Ct. 2052, 80 L. Ed. 2d 674 (1984), an appellate
court reviews such legal determinations independently of the
lower court’s decision. State v. Thorpe, supra.

[4] In appeals from postconviction proceedings, an appel-
late court reviews de novo a determination that the defendant
failed to allege sufficient facts to demonstrate a violation of his
or her constitutional rights or that the record and files affirma-
tively show that the defendant is entitled to no relief. State v.
Huston, 291 Neb. 708, 868 N.W.2d 766 (2015).

[5,6] Whether a claim raised in a postconviction proceeding
is procedurally barred is a question of law. State v. Thorpe,
supra. When reviewing questions of law, an appellate court
resolves the questions independently of the lower court’s con-
clusion. /d.

ANALYSIS
Relevant Postconviction Law.

We begin by reviewing general propositions relating to post-
conviction relief and ineffective assistance of counsel claims
before applying those propositions to the claims alleged and
argued by Susan in this appeal. We note that because Susan
was represented both at trial and on direct appeal by lawyers
from the same office, the Nebraska Commission on Public
Advocacy, this postconviction proceeding is effectively her
first opportunity to claim that her trial counsel provided inef-
fective assistance of counsel. See State v. Fox, 286 Neb. 956,
840 N.W.2d 479 (2013).

[7] The Nebraska Postconviction Act, Neb. Rev. Stat.
§ 29-3001 et seq. (Reissue 2008 & Cum. Supp. 2014), provides
that postconviction relief is available to a prisoner in custody
under sentence who seeks to be released on the ground that
there was a denial or infringement of his or her constitutional
rights such that the judgment was void or voidable. State v.
Crawford, 291 Neb. 362, 865 N.W.2d 360 (2015). Thus, in
a motion for postconviction relief, the defendant must allege
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facts which, if proved, constitute a denial or violation of his
or her rights under the U.S. or Nebraska Constitution, causing
the judgment against the defendant to be void or voidable.
State v. Crawford, supra.

[8,9] A court must grant an evidentiary hearing to resolve the
claims in a postconviction motion when the motion contains
factual allegations which, if proved, constitute an infringe-
ment of the defendant’s rights under the Nebraska or federal
Constitution. State v. Huston, supra. If a postconviction motion
alleges only conclusions of fact or law, or if the records and
files in the case affirmatively show that the defendant is
entitled to no relief, the court is not required to grant an evi-
dentiary hearing. /d.

[10-13] A proper ineffective assistance of counsel claim
alleges a violation of the fundamental constitutional right
to a fair trial. State v. Crawford, supra. To prevail on a
claim of ineffective assistance of counsel under Strickland
v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 104 S. Ct. 2052, 80 L. Ed. 2d
674 (1984), the defendant must show that his or her counsel’s
performance was deficient and that this deficient performance
actually prejudiced the defendant’s defense. State v. Crawford,
supra. To show prejudice under the prejudice component of
the Strickland test, the defendant must demonstrate a reason-
able probability that but for his or her counsel’s deficient
performance, the result of the proceeding would have been
different. State v. Huston, supra. A reasonable probability
does not require that it be more likely than not that the defi-
cient performance altered the outcome of the case; rather, the
defendant must show a probability sufficient to undermine
confidence in the outcome. /d. A court may address the two
prongs of this test, deficient performance and prejudice, in
either order. /d.

Further Investigation and
Questioning of Witnesses.

Susan alleges that her counsel was ineffective at trial for
failing to further investigate and ask more questions of certain
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witnesses at trial, including Rebecca McClure, the nurse who
gave Susan a ride home; Dr. Craig Shumard, an emergency
room physician; Wendy Ground, a police investigator who
interviewed Susan; James Platt and Sharon Platt, Susan’s son
and daughter-in-law; and Brian Bauer, Tom’s employer. We
determine that the district court correctly rejected this claim
without an evidentiary hearing.

As we read Susan’s motion for postconviction relief and
her appellate brief, Susan argues that if trial counsel had done
further investigation or had asked more questions of these
and other witnesses on cross-examination, it would have been
shown that on the night Tom was hospitalized, Susan did not
make statements that she had injured Tom and that there was
an effort by others to keep Susan from seeing Tom. Susan
also contends that further questioning would have highlighted
inconsistencies in the witnesses’ testimony. Susan further
argues that more intensive questioning of the witnesses would
have revealed to the jury that she cared for and was concerned
for Tom and that she had a good relationship with Tom. Thus,
Susan contends that further questioning would have portrayed
her in a more sympathetic light or, in any event, cast doubt on
the degree of credibility to be accorded to the witnesses.

Susan makes no specific allegations of what further inves-
tigation would have uncovered or how such investigation and
further questioning would, with reasonable probability, have
resulted in her acquittal. Her allegations are speculative and, in
many cases, pose rhetorical “what if” questions as to how the
trial might have unfolded if the examinations had been phrased
differently or, in some cases, proposed lines of questioning.
Speculative allegations are an insufficient basis for postconvic-
tion relief. See State v. Vanderpool, 286 Neb. 111, 835 N.W.2d
52 (2013). Susan did not allege facts which, if proved, would
constitute a violation of her constitutional rights.

Accordingly, we determine that Susan’s counsel was not
deficient for allegedly failing to further investigate or ask more
questions on cross-examination of the witnesses identified in
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Susan’s motion. Susan is entitled to no relief on this claim.
The district court did not err when it denied relief on this claim
without an evidentiary hearing. We affirm this portion of the
district court’s order.

Arguing Insufficient Evidence
on Direct Appeal.

Susan alleges that her counsel was ineffective for failing to
explicitly argue on direct appeal that the evidence presented at
trial was insufficient to support her convictions for first degree
murder and use of a deadly weapon to commit a felony. As we
read her motion for postconviction relief and appellate briefs,
Susan argues that there was a lack of sufficient evidence,
because no one witnessed her kill Tom and little DNA evidence
was recovered from various items, including items found in
the search of the DeJong home. The district court correctly
rejected this claim without an evidentiary hearing.

The records and files in this case refute Susan’s contention
that there was not sufficient evidence to sustain her convic-
tions. Contrary to Susan’s argument, this court necessarily
considered the sufficiency of the evidence in our analysis of
the errors asserted on direct appeal. There was extensive evi-
dence presented at trial that demonstrated Susan’s guilt, and we
set forth the evidence against Susan in our opinion on direct
appeal by stating:

The State’s evidence demonstrated that Susan’s story
that Tom was beaten by his alleged mistress was com-
pletely fabricated. The evidence presented at trial showed
that Tom was home that week and never left for South
Dakota.

Bauer, Tom’s boss, testified that Susan’s and Tom’s
vehicles were at the DeJong home the day before Tom
allegedly returned from South Dakota. Bauer testified
that Tom had called in sick to work on that Wednesday
and Thursday. Cell phone records confirm that those
calls “pinged” off cell towers near the DeJong home and
not in South Dakota. Susan’s son, James, testified that
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he believed Tom was at the DeJong home on Thursday
because of a telephone conversation he had with Susan
that day. At trial, Susan presented no evidence that Tom
had actually gone to South Dakota. Additionally, the
alleged mistress testified that she and Tom never had an
extramarital relationship, that Tom did not visit her that
week, and that she did not cause his injuries.

Other evidence demonstrates Susan’s motive for kill-
ing Tom. During her hospital interview, Susan ranted
about Tom and his “whore.” Susan alleged that Tom and
that “whore” used drugs and molested children. Susan
blamed the “whore” for ruining her relationship with
Tom. Additionally, the State introduced Susan’s Internet
instant messages in which Susan stated that she “hate[d]”
Tom, that she wished he were dead, and that she was
“looking at getting rid of” him.

The evidence at trial also showed that Susan may
have been the only person with the opportunity to inflict
Tom’s injuries. The medical testimony offered at trial
established that many of Tom’s injuries were inflicted
well within 72 hours of his death. That indicates that
Tom’s injuries may have occurred any time after Tuesday.
The evidence indicates that during those periods of time,
Tom was at home with Susan. There was no evidence
presented, other than Susan’s fabricated statements about
South Dakota, that Tom left the home on Wednesday,
Thursday, or Friday. There was no evidence presented
that someone other than Susan had spent time with Tom
after Tuesday.

The physical evidence also supported Susan’s guilt.
All of the medical experts testified that Tom was severely
assaulted and that his injuries were not caused natu-
rally or by accident. His death was caused by blunt
force trauma. Tom had defensive wounds on his hands
and arms. Droplets of blood were found throughout the
house, including on Susan’s clothes. A red bag containing
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women’s clothes, men’s pajamas, Tom’s wallet, and two
hammers and a blue bag containing a computer, a lug
wrench, and a cell phone were found in Susan’s truck.
Thomsen, the pathologist who performed Tom’s autopsy,
testified that the injuries to Tom’s body were caused by
some type of instrument and that the instrument could
have been a hammer. After the interrogation, photographs
and testimony established that Susan had bruises and
sores on her palms that would be consistent with swing-
ing a hammer. The bloodstained blue hammer recovered
in Susan’s truck had a mixture of Tom’s and Susan’s
DNA. Susan’s DNA was found on the handle. Tom’s
DNA was found on the head of the hammer.

State v. DeJong, 287 Neb. 864, 885-86, 845 N.W.2d 858, 875-

76 (2014).

We have reviewed the record in this case, and given the
extensive evidence presented at trial against Susan, we deter-
mine that the records and files in this case affirmatively show
that Susan was entitled to no relief on her claim that there
was insufficient evidence to support her convictions and that
counsel’s appellate argument failed to present the issue for
our consideration. In connection with this contention, Susan
has failed to suggest any facts which, if proved, constitute an
infringement on her constitutional rights. The record shows
that Susan was not prejudiced by counsel’s conduct on direct
appeal, and therefore, the district court did not err when it
denied relief on this claim without an evidentiary hearing. We
affirm this portion of the district court’s order.

Admission of Evidence Related
to Prior Bad Acts.

Susan alleges that the district court erred at trial when it
admitted evidence of prior bad acts, including evidence of
Tom’s injuries on prior occasions and Susan’s statements
related to those injuries. As we read her motion for postcon-
viction relief and her appellate briefs, Susan contends that
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this error resulted in a violation of her constitutional rights
of due process, the presumption of innocence, her right to a
fair trial, and her right to privacy. The district court correctly
rejected her claim without an evidentiary hearing.

[14-16] To the extent Susan alleges that her constitutional
rights of due process, the presumption of innocence, her right
to a fair trial, and her right to privacy were violated when the
evidence related to the prior bad acts was admitted at trial,
this claim is procedurally barred. We have stated that the need
for finality in the criminal process requires that a defendant
bring all claims for relief at the first opportunity. State v.
Watkins, 284 Neb. 742, 825 N.W.2d 403 (2012). It is funda-
mental that a motion for postconviction relief cannot be used
to secure review of issues which were known to the defendant
and could have been litigated on direct appeal. /d. And in
this case, the prior bad acts issues were both known to and
litigated by Susan on direct appeal. We have recently stated:
“A motion for postconviction relief cannot be used to secure
review of issues which were or could have been litigated on
direct appeal, no matter how those issues may be phrased or
rephrased.” State v. Thorpe, 290 Neb. 149, 156, 858 N.W.2d
880, 887 (2015).

The issue of the admission at trial of evidence related to
the prior bad acts was specifically addressed on direct appeal,
where Susan argued that the district court erred when it admit-
ted evidence of Tom’s injuries on prior occasions and her state-
ments related to those injuries. For the purposes of the direct
appeal, we assumed, without deciding, that the admission of
this evidence was error. However, we determined that the erro-
neous admission of the evidence was harmless.

In the direct appeal, we began our harmless error analysis
by “noting that the untainted, relevant evidence strongly sup-
ports Susan’s guilt.” State v. DeJong, 287 Neb. 864, 895, 845
N.W.2d 858, 882 (2014). We further stated that “the untainted
evidence not only provided evidence of guilt but also estab-
lished Susan’s motive, her intent, her identity as the killer,
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and the absence of mistake in Tom’s death.” Id. at 896, 845
N.W.2d at 882. We also stated that “there is cumulative evi-
dence establishing that Tom was often injured prior to his
death and that the likely perpetrator was Susan.” /d. at 895-
96, 845 N.W.2d at 882. Accordingly, in determining that the
admission of the evidence regarding the prior bad acts was
harmless, we stated:

When viewed in relation to the whole record, the evi-
dence erroneously admitted at the rule 404 hearing was
insignificant. This evidence did not provide a crucial
link to allow the State to make its case. In that sense,
the evidence admitted at the rule 404 hearing was largely
unnecessary. Thus, we hold that the erroneously admitted
evidence was insignificant and did not materially influ-
ence the jury’s verdicts. Any error was harmless.

State v. DeJong, 287 Neb. at 897, 845 N.W.2d at 882-83.

Because the issue of the admission at trial of evidence related
to the prior bad acts was raised and addressed on direct appeal,
this claim is now procedurally barred. Therefore, although
Susan rephrases her claim for postconviction purposes, we
determine that the district court did not err when it denied post-
conviction relief on this claim without an evidentiary hearing.
We affirm this portion of the district court’s order.

Actual Innocence.

Susan alleges that the district court erred when it denied her
motion for postconviction relief without an evidentiary hear-
ing, because she is actually innocent. The district court cor-
rectly rejected her claim without an evidentiary hearing.

[17,18] We have previously acknowledged the possibility
that a postconviction motion asserting a persuasive claim of
actual innocence might allege a constitutional violation, in
that such a claim could arguably amount to a violation of a
movant’s procedural or substantive due process rights. State
v. Phelps, 286 Neb. 89, 834 N.W.2d 786 (2013). However, in
order to trigger a court’s consideration of whether continued
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incarceration could give rise to a constitutional claim that can
be raised in a postconviction motion, there must be “‘[a] strong
demonstration of actual innocence’” “‘because after a fair
trial and conviction, a defendant’s presumption of innocence
disappears.’” Id. at 94, 834 N.W.2d at 791, quoting State v.
Edwards, 284 Neb. 382, 821 N.W.2d 680 (2012). Indeed, the
U.S. Supreme Court has held that the threshold is ““‘extraor-
dinarily high.”” Id. at 94, 834 N.W.2d at 791-92, quoting
Herrera v. Collins, 506 U.S. 390, 113 S. Ct. 853, 122 L. Ed.
2d 203 (1993).

In support of her claim that she is actually innocent, Susan
relies heavily on the assertion that there were no direct wit-
nesses to Tom’s murder. She states that “[n]o one ever wit-
nessed anything, verbally or physically, to prove absolutely
without a doubt” that she murdered Tom. Brief for appellant at
6. Susan also argues that there was insufficient DNA or other
physical evidence found in various locations, including the
DeJong home, to link her to Tom’s murder.

Although there were no direct witnesses to Tom’s murder,
when viewed in the light of the extensive evidence adduced at
trial as summarized in our opinion on direct appeal and quoted
above, Susan’s allegations fall well short of the “extraordi-
narily high” threshold showing of actual innocence which
she would be required to make before a court could consider
whether her continued incarceration would give rise to a con-
stitutional claim. Susan did not allege facts sufficient to neces-
sitate an evidentiary hearing. Therefore, we determine that
the district court did not err when it denied relief without an
evidentiary hearing on this claim. We affirm this portion of the
district court’s order.

Denial of Motion for New Trial.

Susan assigns as error that the district court erred when
it denied her motion for new trial. We determine that the
district court correctly denied this claim without an eviden-
tiary hearing.
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The record belies Susan’s allegation. The record establishes
that Susan withdrew her motion for new trial at the time of sen-
tencing. Accordingly, the district court did not deny her motion
for new trial. We determine that the district court did not err
when it denied relief on this claim without an evidentiary hear-
ing. We affirm this portion of the district court’s order.

Admission of Other Evidence and Other
Claims of Postconviction Relief.

Susan argues on appeal that certain evidence should not
have been admitted at trial, such as items located during
searches, including the search of the vehicle and home. She
also makes allegations in her postconviction motion regard-
ing other evidence she asserts is objectionable, but, other
than listing a catalog of constitutional provisions, she does
not necessarily direct our attention to specific constitutional
errors regarding these claims on appeal. Her allegations of
conclusions do not require an evidentiary hearing. See State
v. Huston, 291 Neb. 708, 868 N.W.2d 766 (2015). We have
reviewed her motion and have determined that her claims
either are speculative and fail to affirmatively show that she is
entitled to relief or are refuted by the record and files in this
case. See id. Accordingly, we determine that Susan did not
allege facts sufficient to necessitate an evidentiary hearing,
and the district court did not err when it denied postconviction
relief without an evidentiary hearing.

CONCLUSION
We find no merit to Susan’s assignments of error. Therefore,
we determine that the district court did not err when it denied
her motion for postconviction relief without an eviden-
tiary hearing.
AFFIRMED.
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Criminal Law: Evidence: Appeal and Error. In reviewing a suffi-
ciency of the evidence claim, whether the evidence is direct, circum-
stantial, or a combination thereof, the standard is the same: An appellate
court does not resolve conflicts in the evidence, pass on the credibility
of witnesses, or reweigh the evidence; such matters are for the finder
of fact. The relevant question is whether, after viewing the evidence
in the light most favorable to the prosecution, any rational trier of fact
could have found the essential elements of the crime beyond a reason-
able doubt.

Appeal and Error. An appellate court always reserves the right to note
plain error which was not complained of at trial or on appeal.

Rules of Evidence: Appeal and Error. When the Nebraska Evidence
Rules commit the evidentiary question at issue to the discretion of the
trial court, an appellate court reviews the admissibility of evidence for
an abuse of discretion. When judicial discretion is not a factor, whether
the underlying facts satisfy the legal rules governing the admissibility of
such evidence is a question of law, subject to de novo review.

Appeal and Error. To the extent issues of law are presented, an appel-
late court has an obligation to reach independent conclusions irrespec-
tive of the determinations made by the court below.

Criminal Law: Statutes. It is a fundamental principle of statutory con-
struction that penal statutes be strictly construed.

Statutes. It is not within the province of the courts to read a meaning
into a statute that is not there or to read anything direct and plain out of
a statute.

Trial: Appeal and Error. On appeal, a defendant may not assert a dif-
ferent ground for his objection than was offered at trial.

Jury Instructions: Proof: Appeal and Error. In an appeal based on
a claim of an erroneous jury instruction, the appellant has the burden
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to show that the questioned instruction was prejudicial or otherwise
adversely affected a substantial right of the appellant.

9. Criminal Law: Statutes: Time. The exact time when a criminal offense
is committed is not an essential element of a crime unless the statute
defining the offense makes a date or time an indispensable element of
the crime charged.

Appeal from the District Court for Scotts Bluff County:
RANDALL L. LippsTREU, Judge. Affirmed as modified.

Bernard J. Straetker, Scotts Bluff County Public Defender,
for appellant.

Douglas J. Peterson, Attorney General, and Kimberly A.
Klein for appellee.

HEeavican, C.J., WRIGHT, CONNOLLY, MCCORMACK, MILLER-
LErRMAN, and CASSEL, JJ.

WRIGHT, J.
I. NATURE OF CASE

Maxiliamo Cano Samayoa (Cano) appeals his convictions
on one count of third degree sexual assault of a child and
three counts of first degree sexual assault of a child at least
12 years of age but less than 16 years of age. He argues that
the evidence was insufficient to support his convictions. He
also assigns that the district court erred in admitting certain
testimony and in advising the jury that with respect to count I,
“[t]he exact time when a criminal offense is committed is not
an essential element of the crime.” We affirm as modified.

II. SCOPE OF REVIEW
[1] In reviewing a sufficiency of the evidence claim,
whether the evidence is direct, circumstantial, or a combina-
tion thereof, the standard is the same: An appellate court does
not resolve conflicts in the evidence, pass on the credibility of
witnesses, or reweigh the evidence; such matters are for the
finder of fact. State v. Dominguez, 290 Neb. 477, 860 N.W.2d
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732 (2015). The relevant question is whether, after viewing the
evidence in the light most favorable to the prosecution, any
rational trier of fact could have found the essential elements of
the crime beyond a reasonable doubt. /d.

[2] An appellate court always reserves the right to note plain
error which was not complained of at trial or on appeal. State
v. Robinson, 271 Neb. 698, 715 N.W.2d 531 (2006). Plain
error may be found on appeal when an error unasserted or
uncomplained of at trial, but plainly evident from the record,
prejudicially affects a litigant’s substantial right and, if uncor-
rected, would result in damage to the integrity, reputation, and
fairness of the judicial process. State v. Howell, 284 Neb. 559,
822 N.W.2d 391 (2012).

[3] When the Nebraska Evidence Rules commit the eviden-
tiary question at issue to the discretion of the trial court, an
appellate court reviews the admissibility of evidence for an
abuse of discretion. State v. Dominguez, supra. When judicial
discretion is not a factor, whether the underlying facts satisfy
the legal rules governing the admissibility of such evidence is
a question of law, subject to de novo review. State v. Parker,
276 Neb. 661, 757 N.W.2d 7 (2008).

[4] To the extent issues of law are presented, an appellate
court has an obligation to reach independent conclusions irre-
spective of the determinations made by the court below. State
v. Merheb, 290 Neb. 83, 858 N.W.2d 226 (2015).

III. FACTS

1. BACKGROUND

The victim in this case, P.L., is Cano’s niece. P.L.’s mother
and Cano’s wife are sisters. Cano was born in May 1981. P.L.
was born in December 1997.

In February 2014, P.L. told her parents that Cano had been
sexually assaulting her for some time. Her parents reported the
allegations to the police and took P.L. to be interviewed at a
child advocacy center in Scottsbluff, Nebraska. The contents
of the interview are not contained in our record.
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2. CHARGES

After P.L.’s interview, the police arrested Cano. He was
charged with one count of third degree sexual assault of a
child (count I) for subjecting P.L. “to sexual contact, not
causing serious personal injury” during “the year 2008.” He
was also charged with three counts of first degree sexual
assault of a child at least 12 years of age but less than 16
years of age. Count II alleged that “on or about October,
2012 through November, 2012,” Cano committed first degree
sexual assault of a child by subjecting P.L. “to sexual penetra-
tion.” Counts III and IV were identical to count II, except
that they alleged the sexual penetration occurred “on or about
December, 2012,” and “during the years 2010 or 2011,”
respectively. Cano pleaded not guilty to all four counts, and a
jury trial was scheduled.

3. TRIAL

(a) P.L.’s Testimony

The State’s principal witness at trial was P.L. She described
in detail four incidents between her and Cano. Each incident
corresponded to a count in the information.

P.L. testified that the first incident (count I) occurred in
the living room of Cano’s house while her mother and aunt
were out picking up pizza. P.L. stated that Cano approached
her while she was lying on the couch watching television, sat
down next to her, and started “[rJubbing” her “butt” with his
hands. He also exposed his penis to her, grabbed her hand,
and made her hand touch his penis. Although P.L. could not
identify the exact date when this happened, she testified that
it occurred sometime after she started seventh grade in August
2010 but before the birth of Cano’s youngest daughter in
July 2012.

The second incident between P.L. and Cano (count IV)
occurred while she was painting the trim in her bedroom. P.L.
testified that Cano entered her bedroom and forced her to per-
form oral sex on him. P.L. could not identify the exact date
when this second incident happened. However, she testified
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that it occurred after she and her family moved into their
house on 12th Avenue in Scottsbluff but before 2012. She fur-
ther stated that they moved into the 12th Avenue house while
she was in eighth grade and that she started eighth grade in
August 2011.

P.L. testified that the third incident (count II) happened in
the kitchen at Cano’s house. She said that he followed her
into the kitchen when she went to get a drink, “pushe[d] [her]
toward the seat,” and “pull[ed] [her] down.” P.L. “told him
no.” But he “told [her] to suck it again” and positioned her
head to perform oral sex, which she did. At various times,
P.L. testified that this occurred in “the year 2012,” before her
youngest cousin was born in July 2012 and before the final
incident in February 2012.

P.L. testified that the fourth and final incident (count III)
occurred in February 2012 while she was “putting lights up in
[her] room.” She described how Cano “pushe[d] [her] on the
bed,” “pull[ed] down his pants again,” and told her to perform
oral sex. On this occasion, Cano also pulled P.L.’s pants down
and attempted to insert his penis into her vagina. P.L. testi-
fied that his penis “didn’t go all the way” but “just touched”
her vagina.

In addition to these four incidents, P.L. also briefly testified,
over Cano’s objection, to a fifth encounter. Because the admis-
sibility of this testimony is raised on appeal, we reproduce the
relevant exchange in full:

[Prosecutor:] Can you estimate when this happened,
this incident that you’re talking about on 12th Avenue in
the kitchen?

[P.L.:] Like, close to two years now.

[Prosecutor:] Okay. Was there another time when this
happened?

[P.L.:] Before that when [Cano] lived on 12th and I
was in [his oldest daughter’s] room and I was picking up
the toys and they were on the —

[Cano’s attorney]: I’'m going to object to materiality on
one of the charges.
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THE COURT: Overruled.

[Prosecutor:] Go ahead.

[P.L.:] Then I was in there and he just comes in and he
just rubs me again from the back, then he just leaves.

(b) Cano’s Testimony
Cano testified in his own behalf. He denied the allegations
against him, and he specifically testified that he had never been
alone with P.L. Cano also stated that in 2008, when the infor-
mation alleged count I occurred, he was living in Texas.

(c) Motions for Directed Verdict

At the conclusion of the State’s evidence and again at the end
of the evidence portion of the trial, Cano moved for a directed
verdict on counts I through III. He argued that the dates alleged
in those counts were inconsistent with the State’s evidence.
Specifically, he argued that (1) the information alleged count I
happened in 2008 but that the evidence showed Cano was liv-
ing in Texas in 2008 and (2) the information alleged counts II
and III occurred between October and December 2012 but that
P.L. testified all of the incidents with Cano occurred while she
was in seventh or eighth grade—that is, between August 2010
and May 2012. On both occasions, the district court overruled
Cano’s motion for a directed verdict.

(d) Jury Instructions
The district court instructed the jury on the elements of each
crime charged and on the State’s duty to prove these elements
beyond a reasonable doubt. In the case of each count, one of
the elements listed was that Cano engaged the underlying con-
duct at the time alleged in the information.

(e) Question From Jury
During deliberations, the jury submitted the following ques-
tion to the judge: “Is the date of 2008 and [sic] exact stipu-
lation to the account [sic], and if so can we convict on this
account [sic] if we believe the event happened but not on that
date on account [sic?]” The parties argue, and we agree, that
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this question related only to count I of the information, which
alleged that Cano committed third degree sexual assault of a
child “[d]Juring the year 2008 . . ..”

After consulting with counsel, the district court advised the
jury that “[t]he exact time when a criminal offense is commit-
ted is not an essential element of the crime.” The court did so
over Cano’s objection.

4. VERDICTS AND SENTENCING

The jury returned verdicts of guilty on all counts, and the
district court entered judgment accordingly. The court sen-
tenced Cano to 1 to 3 years’ imprisonment on the third degree
sexual assault of a child conviction and concurrent terms of
35 to 40 years’ imprisonment for each first degree sexual
assault of a child conviction. At the sentencing hearing, the
court stated that first degree sexual assault of a child carried
a mandatory minimum of 25 years’ imprisonment. But in the
sentencing order, the court stated that the mandatory minimum
was 15 years’ imprisonment.

Cano timely appeals. Pursuant to our statutory authority to
regulate the dockets of the appellate courts of this state, we
moved the case to our docket. See Neb. Rev. Stat. § 24-1106(3)
(Reissue 2008).

IV. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

Cano argues that the evidence was insufficient to support
his convictions. He also assigns that the district court erred in
admitting evidence of other bad acts or uncharged conduct, in
violation of Neb. Rev. Stat. § 27-404(2) (Cum. Supp. 2014),
and in advising the jury that the exact time of the commission
of the offense alleged in count I was not an essential element
of the crime of third degree sexual assault of a child.

V. ANALYSIS

1. SUFFICIENCY OF EVIDENCE
Cano argues that there was insufficient evidence to sustain
his convictions. In reviewing a sufficiency of the evidence
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claim, whether the evidence is direct, circumstantial, or a
combination thereof, the standard is the same: An appellate
court does not resolve conflicts in the evidence, pass on the
credibility of witnesses, or reweigh the evidence; such matters
are for the finder of fact. State v. Dominguez, 290 Neb. 477,
860 N.W.2d 732 (2015). The relevant question for an appellate
court is whether, after viewing the evidence in the light most
favorable to the prosecution, any rational trier of fact could
have found the essential elements of the crime beyond a rea-
sonable doubt. /d.

(a) Essential Elements

[5,6] Cano was charged with three counts of first degree
sexual assault of a child at least 12 years of age but less than
16 years of age and one count of third degree sexual assault
of a child. The essential elements of these crimes are estab-
lished by statute. It is a fundamental principle of statutory
construction that penal statutes be strictly construed. State v.
Smith, 282 Neb. 720, 806 N.W.2d 383 (2011). It is not within
the province of the courts to read a meaning into a statute
that is not there or to read anything direct and plain out of a
statute. State v. Medina-Liborio, 285 Neb. 626, 829 N.W.2d
96 (2013).

The crime of first degree sexual assault of a child at least
12 years of age but less than 16 years of age is defined by
Neb. Rev. Stat. § 28-319.01(1) (Cum. Supp. 2014), which
provides:

A person commits sexual assault of a child in the first
degree:

(b) When he or she subjects another person who is at
least twelve years of age but less than sixteen years of age
to sexual penetration and the actor is twenty-five years of
age or older.

For purposes of this statute,
[s]exual penetration means sexual intercourse in its ordi-
nary meaning, cunnilingus, fellatio, anal intercourse, or
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any intrusion, however slight, of any part of the actor’s or
victim’s body or any object manipulated by the actor into
the genital or anal openings of the victim’s body which
can be reasonably construed as being for nonmedical or
nonhealth purposes. Sexual penetration shall not require
emission of semen.

Neb. Rev. Stat. § 28-318(6) (Cum. Supp. 2014). Fellatio is

“oral stimulation of the penis.” See State v. Bruna, 12 Neb.

App. 798, 830, 686 N.W.2d 590, 615 (2004).

Pursuant to Neb. Rev. Stat. § 28-320.01(1) (Reissue 2008),
“[a] person commits sexual assault of a child in the second or
third degree if he or she subjects another person fourteen years
of age or younger to sexual contact and the actor is at least
nineteen years of age or older.” Section 28-318(5) defines the
term “‘sexual contact” as follows:

Sexual contact means the intentional touching of the vic-
tim’s sexual or intimate parts or the intentional touching
of the victim’s clothing covering the immediate area of
the victim’s sexual or intimate parts. Sexual contact shall
also mean the touching by the victim of the actor’s sexual
or intimate parts or the clothing covering the immediate
area of the actor’s sexual or intimate parts when such
touching is intentionally caused by the actor. Sexual con-
tact shall include only such conduct which can be reason-
ably construed as being for the purpose of sexual arousal
or gratification of either party. Sexual contact shall also
include the touching of a child with the actor’s sexual or
intimate parts on any part of the child’s body for purposes
of sexual assault of a child under sections 28-319.01
and 28-320.01.

The distinguishing factor between second and third degree
sexual assault of a child is “serious personal injury to the vic-
tim.” See § 28-320.01(2) and (3). Third degree sexual assault,
the specific crime with which Cano was charged in count I,
occurs when “the actor does not cause serious personal injury
to the victim.” See § 28-320.01(3).
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Given the statutory definitions of first and third degree
sexual assault of a child, we reject Cano’s argument that the
exact date of offense is an essential element of those crimes.
Neither under federal law nor under Nebraska law is the
exact time of the commission of an offense regarded as a
substantive element in the charge or proof thereof, unless the
statute involved makes it so or is clearly intended to have
that effect. Huffman v. Sigler, 352 F.2d 370 (8th Cir. 1965).
See, also, State v. Wehrle, 223 Neb. 928, 395 N.W.2d 142
(1986); State v. Harig, 192 Neb. 49, 218 N.W.2d 884 (1974).
In the case of sexual assault of a child, the statutes involved
do not make the time or date of the offense an element of
the crime. Sections 28-319.01(1) and 28-320.01 require proof
that the sexual penetration or sexual contact occurred when
the defendant and victim were certain ages. But they do not
require proof that such event occurred on a specific date. We
therefore conclude that the exact date of commission is not
a substantive element of first, second, or third degree sexual
assault of a child.

This holding is consistent with our previous determination
in State v. Wehrle, supra, that the date of commission is not an
essential element of first degree sexual assault, which can also
require proof of the defendant’s and victim’s ages. See Neb.
Rev. Stat. § 28-319(1) (Reissue 2008). It also recognizes and
accommodates the unique circumstances surrounding young
victims, who “are often unsure of the date on which the
assault or assaults occurred” and “may have no meaningful
reference point of time or detail by which to distinguish one
specific act from another.” See State v. Martinez, 250 Neb.
597, 600, 550 N.W.2d 665, 658 (1996). See, also, Sledge v.
State, 903 S.W.2d 105 (Tex. App. 1995).

In summary, the essential elements of first degree sexual
assault of a child at least 12 years of age but less than 16 years
of age are (1) that the defendant subjected the victim to sexual
penetration, (2) that the defendant was 25 years of age or older
when the sexual penetration occurred, and (3) that the victim
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was at least 12 years of age but less than 16 years of age when
the sexual penetration occurred. See § 28-319.01(1)(b).

The essential elements of third degree sexual assault of a
child are (1) that the defendant subjected the victim to sexual
contact without causing serious personal injury to the victim,
(2) that the defendant was at least 19 years of age or older
when the sexual contact occurred, (3) and that the victim was
14 years of age or younger when the sexual contact occurred.
See § 28-320.01(1) and (3).

(b) Evidence Against Cano

We now review the State’s evidence against Cano to deter-
mine whether any rational trier of fact could have found the
essential elements of first and third degree sexual assault of a
child beyond a reasonable doubt. See State v. Dominguez, 290
Neb. 477, 860 N.W.2d 732 (2015). We conclude that based on
the testimony of P.L., the State’s principal witness, a rational
trier of fact could have found that Cano committed third degree
sexual assault of a child on one occasion and first degree sex-
ual assault of a child on three distinct occasions.

(i) Third Degree Sexual Assault of Child

P.L. testified to an incident when Cano rubbed her “butt”
over her clothing and forced her hand to touch his exposed
penis. She did not testify that this contact caused her physical
injury, and the State did not allege that it did.

P.L. stated that this incident occurred in the living room of
Cano’s house after she started seventh grade in August 2010
but before the birth of Cano’s youngest daughter in July 2012.
It is undisputed that Cano was born in May 1981 and that P.L.
was born in December 1997. Consequently, between August
2010 and July 2012, Cano was 29 to 31 years of age and P.L.
was 12 to 14 years of age. She did not turn 15 until December
2012, several months after the latest date in the timeframe
established by her testimony.

From this evidence, a rational trier of fact could have found
that Cano subjected P.L. to sexual contact in two separate
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ways: (1) by intentionally touching the “clothing covering the
immediate area of [P.L.’s] sexual or intimate parts,” which
includes the buttocks, or (2) by intentionally causing P.L. to
touch his “sexual or intimate parts.” See § 28-318(2) and (5).
A rational trier of fact also could have found that this contact
occurred at a time when Cano was over the age of 19 years and
P.L. was 14 years of age or younger. We therefore conclude
that there was sufficient evidence to convict Cano of third
degree sexual assault of a child.

(ii) First Degree Sexual Assault of Child

P.L. testified to three separate incidents when Cano forced
her to perform oral sex on him—one in the kitchen at Cano’s
house, another while she was “putting lights up in [her] room,”
and a third while she was painting the trim in her bedroom.
During closing argument, the State explained that these inci-
dents corresponded to the allegations in counts II, III, and
IV, respectively.

P.L. testified that two of the incidents of oral sex occurred
close together. She unequivocally identified the date of the
incident involving lights as February 2012. She testified that
the incident in the kitchen occurred prior to that time but still
in the year 2012. As such, from P.L.’s testimony it could be
ascertained that the incident in the kitchen occurred in January
or February 2012, followed by the incident with the lights later
in February. In both January and February 2012, Cano was 30
years of age and P.L. was 14 years of age.

As to the incident of oral sex connected to painting the trim
in her bedroom, P.L. could not identify the exact date when
it happened. However, she testified that it occurred after she
and her family moved into their house on 12th Avenue but
before the year 2012. Elsewhere in her testimony, she stated
that they moved into the 12th Avenue house while she was
in eighth grade and that she started eighth grade in August
2011. Taking all of this testimony together, the timeframe
of the incident involving the trim in the bedroom, as estab-
lished by P.L.’s testimony, was sometime between August and
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December 2011. At any point during that timeframe, Cano
would have been 30 years of age. P.L. would have been 13 or
14 years of age.

Cano argues that P.L.’s testimony as to these incidents
contained too many inconsistencies to support his convic-
tions. But this argument goes to the credibility of P.L. as a
witness, which we do not consider. An appellate court does
not resolve conflicts in the evidence, pass on the credibility of
witnesses, or reweigh the evidence; such matters are for the
finder of fact. State v. Dominguez, 290 Neb. 477, 860 N.W.2d
732 (2015).

If the trier of fact believed P.L.’s testimony, it could
have found that on three separate occasions, Cano subjected
P.L. to oral sex, which constitutes sexual penetration under
§ 28-318(6). The trier of fact also could have concluded that
each of these incidents of oral sex occurred at a time when
Cano was 25 years of age or older and P.L. was at least 12
years of age but less than 16 years of age. Accordingly, there
was sufficient evidence to convict Cano of three distinct
counts of first degree sexual assault of a child.

2. ADMISSION OF OTHER BAD AcTs

[7] Cano claims the district court erred by admitting evi-
dence of other bad acts/uncharged misconduct, in violation
of § 27-404(2). Cano objects to P.L.’s testimony about a fifth
possible incident, because it was “prior bad acts evidence
that was admitted without the protection and safeguards of
[§] 27-404(2).” See brief for appellant at 18. Although Cano
objected to this testimony at trial, he did not state § 27-404(2)
as the ground for his objection. He objected on materiality
grounds. Therefore, we agree with the State that Cano failed
to preserve his § 27-404 objection for review by failing to
object on this basis during the trial. On appeal, a defendant
may not assert a different ground for his objection than was
offered at trial. State v. Watt, 285 Neb. 647, 832 N.W.2d
459 (2013).
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3. ANSWER TO JURY’S QUESTION
ABOUT TIME OF ASSAULT

Cano next claims that the district court committed error
when it advised the jury that the exact time of the commission
of the offense alleged in count I was not an essential element
of the crime of third degree sexual assault.

[8] Whether jury instructions given by a trial court are cor-
rect is a question of law. When dispositive issues on appeal
present questions of law, an appellate court has an obligation to
reach an independent conclusion irrespective of the decision of
the court below. In an appeal based on a claim of an erroneous
jury instruction, the appellant has the burden to show that the
questioned instruction was prejudicial or otherwise adversely
affected a substantial right of the appellant. State v. Robinson,
278 Neb. 212, 769 N.W.2d 366 (2009).

During the course of its deliberations, the jury submitted a
question to the court: “Is the date of 2008 and [sic] exact stip-
ulation to the account [sic], and if so can we convict on this
account [sic] if we believe the event happened but not on that
date on account [sic?]” The trial court responded: “The exact
time when a criminal offense is committed is not an essential
element of the crime.” In essence, Cano concedes that there
was no argument regarding the sufficiency of the charges con-
tained in the information or concerns about double jeopardy.
The question raised by Cano was whether the State established
all the elements of the offense beyond a reasonable doubt. The
allegation was that the abuse occurred within the broad time-
frame of the year 2008. In the instructions to the jurors, they
were provided with the elements of the offense, along with the
State’s burden to prove each of the elements of each offense
by proof beyond a reasonable doubt.

The district court instructed the jury as follows:

The elements of third degree sexual assault of a child
as charged in count I are:

1. That [Cano] subjected [P.L.] to sexual contact with-
out causing serious personal injury to her; and
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2. That [Cano] was nineteen years of age or older at
the time; and

3. That [P.L.] was fourteen years of age or younger at
the time; and

4. That [Cano] did so during the year 2008 in Scotts
Bluff County, Nebraska.

Cano asserts that the district court’s response to the jury’s
question was in conflict with its instructions to the jury and
allowed the jury to ignore its instructions and convict Cano of
an offense that had been alleged to have occurred when he was
living in the State of Texas. Cano asserts that the trial court
should have instructed the jury to continue to deliberate and
base its decision on the facts it found and the law contained in
the jury instructions.

We have previously determined that based on P.L.’s testi-
mony on the incident in Cano’s living room, a rational trier of
fact could have found that Cano committed third degree sexual
assault of a child. Neb. Rev. Stat. § 29-1501 (Reissue 2008)
provides in relevant part:

No indictment shall be deemed invalid, nor shall the trial,
judgment or other proceedings be stayed, arrested or in
any manner affected . . . for omitting to state the time at
which the offense was committed in any case where time
is not of the essence of the offense; nor for stating the
time imperfectly . . . .

[9] In State v. Wehrle, 223 Neb. 928, 931, 395 N.W.2d 142,
145 (1986), we held that “the exact time when a criminal
offense is committed is not an essential element of a crime
unless the statute defining the offense makes a date or time an
indispensable element of the crime charged.” Cano does not
appear to be complaining that he was deprived of notice of the
allegations. He only alleges that the instruction was incorrect
and somehow conflicted with the rest of the instructions and
that the district court should have told the jury to continue to
deliberate, apparently without any supplemental instructions
from the court.
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The instruction given by the district court was not incor-
rect. The exact time is not an essential element of third degree
sexual assault. The supplemental instruction given by the dis-
trict court was a correct statement of the law, and Cano has
not proved that the questioned instruction was prejudicial or
otherwise adversely affected a substantial right of Cano.

4. SENTENCES

The State has pointed out, and we agree, that there was
plain error in the sentences given by the district court. Plain
error may be found on appeal when an error unasserted or
uncomplained of at trial, but plainly evident from the record,
prejudicially affects a litigant’s substantial right and, if uncor-
rected, would result in damage to the integrity, reputation, and
fairness of the judicial process. State v. Howell, 284 Neb. 559,
822 N.W.2d 391 (2012). As noted by the State, the district
court sentenced Cano to 1 to 3 years’ imprisonment for third
degree sexual assault of a child and 35 to 40 years’ imprison-
ment for each of the three first degree sexual assault of a child
convictions, all of which were to run concurrently. The district
court then said that “25 of those [years] will be a mandatory
minimum before the good time statutes are applicable.” Section
28-319.01 provides:

(2) Sexual assault of a child in the first degree is a
Class IB felony with a mandatory minimum sentence of
fifteen years in prison for the first offense.

(3) Any person who is found guilty of sexual assault of
a child in the first degree under this section and who has
previously been convicted (a) under this section . . . shall
be guilty of a Class IB felony with a mandatory minimum
sentence of twenty-five years in prison.

There was no allegation in the information that Cano had a
prior conviction for sexual assault or attempted sexual assault
of a child. All his convictions for that offense occurred in
this trial, which resulted from the same information filed
by the State. The plain language of the statute requires that
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Cano had been previously convicted of a sexual assault or
attempted sexual assault as provided in § 28-319.01(3). Since
Cano was convicted of the three felonies of first degree sexual
assault of a child arising out of a single information, he was
not previously convicted as required by § 28-319.01(3) of
sexual assault or attempted sexual assault of a child. Statutory
interpretation is a question of law, which this court decides
independently of the lower courts. See State v. Piper, 289
Neb. 364, 855 N.W.2d 1 (2014). The district court erred in
pronouncing that Cano will have a mandatory 25-year mini-
mum sentence before the good time statutes will apply. Since
this is Cano’s first offense for sexual assault of a child, he
must serve a mandatory minimum of 15 years before the good
time statutes apply.

We therefore amend Cano’s sentences by reducing the man-
datory minimum sentence that Cano must serve before he is
eligible for good time from 25 years imposed by the district
court to 15 years as provided by § 28-319.01(2). With that
amendment, we affirm the sentences of Cano to 1 to 3 years’
imprisonment for third degree sexual assault of a child and 35
to 40 years’ imprisonment for each of the three first degree
sexual assault of a child convictions, all of which are to
run concurrently.

VI. CONCLUSION
We affirm the judgments of conviction, and we affirm the
sentences as modified.
AFFIRMED AS MODIFIED.
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Statutes: Jury Instructions: Appeal and Error. Statutory interpreta-
tion and whether jury instructions are correct are questions of law,
which an appellate court reviews independently of the lower court’s
determination.

Convictions: Evidence: Appeal and Error. When reviewing the suf-
ficiency of the evidence to sustain a criminal conviction, it is not the
province of an appellate court to resolve conflicts in the evidence, pass
on the credibility of witnesses, determine the plausibility of explana-
tions, or reweigh the evidence; such matters are for the finder of fact.
o : When reviewing a criminal conviction for suffi-
c1ency of the eV1dence to sustain the conviction, the relevant question
is whether, after viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the
prosecution, any rational trier of fact could have found the essential ele-
ments of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt.

Sentences: Appeal and Error. When reviewing a sentence within the
statutory limits, whether for leniency or excessiveness, an appellate
court reviews for an abuse of discretion.

Criminal Law: Intent: Words and Phrases. In the context of a crimi-
nal statute such as Neb. Rev. Stat. § 28-706 (Reissue 2008), “intention-
ally” means willfully or purposely, and not accidentally or involuntarily.
Criminal Law: Child Support: Proof. Generally, the burden of prov-
ing an exemption to criminal nonsupport is on the party claiming it.
Criminal Law: Child Support: Proof: Intent. The State is not required
to prove that a defendant was able to pay in order to show that he or she
intentionally failed to provide support.

Criminal Law: Child Support: Evidence: Intent. Evidence of ability
to pay support, coupled with evidence of nonpayment, is key circum-
stantial evidence of an intent not to pay.
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. A defendant may present evidence to establish
an 1nab111ty to pay” support in order to disprove intent.

Criminal Law: Intent. Intent may be inferred from the words or acts of
a defendant and from the circumstances surrounding the incident.
Child Support. An obligation to support a minor child is not affected
by the assignment of child support to the Department of Health and
Human Services, which occurs pursuant to Neb. Rev. Stat. § 43-512.07
(Cum. Supp. 2014).

Judgments: Collateral Attack. A collateral attack occurs when the
validity of a judgment is attacked in a way other than in a proceeding in
the original action.

Collateral Attack: Jurisdiction. Unless grounded upon the court’s lack
of jurisdiction over the parties or subject matter, collateral attacks are
impermissible.

Collateral Attack. The rule against collateral attacks applies equally to
interlocutory orders and final judgments.

Collateral Attack: Jurisdiction. The policy of the collateral bar rule is
to respect the jurisdiction of the court rendering the order and to encour-
age obedience of courts’ orders.

Child Support: Judgments: Appeal and Error. A temporary child sup-
port order is appealable from a final judgment on the issue of support.
Jury Instructions: Appeal and Error. Failure to object to a jury
instruction after it has been submitted to counsel for review precludes
raising an objection on appeal absent plain error indicative of a probable
miscarriage of justice.

Appeal and Error. Plain error may be found on appeal when an error
unasserted or uncomplained of at trial, but plainly evident from the
record, prejudicially affects a litigant’s substantial right and, if uncor-
rected, would result in damage to the integrity, reputation, and fairness
of the judicial process.

Jury Instructions. As a general rule, in giving instructions to the jury,
it is proper for the court to describe the offense in the language of
the statute.

Jury Instructions: Statutes. The law does not require that a jury
instruction track the exact language of the statute.

Lesser-Included Offenses: Jury Instructions: Evidence. A court must
instruct a jury on a lesser-included offense if (1) the elements of the
lesser offense are such that one cannot commit the greater offense with-
out simultaneously committing the lesser offense and (2) the evidence
produces a rational basis for acquitting the defendant of the greater
offense and convicting the defendant of the lesser offense.
Effectiveness of Counsel: Jury Instructions. Defense counsel is not
ineffective for failing to raise an argument that has no merit or for
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failing to object to jury instructions that, when read together and taken
as a whole, correctly state the law and are not misleading.

Criminal Law: Statutes. It is a fundamental principle of statutory con-
struction that penal statutes be strictly construed, and it is not for the
courts to supply missing words or sentences to make clear that which is
indefinite, or to supply that which is not there.

Habitual Criminals: Notice: Time. Neb. Rev. Stat. § 29-2221 (Reissue
2008) requires 3 days’ notice of an enhancement hearing and not merely
notice of the sentencing hearing.

Statutes: Legislature: Intent. When interpreting a statute, a court’s
objective is to determine and give effect to the legislative intent of
the enactment.

Habitual Criminals: Notice. The purpose of the notice requirement in
Neb. Rev. Stat. § 29-2221 (Reissue 2008) is to ensure that the defendant
has reasonable time to prepare a defense.

Constitutional Law: Sentences. The Eighth Amendment’s proscrip-
tion of cruel and unusual punishment prohibits not only barbaric pun-
ishments, but also sentences that are grossly disproportionate to the
crime committed.

Constitutional Law: Habitual Criminals: Legislature: Intent. When
a court is faced with a habitual criminal enhancement, its Eighth
Amendment proportionality review must take into account the
Legislature’s goals in enacting such statute.

Constitutional Law: Sentences. With regard to whether the length
of a sentence constitutes cruel and unusual punishment, the Nebraska
Constitution does not require more than does the Eighth Amendment to
the U.S. Constitution.

Sentences. When imposing a sentence, a sentencing judge should con-
sider the defendant’s (1) age, (2) mentality, (3) education and experi-
ence, (4) social and cultural background, (5) past criminal record or
record of law-abiding conduct, and (6) motivation for the offense, as
well as (7) the nature of the offense, and (8) the violence involved in the
commission of the crime.

Appeal from the District Court for Buffalo County: JouN P.

ICENOGLE, Judge. Affirmed.

Jonathan R. Brandt, of Anderson, Klein, Swan & Brewster,

for appellant.

Douglas J. Peterson, Attorney General, and Kimberly A.

Klein for appellee.
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HEeavican, C.J., WRIGHT, CONNOLLY, MCCORMACK, MILLER-
LErRMAN, and CASSEL, JJ.

McCORMACK, J.
I. NATURE OF CASE

Shawn R. Erpelding was convicted in a jury trial in the
district court for Buffalo County, Nebraska, of four counts of
criminal nonsupport under Neb. Rev. Stat. § 28-706 (Reissue
2008) for failure to pay 4 months of child support totaling
$900. After his sentences were enhanced by the habitual crimi-
nal statute, Neb. Rev. Stat. § 29-2221 (Reissue 2008), he was
sentenced to concurrent terms of 10 to 15 years on each count.
Erpelding appeals both his convictions and his sentences.

II. BACKGROUND

On May 14,2012, Erpelding filed a complaint with the dis-
trict court to establish paternity, custody, visitation, and child
support of his 4-year-old daughter, Grace Erpelding, who was
born out of wedlock. In July 2012, the court entered a tempo-
rary parenting plan granting primary physical and legal custody
of Grace to her mother, Diane Southall. On August 20, the
court ordered Erpelding to pay temporary child support in the
amount of $225 per month.

The district court later held a final hearing on the plead-
ings to establish paternity, custody, parenting time, and child
support. Despite adequate notice of the hearing, Erpelding did
not appear. Pursuant to an order filed July 15, 2013, custody
was awarded to Southall. Erpelding was then ordered to pay
child support in the amount of $379 per month. The July 15
order did not mention the temporary child support obligation
or any arrearages.

Erpelding failed to make any payments on the temporary
support order for over a year. He also did not make any pay-
ments on the July 15, 2013, child support order during that
time. On August 5, he was charged with criminal nonsupport
pursuant to § 28-706 based on his failure to pay the first 4
months of the temporary child support obligation. He was also
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charged with being a habitual criminal per § 29-2221 in the
information filed September 9.

1. TEMPORARY CHILD SUPPORT ORDER
The journal entry filed August 20, 2012—the temporary

child support order—was entered into evidence at trial. It

reflects that Erpelding failed to provide adequate evidence of

his income for the district court to determine the amount of

temporary child support he was to pay:
[Erpelding] has provided the court with an affidavit which
is essentially, unenlightening. . . . Erpelding states that
he is and has been engaged in a carpentry business for
a number of years. He has not, apparently, filed income
tax returns since tax year 2008. He states that his books
reflect that he essentially breaks even in his business,
though he admits he has had the ability to withdraw
adequate funds to support his family prior to the departure
of . . . Southall from his home. Essentially, the court is
unable to determine the actual extent of any income being
earned by . . . Erpelding and has been advised that . . .
Southall has no current earning capacity. Absent a better
showing of actual income, profit, and the nature to which
business income has been utilized for personal expenses,
the court has no real alternative but to pluck a number out
of the air.

Erpelding did not attempt to appeal that temporary child
support order or the July 15, 2013, judgment.

2. EFFORTS TO COLLECT
Southall began to receive Aid to Dependent Children (ADC)
assistance for Grace through the Department of Health and
Human Services (DHHS) in August 2012. By operation of law,
child support was assigned to DHHS.! DHHS automatically
referred Erpelding’s case to Jann Davidson, a support enforce-
ment officer with the Buffalo County Attorney’s office.

! See Neb. Rev. Stat. § 43-512.07 (Cum. Supp. 2014).
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As an enforcement officer, Davidson has the authority to
take a number of enforcement actions, including suspending
delinquent parties’ operator’s licenses, as well as professional
and recreational licenses. She apparently took such action
against Erpelding. On December 13, 2012, Erpelding received
a notice of intent to suspend his operator’s and recreational
licenses due to his delinquent child support payments. This
notice was in addition to the regular notices that Erpelding
received monthly.

In March 2013, Erpelding’s operator’s and recreational
licenses were both suspended. Despite Davidson’s efforts, she
received no payments and no communication from Erpelding.
She eventually referred his case for criminal prosecution.

On October 8, 2013, 2 months after Erpelding was charged
with criminal nonsupport, Erpelding paid $857 in child sup-
port. About a week after his payment, he contacted Davidson to
find out how to get his operator’s license back. Davidson testi-
fied that her office usually requires 3 months’ worth of pay-
ments, a withholding, and at least one payment from that with-
holding before it will certify compliance with the Department
of Motor Vehicles. But, in this case, Davidson agreed to give
Erpelding credit for the $857 in payments he had already made
and to allow his license to be reinstated if he let her put into
place a withholding from his employment. Erpelding disclosed
to Davidson the identity of one of his employers, and Davidson
was able to initiate the withholding. In addition to the $857
payment, Davidson was able to collect $644.95 less than a
month later.

At Erpelding’s trial on nonsupport, Erpelding adduced evi-
dence suggesting that he had provided some undocumented
support to Grace. Southall testified that Erpelding paid half
of Grace’s daycare expenses directly to Southall and provided
things for Grace during visitations. But, on cross-examination,
Southall admitted she had previously testified at the hearing
on custody and support that she had not received any support
from Erpelding.
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3. ABILITY TO PAY CHILD SUPPORT

The State called three witnesses who testified about
Erpelding’s financial status in the 3 months preceding the
months that he was charged with nonpayment (May, June,
and July 2012), as well as during those months he was
charged with nonpayment (August, September, October, and
November 2012).

Vikki Stamm, an attorney in Buffalo County, testified that
she hired Erpelding to construct a building for her in May
2012. Stamm agreed to pay Erpelding $8,500 total for labor,
half to be paid up front and half to be paid upon completion
by the end of July. On May 7, Stamm paid Erpelding $4,250.
Stamm testified that Erpelding began work and had a crew
of four or five men working with him. After Erpelding failed
to show up consistently and Stamm saw his business vehicle
at other farms and businesses, she fired him mid-July before
he completed the project. Stamm testified that at the time she
terminated Erpelding, about 40 percent of the project was
completed, and that she did not pay Erpelding any additional
money. She also did not get back any part of the $4,250
already paid.

Collin Nabity, a Buffalo County business owner, testified
that he hired Erpelding to do multiple jobs over the years,
including building a shed in the summer of 2012. Nabity testi-
fied that between June 29 and July 21, 2012, he paid Erpelding
$2,000 for labor to build the shed. Nabity said Erpelding had a
crew working with him, but did not know how much the crew
was paid.

Wade Regier, a former branch manager of the Pinnacle Bank
in Palmer, Nebraska, also testified to Erpelding’s financial
situation. Regier testified that by June or July 2012, Erpelding
had fallen behind on payments for prior loans made to him by
Pinnacle Bank. In October 2012, Erpelding’s Pinnacle Bank
debt was consolidated into a single loan of $17,951.90. Under
this “new” loan, Erpelding was required to make monthly pay-
ments of $586.31 to begin on November 24, 2012.
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Pinnacle Bank took as security for the loan a motorcy-
cle, three pickup trucks, a “Bobcat,” and a camper trailer
(Erpelding’s home), which Erpelding estimated to be valued at
$31,500 total. Regier testified that at the time of Erpelding’s
October 2012 loan application, Erpelding represented that he
had work lined up and had listed a few references.

Erpelding’s loan application with Pinnacle Bank showed
additional assets, monthly obligations, and outstanding judg-
ments against him. Additional assets included tools and an
enclosed trailer, which Erpelding valued at $25,000 at the time
of his loan. The loan application showed monthly expenses
of $1,136 for housing and a vehicle. No value was given for
the outstanding judgments, but he listed “Care Credit - teeth,”
“Frontier,” and “Verizon - cellphone.” It also appears Erpelding
filed bankruptcy in 2007.

Regier testified that Erpelding attempted to make at least
partial payments on the loan. Based on Regier’s testimony
that the bank attempted to recover the debt in 2013 and seized
all available assets, it appears Erpelding must have eventually
stopped making payments.

4. JURY INSTRUCTIONS ON
CRIMINAL NONSUPPORT
Under § 28-706, a person commits criminal nonsupport if
he or she “intentionally fails, refuses, or neglects to provide
proper support which he or she knows or reasonably should
know he or she is legally obliged to provide to a . . . minor
child.” That crime is a misdemeanor unless “it is in violation
of any order of any court.” If in violation of a court order, the
crime is a felony.
The jury was instructed that the elements of the crime
charged were as follows:

(1) The defendant, . . . Erpelding, intentionally failed,
refused, or neglected to provide proper support for his
minor child, Grace . . ., born in 2008;

(2) That [Erpelding] knew he was legally obliged to
provide support to that child by an order of the District
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Court of Buffalo County, Nebraska, entered on August 20,
2012, in Case CI 12-291;
(3) That these events occurred [in August, September,
October, and November 2012]; and
(4) These events occurred in Buffalo County, Nebraska.
Erpelding’s trial counsel did not object to these instructions
and did not offer additional instructions. The jury found
Erpelding guilty on all four counts of criminal nonsupport.

5. HaBituaL CRIMINAL
ENHANCEMENT HEARING

On June 12, 2014, about a week after his conviction,
Erpelding was ordered to appear for the sentencing hearing
to be held on August 22. The order did not contain a separate
notice that the habitual criminal enhancement hearing required
by § 29-2221 was to occur the same day.

Habitual criminal enhancement is governed by § 29-2221,
which provides:

(2) . . . If the accused is convicted of a felony, before
sentence is imposed a hearing shall be had before the
court alone as to whether such person has been previ-
ously convicted of prior felonies. The court shall fix a
time for the hearing and notice thereof shall be given
to the accused at least three days prior thereto. At the
hearing, if the court finds from the evidence submit-
ted that the accused has been convicted two or more
times of felonies and sentences imposed therefor by the
courts of this or any other state or by the United States,
the court shall sentence such person so convicted as a
habitual criminal.

(Emphasis supplied.)

At the sentencing hearing, Erpelding objected to proceed-
ing on the habitual criminal count. He asked that the count be
dismissed on the grounds that he did not receive the 3 days’
notice required by § 29-2221.

The State argued it was not required to give separate notice
of the enhancement hearing, because Erpelding should have
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known that such hearing would occur immediately before the
sentencing hearing by virtue of the fact that § 29-2221 requires
the enhancement hearing to take place before sentencing. The
State cited State v. Poe,®> a Nebraska Court of Appeals case
not designated for publication in the permanent law reports,
for the proposition that the purpose of the notice requirement
in § 29-2221 is to ensure that the defendant has a reasonable
time to prepare a defense. Based on Poe, the State argued that
Erpelding had been given notice of the district court’s setting
of the sentencing date and was aware of the habitual criminal
allegations in the information, which were filed almost a year
before the enhancement hearing. Thus, the State argued, there
was no lack of notice and no prejudice to Erpelding. The sen-
tencing judge reviewed Poe, agreed with the State, and allowed
the hearing to proceed.

Erpelding’s criminal history includes two prior felonies. In
1995, he was convicted of aggravated assault with a deadly
weapon; he was sentenced to 7' years’ imprisonment and
served less than 7 years. In 2004, Erpelding pled no contest to
his charge of felon in possession of a deadly weapon; he was
sentenced to 18 months to 3 years’ imprisonment and served
only 11 months 7 days.

Besides those felonies on which his habitual criminal
enhancement was based, Erpelding has been convicted of a
number of other crimes. In December 2004, Erpelding was con-
victed of “Criminal Mischief, $500 to $1,500” and “Avoid[ing]
Arrest.” He was sentenced to 1 year of imprisonment for each
of those crimes. In 2005, he was convicted of “Deliver/Intent
to Deliver Controlled Substances” and was sentenced to 5
years’ probation. In 2011, he was convicted of “Driving Under
the Influence.” In 2012, he was found guilty of “Steal[ing]
Money o[r] Goods, less than $300,” and in June 2014, he was
convicted of “Attempted Unlawful Possession of a Deadly

2 State v. Poe, No. A-91-102, 1992 WL 90034 (Neb. App. May 5, 1992) (not
designated for permanent publication).
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Weapon.” These crimes are in addition to a number of traffic
violations, including six speeding tickets, four instances of
driving without a valid operator’s license, and three incidents
of driving under suspension.

After both parties were heard, the district court stated:

I don’t think the Legislature clearly intended that the
habitual criminal enhancement would be attached to a
criminal non-support conviction. It was clearly the pur-
pose of the Legislature to punish people who were habit-
ual criminal[s], particularly in the sense of either violent
crimes or crimes that create substantial hazard to society
and the community. Nonetheless they didn’t make an
exception. I think it is unusual and probably not within
the intent of our Legislature that an enhancement be
attached to this type of a Class IV felony. But nonetheless
I don’t have a choice. That’s what the Legislature requires
me to do.

The court sentenced Erpelding to concurrent terms of 10 to 15
years’ imprisonment on each count. Erpelding appeals and is
no longer represented by trial counsel.

III. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

Erpelding asserts, renumbered and restated, that (1) there
was insufficient evidence to support a finding of felony non-
support, (2) the district court violated the Sixth Amendment
of the federal Constitution when it failed to submit to the jury
the issue of whether Erpelding’s nonsupport was in violation
of any order of any court, (3) the district court erred for fail-
ing to require a jury instruction on a lesser-included offense
of misdemeanor criminal nonsupport and that his counsel was
ineffective for not requesting one, (4) the district court erred
in finding Erpelding was a habitual criminal and enhancing
his sentences, and (5) Erpelding received excessive and illegal
sentences contrary to the Eighth Amendment of the federal
Constitution, as well as the state Constitution.
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IV. STANDARD OF REVIEW

[1] Statutory interpretation and whether jury instructions are
correct are questions of law, which an appellate court reviews
independently of the lower court’s determination.’

[2,3] When reviewing the sufficiency of the evidence to
sustain a criminal conviction, it is not the province of this
court to resolve conflicts in the evidence, pass on the credibil-
ity of witnesses, determine the plausibility of explanations, or
reweigh the evidence; such matters are for the finder of fact.*
The relevant question is whether, after viewing the evidence in
the light most favorable to the prosecution, any rational trier
of fact could have found the essential elements of the crime
beyond a reasonable doubt.’

[4] When reviewing a sentence within the statutory lim-
its, whether for leniency or excessiveness, an appellate court
reviews for an abuse of discretion.®

V. ANALYSIS
A person commits the misdemeanor of criminal nonsup-
port when he or she “intentionally fails, refuses, or neglects to
provide proper support which he or she knows or reasonably
should know he or she is legally obliged to provide to a spouse
[or] minor child.”” “[T]f it is in violation of any order of any
court,” the crime is a Class IV felony.®

* See State v. Loyuk, 289 Neb. 967, 857 N.W.2d 833 (2015).

4 See, State v. Nolan, 283 Neb. 50, 807 N.W.2d 520 (2012); State v. Epp,
278 Neb. 683, 773 N.W.2d 356 (2009); State v. Davis, 277 Neb. 161, 762
N.W.2d 287 (2009).

3 State v. Covey, 290 Neb. 257, 859 N.W.2d 558 (2015); State v. Nave, 284
Neb. 477, 821 N.W.2d 723 (2012).

¢ State v. Parminter, 283 Neb. 754, 811 N.W.2d 694 (2012).
7§ 28-706(1) (emphasis supplied).
8§ 28-706(7).
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1. INSUFFICIENT EVIDENCE

Erpelding attacks the sufficiency of the evidence on almost
every element of felony nonsupport. Erpelding argues that the
State failed to prove Erpelding’s ability to pay and that, as a
result, there was insufficient evidence to demonstrate Erpelding
intentionally withheld support. Erpelding also argues that any
nonsupport was really to DHHS and not to his minor child.
Finally, Erpelding attacks the validity of the underlying order
and argues that his failure to pay could not have been “in viola-
tion of any order of any court.”

(a) Intent

Erpelding contends that the State failed to demonstrate he
had the requisite intent to commit the crime of nonsupport.

Both parties argue under the assumption that the State must,
and has the burden to, prove that Erpelding was able to pay in
order to show that he intentionally failed to provide support.
Erpelding argues that the State failed to produce evidence
of his income sufficient to demonstrate he was able to pay.
The State, in contrast, asserts that Erpelding owned his own
business and was not out of work during the months he was
charged with nonsupport. The State argues that “[i]f Erpelding
was not earning enough to pay his support obligation with his
business, then he should have taken a second job to make ends
meet . . . .”!° The State also lists Erpelding’s assets and con-
tends that he could have sold them to pay his obligation. Some
other states’ nonsupport statutes explicitly make sufficient
ability to provide support an element of the crime,!! and other
states’ nonsupport statutes provide for an affirmative “inability

° Brief for appellant at 23.
10 Brief for appellee at 16.

"' 23 Am. Jur. 2d Desertion and Nonsupport § 42 (2013) (citing Streater v.
Cox, 336 Fed. Appx. 470 (6th Cir. 2009); Brooke v. State, 99 Fla. 1275,
128 So. 814 (1930)).
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to pay” defense.!? Nebraska’s nonsupport statute does neither;
instead, § 28-706 merely requires proof that the defendant
intentionally failed to support his minor child.

[5] We have said that in the context of a criminal statute
such as § 28-706, “intentionally” means willfully or purposely,
and not accidentally or involuntarily.”® But it does not follow
that the State must prove beyond a reasonable doubt, as part
of its prima facie case, both that the defendant’s nonpayment
was intentional and that the defendant’s nonpayment was not
accidental and not involuntary, e.g., that the defendant had the
ability to pay.

[6] Requiring the State to prove that the defendant’s fail-
ure to provide support was not accidental and not involuntary
would force the State to try to prove a negative with informa-
tion not in its control. Generally, the burden of proving an
exemption rests on the party claiming it.'

[7] We thus conclude that the State is not required to prove
that the defendant was able to pay in order to show that he or
she intentionally failed to provide support.

[8] Nevertheless, evidence of ability to pay is not irrelevant
to the question of whether the defendant intentionally failed to
provide support. Often, evidence of ability to pay, coupled with
evidence of nonpayment, is key circumstantial evidence of an
intent not to pay.'

[9] And, of course, a defendant may present evidence to
establish an “inability to pay” in order to disprove intent.

12 See, Ind. Code Ann. § 35-46-1-5 (LexisNexis 2009); Tex. Penal Code Ann.
§ 25.05 (West 2011).

13 State v. Bright, 238 Neb. 348,470 N.W.2d 181 (1991); State v. Eichelberger,
227 Neb. 545, 418 N.W.2d 580 (1988).

4 See Hamilton Cty. EMS Assn. v. Hamilton Cty., 291 Neb. 495, 866 N.W.2d
523 (2015).

15 See, State v. Menuey, 239 Neb. 513, 476 N.W.2d 846 (1991); State v.
Bright, supra note 13; State v. Meyer, 236 Neb. 253, 460 N.W.2d 656
(1990); State v. Eichelberger, supra note 13.
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Indeed, Erpelding’s trial counsel argued during his closing
statement that Erpelding did not have the financial ability
to pay his child support obligation and thus could not have
intended not to pay. Erpelding brought up evidence that he
had fallen behind on his loan payments and had various
expenses. But the trier of fact implicitly rejected these argu-
ments. And we view the evidence in the light most favorable
to the State.

Although Erpelding’s precise income is not clear, viewing
the evidence most favorable to the State, we conclude that
an ability to pay could be inferred from the totality of the
evidence and that the jury could have considered such ability
to pay in evaluating whether Erpelding intentionally failed to
provide for his minor child.

The evidence shows Erpelding was not without work during
or in the 3 months preceding those months he was charged with
nonsupport. He had at least two construction jobs in May, June,
and July 2012. From Stamm’s testimony that Erpelding’s busi-
ness trailer was seen at other farms and businesses, and from
Regier’s testimony that Erpelding represented he had work
lined up, a jury could infer that Erpelding was also engaged in
other jobs during that time.

The fact that Erpelding made partial payments on his bank
loan and was able to pay over 5 months’ worth of child sup-
port payments, or $1,252.95, during the 1-month period from
October 8 to November 8, 2013, in order to have his license
reinstated, also suggests that Erpelding had the ability to pay
before that time, but simply chose not to.

Because we conclude that an ability to pay could be inferred
without requiring Erpelding to sell the tools and vehicle used
in his business, we do not respond to the State’s argument
that Erpelding should have sold them to pay his child sup-
port obligation.

[10] Evidence of ability to pay is not the only circumstantial
evidence that may be used to prove intent to commit the crime
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of nonsupport. We have said that intent may be inferred from
the words or acts of the defendant and from the circumstances
surrounding the incident.'

Assuming a defendant has notice of the support obligation
at issue, intent not to pay can be inferred from a continuous
failure to make even partial payments and from a failure to
communicate with child support services until after his or her
licenses were suspended and he or she was charged with crimi-
nal nonsupport.'’

Although Erpelding received monthly notices of his child
support obligation, he did not make even a partial payment
for over a year. He did not dispute the amount, contact child
support services, or appear to make any effort to satisfy his
child support obligations during that time. It was only after
Erpelding’s operator’s license was suspended and after he was
charged with felony nonsupport that Erpelding made any pay-
ments or reached out to child support services.

In evaluating whether Erpelding intentionally failed to pay
support, the jury was free to reject Southall’s testimony that
Erpelding paid half of Grace’s daycare directly to Southall
and supported Grace during his visitations. After all, Southall
admitted she had previously testified at a custody hearing that
she had never received any child support from him.

Viewing the evidence in a light most favorable to the State,
we conclude that a reasonable trier of fact could find, beyond
a reasonable doubt, that Erpelding intentionally failed, refused,
or neglected to pay the child support for the months of August,
September, October, and November 2012.

(b) Nonsupport to His Minor Child
[11] We quickly dispose of Erpelding’s meritless argument
that his nonsupport was really to DHHS and not to his minor

16 See, State v. Bright, supra note 13; State v. Eichelberger, supra note 13.
17 See In re Interest of Gabriella H., 289 Neb. 323, 855 N.W.2d 368 (2014).
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child. An obligation to support a minor child is not affected
by the assignment of child support to DHHS, which occurred
here by operation of law upon Southall’s receipt of ADC sup-
port for Grace.'®

(c) Validity of Temporary
Child Support Order

Erpelding next contends that any failure to support his minor
child could not have been “a violation of any order of any
court,” because the underlying temporary child support order
was “invalid,” and he claims that his trial counsel was ineffec-
tive for failing to challenge it at his criminal nonsupport trial."”
The State responds that his trial counsel could not be ineffec-
tive for failing to launch an impermissible collateral attack. We
agree with the State.

[12,13] A collateral attack occurs when the validity of a
judgment is attacked in a way other than in a proceeding in
the original action.”® Unless grounded upon the court’s lack of
jurisdiction over the parties or subject matter, collateral attacks
are impermissible.?!

Erpelding does not attack the underlying temporary child
support order on a jurisdictional basis; rather, he argues that
the order was invalid because no child support calculation
was attached and because “the district court . . . ‘pluck[ed] a
number out of the air.””?? Nonjurisdictional defects, such as
the one Erpelding alleges, render a judgment voidable, not
void, and may only be attacked directly.?® Thus, any challenge

18 See § 43-512.07.
1 Brief for appellant at 12, 13.
20 See State v. Smith, 269 Neb. 773, 696 N.W.2d 871 (2005).

2 State v. Macek, 278 Neb. 967, 774 N.W.2d 749 (2009); State v. Smith,
supra note 20.

22 Brief for appellant at 12.

3 Mayfield v. Hartmann, 221 Neb. 122, 375 N.W.2d 146 (1985); State ex rel.
Casselman v. Macken, 194 Neb. 806, 235 N.W.2d 867 (1975).
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to the temporary support order at his criminal nonsupport trial
would have been an impermissible collateral attack. As a mat-
ter of law, counsel cannot be ineffective for failing to raise a
meritless argument.?

Erpelding takes the position that a challenge of the underly-
ing order at his nonsupport trial would not have been a col-
lateral attack on a judgment, because, he argues, the temporary
child support order was not a final, appealable order. This argu-
ment assumes that an interlocutory order can be collaterally
attacked for reasons other than the court’s lack of jurisdiction
over the parties or the subject matter.

[14,15] It is well established that the rule against col-
lateral attacks applies equally to interlocutory orders and
final judgments.”> The broad application of the rule comports
with the rule’s policy, which is to respect the jurisdiction of
the court rendering the order and to encourage obedience of
courts’ orders.*

[16] We recognize an exception to the collateral bar rule
may exist where a defendant’s constitutional rights are at risk,
e.g., where a defendant is charged with a crime based on an
interlocutory order not yet appealable.?’” But we need not con-
sider such circumstance here, because the temporary child sup-
port order at issue was followed by a final resolution of cus-
tody and support—the July 15, 2013, judgment—from which

24 State v. Lee, 282 Neb. 652, 807 N.W.2d 96 (2011).

2550 C.J.S. Judgments § 713 (2009). See, also, State, ex rel. C., B. & Q. R.
Co., v. N. Lincoln St. Ry. Co., 34 Neb. 634, 52 N.W. 369 (1892); Annot.,
12 A.L.R. 1165 (1921); John R.B. Palmer, Collateral Bar and Contempt:
Challenging a Court Order After Disobeying It, 88 Cornell L. Rev. 215
(2002).

2 Penny v. Alliance Trust Co., 259 F. 558 (8th Cir. 1919); Palmer, supra note
25; Doug Rendleman, Toward Due Process in Injunction Procedure, 1973
1. Law Forum 221. See, also, Maness v. Meyers, 419 U.S. 449, 95 S. Ct.
584, 42 L. Ed. 2d 574 (1975).

7 See, Maness v. Meyers, supra note 26; Palmer, supra note 25.
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Erpelding could have appealed the temporary child support
order.”® He did not.

Because Erpelding could have appealed the temporary
child support order at the time of the July 15, 2013, judg-
ment, he was precluded from collaterally attacking the tem-
porary child support order at his criminal nonsupport trial.
And he is precluded from collaterally attacking it now on
appeal. Likewise, for these reasons, trial counsel was not
ineffective for failing to collaterally attack the temporary
child support order.

2. JURY INSTRUCTIONS

Erpelding makes two arguments with respect to the jury
instructions. First, he argues that the district court violated the
Sixth Amendment and the U.S. Supreme Court’s decision in
Apprendi v. New Jersey,” when it allegedly failed to provide
for a jury determination of an essential element of the crime,
i.e., whether Erpelding’s nonsupport was “in violation of any
order of any court.” Second, Erpelding argues that the district
court erred in, and his counsel was ineffective for, failing to
require a jury instruction on the lesser-included offense of mis-
demeanor child support.

(a) Sixth Amendment Claim
[17] Erpelding did not object at trial to the jury instructions
he now assigns as error. Failure to object to a jury instruction
after it has been submitted to counsel for review precludes
raising an objection on appeal absent plain error indicative of

8 See, Jessen v. Jessen, 259 Neb. 644, 611 N.W.2d 834 (2000); Gainsforth
v. Peterson, 113 Neb. 1, 201 N.W. 645 (1924); Dartmann v. Dartmann,
14 Neb. App. 864, 717 N.W.2d 519 (2006). See, also, Schropp Indus. v.
Washington Cty. Atty.’s Ofc., 281 Neb. 152, 794 N.W.2d 685 (2011); Hallie
Mgmt. Co. v. Perry, 272 Neb. 81, 718 N.W.2d 531 (2006).

2 Apprendi v. New Jersey, 530 U.S. 466, 120 S. Ct. 2348, 147 L. Ed. 2d 435
(2000).
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a probable miscarriage of justice.’® Erpelding does not argue
that trial counsel was ineffective for failing to object to the jury
instructions at trial.

[18] Plain error may be found on appeal when an error unas-
serted or uncomplained of at trial, but plainly evident from the
record, prejudicially affects a litigant’s substantial right and, if
uncorrected, would result in damage to the integrity, reputa-
tion, and fairness of the judicial process.?!

We find no error in the jury instruction that is plainly evi-
dent, nor do we find prejudice that affected any substantial
right of Erpelding.

A person commits criminal nonsupport when he or she
“intentionally fails, refuses, or neglects to provide proper sup-
port which he or she knows or reasonably should know he
or she is legally obliged to provide to a . . . minor child.”??
The crime is a felony if “it is in violation of any order of
any court.”3

The district court instructed the jury that Erpelding was
guilty of felony nonsupport if the jury found that Erpelding
“(1) . . . intentionally failed, refused, or neglected to provide
proper support for his minor child” and “(2) . . . knew he was
legally obliged to provide support to that child by an order
of the District Court of Buffalo County, Nebraska, entered
on August 20, 2012, in Case CI 12-291.” The court also
instructed the jury that it must find that the events occurred
in Buffalo County during August, September, October, and
November 2012.

[19,20] As a general rule, in giving instructions to the jury,
it is proper for the court to describe the offense in the language

30 State v. Abdulkadir, 286 Neb. 417, 837 N.W.2d 510 (2013); State v. Watt,
285 Neb. 647, 832 N.W.2d 459 (2013).

31 State v. Abram, 284 Neb. 55, 815 N.W.2d 897 (2012); State v. Williams,
282 Neb. 182, 802 N.W.2d 421 (2011).

32§ 28-706(1).
3§ 28-706(7).
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of the statute.** But the law does not require that a jury instruc-
tion track the exact language of the statute.** Thus, we do not
find that the district court’s failure to include the exact phrase
“in violation of any order of any court,” if error at all, is error
which is plainly evident from the record.

Furthermore, no evidence suggests that the instructions
given to the jury prejudicially affected a substantial right of
Erpelding. In fact, Erpelding does not contest that he violated
the temporary child support order. Instead, he takes the posi-
tion that the order was “invalid” and that its validity should
have been submitted to the jury. As we already explained, the
validity of the order was not subject to attack.

We find that the jury instructions were not plain error and
that there was no indication of a miscarriage of justice.

(b) Lesser-Included Offense

Erpelding also argues that the district court erred for fail-
ing to require a jury instruction on a lesser-included offense
of misdemeanor criminal nonsupport and that his counsel was
ineffective for not requesting one. Erpelding’s argument fails
because it is premised on the incorrect assumption that the tem-
porary child support order was subject to attack at his criminal
nonsupport trial.

[21,22] A court must instruct a jury on a lesser-included
offense if (1) the elements of the lesser offense are such that
one cannot commit the greater offense without simultaneously
committing the lesser offense and (2) the evidence produces
a rational basis for acquitting the defendant of the greater

34 State v. Glantz, 251 Neb. 947, 560 N.W.2d 783 (1997); State v. Neujahr,
248 Neb. 965, 540 N.W.2d 566 (1995); State v. Friend, 230 Neb. 765, 433
N.W.2d 512 (1988), disapproved on other grounds, State v. Harney, 237
Neb. 512, 466 N.W.2d 540 (1991).

3589 C.J.S. Trial § 730 (2012). See, State v. Loyuk, supra note 3; State
v. Young, 279 Neb. 602, 780 N.W.2d 28 (2010); State v. Glantz, supra
note 34.
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offense and convicting the defendant of the lesser offense.*
Defense counsel is not ineffective for failing to raise an argu-
ment that has no merit or for failing to object to jury instruc-
tions that, when read together and taken as a whole, correctly
state the law and are not misleading.’’

Although felony nonsupport cannot be committed without
simultaneously committing the lesser offense of misdemeanor
nonsupport, no evidence was or could have been produced
at Erpelding’s criminal nonsupport trial that would provide a
rational basis for acquitting him of felony nonsupport. The
only difference between misdemeanor and felony nonsupport
is that felony nonsupport is in violation of any order of any
court. Erpelding’s counsel did not and could not have chal-
lenged the validity of the underlying support order at his crimi-
nal nonsupport trial for the reasons discussed above.

We conclude that the court was not required to instruct the
jury on the lesser-included offense, and Erpelding’s counsel
could not have been ineffective for failing to request the court
to do so. Erpelding’s argument is without merit.

3. HABITUAL CRIMINAL ENHANCEMENT
Habitual criminal enhancement is governed by § 29-2221,
which provides:

(1) Whoever has been twice convicted of a crime,
sentenced, and committed to prison . . . for terms of not
less than one year each shall, upon conviction of a felony
committed in this state, be deemed to be a habitual crimi-
nal and shall be punished by imprisonment . . . for a man-
datory minimum term of ten years and a maximum term
of not more than sixty years . . . .

36 State v. Alford, 278 Neb. 818, 774 N.W.2d 394 (2009); State v. Robinson,
272 Neb. 582, 724 N.W.2d 35 (2006), abrogated on other grounds, State
v. Thorpe, 280 Neb. 11, 783 N.W.2d 749 (2010); State v. Weaver, 267 Neb.
826, 677 N.W.2d 502 (2004).

37 State v. Young, supra note 35.
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(2) . . . If the accused is convicted of a felony, before
sentence is imposed a hearing shall be had before the
court alone as to whether such person has been previ-
ously convicted of prior felonies. The court shall fix a
time for the hearing and notice thereof shall be given
to the accused at least three days prior thereto. At the
hearing, if the court finds from the evidence submit-
ted that the accused has been convicted two or more
times of felonies and sentences imposed therefor by the
courts of this or any other state or by the United States,
the court shall sentence such person so convicted as a
habitual criminal.

(Emphasis supplied.)

Erpelding argues that his sentences should not have been
enhanced, because he did not receive notice of the enhance-
ment hearing as required by § 29-2221. The State’s position
appears to be that it is not required to provide the defendant
with a separate notice of the enhancement hearing, but, rather,
that it is sufficient that “[Erpelding] have three days’ notice
supplied in a manner calculated to give him notice that there
will be such a hearing.”*®

The State argues that because Erpelding was aware of the
habitual criminal charge and because § 29-2221 requires that
the enhancement hearing occur before sentencing, Erpelding
should have known that the enhancement hearing would occur
immediately before the sentencing hearing. Under the State’s
theory, notice of the sentencing hearing constitutes notice of
the enhancement hearing, so long as the defendant is aware of
his or her habitual criminal charge.

[23,24] It is a fundamental principle of statutory construc-
tion that penal statutes be strictly construed, and it is not for
the courts to supply missing words or sentences to make clear

3% Brief for appellee at 19.
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that which is indefinite, or to supply that which is not there.*
Section 29-2221 clearly requires 3 days’ notice of the enhance-
ment hearing and not merely notice of the sentencing hearing.
The problem is that the statute does not specify the conse-
quence of inadequate notice of the enhancement hearing.

[25,26] When interpreting a statute, a court’s objective is to
determine and give effect to the legislative intent of the enact-
ment.** The purpose of the notice requirement in § 29-2221
is to ensure that the defendant has reasonable time to prepare
a defense.*! Thus, we conclude that the effect of inadequate
notice of the enhancement hearing depends on whether the
defendant was prejudiced by the lack of notice.

Even if Erpelding had received 3 days’ notice of the enhance-
ment hearing, the result would not be different. On appeal,
Erpelding raises only one substantive issue with respect to the
enhancement, and it is without merit.

Erpelding argues that his nonsupport conviction is not a fel-
ony as required for enhancement, because his failure to provide
support was not “in violation of any order of any court.” We
already explained that Erpelding could not have attacked the
validity of the temporary child support order at his nonsupport
trial. Under the same reasoning, he could not have attacked the
validity of the order at his criminal enhancement or sentencing
hearing. Because this argument is without merit, we conclude
that the lack of notice of the enhancement hearing was harm-
less and that no prejudice occurred.

We realize this result is essentially in line with the State’s
position that notice of the sentencing hearing constitutes notice
of the enhancement hearing. But we cannot endorse the State’s
approach. It is our duty to uphold the law, and § 29-2221
requires notice of the enhancement hearing. The defendant

39 State v. Thacker, 286 Neb. 16, 834 N.W.2d 597 (2013); State v. McCarthy,
284 Neb. 572, 822 N.W.2d 386 (2012).

40 State v. Dixon, 282 Neb. 274, 802 N.W.2d 866 (2011).
41 See State v. Cole, 192 Neb. 466, 222 N.W.2d 560 (1974).
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should be given the notice that the statute requires. We deter-
mine that the State violated § 29-2221, but that such violation
does not result in reversal under the facts of this case. We
admonish the State to follow the 3-day notice requirement
of § 29-2221.

4. SENTENCING

Erpelding argues that his sentences are excessive and violate
the Eighth Amendment to the U.S. Constitution and article
I, § 9, of the Nebraska Constitution, both of which prohibit
the infliction of cruel and unusual punishment. Erpelding
complains that his concurrent sentences of 10 to 15 years’
imprisonment are grossly disproportionate to his crime of
nonsupport, i.e., his failure to pay 4 months of child support,
totaling $900.

(a) Eighth Amendment

[27] Erpelding is correct that the Eighth Amendment’s pro-
scription of cruel and unusual punishment prohibits not only
barbaric punishments, but also sentences that are grossly dis-
proportionate to the crime committed. But when weighing the
punishment and the crime, Erpelding fails to place all relevant
items on the scale.

[28] In weighing the gravity of his offense, we must place
on the scale, not only Erpelding’s crime of nonsupport, but
also his history of felony recidivism. The U.S. Supreme Court,
in Ewing v. California,** made clear that when a court is faced
with a habitual criminal enhancement, its Eighth Amendment
proportionality review must take into account the Legislature’s
goals in enacting such statute, i.e., to deter repeat offenders
and to separate from society those who are “‘incapable of
conforming to the norms of society as established by its crimi-
nal law.””%

“ Ewing v. California, 538 U.S. 11, 123 S. Ct. 1179, 155 L. Ed. 2d 108
(2003).

Id., 538 U.S. at 29.
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In Ewing, the defendant was convicted of felony grand theft
for stealing three golf clubs after two other felony convic-
tions. California’s habitual criminal statute allowed Ewing
to be sentenced to 25 years’ to life imprisonment. The Court
explained that the Constitution “‘does not mandate adoption
of any one penological theory,”” but that instead, “[a] sentence
can have a variety of justifications . . . .”** In Ewing, the Court
explained that the defendant’s sentence was justified by the
State’s public safety interest in deterring repeat felons and was
sufficiently supported by his criminal record, which involved
numerous misdemeanor and felony offenses.

[29] With regard to whether the length of a sentence consti-
tutes cruel and unusual punishment, the Nebraska Constitution
does not require more than does the Eighth Amendment to the
U.S. Constitution.* That is why we followed the reasoning of
Ewing in State v. Hurbenca.**

In Hurbenca, the defendant’s sentence for attempted escape
was enhanced per § 29-2221, to 10 to 15 years’ imprisonment,
based on his prior felony convictions. He had previously been
convicted of possession of a forged certificate of title, theft by
receiving stolen property, attempting to procure a fraudulent
title, and possession of a firearm by a felon. We concluded that
the defendant’s sentence was not grossly disproportionate and
did not violate the Eighth Amendment’s prohibition against
cruel and unusual punishment.

In the present case, Erpelding was convicted of two prior
felonies, aggravated assault with a deadly weapon and felon
in possession of a deadly weapon. Those crimes form the
basis for the habitual criminal enhancement on Erpelding’s
felony nonsupport conviction. Additionally, Erpelding’s pre-
sentencing report shows he has been convicted of several

“ Id., 538 U.S. at 25.

4 State v. Mata, 275 Neb. 1, 745 N.W.2d 229 (2008); State v. Hurbenca, 266
Neb. 853, 669 N.W.2d 668 (2003).

4 State v. Hurbenca, supra note 45.
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other crimes. In 2004, Erpelding was convicted of “Criminal
Mischief, $500 to $1,500” and “Avoid[ing] Arrest.” In 2005,
he was convicted of “Deliver/Intent to Deliver Controlled
Substances.” In 2011, he was convicted of “Driving Under the
Influence.” In 2012, he was found to have “St[olen] Money
o[r] Goods,” and in 2014, he was convicted of “Attempted
Unlawful Possession of a Deadly Weapon.” He has also com-
mitted a number of traffic violations throughout the years,
including six speeding incidents, four incidents of driving
without a valid operator’s license, and three incidents of driv-
ing under suspension.

Though we think 10 to 15 years’ imprisonment may be the
maximum end of the spectrum, it is not unconstitutional. It is
justified by the State’s public safety interest in deterring repeat
felons and sufficiently supported by his criminal record.

(b) Excessiveness

[30] Erpelding also claims his sentences are excessive.
When reviewing a sentence within the statutory limits, whether
for leniency or excessiveness, an appellate court reviews for an
abuse of discretion.”” When imposing a sentence, a sentencing
judge should consider the defendant’s (1) age, (2) mentality, (3)
education and experience, (4) social and cultural background,
(5) past criminal record or record of law-abiding conduct, and
(6) motivation for the offense, as well as (7) the nature of the
offense, and (8) the violence involved in the commission of
the crime.*®

We find no abuse of discretion on the part of the district
court in imposing Erpelding’s sentences. The Legislature
made the intentional failure to pay child support a felony
if it is “in violation of any order of any court.”* Erpelding

47 State v. Parminter, supra note 6.

48 State v. Huff, 282 Neb. 78, 802 N.W.2d 77 (2011); State v. Vasquez, 271
Neb. 906, 716 N.W.2d 443 (2006).

¥ See § 28-706(7).
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clearly had a court order directing him to pay support, and
the jury found that Erpelding failed to pay that support.
Under the law, Erpelding committed a felony. Because non-
support was Erpelding’s third felony, the prosecutor had the
discretion to, and ultimately chose to, charge Erpelding with
being a habitual criminal. When a defendant is charged with
being a habitual criminal under § 29-2221, upon proof that
the latest felony conviction is, at least, the defendant’s third
felony conviction, the statute requires the court to impose a
mandatory minimum term of 10 years in prison. The maxi-
mum term is 60 years. Erpelding was sentenced to 10 to
15 years’ imprisonment. Given Erpelding’s criminal history
already discussed, we conclude that the district court did not
abuse its discretion in sentencing Erpelding to 10 to 15 years’
imprisonment.

VI. CONCLUSION
For the reasons set forth herein, the judgment of the district
court is affirmed.
AFFIRMED.

MILLER-LERMAN, J., concurring.

I concur and write separately only to address the habitual
criminal charge. By focusing on the triggering offenses of non-
payment of child support, the imposition of a habitual criminal
charge may seem out of line; however, in view of the purpose
of the habitual criminal statute and Erpelding’s long history of
criminal conduct, I believe the decision to pursue the habitual
criminal charge in this case makes more sense.

At the enhancement hearing, the evidence showed that
Erpelding had been convicted of two prior felonies: aggravated
assault with a deadly weapon, for which he received a 7%-
year sentence, and felon in possession of a deadly weapon, for
which he received an 18-month sentence. These felony convic-
tions formed the basis for enhancement pursuant to Neb. Rev.
Stat. § 29-2221 (Reissue 2008).
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The record also showed that Erpelding had been convicted
of numerous other crimes and violations as outlined in the
majority opinion:

In 2004, Erpelding was convicted of “Criminal Mischief,
$500 to $1,500” and “Avoid[ing] Arrest.” In 2005, he
was convicted of “Deliver/Intent to Deliver Controlled
Substances.” In 2011, he was convicted of “Driving
Under the Influence.” In 2012, he was found to have
“St[olen] Money o[r] Goods,” and in 2014, he was
convicted of “Attempted Unlawful Possession of a
Deadly Weapon.” He has also committed a number of
traffic violations throughout the years, including six
speeding incidents, four incidents of driving without a
valid operator’s license, and three incidents of driving
under suspension.

Erpelding’s crimes resulted variously in fines, probation, and
I-year sentences. Taken together, Erpelding’s crimes occurred
in the State of Arizona and in the following Nebraska coun-
ties: Buffalo, Nance, Kearney, Harlan, Dawson, Lancaster,
Seward, and Gage. According to the presentence investigation,
there were charges pending: in Buffalo County for assault
in the third degree and in Jefferson County for manufactur-
ing or delivery of methamphetamine, felon in possession of
a deadly weapon, and habitual criminal. During the pendency
of this case, an additional action in Buffalo County, in which
Erpelding was charged with escape from custody and being a
habitual criminal, was dismissed. At the time of the enhance-
ment hearing, Erpelding was serving a sentence for a Seward
County conviction for attempted unlawful possession of a
deadly weapon.

Claims that the habitual criminal sentence is disproportion-
ate to the offense are not uncommon. In fact, this court has
rejected such a challenge. See State v. Hurbenca, 266 Neb.
853, 669 N.W.2d 668 (2003). In Hurbenca, we gave defer-
ence to the Legislature’s choice of sanctions and cited the
U.S. Supreme Court decision in Ewing v. California, 538 U.S.
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11, 123 S. Ct. 1179, 155 L. Ed. 2d 108 (2003). In Ewing, the

Court stated:
[T]he State’s interest is not merely punishing the offense
of conviction, or the “triggering” offense: “[I]t is in addi-
tion the interest . . . in dealing in a harsher manner with
those who by repeated criminal acts have shown that they
are simply incapable of conforming to the norms of soci-
ety as established by its criminal law.” . . . To give full
effect to the State’s choice of this legitimate penological
goal, our proportionality review of [the defendant’s] sen-
tence must take that goal into account.

[The defendant’s] sentence is justified by the State’s
public-safety interest in incapacitating and deterring
recidivist felons, and amply supported by [the defend-
ant’s] own long, serious criminal record.

538 U.S. at 29-30.

The “sentence-related” characteristics considered in the
context of a proportionality analysis commonly include the
length of prison term the defendant is likely to actually serve,
the sentence-triggering conduct, and the defendant’s crimi-
nal history. See id., 538 U.S. at 37 (Breyer, J., dissenting;
Stevens, Souter, and Ginsburg, JJ., join). See, also, Rummel
v. Estelle, 445 U.S. 263, 100 S. Ct. 1133, 63 L. Ed. 2d 382
(1980). Focusing on the triggering crimes in this case does
not initially seem to warrant enhancement to habitual criminal
status, and the actual cost of incarceration to the public and
to Erpelding initially may appear disproportionate. However,
when viewed in the context demonstrated in the record, the
prosecutorial decision to go forward with the habitual criminal
charge in this particular case has a rational, if not particularly
economical, basis.
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OmaHA PoLicE UNION LocaL 101, IUPA, AFL-CIO,
ALSO KNOWN AS OMAHA POLICE OFFICERS ASSOCIATION,
APPELLEE AND CROSS-APPELLANT, V. CITY OF OMAHA,
A MUNICIPAL CORPORATION, APPELLANT
AND CROSS-APPELLEE.

872 N.W.2d 765

Filed December 31, 2015. No. S-14-1153.

Contracts: Appeal and Error. The interpretation of a contract is a
question of law, in connection with which an appellate court has an
obligation to reach its conclusions independently of the determinations
made by the court below.

Trial: Witnesses: Judgments: Appeal and Error. A trial court’s factual
findings in a bench trial of an action at law have the effect of a jury
verdict and will not be set aside unless clearly erroneous. The trial court
is the sole judge of the witnesses’ credibility and the weight to be given
their testimony.

Equity: Appeal and Error. In an appeal in equity, the reviewing court
tries factual questions de novo on the record.

. On appeal from an equity action, when credible evidence
is in conflict on material issues of fact, an appellate court considers and
may give weight to the fact that the trial court observed the witnesses
and accepted one version of the facts over another.

Estoppel: Words and Phrases. Equitable estoppel is a bar which
precludes a party from denying or asserting anything to the contrary
of those matters established as the truth by his or her own deeds, acts,
or representations.

Equity: Estoppel. The doctrine of equitable estoppel applies where,
as a result of conduct of a party upon which another person has in
good faith relied to his or her detriment, the acting party is absolutely
precluded, both at law and in equity, from asserting rights which might
have otherwise existed.
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7. Waiver: Words and Phrases. A waiver is a voluntary and intentional
relinquishment or abandonment of a known existing legal right or such
conduct as warrants an inference of the relinquishment of such right.

8. Waiver: Estoppel. To establish a waiver of a legal right, there must be
a clear, unequivocal, and decisive act of a party showing such a purpose,
or acts amounting to an estoppel on his or her part.

9. Contracts: Waiver: Proof. A party may prove the waiver of a contract
by (1) a party’s express declarations manifesting the intent not to claim
an advantage or (2) a party’s neglecting and failing to act so as to induce
the belief that it intended to waive.

10. Waiver: Proof. The party asserting a waiver defense bears the burden of
establishing that a clear and unmistakable waiver has occurred.

11. Judgments: Equity: Proof. To be entitled to equitable relief from a
judgment, a party must show that the situation is not due to his or her
fault, neglect, or carelessness.

Appeal from the District Court for Douglas County: JOSEPH
S. TroIA, Judge. Affirmed.

Christopher R. Hedican, of Baird Holm, L.L.P., for appellant.

Michael P. Dowd, of Dowd, Howard & Corrigan, L.L.C., for
appellee.

HEeavican, C.J., WRIGHT, CONNOLLY, MCCORMACK, CASSEL,
and StAcCy, JJ.

WRIGHT, J.
NATURE OF CASE

The appellee and cross-appellant, the Omaha Police Union
Local 101, TUPA, AFL-CIO, also known as the Omaha Police
Officers Association (Union), filed a declaratory judgment
action against the appellant and cross-appellee, City of Omaha
(City). The Union requested the district court declare that the
collective bargaining agreement between the Union and the
City had rolled over to the 2014 calendar year. The Union
claimed that the City did not timely provide written notice
of its intent to negotiate or modify the terms of the contract
for 2014. The City argued that the Union’s action was barred
by the doctrines of waiver and equitable estoppel. It claimed
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written notice was waived by the Union or the Union was
estopped from asserting that the City was required to give
written notice of its intent to negotiate changes to the contract.
We affirm the order of the district court granting declaratory
judgment to the Union and denying its request for attor-
ney fees.

SCOPE OF REVIEW

[1,2] The interpretation of a contract is a question of law,
in connection with which an appellate court has an obligation
to reach its conclusions independently of the determinations
made by the court below. Gaver v. Schneider’s O.K. Tire Co.,
289 Neb. 491, 856 N.W.2d 121 (2014). A trial court’s factual
findings in a bench trial of an action at law have the effect of
a jury verdict and will not be set aside unless clearly errone-
ous. The trial court is the sole judge of the witnesses’ cred-
ibility and the weight to be given their testimony. See Stauffer
v. Benson, 288 Neb. 683, 850 N.W.2d 759 (2014). This case
hinges on the applicability of the City’s equitable defenses,
and we consider the facts de novo on the record. See Estate of
McElwee v. Omaha Transit Auth., 266 Neb. 317, 664 N.W.2d
461 (2003).

FACTS

The parties entered into an agreement which was to remain
in effect from December 14, 2008, until December 21, 2013
(Contract). The Contract contained an “evergreen clause”
(Article 47), which provided for an automatic extension of the
Contract if neither party notified the other of a desire to modify

or renegotiate any portion thereof. Article 47 provided:
This Agreement shall be and shall remain in full force
and effect from and after . . . December 14, 2008, until
... December 21, 2013, and thereafter for successive one
(1) calendar year periods, unless one of the parties hereto
on or before April Ist of any such year shall notify the
other party hereto in writing of its desire to modify the

same, or any part thereof.
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Neither party disputes that Article 47 required written notice
of intent to negotiate changes by April 1, 2014, and that notice
was not provided by either party by that date. Consequently,
whether the district court erred in granting declaratory relief
depends upon whether it erred in rejecting the City’s equi-
table defenses.

The City’s argument concerns a series of exchanges
between the lead negotiators of the parties which occurred
before and after April 1, 2014. The first exchange between
the parties was a meeting on February 27. Attorney Mark
McQueen, the chief negotiator for the City, contacted Sgt.
John Wells, the president and lead negotiator of the Union, to
set up a meeting. The purpose of the meeting was to discuss
negotiation style and topics for negotiation. During the meet-
ing, McQueen discussed the City’s objectives for negotiat-
ing the Contract and identified three specific topics which
required discussion.

At this meeting, Wells expressed the Union’s desire to
allow the Contract to roll over in its entirety. The City charac-
terizes this as an “offer” on behalf of the Union to allow the
Contract to roll over. McQueen said that he would relay the
“offer” to decisionmakers and get back to Wells. McQueen
conveyed the Union’s desire to allow the Contract to roll over
to the City’s mayor and the city council’s law committee at its
next meeting.

In contrast to McQueen’s explanation of the February 27,
2014, exchange, Wells described the meeting as an informal
meeting to develop a working relationship for future negotia-
tions. Neither party mentioned written notice at the meeting.

The next contact was a brief telephone call on March 19,
2014. McQueen informed Wells that the City wanted to dis-
cuss three items: (1) the deferred option retirement plan, which
the parties refer to as “DROP”; (2) police cruisers’ being
taken home; and (3) a pension contribution by the Union of
$400,000. Wells indicated that he would relay the informa-
tion to the Union’s executive board and get back to McQueen.
McQueen testified that he understood his statements to Wells
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during this telephone call to be a counteroffer to an initial offer
by the Union to allow the Contract to roll over. Wells did not
mention written notice in this call. There was no further con-
tact between the Union and the City before April 1.

The next exchange was a breakfast meeting on April 11,
2014, to discuss rules and procedures for future negotiations.
The three items from the March 19 telephone call were dis-
cussed. The City claimed that it understood this discussion to
pertain to the 2014 calendar year, whereas the Union claimed
these discussions were to create a workable atmosphere for
negotiations for the 2015 calendar year. At this meeting, Wells
requested written notice to open negotiations, but did not spec-
ify the year to which those negotiations pertained.

The next contact was a telephone call on April 16, 2014,
wherein McQueen informed Wells that he had heard from a
fire union official that Wells had made comments regarding
the City’s failure to provide written notice. The parties did not
agree as to what statements were made during this conversa-
tion. McQueen testified that Wells reassured him that there
must have been a misunderstanding and that the Union was not
going to take the position that a rollover had occurred. Wells
testified that he never gave McQueen such assurances, but
also did not expressly state to McQueen that the Union did,
in fact, intend to invoke Article 47 to impose a rollover of the
Contract in its entirety for 2014.

On April 17, 2014, the City sent written notice via e-mail to
open negotiations. Wells informed McQueen that this language
was acceptable. This communication did not identify 2014 as
the year for which the Contract was being negotiated. The fol-
lowing day, the parties met to discuss rules for negotiation. No
mention of negotiations for 2015 was made in the record of
this meeting. The Union did not express its position that the
Contract had rolled over.

On May 6, 2014, McQueen attended as an observer of
a meeting between Wells, certain Union officers, and the
chief and deputy chief of police. At some point during the
meeting, the issue of taking police cruisers home arose.
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McQueen interjected that the City could implement that change
unilaterally.

Following this meeting, on May 15, 2014, the Union sent
the City a letter that the Contract had rolled over for the 2014
calendar year. This was the first time that the Union conveyed
its position definitively to the City. The Union claimed that
all negotiations were for 2015 and that any changes to the
Contract for 2014 would require a memorandum of under-
standing agreed to by both parties. The City claimed that
the exchanges beginning on February 27 were negotiations
for changes to the Contract and that both parties understood
these negotiations to be in regard to the 2014 calendar year. It
claimed that in the past, the City had conducted such negotia-
tions without written notice.

The Union filed a complaint against the City pursuant
to the Uniform Declaratory Judgments Act, Neb. Rev. Stat.
§ 25-21,149 et seq. (Reissue 2008). It requested that the dis-
trict court construe Article 47 to extend the Contract through
the 2014 calendar year and declare the rights and duties of the
parties. The Union claimed that the language of the Contract
provided a binding date for exchange of written notice to com-
mence negotiations. The Union also claimed that the City had
engaged in bad faith and requested attorney fees pursuant to
Neb. Rev. Stat. § 25-824 (Reissue 2008).

In its answer, the City asserted the defenses of equitable
estoppel and waiver. It claimed that the Union was estopped to
assert that the City did not provide written notice because of
statements made by Wells which led the City to believe such
written notice was not required. Additionally, the City claimed
that the Union had waived any such written notice require-
ments by engaging in negotiations both before and after April
1, 2014.

The City filed a counterclaim asserting that if the district
court agreed with the Union’s position, then the Contract had
also rolled forward to the end of 2015. It claimed that the
language of Article 47 required written notice by April 1 of



- 387 -

292 NEBRASKA REPORTS
OMAHA POLICE UNION LOCAL 101 v. CITY OF OMAHA
Cite as 292 Neb. 381

the year prior to whichever year was being modified. Thus, it
claimed that written notice was required by April 1, 2013, to
negotiate for 2014, and by April 1, 2014, to negotiate for 2015.
It claimed that if the court found that the Contract rolled over
for the 2014 calendar year, it must also find that it rolled for-
ward for the 2015 calendar year.

The district court rejected the City’s equitable defenses. It
also rejected the City’s interpretation regarding Article 47 that
would require written notice to be provided by April 1 of the
year prior to the year being negotiated. It found that in order
to negotiate for the 2014 calendar year, written notice was
required by April 1, 2014.

In rejecting the City’s estoppel defense, the court reasoned
that the City could not have detrimentally relied upon the
Union’s conduct in failing to provide written notice of intent
to negotiate. In the City’s pleadings and in the testimony of
McQueen, the mayor, and the City’s labor relations director,
the City showed its understanding of Article 47 was that writ-
ten notice was required by April 1, 2013—not April 1, 2014—
to prevent a rollover through 2014. Thus, at all operative times,
the City believed that the Contract had already rolled over in
its entirety pursuant to Article 47. Moreover, the court found
that the Union did not make a clear and unmistakable waiver
of Article 47.

The district court denied the Union’s request for attorney
fees. The parties timely appealed.

ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR
The City assigns, consolidated and restated, that the district
court erred in granting declaratory relief to the Union and
in denying the City’s equitable defenses. In its cross-appeal,
the Union claims that the district court erred in denying its
request for attorney fees.

ANALYSIS
We consider whether the district court erred in granting
judgment to the Union and in rejecting the City’s equitable
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defenses of waiver and estoppel. The parties do not dispute
that Article 47 required written notice of intent to open nego-
tiations by April 1, 2014, to prevent an automatic rollover and
that neither party provided such written notice by that date.
The issue is whether the Union was estopped to assert the pro-
vision of Article 47 or whether the Union waived the require-
ment of Article 47.

[3,4] In an appeal in equity, the reviewing court tries fac-
tual questions de novo on the record. See State ex rel. Dept.
of Health v. Jeffrey, 247 Neb. 100, 525 N.W.2d 193 (1994).
On appeal from an equity action, when credible evidence is in
conflict on material issues of fact, an appellate court considers
and may give weight to the fact that the trial court observed the
witnesses and accepted one version of the facts over another.
Twin Towers Condo. Assn. v. Bel Fury Invest. Group, 290 Neb.
329, 860 N.W.2d 147 (2015).

The City argues that because the district court did not make
specific findings regarding the credibility of the witnesses,
there is no factual determination to which this court may give
weight. This argument mischaracterizes the district court’s rul-
ing. In determining whether the Union’s conduct constituted a
waiver of Article 47 or whether the doctrine of equitable estop-
pel applied, the court necessarily relied upon the testimony of
the witnesses. The exchanges between the parties were either
face-to-face or via telephone conversations, and the court con-
sidered testimony from the witnesses to discern what transpired
during those conversations. Moreover, the witnesses typically
gave differing characterizations of the exchanges. Therefore,
in reaching its conclusions, the court determined the cred-
ibility of the witnesses and accepted one version of the facts
over another.

The City claims that declaratory judgment should have been
denied, because the Union participated in negotiations both
before and after April 1, 2014, and was therefore estopped to
claim the City failed to provide written notice or the Union
waived the requirements of Article 47.
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EQuiTABLE ESTOPPEL

[5,6] Equitable estoppel is a bar which precludes a party
from denying or asserting anything to the contrary of those
matters established as the truth by his or her own deeds, acts,
or representations. Berrington Corp. v. State, 277 Neb. 765,
765 N.W.2d 448 (2009). The doctrine applies where, as a
result of conduct of a party upon which another person has
in good faith relied to his or her detriment, the acting party is
absolutely precluded, both at law and in equity, from asserting
rights which might have otherwise existed. Burns v. Nielsen,
273 Neb. 724, 732 N.W.2d 640 (2007).

The elements of equitable estoppel are, as to the party
estopped: (1) conduct which amounts to a false representation
or concealment of material facts, or at least which is calculated
to convey the impression that the facts are otherwise than, and
inconsistent with, those which the party subsequently attempts
to assert; (2) the intention, or at least the expectation, that
such conduct shall be acted upon by, or influence, the other
party or other persons; and (3) knowledge, actual or construc-
tive, of the real facts. Farmington Woods Homeowners Assn.
v. Wolf, 284 Neb. 280, 817 N.W.2d 758 (2012). As to the
other party, the elements are: (1) lack of knowledge and of the
means of knowledge of the truth as to the facts in question; (2)
reliance, in good faith, upon the conduct or statements of the
party to be estopped; and (3) action or inaction based thereon
of such a character as to change the position or status of the
party claiming the estoppel, to his or her injury, detriment, or
prejudice. /d.

The City argues that the Union is estopped from asserting
the City’s noncompliance with Article 47, because the Union
engaged in negotiations to modify the Contract for 2014 both
before and after April 1, 2014, and asked for written notice
only after the deadline had passed. It claims the Union’s con-
duct induced the City into believing that the Union would
engage in negotiations without written notice and that, there-
fore, the City did not provide written notice as a result.
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The evidence showed that Wells told the City that the Union
intended to “stand by” the Contract and that it desired the
Contract to roll over. Moreover, the City understood Article
47 to require written notice by April 1, 2013, to prevent a roll-
over for the 2014 calendar year. Therefore, the City could not
have relied to its detriment on the Union’s actions beginning
in February 2014, in which it stated that it wanted the Contract
to extend through 2014.

There was considerable disagreement between the parties
concerning the exchanges between Wells and McQueen. Both
parties characterize the conversations differently. However,
even accepting the City’s characterization of the facts, it has
not shown that it reasonably relied to its detriment on the
Union’s conduct in allowing the April 1, 2014, deadline to pass.

The City asserted in its counterclaim that Article 47 required
that either party must give written notice of intent to modify
the contract on or before April 1 of the year during which
the contract expires. According to this interpretation, to open
negotiations for the 2014 calendar year, a party was obli-
gated to notify the other in writing of the desire to modify
the Contract prior to April 1, 2013. McQueen, the mayor, and
the City’s labor relations director all interpreted Article 47
in this manner. Consequently, the City believed that the time
to provide written notice to open negotiations for 2014 had
expired 11 months before the initial exchange at the meeting
on February 27, 2014, and more than a year before the City
provided written notice on April 17, 2014.

The district court rejected the City’s interpretation and held
that the deadline to provide written notice to negotiate for the
2014 calendar year was April 1, 2014. Because the City, as
shown by its pleadings and witness testimony, believed that
written notice for the 2014 calendar year had to be given by
April 1, 2013, the trial court did not err in concluding that the
City could not have detrimentally relied on Wells’ statements
during the meeting on February 27, 2014, or in the March 19
telephone call.
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The City claims that Wells did not inform McQueen prior
to April 1, 2014, that the Union desired written notice to pre-
vent the operative effect of Article 47. It suggests that this
inaction was deceptive in that it led the City to believe such
requirement had been waived. We reject this argument. Wells
was not under a duty to disclose the requirements of Article
47. Declining to expressly request that the City follow the
terms of Article 47 did not amount to a misrepresentation. At
the February 27 meeting, the Union informed the City that it
wanted the Contract to extend for another year. And at that
time, the City believed the time to provide written notice to
negotiate for 2014 had expired. We conclude that the City has
failed to establish the required elements of equitable estoppel.

WAIVER OF ARTICLE 47

We next consider whether the Union waived Article 47. The
City argues that the Union, through its conduct, waived the
requirement of written notice to open negotiations. It claims
that the parties engaged in negotiations before and after April
1, 2014, and that each party understood the negotiations to be
in regard to the 2014 calendar year. The Union asserts that it
did not clearly and unmistakably waive Article 47.

[7-10] A waiver is a voluntary and intentional relinquish-
ment or abandonment of a known existing legal right or such
conduct as warrants an inference of the relinquishment of
such right. Davenport Ltd. Partnership v. 75th & Dodge I,
L.P, 279 Neb. 615, 780 N.W.2d 416 (2010). To establish a
waiver of a legal right, there must be a clear, unequivocal,
and decisive act of a party showing such a purpose, or acts
amounting to an estoppel on his or her part. State ex rel.
Wagner v. Amwest Surety Ins. Co., 280 Neb. 729, 790 N.W.2d
866 (2010). A party may prove the waiver of a contract by
(1) a party’s express declarations manifesting the intent not
to claim an advantage or (2) a party’s neglecting and fail-
ing to act so as to induce the belief that it intended to waive.
D & S Realty v. Markel Ins. Co., 280 Neb. 567, 789 N.W.2d
1 (2010). The party asserting a waiver defense bears the
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burden of establishing that a clear and unmistakable waiver
has occurred. See Hogelin v. City of Columbus, 274 Neb. 453,
741 N.W.2d 617 (2007).

The City argues that the parties were negotiating despite
neither having provided the other with written notice and that,
therefore, the Union had waived Article 47. To support this
position, it cites to various points in the testimony of Wells and
McQueen to suggest that they both understood the exchanges
to be negotiations for 2014.

The Union argues that once the deadline passed, Wells and
its negotiators understood the subsequent exchanges to be on
a voluntary basis and would require a memorandum of under-
standing to implement any changes, or pertained to the 2015
calendar year. It claims that it never led the City to believe
written notice was not required. The district court found that
the Union did not wish to renegotiate the Contract for 2014,
but would agree to a memorandum of understanding with
respect to the “take home car” issue.

Although the parties focus much on the events after April
1, 2014, our decision hinges on the two exchanges prior to
April 1. These exchanges occurred in a face-to-face meeting
on February 27 and in a brief telephone conversation on March
19. The City inferred that these exchanges negated the written
notice requirement of Article 47. We consider the subsequent
exchanges between the parties only to the extent that they
demonstrate whether Article 47 was clearly and unmistakably
waived in either of the meetings prior to April 1.

The parties agree that during the February meeting, Wells
conveyed to McQueen the Union’s desire to allow the Contract
to roll over in its entirety by neither party sending notice. The
City claims that this was an “offer” which commenced nego-
tiations. However, in a meeting between the parties on May
18, 2014, McQueen refers to this as a “suggestion” to roll the
Contract over, which surprised McQueen.

Whether the City refers to this communication as an “offer”
or an expression of the Union’s desire, it did not have the
effect of clearly and unmistakably waiving the requirements
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of Article 47. A waiver would be against the interest of the
Union, which wanted the Contract to extend through 2014.
Moreover, Wells informed McQueen that he was unable to
agree to anything without review from his executive board.
Thus, beyond his communication of the Union’s position that
it desired the contract to extend through 2014, Wells did not
suggest at the February meeting that the Union had waived
Article 47. It would be absurd to hold that the Union’s expres-
sion of its desire to allow the Contract to roll over was, in
fact, a waiver of Article 47’s operative effect. Nor does the
record support that such “offer” was intended to lull the City
into inaction.

The only other contact between the parties prior to April
1, 2014, was on March 19. This was a brief telephone con-
versation between Wells and McQueen. Wells and McQueen
testified this conversation was in response to the February
discussion. The conversation occurred while Wells was at an
airport and picking up his luggage. Wells stated that McQueen
informed him that the City would allow a rollover if they could
discuss the three issues (take-home cars, the interest rate of the
DROP program, and additional pension contribution).

Although McQueen testified that this was a “counteroffer”
and that its conditions must be met for the City to otherwise
allow the remainder of the Contract to roll over, the City did
not memorialize or confirm this communication in a subse-
quent writing. For the sake of recordkeeping, this is inexpli-
cable. McQueen testified he understood the exchanges to this
point to be that the Union offered to allow a rollover and that
the City counteroffered for the three conditions.

Wells testified he understood McQueen’s statements to mean
that the City desired some changes to allow a rollover. He
again stated to McQueen that he could not agree unilaterally
to anything and that any change would need to be approved
through the executive board. He did not expressly state that the
Union had waived or intended to waive Article 47.

Beyond McQueen’s testimony regarding this brief telephone
conversation, we find no indication in the record that the
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Union clearly and unmistakably waived Article 47. On the
contrary, it appears that such unilateral waiver would have
exceeded Wells’ negotiating authority and been detrimental
to the Union’s intent to allow the Contract to roll over in
its entirety. The record including the telephone call does not
establish that the Union waived the required written notice.

The next meeting between the parties was on April 11, 2014,
10 days after the deadline to provide written notice had passed.
The parties discussed the three issues which McQueen brought
to Wells’ attention in the March 19 telephone conversation. The
parties also discussed rules and protocol for negotiations. Wells
provided McQueen a copy of what had been used in prior
negotiations. Neither party stated to what year these rules and
protocols would apply.

Later that day, McQueen had a conversation with a fire
union official who informed him that Wells told the fire union
official that the City had made a serious mistake by not send-
ing written notice. In an April 16, 2014, conversation between
Wells and McQueen, Wells did not specifically tell McQueen
that the Union intended to take the position that the Contract
had rolled over.

On April 17, 2014, written notice was sent by McQueen and
accepted by Wells. Inexplicably, neither party specified the
year to which the notice applied. The parties met the follow-
ing day. The minutes of that meeting do not state which year
the parties were discussing, nor do they discuss the Contract
rollover or Article 47. The minutes indicate that the parties
discussed only the three issues McQueen raised on March 19.
Both Wells and McQueen signed off on the minutes. In an
April 18 e-mail, Wells stated: “We are getting underway on our
negotiations with the City. . . . We are discussing some unre-
solved issues before we get started on overall negotiations.”
Again, there is no reference to a year for which the parties
were negotiating.

On May 6, 2014, the parties met to discuss the issues, but
again did not specify the year. The Union did not expressly
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communicate that the Contract had rolled over, nor did it
expressly waive Article 47. Nor did the City state its position
that the Union had waived Article 47 and that the parties were
negotiating for the 2014 calendar year.

We conclude that the City did not meet its burden to show
the Union waived Article 47 regarding the 2014 calendar year.
Undoubtedly, the exchanges between Wells and McQueen led
to ambiguity and misunderstanding between the parties, but
ambiguity is not the standard for waiver of a contractual right.
The purported waiver must be clear and unmistakable. The
record does not show that the Union’s conduct rose to the level
of a waiver of Article 47.

Nor did the Union’s conduct in tacitly allowing the City to
fail to meet the deadline to provide written notice amount to
a waiver of such written notice. Wells had no duty to inform
McQueen that the Union required written notice to open nego-
tiations. The plain language of Article 47 served that purpose.
And we find no indication that the Union’s conduct induced
the City into believing that the Union had waived the written
notice requirement.

Further foreclosing on the City’s argument that the Union’s
conduct waived Article 47 was the City’s belief, nearly a year
prior to the initial meeting between Wells and McQueen, that
the Contract was extended through 2014. Based on the City’s
understanding of Article 47, the City should have believed that
the Union was negotiating for 2015. If the City interpreted
Article 47 to require written notice by April 1, 2013, to open
negotiations for 2014, by the time it issued its “counteroffer”
to the Union on March 19, 2014, the supposed deadline had
been expired for nearly a year. It would be unreasonable for the
City to believe that the Union waived Article 47 nearly a year
after April 1, 2013, despite the Union’s express statement that
it wanted the Contract to roll over to 2014.

In support of its waiver defense, the City relied upon Hornig
v. Martel Lift Systems, 258 Neb. 764, 606 N.W.2d 764 (2000).
In that case, we affirmed a district court’s order vacating the
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dismissal of an action and reinstating it under the court’s inher-
ent equitable authority. The action had been dismissed on April
1, 1997. In January 1998, the appellants refused to stipulate to
a reinstatement. The appellants argued that the appellees failed
to exercise due diligence in seeking reinstatement and, there-
fore, were not entitled to reinstatement. However, we noted the
appellees had continued to participate in discovery, including
participating in depositions and sending substantial amounts of
materials to the appellees. Moreover, it rescheduled the depo-
sition of its own expert numerous times. In January 1998, the
appellants’ counsel took advantage of the situation which he
helped create by refusing to stipulate to reinstatement.

We concluded that although the appellees’ counsel perhaps
should have been more zealous, we could not condone the
appellants’ apparent strategy of “I gotcha.” We held: “When
the equities are balanced in this case, it is clear that appel-
lants’ ‘I go[t]cha’ tactic entitled the [appellees] to equitable
relief. To conclude otherwise would be to reward appellants
for taking advantage of a situation which they helped create.”
Id. at 775, 606 N.W.2d at 772. Given the appellants’ conduct,
we found that it was reasonable for the appellees to believe
the appellants would stipulate to a reinstatement. Thus, we
concluded that the appellants’ conduct prevented them from
benefiting under the maxim that “equity aids the diligent,
not those who sleep on their rights.” Id. at 771, 606 N.W.2d
at 770.

We do not find the case at bar to be analogous to Hornig.
Whereas in Hornig, the appellants’ sustained participation in
extensive discovery was unequivocally inconsistent with a
position that it would not stipulate to a reinstatement of the
case, we find no such conduct here. The clear and unmistak-
able conduct in Hornig clearly lulled the appellees into repose
on diligently and timely seeking such reinstatement. Here, the
City could not have been reasonably lulled into repose by the
Union’s expression on February 27, 2014, that it intended to
allow the Contract to roll over. Nor do we find that McQueen’s
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oral “counteroffer” during the telephone call on March 19
could have reasonably led the City to believe the Union was
waiving Article 47. The record shows none of the unequivocal
and documented conduct that existed in Hornig.

[11] To be entitled to equitable relief from a judgment, a
party must show that the situation is not due to his or her
fault, neglect, or carelessness. State on behalf of L.L.B. v. Hill,
268 Neb. 355, 682 N.W.2d 709 (2004). In this case, neither
party clearly expressed its statements in the meetings and
communications prior to May 15, 2014. By including Article
47 in the Contract, the parties intended to prevent ambiguity
concerning one party’s intentions by requiring written notice.
As the party desiring to modify the Contract, the City had the
duty to provide such written notice. The record does not show
that the conversations between Wells and McQueen prior to
April 1 justified the City’s belief that it did not need to comply
with Article 47. The Union’s stated intention was to allow the
Contract to extend for another year.

ATTORNEY FEES
Finally, we conclude that the district court did not abuse
its discretion in ordering the parties to pay their own attorney
fees. The City failed to meet its burden of showing its equi-
table defenses. But the City’s interpretation of the Union’s
conduct was not so wholly without merit as to be frivolous or
in bad faith.

CONCLUSION
For the reasons stated above, we affirm the order of the
district court granting declaratory judgment to the Union and
ordering the parties to pay their own attorney fees.
AFFIRMED.
MILLER-LERMAN, J., not participating.
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Constitutional Law: Attorney and Client: Appeal and Error. Whether
a state intrusion into the attorney-client relationship should constitute a
per se violation of the Sixth Amendment and the action that a court
should take when it becomes aware of such an intrusion present ques-
tions of law that an appellate court reviews de novo.

Constitutional Law: Criminal Law: Right to Counsel. The Sixth
Amendment to the U.S. Constitution guarantees every criminal defend-
ant the right to effective assistance of counsel. The right to counsel
exists to protect the fundamental right to a fair trial.

Constitutional Law: Attorney and Client: Effectiveness of Counsel.
A defendant’s ability to keep privileged communications with coun-
sel insulated from the prosecution also protects the defendant’s Sixth
Amendment right to effective assistance of counsel.

Constitutional Law: Attorney and Client. The essence of the Sixth
Amendment right is privacy of communication with counsel.
Constitutional Law: Attorney and Client: Right to Counsel. Although
the attorney-client privilege has not been recognized as a right guaran-
teed by the Sixth Amendment, government interference in the confi-
dential relationship between a defendant and his or her attorney can
implicate the Sixth Amendment right to counsel.

Attorneys at Law: Conflict of Interest: Appeal and Error. The
principles governing appellate review for a defense attorney’s potential
conflicts of interest also apply to potential disclosures of a defendant’s
privileged communications to the State.

Constitutional Law: Trial: Appeal and Error. When a trial court
learns of facts that make a potential Sixth Amendment violation appar-
ent, the issue is properly presented to an appellate court on appeal, even
if it was not raised at trial.
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8. Trial: Attorney and Client: Presumptions. A presumption of preju-
dice arises when the State becomes privy to a defendant’s confidential
trial strategy.

9. : . The presumption of prejudice that arises when the
State becomes privy to a defendant’s confidential trial strategy is rebut-
table—at least when the State did not deliberately intrude into the
attorney-client relationship.

10. Actions: Proof. The standard of proof functions to instruct fact finders
about the degree of confidence our society believes they should have in
the correctness of their factual conclusions for a particular type of adju-
dication. It serves to allocate the risk of error between the litigants and
to indicate the relative importance attached to the ultimate decision.

11. Constitutional Law: Proof. In cases involving individual rights,
whether criminal or civil, the principle consideration in determining the
proper standard of proof is whether the standard minimally reflects the
value society places on individual liberty, because the function of legal
process is to minimize the risk of erroneous decisions.

12. Trial: Presumptions: Proof. When a presumption of prejudice arises
because the State has obtained a defendant’s confidential trial strategy,
the State must prove by clear and convincing evidence that the defend-
ant was not prejudiced by the disclosure.

13. Trial: Evidence: Proof. When a court is presented with evidence that
the State has become privy to a defendant’s confidential trial strategy, it
must sua sponte conduct an evidentiary hearing that requires the State to
prove the defendant was not prejudiced by the disclosure and that pro-
vides the defendant with an opportunity to challenge the State’s proof.

Appeal from the District Court for Custer County: KARIN L.
NoAKEs, Judge. Reversed and vacated.

James Martin Davis, of Davis Law Office, for appellant.

Douglas J. Peterson, Attorney General, and James D. Smith
for appellee.

HEeavican, C.J., WRIGHT, CONNOLLY, MCCORMACK, MILLER-
LErRMAN, and CASsEL, JJ., and IRwIN, Judge.

CoNNOLLY, J.
I. SUMMARY
A jury found the appellant, Tyler C. Bain, guilty of four
felonies stemming from his assaults of his former wife



- 400 -

292 NEBRASKA REPORTS
STATE v. BAIN
Cite as 292 Neb. 398

with whom he was living: kidnapping, first degree sexual
assault, second degree assault, and making terroristic threats.
Regarding the kidnapping conviction, the court found that
statutory mitigating circumstances did not exist. It convicted
Bain of a Class IA felony for kidnapping and sentenced him
to life imprisonment.

Bain contends that the State violated his Sixth Amendment
right to counsel because at least five prosecutors had pos-
session of his confidential trial strategy before his trial. We
conclude that when Bain’s confidential trial strategy was dis-
closed to prosecuting attorneys, a rebuttable presumption arose
that Bain’s trial was tainted by a Sixth Amendment violation.
Because the court’s remedy was insufficient to rebut this pre-
sumption and ensure that Bain received a fair trial, we reverse
the judgment and vacate Bain’s convictions. And because we
vacate Bain’s convictions, we do not consider his other assign-
ments of error.

II. BACKGROUND

Bain’s Sixth Amendment claim stems from a series of pros-
ecutors who saw confidential communications between Bain
and his originally retained counsel. The disclosure disqualified
them from prosecuting because the communications discussed
Bain’s trial strategy. The actual communications are not in the
record because the court failed to conduct an evidentiary hear-
ing or receive the communications as evidence.

In January 2012, Bain appeared in district court for an
arraignment on the State’s amended charges. Rodney Palmer,
his retained counsel, appeared with him. In March, Bain moved
the court to appoint Palmer as his counsel because Palmer was
familiar with his case and Bain had depleted his assets. At the
hearing, the deputy county attorney, Glenn Clark, objected that
Palmer’s appointment would force the county to pay Palmer’s
travel time and expenses. The court overruled the motion
because Palmer was currently representing Bain.

About a month later, at an April 2012 hearing on Palmer’s
motion to withdraw, Clark stated, in response to the court’s
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question, that his office had no objection to Palmer’s with-
drawal. The court then asked Steven Bowers, an attorney who
was present in the courtroom, whether he had any conflict in
representing Bain. When Bowers said no, the court appointed
him because “[h]e is a local attorney and you [Bain] can meet
with him today.”

Later, in September 2012, after representing Bain for 5
months, Bowers moved to withdraw as Bain’s counsel because
he had been hired by the Custer County Attorney’s office.
At the hearing, Clark informed the court that someone from
the Attorney General’s office would prosecute the charges.
Later that month, the court appointed P. Stephen Potter from
Gothenburg, Nebraska, to represent Bain.

About 2 months after Bowers moved to withdraw, in
November 2012, the court allowed the county attorney and
deputy attorneys to withdraw because of the conflict created
by the county attorney’s hiring of Bowers. Clark reported
that he had given the county attorney’s case files to the
Attorney General’s office. The court appointed attorneys from
the Attorney General’s office to prosecute.

Eight months later, in August 2013, the court heard a motion
from Matt Lierman, an assistant attorney general, to allow that
office’s attorneys to withdraw as prosecutors because of a con-
flict of interest. Lierman informed the court that while going
through the discovery materials that he had received from the
county attorney’s office, he saw confidential communications
between Bain and Palmer, Bain’s original attorney. Lierman
reported that he had sealed the confidential documents in a
tamper-proof envelope so that no one else could access them,
and he asked the court to keep them sealed. The court sus-
tained his motion to withdraw. As stated, the confidential com-
munications are not part of this record.

On August 29, 2013, the court appointed Shawn Eatherton
as special prosecutor. But on September 6, the court entered an
order stating that it had conducted a telephonic hearing with
Eatherton and found that Eatherton had a conflict of interest. It
appointed Lynelle Homolka as special prosecutor.
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About a month later, the court conducted a recorded tel-
ephonic hearing with Homolka, Bain, and Potter after Homolka
notified the court that she might also have a conflict. Homolka
said that while reviewing the materials provided by the Custer
County Attorney, she had found “what I suspected to be con-
fidential statements and general communications that could
reveal among other things that I believe would be the defend-
ant’s trial strategy.” Potter said he had seen the materials and
agreed that Homolka had seen confidential information and had
a duty to withdraw.

The court sustained Homolka’s motion to withdraw, but it
appointed her as an expert and directed her to separate the
privileged information in her possession so that “this doesn’t
occur again.” The court further directed that after sorting the
materials, Homolka should give them to Potter so that he and
Bain could “make sure that nothing gets into the State’s hands
this time that shouldn’t be.” The court directed Potter to con-
sult with Homolka and to ask for an in camera hearing if any
further disputes arose over the State’s materials. After review-
ing the State’s materials, the court directed Potter to forward
the case file to the new prosecutor, minus any confidential
or privileged information. On September 27, 2013, the court
appointed John Marsh as special prosecutor.

In October 2013, the court heard Marsh’s motion for a
continuance. At the hearing, Potter told the court that he had
received a box of materials from Homolka and had gone
through the box and the packet of “excluded evidence.” He
had removed the excluded packet and intended to deliver the
remaining materials to Marsh that day.

About 4 months later, with Marsh representing the State and
Potter representing Bain, the court impaneled a jury. The State
tried Bain on the following charges: kidnapping, first degree
sexual assault, second degree assault, terroristic threats, and
use of a deadly weapon to commit a felony. The jury found
Bain guilty of kidnapping, first degree sexual assault, second
degree assault, and making terroristic threats. It acquitted him
of using a deadly weapon to commit a felony.
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After accepting these verdicts, the court found that no miti-
gating circumstances existed to reduce a kidnapping convic-
tion from a Class IA felony to a Class II felony. It sentenced
Bain to life imprisonment for kidnapping. Consecutive to his
life sentence, the court sentenced Bain to aggregate concur-
rent sentences of 20 to 25 years’ imprisonment for first degree
sexual assault, second degree assault, and making terroris-
tic threats.

III. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

Bain assigns that the State violated his Sixth Amendment
right to effective assistance of counsel—including his right to
confidential communications with his counsel and the right to
have appointment of trial counsel without the interference of
the prosecutor. He also assigns that the court erred in failing
to find the presence of mitigating factors under the kidnap-
ping statute, Neb. Rev. Stat. § 28-313(3) (Reissue 2008),
and convicting him of a Class IA felony under § 28-313(2).
He contends the evidence was insufficient to support that
conviction.

IV. STANDARD OF REVIEW

[1] We are asked to decide whether a prosecutor’s undisputed
possession of a defendant’s confidential trial strategy should
constitute a per se violation of the Sixth Amendment—even
if the court later appointed a different attorney to prosecute.
Whether a state intrusion into the attorney-client relationship
should constitute a per se violation of the Sixth Amendment
and the action that a court should take when it becomes aware
of such an intrusion present questions of law that we review
de novo.

V. ANALSYIS

1. PARTIES’ CONTENTIONS
Bain contends that the State’s intrusion into his confi-
dential communications with his defense counsel is a Sixth
Amendment violation that is presumptively prejudicial and
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requires dismissal of the charges. He argues that the court’s
order that required a disqualified prosecutor to sort through the
case file to identify and remove privileged communications did
not cure the presumed prejudice. He argues that the State has
the burden to prove the absence of prejudice from this type of
violation and that it would be impossible for a court to deter-
mine whether prosecutors had planned their strategies, gath-
ered evidence, and prepped witnesses from their knowledge of
Bain’s defense strategies.

The State argues that Bain’s Sixth Amendment claims fail
because (1) he never raised a Sixth Amendment violation to
the trial court; (2) the prosecution did not intentionally obtain
Bain’s confidential information; (3) Marsh, the special pros-
ecutor who tried the case, never received any communication
of Bain’s defense strategy; and (4) the State used no tainted
evidence in the trial.

2. AN APPARENT SIXTH AMENDMENT VIOLATION
BASED ON THE STATE’S INTRUSION INTO THE
ATTORNEY-CLIENT RELATIONSHIP CAN BE
PROPERLY RAISED ON APPEAL

[2] Initially, we reject the State’s argument that Bain’s Sixth
Amendment claim fails because he did not raise it to the trial
court. The Sixth Amendment to the U.S. Constitution guaran-
tees every criminal defendant the right to effective assistance
of counsel.! The right to counsel exists to protect the funda-
mental right to a fair trial.?

Courts have recognized that two unrelated Sixth Amendment
violations have a significant potential to deprive a defendant
of effective assistance of counsel: (1) a defense counsel’s con-
flict of interest in representing a defendant and (2) a govern-
ment intrusion into a defendant’s confidential communications

! State v. Narcisse, 260 Neb. 55, 615 N.W.2d 110 (2000).

2 See, e.g., Lockhart v. Fretwell, 506 U.S. 364, 113 S. Ct. 838, 122 L. Ed.
2d 180 (1993); Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 104 S. Ct. 2052,
80 L. Ed. 2d 674 (1984).
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with his counsel about trial strategy. Courts have more often
discussed when an appellate court will review a claim that a
defense counsel was operating under a conflict of interest for
the first time on appeal. Because we conclude that the same
appellate review principles should apply to claims of state
intrusions into privileged communications, we first discuss
the principles that courts have applied in conflict of inter-
est cases.

As implied, the Sixth Amendment guarantees the right to
representation that is free from conflicts of interest.> To pro-
tect this right, a trial court must hold a hearing and inquire
into a defense counsel’s potential conflict of interest when
the court knows or reasonably should know that a particular
conflict exists, even in the absence of an objection.* And if a
trial court had a duty to inquire because a potential conflict
was apparent, an appellate court has discretion to consider the
issue and remand a cause for a hearing into the matter. This
is true even if the defendant did not raise the issue.’ Also, a
defendant can raise his or her attorney’s conflict of interest for
the first time on appeal if the defendant shows that an actual
conflict existed and that it adversely affected the attorney’s
performance.®

[3-6] In an adversarial system of justice, a defendant’s
ability to keep privileged communications with counsel insu-
lated from the prosecution also protects the defendant’s Sixth
Amendment right to effective assistance of counsel. Many
federal and state courts have recognized that “the essence of

3 See, e.g., State v. Edwards, 284 Neb. 382, 821 N.W.2d 680 (2012); State
v. Schlund, 249 Neb. 173, 542 N.W.2d 421 (1996).

4 See, Wheat v. United States, 486 U.S. 153, 108 S. Ct. 1692, 100 L. Ed. 2d
140 (1988); Wood v. Georgia, 450 U.S. 261, 101 S. Ct. 1097, 67 L. Ed. 2d
220 (1981); Cuyler v. Sullivan, 446 U.S. 335, 100 S. Ct. 1708, 64 L. Ed.
2d 333 (1980); State v. Aldaco, 271 Neb. 160, 710 N.W.2d 101 (2006);
State v. Hudson, 208 Neb. 649, 305 N.W.2d 359 (1981).

> See Wood, supra note 4.
¢ See, e.g., Edwards, supra note 3, citing Cuyler, supra note 4.
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the Sixth Amendment right is, indeed, privacy of communica-
tion with counsel.”” We agree. It is true that courts have not
recognized the attorney-client privilege as a right guaranteed
by the Sixth Amendment. But government interference in the
confidential relationship between a defendant and his or her
attorney can implicate the Sixth Amendment right to counsel.®
So we conclude that the principles governing appellate review
for a defense attorney’s potential conflicts of interest also apply
to potential disclosures of a defendant’s privileged communica-
tions to the State.

[7] Here, the court knew that the disqualified prosecutors
had reviewed Bain’s confidential trial strategy. As we will
explain more fully, the State’s knowledge of that strategy was
sufficient to require an evidentiary hearing into whether the
State had violated Bain’s right to counsel and, if so, the appro-
priate remedy. Because the court had learned of facts that made
a potential Sixth Amendment violation apparent, the issue is
properly presented to us on appeal, even if it was not raised
at trial.

3. FEDERAL AND STATE DECISIONS RECOGNIZE AN INHERENT
UNFAIRNESS IN THE GOVERNMENT’S POSSESSION
OF A DEFENDANT’S TRIAL STRATEGY

(a) U.S. Supreme Court Precedent
Our starting point is Weatherford v. Bursey.” There, the U.S.
Supreme Court considered a civil rights action in which the

7 United States v. Rosner, 485 F.2d 1213, 1224 (2d Cir. 1973), citing
Glasser v. United States, 315 U.S. 60, 62 S. Ct. 457, 86 L. Ed. 680 (1942).
Accord, e.g., U.S. v. Dyer, 821 F.2d 35 (1st Cir. 1987); United States v.
Brugman, 655 F.2d 540 (4th Cir. 1981); United States v. Levy, 577 F.2d
200 (3d Cir. 1978); People v. Knippenberg, 66 111. 2d 276, 362 N.E.2d 681,
6 111. Dec. 46 (1977). See, also, Weatherford v. Bursey, 429 U.S. 545, 97 S.
Ct. 837, 51 L. Ed. 2d 30 (1977).

§ See, e.g., Howell v. Trammell, 728 F.3d 1202 (10th Cir. 2013); Clutchette
V. Rushen, 770 F.2d 1469 (9th Cir. 1985).

° Weatherford, supra note 7.
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plaintiff, Bursey, alleged that a state undercover agent had
violated his Sixth Amendment right to counsel by participating
in discussions between Bursey and his attorney. The agent had
ostensibly participated in a crime with Bursey and was arrested
with him. Later, posing as a codefendant to maintain his cover,
he agreed to meet with Bursey and his attorney before trial.
The agent said that he would ask for a separate trial and would
not testify against Bursey. Although the agent had not planned
to testify, after he was seen with the police, the prosecutor
decided to call him. The agent testified about his undercover
work but not about any information that he had learned from
the attorney-client discussions. No evidence showed that the
agent had provided Bursey’s trial strategy to his superiors or to
the prosecution.

The majority rejected the Fourth Circuit’s per se rule that
an undercover agent cannot meet with a defendant’s counsel
without violating the Sixth Amendment. Under that per se
rule, whenever the prosecution knowingly arranged or permit-
ted an intrusion into the attorney-client relationship, the right
to counsel would have been sufficiently threatened to require
reversal and a new trial. And the per se rule would have
applied regardless of the government’s purpose and without
a showing of prejudice to the defense. In reversing, the U.S.
Supreme Court was concerned that the Fourth Circuit’s per se
rule would effectively expose undercover agents because they
would always have to refuse requests to attend meetings with
defense counsel.'

Instead, the Court emphasized two facts. First, the agent
had been placed in an awkward position by the request to
meet with defense counsel and had not purposefully obtained
Bursey’s trial strategy. Second, he had not communicated it
to the prosecutor or his staff.!' It concluded its previous cases
at most showed that when a conversation with counsel has
been overheard,

19 See id.
1 rd.
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the constitutionality of the conviction depends on whether
the overheard conversations have produced, directly or
indirectly, any of the evidence offered at trial. This is a
far cry from the per se rule announced by the Court of
Appeals below, for under that rule trial prejudice to the
defendant is deemed irrelevant.'?
But the U.S. Supreme Court suggested four factual circum-
stances that strongly indicate a Sixth Amendment violation:
[1] Had [the agent] testified at Bursey’s trial as to the
conversation between Bursey and [his attorney]; [2] had
any of the State’s evidence originated in these conversa-
tions; [3] had those overheard conversations been used in
any other way to the substantial detriment of Bursey; or
even [4] had the prosecution learned from [the agent] the
details of the [attorney-client] conversations about trial
preparations, Bursey would have a much stronger case."
In Weatherford, the government did not violate the defend-
ant’s right to counsel because “[n]one of these elements
[were] present . . . .”" “[Ulnless [the agent] communi-
cated the substance of the [attorney-client] conversations
and thereby created at least a realistic possibility of injury
to Bursey or benefit to the State, there can be no Sixth
Amendment violation.”"® This realistic threat of injury means
that actual prejudice need not be shown; a substantial threat
of prejudice is sufficient. Specifically, because the district
court found that the information the agent obtained had not
been communicated,
he posed no substantial threat to Bursey’s Sixth
Amendment rights. Nor do we believe that federal or
state prosecutors will be so prone to lie or the difficul-
ties of proof will be so great that we must always assume

2 Id., 429 U.S. at 552.
3 1d., 429 U.S. at 554.
4 1d., 429 U.S. at 555.
15 1d., 429 U.S. at 558.
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not only that an informant communicates what he learns
from an encounter with the defendant and his counsel
but also that what he communicates has the potential
for detriment to the defendant or benefit to the prosecu-
tor’s case.'®

But Weatherford left open significant questions regarding
the contours of the right to counsel free from government
intrusions. The Court did not decide whether a per se violation
could be appropriate for some government conduct.

Later, the U.S. Supreme Court considered the appropri-
ate remedy for the government’s deliberate intrusion into the
attorney-client relationship when the intrusion did not prejudice
the defendant’s representation. In United States v. Morrison,"
federal drug agents met with the defendant twice without her
attorney’s knowledge even though they knew she had retained
counsel. They sought her cooperation, disparaged her attorney,
and suggested that she would face stiffer penalties if she did
not cooperate. But she did not cooperate or provide them with
any incriminating information about herself or her case, and
she kept the same attorney.

The Third Circuit had concluded that this conduct violated
the defendant’s right to counsel, even if the violation had not
tangibly affected her representation. It dismissed the indict-
ment with prejudice. The U.S. Supreme Court unanimously
reversed, but it declined to address the government’s argument
that no Sixth Amendment violation occurs unless its conduct
prejudices the defendant. Instead, it assumed that the gov-
ernment had violated the Sixth Amendment but held that the
Third Circuit had erred in dismissing the indictment: “[ A]bsent
demonstrable prejudice, or substantial threat thereof, dismissal
of the indictment is plainly inappropriate, even though the vio-
lation may have been deliberate.”!®

16 1d., 429 U.S. at 556-57.

7" United States v. Morrison, 449 U.S. 361, 101 S. Ct. 665, 66 L. Ed. 2d 564
(1981).

B Id., 449 U.S. at 365.
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The Court stated that the remedies for Sixth Amendment
violations should be tailored to the injury suffered. So unless
“the constitutional infringement identified has had or threat-
ens some adverse effect upon the effectiveness of counsel’s
representation or has produced some other prejudice to the
defense . . . there is no basis for imposing a remedy in that
proceeding.”' As with violations of the Fourth and Fifth
Amendments, the “remedy in the criminal proceeding is lim-
ited to denying the prosecution the fruits of its transgression.”?
Because the defendant had not demonstrated any “transitory or
permanent” prejudice, the government’s violation did not jus-
tify interfering in the proceedings.?!

So Morrison clarified that dismissing a charge is a drastic
remedy for a Sixth Amendment violation absent a show-
ing of actual prejudice or a substantial threat of prejudice to
the defendant’s representation. As noted, however, the Court
declined to reach the government’s contention that a showing
of prejudice would be needed to establish a Sixth Amendment
violation. So Morrison “left open the possibility that the
Court might adopt a per se standard for those state invasions
of the lawyer-client relationship that are not supported by
any legitimate state motivation.””> After the Court decided
Weatherford and Morrison, other federal and state courts
carved out a court’s duty if the facts showed that investigators
or a prosecutor obtained a defendant’s privileged attorney-
client communications.

(b) Federal Courts of Appeals Decisions
The Sixth Circuit has held that if a prosecutor obtains privi-
leged communications and uses that information at trial to the
defendant’s detriment, the prosecutor’s conduct violates the

Y 1d.
2 Id., 449 U.S. at 366.
2.

22 3 Wayne R. LaFave et al., Criminal Procedure § 11.8(b) at 848-49 (3d ed.
2007).
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Sixth Amendment.”® Even though the prosecutor had not pur-
posely obtained the information, he had used it to impeach the
defendant at trial. The court reasoned that the use of tainted
evidence—“i.e., evidence obtained as a result of the intru-
sion”—is sufficient to demonstrate prejudice and require a
new trial.** Because the government used the information to
the defendant’s detriment, the court did not consider whether
state intrusions are a Sixth Amendment violation even without
a showing of prejudice.

Later, the Tenth Circuit went further in a case in which the
prosecutor intentionally learned about a defendant’s trial prep-
arations and used the information at trial. It held that a state’s
purposeful intrusion into privileged communications is a per se
Sixth Amendment violation, for which prejudice is presumed:
“[W]e hold that when the state becomes privy to confidential
communications because of its purposeful intrusion into the
attorney-client relationship and lacks a legitimate justification
for doing so, a prejudicial effect on the reliability of the trial
process must be presumed.”

It is true that statements from other federal appellate courts
similarly suggest that a court would treat a state’s inten-
tional intrusion differently than an unintentional one.?® But
these courts also emphasized that neither the investigating
officers nor the prosecutor received information relevant to
the defendant’s trial strategy.”’ Either of those facts should
alert a trial court to the threat that the State could have
used confidential information to the defendant’s detriment.
As the U.S. Supreme Court stated in Weatherford, a Sixth
Amendment violation is strongly indicated when a prosecutor

2 See Bishop v. Rose, 701 F.2d 1150 (6th Cir. 1983).
2 Id. at 1156.
2 See Shillinger v. Haworth, 70 F.3d 1132, 1142 (10th Cir. 1995).

% See, U.S. v. Davis, 226 F.3d 346 (5th Cir. 2000); United States v. Ginsberg,
758 F.2d 823 (2d Cir. 1985); United States v. Costanzo, 740 F.2d 251 (3d
Cir. 1984).

27 See id.
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knows the details of a defendant’s trial strategy or the State
uses a defendant’s confidential information in any way to the
defendant’s detriment.?®
So if an investigating officer or a prosecutor receives a
defendant’s confidential trial strategy, the probability of preju-
dice from a Sixth Amendment violation is much higher than
with other types of state intrusions into the attorney-client
relationship. Accordingly, the District of Columbia Circuit
presumed prejudice where the evidence showed that the gov-
ernment’s intrusion into a client-attorney relationship resulted
in the defendants’ trial strategy’s being disclosed to the pros-
ecutor.”” The court explained that the right to counsel protects
a broader range of interests than the outcome of a trial: “for
example, the possibilities of a lesser charge, a lighter sentence,
or the alleviation of ‘the practical burdens of a trial.””” It
concluded that because the prosecution makes a “host of dis-
cretionary and judgmental decisions,” neither an appellant nor
a court could ever sort out how a prosecutor had made use of a
defendant’s confidential trial strategy.’! Thus, a defendant need
not prove that the prosecution actually used such confidential
information in its possession:
Mere possession by the prosecution of otherwise confi-
dential knowledge about the defense’s strategy or posi-
tion is sufficient in itself to establish detriment to the
criminal defendant. Such information is “inherently det-
rimental, . . . unfairly advantage[s] the prosecution, and
threaten[s] to subvert the adversary system of justice.”
Further, once the investigatory arm of the government has
obtained information, that information may reasonably be
assumed to have been passed on to other governmental
organs responsible for prosecution. Such a presumption

38 See Weatherford, supra note 7.

» See Briggs v. Goodwin, 698 F.2d 486 (D.C. Cir. 1983), vacated on other
grounds 712 F.2d 1444.

30 Id. at 494.
3 d.
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merely reflects the normal high level of formal and infor-
mal cooperation which exists between the two arms of
the executive.*

The Third Circuit agreed that a trial was presumptively
tainted in a case in which investigating officers and the pros-
ecutor received a defendant’s confidential trial strategy:

We think that the inquiry into prejudice must stop at
the point where attorney-client confidences are actu-
ally disclosed to the government enforcement agencies
responsible for investigating and prosecuting the case.
Any other rule would disturb the balance implicit in the
adversary system and thus would jeopardize the very
process by which guilt and innocence are determined in
our society.*
Because the trial had already taken place, the court concluded
that the “disclosed information” was already in the public
domain and that a dismissal of the indictment was the only
appropriate remedy.**

And the First and Ninth Circuits agree that it would be ““‘vir-
tually impossible’” for a defendant to show prejudice from dis-
closures of privileged trial strategy to the government because
the defendant can only guess at whether and how the infor-
mation had been used to gain an advantage.*> But they do not
presume that the trial is tainted. Instead, the First Circuit holds
that if a defendant presents a prima facie case by showing that
investigating officers or the prosecutors received confidential
defense strategy through an informant, then the government
bears the burden to show that there has been and will be no
prejudice to the defendant because of disclosure. “The burden
on the government is high because to require anything less

32 Id. at 494-95, quoting Weatherford, supra note 7.
3 See Levy, supra note 7, 577 F.2d at 209.
3% See id. at 210.

35 See U.S. v. Danielson, 325 F.3d 1054, 1071 (9th Cir. 2003). Accord United
States v. Mastroianni, 749 F.2d 900 (1st Cir. 1984).
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would be to condone intrusions into a defendant’s protected
attorney-client communications.”3®

The Ninth Circuit agrees with this burden-shifting scheme
but holds that a defendant must show that an informant “acted
affirmatively to intrude into the attorney-client relationship
and thereby to obtain the privileged information.”” The court
compared the required hearing to the one required under
Kastigar v. United States®® to ensure that the government
has not used evidence tainted by a Fifth Amendment viola-
tion in a later prosecution against a former witness whom it
compelled to give self-incriminating testimony under a grant
of use immunity. It explained that in a Kastigar proceed-
ing, the prosecution must show that it derived its evidence
from legitimate, independent sources. It applied the same
burden when the government acquires a defendant’s confiden-
tial communications:

[T]The government must present evidence, and must show
by a preponderance of that evidence, that “all of the evi-
dence it proposes to use,” and all of its trial strategy, were
“derived from legitimate independent sources.” . . . In the
absence of such an evidentiary showing by the govern-
ment, the defendant has suffered prejudice.*

Relying on its analysis of Kastigar, the Ninth Circuit clari-
fied that the government’s trial strategy includes the following
decisions: “decisions about the scope and nature of the investi-
gation, about what witnesses to call (and in what order), about
what questions to ask (an in what order), about what lines of
defense to anticipate in presenting the case in chief, and about
what to save for possible rebuttal.”*

3% Mastroianni, supra note 35, 749 F.2d at 908.
37 Danielson, supra note 35, 325 F.3d at 1071.

3% See Kastigar v. United States, 406 U.S. 441, 92 S. Ct. 1653, 32 L. Ed. 2d
212 (1972).

3 Danielson, supra note 35, 325 F.3d at 1072.
40 1d. at 1074.
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(c) State Appellate Court Decisions

State courts have required similar procedures under a rebut-
table presumption of prejudice. In State v. Lenarz,*' state
investigators obtained the defendant’s detailed trial strategy
from a forensic search of his computer. The privileged com-
munications, which the trial court had specifically protected
in an order, included facts relevant to the complaining wit-
ness’ credibility and the adequacy of the police investiga-
tion. Investigators provided the confidential information to the
prosecutor, who read it more than a year before the trial. The
Connecticut Supreme Court held that a rebuttable presump-
tion of prejudice arose from these circumstances, “regardless
of whether the invasion into the attorney-client privilege was
intentional.”? The court further held that the State can only
rebut the presumption of prejudice by clear and convincing
evidence that no person with knowledge of the communica-
tion was involved in the investigation or the prosecution.*
Alternatively, the State could show that the communications
contained minimal privileged information or that it had access
to all the information from independent sources.* But if the
State fails to rebut the presumption, the trial court must,
sua sponte, provide immediate relief to prevent prejudice to
the defendant.*

In Lenarz, the prosecutor could not rebut the presumption
of prejudice because he had read the information more than a
year before the trial. The court reasoned that even if the pros-
ecutor did not use the information to develop new evidence,
the State could not show by clear and convincing evidence
that he did not use the information for trial preparations. Those
preparations included his “discussions with witnesses and

41 State v. Lenarz, 301 Conn. 417, 22 A.3d 536 (2011).
2 Id at 437, 22 A.3d at 549.

B Lenarz, supra note 41.

“Id

S 1d.
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investigators, or his decisions on jury selection, witness selec-
tion, examination of witnesses, or any of the other innumer-
able decisions that he was required to make . . . for and during
trial.”*¢ Because the prosecutor tried the case to conclusion, the
taint would be irremediable on remand and the charges had to
be dismissed.?’

The court recognized that dismissal was a drastic remedy.
But it reasoned that even if a new prosecutor did not see
the defendant’s trial strategy, the first prosecutor could have
already revealed it to witnesses and investigators. And the
public record of the first trial would show the first prosecu-
tor’s selection and examination of witnesses to anticipate and
neutralize any cross-examination of them.*® So the court con-
cluded that even a new trial with a different prosecutor would
be tainted by the constitutional violation in the first trial.*
In sum, because the prosecutor reviewed a “detailed, explicit
road map of the defendant’s trial strategy,” even if the trial
court had considered the issue before trial, it was unlikely
that the appointment of a new prosecutor would have been an
adequate remedy.*

More recently, the Washington Supreme Court held that the
State could rebut the presumption of prejudice arising from a
detective’s eavesdropping on a defendant’s conversations with
the defendant’s attorney.’! After the defendant’s conviction, he
moved for a new trial based on a witness’ purported recantation
of her testimony. But the witness later told the prosecutor that
she was lying in the videotaped recantation. The prosecutor
asked a detective to listen to the defendant’s telephone calls
from jail, and the detective also listened to calls made to the

4 Id. at 440 n.17, 22 A.3d at 551 n.17.

47 Lenarz, supra note 41.

®Id

Y Id

0 Id. at 451, 22 A.3d at 558.

51 See State v. Fuentes, 179 Wash. 2d 808, 318 P.3d 257 (2014).
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defendant’s attorney. The prosecutor claimed that the detective
did not disclose the contents of these conversations to him, but
it was unclear whether the witness had contacted the prosecutor
because of the detective’s eavesdropping.

The court had previously presumed prejudice arising from
eavesdropping during trial but had not decided whether the
State could rebut the presumption. Relying on Weatherford, it
concluded that the extreme remedy of dismissing the charges
was unwarranted in the rare case when there was no possibility
of prejudice. But because the constitutional right to privately
communicate with an attorney was foundational and because
only the State knew how it had used the information, it held
that the State must prove beyond a reasonable doubt that the
intrusion did not prejudice the defendant. The court rejected
the State’s reliance on the prosecutor’s statement that he had
not received the information: “[R]egardless of whether the
prosecutor himself knew of the content of the conversations,
he may have relied on evidence gathered by [the detective]
as part of an investigation aided by the eavesdropping.”* The
court remanded the cause for further proceedings with the right
to discovery.

4. THE PROSECUTION’S POSSESSION OF BAIN’S CONFIDENTIAL
TRIAL STRATEGY PRESUMPTIVELY VIOLATED BAIN’S
SIXTH AMENDMENT RIGHT TO COUNSEL AND
REQUIRED AN EVIDENTIARY HEARING

The above cases contain common threads that apply here.
For the majority of courts, a defendant’s confidential trial
strategy in the possession of a prosecutor or investigating offi-
cer is presumptively prejudicial. A minority of federal courts
do not presume prejudice, but they require the government to
prove the absence of prejudice. In either circumstance, courts
agree that a defendant cannot know how the prosecution
might have used his or her confidential attorney-client infor-
mation to the defendant’s detriment. The courts that presume

52 Id. at 822, 318 P.3d at 263.
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prejudice are split on whether the presumption is rebuttable.
Some courts hold that this type of government intrusion is a
per se Sixth Amendment violation that requires a reversal of
the defendant’s convictions—and dismissal of the charges if
a trial has already been completed. Other courts hold that the
State can rebut the presumption of prejudice. Those that do not
presume prejudice hold that the burden of proof shifts to the
government when the defendant presents a prima facie case of
a Sixth Amendment violation. But the standard for showing
that the defendant was not prejudiced is high. The State must
prove that it did not use the information for any purpose to the
defendant’s detriment.

(a) Presumption of Prejudice Applies
but Is Rebuttable

[8] We agree with courts that hold a presumption of preju-
dice arises when the State becomes privy to a defendant’s
confidential trial strategy. Federal courts are consistent on
two points: (1) any use of the confidential information to the
defendant’s detriment is a Sixth Amendment violation that
taints the trial and requires a reversal of the conviction; and (2)
a defendant cannot know how the prosecution could have used
confidential information in its possession. We believe these
holdings cannot be reconciled except through a presumption
of prejudice.

[9] But we hold that the presumption is rebuttable—at least
when the State did not deliberately intrude into the attorney-
client relationship. As other courts have suggested, some dis-
closures of confidential information to the State might be
insignificant. Or the State could prove that it did not use the
confidential information in any way to the defendant’s detri-
ment. For example, the State could prove that it did not derive
its evidence and trial strategy from the disclosure of a defend-
ant’s trial strategy by showing that it had legitimate, indepen-
dent sources for them.™

3 See Kastigar, supra note 38.
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Regarding the State’s burden of production, we are per-
suaded by the Ninth Circuit’s adoption of its Kastigar require-
ments for potential Sixth Amendment violations. Those
requirements ensure that the prosecution does not violate a
defendant’s Fifth Amendment rights when the defendant has
no way of knowing how the government could have used his
or her previously compelled self-incriminating testimony. The
Kastigar requirements are clearly relevant to potential Sixth
Amendment violations of this type. So we clarify that the
State’s trial strategy includes its decisions about witness selec-
tion and examinations and about the type of defenses that it
should anticipate.

(b) Standard of Proof Is Clear and
Convincing Evidence

Because we conclude that a disclosure of a defendant’s trial
strategy to the prosecution is presumptively prejudicial, we do
not agree with the Ninth Circuit’s preponderance of the evi-
dence standard of proof.

[10] The standard of proof functions to instruct fact find-
ers about the degree of confidence our society believes they
should have in the correctness of their factual conclusions for a
particular type of adjudication.> Tt “serves to allocate the risk
of error between the litigants and to indicate the relative impor-
tance attached to the ultimate decision.”

The standards of proof applied across the legal spectrum
generally fall into three categories.”® The preponderance of
the evidence standard is most often applied in civil disputes
between private parties. Because the public has minimal inter-
est in the outcome, a preponderance standard appropriately

% See Smeal Fire Apparatus Co. v. Kreikemeier, 279 Neb. 661, 782 N.W.2d
848 (2010), disapproved in part on other grounds, Hossaini v. Vaelizadeh,
283 Neb. 369, 808 N.W.2d 867 (2012).

55 Addington v. Texas, 441 U.S. 418, 423, 99 S. Ct. 1804, 60 L. Ed. 2d 323
(1979).

% See id.
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requires the parties to roughly share the risk of error.’” But
when a party’s interests in a civil proceeding are substantial
and involve more than the mere loss of money, but do not
involve a criminal conviction, due process is satisfied by an
intermediate standard of proof like “clear and convincing”
evidence.’® Finally, in a criminal case, due process requires the
prosecution to prove, beyond a reasonable doubt, every factual
element necessary to constitute the crime charged.”

[11] In cases involving individual rights, whether criminal
or civil, the principle consideration in determining the proper
standard of proof is whether the standard minimally reflects
the value society places on individual liberty, because the
“function of legal process is to minimize the risk of errone-
ous decisions.”® “The individual should not be asked to share
equally with society the risk of error when the possible injury
to the individual is significantly greater than any possible harm
to the state.”®!

Applying these principles, we conclude that a mere prepon-
derance standard is inappropriate. Both the State and the public
have a substantial interest in the fair administration of crimi-
nal justice and protecting a defendant’s constitutional rights.
More particularly, our society necessarily places a high value
on ensuring that criminal trials are not tainted by disclosures
that unfairly advantage the prosecution and threaten to sub-
vert the adversary system of criminal justice. And requiring a
defendant to share a roughly equal risk of error in determining
whether the State used his confidential information to his detri-
ment does not reflect those values.

Conversely, the “beyond a reasonable doubt” standard is a
criminal trial protection that should not apply because the State

57 See id.

8 See, Addington, supra note 55; Smeal Fire Apparatus Co., supra note 54.
9 Smeal Fire Apparatus Co., supra note 54.

0 Addington, supra note 55, 441 U.S. at 425.

1 Id., 441 U.S. at 427.
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is not proving the elements of a charged offense. And we rec-
ognized that this strictest criminal standard does not apply to
the “admissibility of evidence or . . . the prosecution’s burden
of proof at a suppression hearing when evidence is challenged
on constitutional grounds.”*?

[12] But unlike the evidentiary issues presented in a sup-
pression hearing, we have determined that the State’s posses-
sion of a defendant’s confidential trial strategy is presump-
tively prejudicial. And that presumed prejudice would infect
more than the admission of disputed evidence. So we hold that
when a presumption of prejudice arises because the State has
obtained a defendant’s confidential trial strategy, the State must
prove by clear and convincing evidence that the defendant was
not prejudiced by the disclosure.

Finally, we recognize other courts’ concerns that after a
completed trial, the prosecution’s tainted trial strategy will
be available in any new prosecution simply by examining the
public record. But absent evidence showing that the attorney
who prosecuted the State’s charges possessed a defendant’s
confidential trial strategy,®® we conclude that dismissal of the
charges is not necessary if the State satisfies the burden of
proof that we have set out. Because the State must prove that
the disclosure did not prejudice the defendant in the first pros-
ecution, a later prosecution will not be tainted by the record of
the first trial.

(c) Court Must Sua Sponte Conduct an
Evidentiary Hearing to Ensure
Trial Is Not Tainted
As our analysis implies, an evidentiary hearing is required
if the State is to have an opportunity to rebut a presumption of
prejudice. We additionally conclude that this case illustrates the

2 Lego v. Twomey, 404 U.S. 477, 486, 92 S. Ct. 619, 30 L. Ed. 2d 618
(1972).

% See Lenarz, supra note 41.
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necessity of a trial court independently conducting an eviden-
tiary hearing when it learns that a defendant’s confidential trial
strategy has been disclosed to the State—even if the defendant
has not raised a Sixth Amendment violation. A trial court must
ensure that a defendant’s right to effective representation is not
infected by disclosures of confidential communications that
threaten that right.

Here, the court’s sorting procedures were inadequate for that
task. It is true that the court intended to ensure that Marsh,
the special prosecutor who ultimately tried the case, did not
receive Bain’s confidential trial strategy. But the sorting proce-
dures could not ensure that before the court appointed Marsh,
the State had not used the information to develop evidence or
witnesses or to otherwise gain an advantage or make decisions
detrimental to Bain. Notably, the county attorney’s office had
possession of Bain’s confidential trial strategy for 2 months,
followed by the Attorney General’s possession of the informa-
tion for 8 months.

Nor did the court’s sorting procedure ensure that none of
the preceding prosecutors had communicated Bain’s confi-
dential trial strategies to Marsh. Additionally, we are con-
cerned by statements in the record showing that Bain’s
confidential trial strategy was available to Homolka, despite
Lierman’s statement to the court that he had sealed the docu-
ments so that no one else could obtain them. Finally, we have
been hampered in our review by the absence of the most
significant evidence: the documents containing Bain’s confi-
dential information.

[13] So we hold that when a court is presented with evidence
that the State has become privy to a defendant’s confidential
trial strategy, it must sua sponte conduct an evidentiary hear-
ing that requires the State to prove that the disclosure did not
prejudice the defendant, and it must also give the defendant an
opportunity to challenge the State’s proof. Because the court’s
procedures failed to ensure that Bain received a fair trial,
we vacate his convictions. Our decision does not necessarily
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preclude the State from seeking to try Bain again on these
charges. But before the district court permits a retrial, it must
conduct an evidentiary hearing, as set out above, to ensure that
the trial will not be tainted.

VI. CONCLUSION

We conclude that if a trial court is presented with evidence
that the State has learned of a defendant’s confidential trial
strategy, a presumption of prejudice from a Sixth Amendment
violation arises. This presumption requires the court to inde-
pendently conduct an evidentiary hearing even if the defendant
has not raised the issue. The presumption is rebuttable, at least
when the State did not deliberately intrude into the attorney-
client relationship. At the evidentiary hearing, the State must
prove by clear and convincing evidence that the disclosure did
not prejudice the defendant and the court must give the defend-
ant an opportunity to challenge the State’s proof. Because
the court’s procedures were inadequate to ensure that Bain
received a fair trial, we vacate his convictions. Because we
vacate Bain’s convictions and do not know whether the State
can prove that a new trial would not be tainted, we do not
address his remaining assignments of error.

REVERSED AND VACATED.
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HEeavican, C.J.
INTRODUCTION

Curtis H. Lavalleur was previously acquitted of one count
of first degree sexual assault and convicted of one count of
attempted first degree sexual assault. This court reversed his
conviction and remanded the cause for a new trial. The State
then sought to file an amended information. Lavalleur’s plea
in bar on double jeopardy grounds was denied. He appeals.
We reverse.

FACTUAL BACKGROUND

A more complete recitation of facts is found in our 2014
opinion in this case, State v. Lavalleur (Lavalleur I).! Other
facts will be referenced as relevant to the issues presented by
this appeal.

Lavalleur was originally charged with one count of first
degree sexual assault (digital penetration) and one count of
attempted first degree sexual assault (penile penetration).
Following a jury trial, he was acquitted of first degree
sexual assault and convicted of attempted first degree sexual
assault.?

Lavalleur appealed. We reversed, concluding that evidence
that the victim was involved in an intimate relationship was not
inadmissible under Nebraska’s rape shield statute, Neb. Rev.

! State v. Lavalleur, 289 Neb. 102, 853 N.W.2d 203 (2014).
2.
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Stat. § 27-412(1) (Cum. Supp. 2014), so long as the evidence
sought to be admitted did not touch upon the victim’s “‘sexual
behavior’” or “‘sexual predisposition.””® We concluded that
the evidence Lavalleur sought to admit was relevant and that
its exclusion was not harmless. We also held that the jury
was not properly instructed as to the charge of attempted first
degree sexual assault.

We issued our opinion on September 19, 2014, and the cause
was remanded to the district court. On remand, discovery pro-
ceeded and the case was set for retrial during the April 6, 2015,
jury term.

A hearing on the State’s motion to amend the information
was held on March 25, 2015. At that hearing, Lavalleur’s
counsel objected to the amendment of the information on
double jeopardy grounds. The State’s response was that “we
don’t know the reason why the jury found . . . Lavalleur not
guilty, whether it was consent or diminished capacity or a
combination or whatever.” At the conclusion of that hearing,
the district court sustained Lavalleur’s objection to the motion
to amend.

But on April 8, 2015, several things happened, per the dis-
trict court’s journal entry:

[Lavalleur]| asks leave to withdraw plea, leave is granted.
[Lavalleur]| asks leave to file plea in bar. Leave is granted.
Case set for jury trial 4-9-15 at 2:00. [Lavalleur] requests
10 days to prepare for hearing on plea in bar. Request is
granted. Hearing on plea in bar set for 4-20-15 at 2:30.
[Lavalleur| is ordered to appear. State orally moves to
amend count 2 of the information. State directed to file
written motion. Motion for leave to file amended infor-
mation set for 4-20-15 at 2:30. Trial continued.

On April 15, 2015, a hearing was held on the State’s
motion to reconsider the court’s denial of the motion to
amend. At this hearing, Lavalleur again objected to the State’s

3 Id. at 114, 853 N.W.2d at 214.
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amendment of the information on double jeopardy grounds
and noted that leave to both withdraw Lavalleur’s not guilty
plea and file a plea in bar had been granted on April 8, appar-
ently based upon the assumption that the court had decided it
would grant the State’s motion to amend after all. And indeed,
the court did so. The court’s journal entry for April 15 noted
that the State’s
[m]otion to reconsider motion to amend information is
sustained. State given leave to file amended information.
[Lavalleur] was arraigned and stood mute. Court entered
plea of not guilty. After subsequent telephonic confer-
ence with . . . counsel the plea entered by the court is
vacated and withdrawn pending a preliminary hearing
which is set for 4-20-15 at 2:30 . . . . [Lavalleur] given
leave to file amended plea in bar which will be reset after
the arraignment.

At this hearing, the district court also gave an indication as
to how it would rule on the not-yet-heard plea in bar:

I’m not sure on what basis [the jurors] found him guilty
[sic]. Maybe they didn’t think that she was subjected to
sexual penetration. Maybe they thought she didn’t con-
sent. Maybe they thought she was mentally or physically
incapable. But the jury verdict doesn’t set forth the spe-
cific grounds for the reasons that they acquitted him on
that charge.

Count I of the original information charged Lavalleur with
first degree sexual assault. The information alleged that he
“subject[ed] M.J. to sexual penetration when he knew or
should have known that M.J. was mentally or physically
incapable of resisting or appraising the nature of his or her
conduct or without her consent.” But count II, attempted
first degree sexual assault in the original information, did
not allege that M.J. was “mentally or physically incapable
of resisting or appraising the nature of his or her conduct.”
That charge alleged only that Lavalleur “did attempt to sub-
ject M.J. to sexual penetration without her consent.” Note
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that these counts are not particularly specific with respect to
what penetration was alleged. However, the parties agree that
count I, first degree sexual assault, dealt with digital penetra-
tion, while count II, the attempt charge, dealt with penile
penetration. This court implicitly acknowledged this in its
opinion below.

The amended information charged Lavalleur with attempted
first degree sexual assault. The allegation in the amended
information was that Lavalleur “did attempt to subject M.J.
to sexual penetration, to wit: penile/vaginal intercourse, when
he knew or should have known that M.J. was mentally or
physically incapable of resisting or appraising the nature
of his or her conduct or without M.J.’s consent.” (Emphasis
supplied.)

Lavalleur’s plea in bar was heard on May 13, 2015. In that
filing, Lavalleur alleged that “he has before had a judgment of
acquittal of the same offense.” At the hearings on the State’s
motion to reconsider and Lavalleur’s plea in bar, Lavalleur
argued that “[a] jury has already found that the alleged victim
was not incapacitated to the extent that she could neither con-
sent or know whether consent was given or not.” The district
court denied the plea in bar on May 14.

Lavalleur appeals.

ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR
Lavalleur assigns that the district court erred in denying his
plea in bar.

STANDARD OF REVIEW
[1,2] Issues regarding the grant or denial of a plea in bar
are questions of law.* On a question of law, an appellate court
reaches a conclusion independent of the court below.’

4 State v. Muhannad, 290 Neb. 59, 858 N.W.2d 598 (2015).
S 1d.
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ANALYSIS

[3] The Double Jeopardy Clauses of both the federal and
Nebraska Constitutions protect against three distinct abuses:
(1) a second prosecution for the same offense after acquittal,
(2) a second prosecution for the same offense after convic-
tion, and (3) multiple punishments for the same offense.®
This case falls within the first category—a second prosecu-
tion after acquittal. But it is factually distinct from our usual
double jeopardy case law, because the State does not seek to
retry Lavalleur for first degree sexual assault. Instead, the
State seeks to amend the attempted first degree sexual assault
charge against Lavalleur to include an element of which
Lavalleur has arguably already been acquitted when he was
acquitted of first degree sexual assault.

[4-6] This case, then, raises the basic principles of col-
lateral estoppel, which are embodied within the protections
of the Double Jeopardy Clause, and as discussed by the U.S.
Supreme Court in Asche v. Swenson’:

“Collateral estoppel” is an awkward phrase, but it
stands for an extremely important principle in our adver-
sary system of justice. It means simply that when an issue
of ultimate fact has once been determined by a valid
and final judgment, that issue cannot again be litigated
between the same parties in any future lawsuit. Although
first developed in civil litigation, collateral estoppel has
been an established rule of federal criminal law at least
since [1916]. As Mr. Justice Holmes put the matter . . .
“It cannot be that the safeguards of the person, so often
and so rightly mentioned with solemn reverence, are less
than those that protect from a liability in debt.” . . . As
a rule of federal law, therefore, “[i]t is much too late to

¢ State v. Huff, 282 Neb. 78, 802 N.W.2d 77 (2011).

7 Ashe v. Swenson, 397 U.S. 436, 443, 90 S. Ct. 1189, 25 L. Ed. 2d 469
(1970) (citation omitted). See, also, State v. Bruckner, 287 Neb. 280, 842
N.W.2d 597 (2014).
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suggest that this principle is not fully applicable to a for-
mer judgment in a criminal case, either because of lack
of ‘mutuality’ or because the judgment may reflect only
a belief that the Government had not met the higher bur-
den of proof exacted in such cases for the Government’s
evidence as a whole although not necessarily as to every
link in the chain.”
The Court continued:

The federal decisions have made clear that the rule of
collateral estoppel in criminal cases is not to be applied
with the hypertechnical and archaic approach of a 19th
century pleading book, but with realism and rationality.
Where a previous judgment of acquittal was based upon
a general verdict, as is usually the case, this approach
requires a court to “examine the record of a prior pro-
ceeding, taking into account the pleadings, evidence,
charge, and other relevant matter, and conclude whether
a rational jury could have grounded its verdict upon an
issue other than that which the defendant seeks to fore-
close from consideration.” The inquiry “must be set in a
practical frame and viewed with an eye to all the circum-
stances of the proceedings.” . . . Any test more technically
restrictive would, of course, simply amount to a rejection
of the rule of collateral estoppel in criminal proceedings,
at least in every case where the first judgment was based
upon a general verdict of acquittal.’

The specific issue in this case regards the State’s amended
information. The State originally charged Lavalleur with
two different counts: (1) first degree sexual assault, where
Lavalleur “knew or should have known that M.J. was men-
tally or physically incapable of resisting or appraising the
nature of his or her conduct or without M.J.’s consent,” and
(2) attempted first degree sexual assault, where Lavalleur

8 1d., 397 U.S. at 444 (citation omitted).
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allegedly “did attempt to subject M.J. to sexual penetration
without her consent.”

In order to convict Lavalleur of first degree sexual assault,
the jury had to find that Lavalleur subjected the victim to
penetration, and that when he did so, he knew or should have
known that she “was mentally or physically incapable of resist-
ing or appraising the nature of his or her conduct,” or that she
did not consent. Thus, a jury had to find penetration and con-
sent, or inability to consent. Put another way, if a jury found
penetration and the lack of consent or the inability to consent,
it had to convict Lavalleur.

The district court and the State both indicated that it was
unknown why the jury returned a verdict of acquittal on the
first degree sexual assault charge. The district court even noted
that it was possible that the jury found there was no penetra-
tion. But while the verdict of the jury was a general one, it is
possible to determine the basis of the jury’s acquittal.

Ashe explains that because the prior judgment was based
upon a general verdict, a court may “‘examine the record of a
prior proceeding, taking into account the pleadings, evidence,
charge, and other relevant matter, and conclude whether a
rational jury could have grounded its verdict upon an issue
other than that which the defendant seeks to foreclose from
consideration.””

So we examine that record. In this case, M